Advances in Mechanics and Mathematics 31

Anca Capatina

Variational Inequalities and Frictional Contact Problems



Advances in Mechanics and Mathematics

Volume 31

Series Editors: David Y. Gao, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University Ray W. Ogden, University of Glasgow Romesh C. Batra, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University

Advisory Board: Ivar Ekeland, University of British Columbia Tim Healey, Cornell University Kumbakonam Rajagopal, Texas A&M University Tudor Ratiu, École Polytechnique Fédérale David J. Steigmann, University of California, Berkeley

More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/5613

Anca Capatina

Variational Inequalities and Frictional Contact Problems



Anca Capatina Institute of Mathematics "Simion Stoilow" of the Romanian Academy Bucharest, Romania

 ISSN 1571-8689
 ISSN 1876-9896 (electronic)

 ISBN 978-3-319-10162-0
 ISBN 978-3-319-10163-7 (eBook)

 DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-10163-7
 Springer Cham Heidelberg New York Dordrecht London

Library of Congress Control Number: 2014948781

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010): 47J30, 49J40, 74M10, 74M15, 65K15

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2014

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed. Exempted from this legal reservation are brief excerpts in connection with reviews or scholarly analysis or material supplied specifically for the purpose of being entered and executed on a computer system, for exclusive use by the purchaser of the work. Duplication of this publication or parts thereof is permitted only under the provisions of the Copyright Law of the Publisher's location, in its current version, and permission for use must always be obtained from Springer. Permissions for use may be obtained through RightsLink at the Copyright Clearance Center. Violations are liable to prosecution under the respective Copyright Law.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

While the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication, neither the authors nor the editors nor the publisher can accept any legal responsibility for any errors or omissions that may be made. The publisher makes no warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein.

Printed on acid-free paper

Springer is part of Springer Science+Business Media (www.springer.com)

In the memory of my father, Dumitru Stoleru

Acknowledgements

I am deeply grateful to Professor Mircea Sofonea for careful reading my manuscript and giving me very valuable suggestions and observations which improved the quality of it.

I am indebted to Professors George Dinca and Eugen Soos for my initiation in these domains of Mathematics and Mechanics.

I also would like to thank Professor Doina Cioranescu for her kind interest in my manuscript and her encouraging words.

Finally, I express my gratitude to the very professional editorial staff of Springer, particularly to Eve Mayer and A. Vinita for their help and productive collaboration.

Contents

1		pduction	1 4							
Part I Preliminaries										
2	•	rences	9 19							
3			21 28							
Pa	rt II	Variational Inequalities								
4	4.14.24.3	 Elliptic Variational Inequalities	 31 31 31 41 45 51 59 63 81 							
5	Som 5.1	A Maximum Principle for a Class of Variational Inequalities 5.1.1 A General Result	83 83 83 88							

	5.2	Regularity Properties
		5.2.1 Notation and Preliminary Results
		5.2.2 Setting of the Problem and Regularity Results
	Refe	erences
6	Dua	l Formulations of Quasi-Variational Inequalities
	6.1	Convex Analysis Background
	6.2	M–CD–M Theory of Duality
	Refe	prences
7		roximations of Variational Inequalities

Approximations of Variational Inequalities		
7.1	Internal Approximation of Elliptic Variational Inequalities	115
7.2	Abstract Error Estimate	121
7.3	Discrete Approximation of Implicit Evolutionary Inequalities	124
References		

Part III Contact Problems with Friction in Elasticity

8	Stat	ic Problems	135
	8.1	Classical Formulation	135
	8.2	Displacement Variational Formulation	140
	8.3	Existence and Uniqueness Results	145
	8.4	A Regularity Result	149
	8.5	Dual Formulations for the Frictional Contact Problem (\mathcal{P})	151
	8.6	Approximation of the Problem in Displacements	161
	8.7	Approximation of Dual Problems by Equilibrium	
		Finite Element Method	165
	8.8	An Optimal Control Problem	174
	Refe	erences	188
9	Oua	sistatic Problems	191
	9.1	Classical and Variational Formulations	191
	9.2	Discrete Approximation	204
	9.3	Optimal Control of a Frictional Bilateral Contact Problem	206
		9.3.1 Setting of the Problem	206
		9.3.2 Regularized Problems and Optimality Conditions	219
	Refe	erences	231
In	dex		233

Chapter 1 Introduction

Nowadays, the expression *Variational Inequalities and Contact Problems* can be considered as a syntagm since the variational methods have provided one of the most powerful techniques in the study of contact problems and, on the other hand, the variational formulations of the contact problems are, in most cases, variational inequalities.

We therefore considered a book on this subject as necessary, a book where the reader will find many results on variational inequalities and, at the same time, a detailed study of certain contact problems with non local Coulomb friction.

In the last 50 years, variational inequalities became a strong tool in the mathematical study of many nonlinear problems of physics and mechanics, as the complexity of the boundary conditions and the diversity of the constitutive equations lead to variational formulations of inequality type.

The theory of variational inequalities find its roots in the works of Signorini [38] and Fichera [14] concerning unilateral problems and, also, in the work of Ting [44] for the elasto-plastic torsion problem. The mathematical foundation of the theory was widened by the invaluable contributions of Stampacchia [41] and Lions and Stampacchia [26] and then developed by the French and the Italian school: Brézis [3, 4], Stampacchia [42], Lions [25], Mosco [28], Kinderlehrer and Stampacchia [22]. Concerning the approximation of the variational inequalities, we refer to the important contributions brought by Mosco [27], Glowinski et al. [17], or Glowinski [16].

We do not claim that this book covers all the aspects in the study of the variational inequalities. However, we intent to give the reader an overview on this huge subject in a unified form, containing a detailed and justified description of the results on existence, uniqueness, regularity or approximation of solutions of variational and quasi-variational inequalities, in the linear and nonlinear cases, for the static and quasistatic cases.

We also deal in this book with the study of certain static and quasistatic problems with friction whose weak formulations are variational or quasi-variational

Advances in Mechanics and Mathematics 31, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-10163-7_1

A. Capatina, Variational Inequalities and Frictional Contact Problems,

inequalities. More precisely, we address here frictional contact problems for a linearly elastic body which, under the influence of volume and surface forces, is in contact with a rigid foundation. The contact is modeled by Signorini's law, except for the last section where bilateral contact is considered. We also use a nonlocal version of Coulomb's friction law. Most of the results presented here are obtained by applying abstract results on variational inequalities.

The first results concerning the mathematical study of this kind of problems, in the case of Tresca's friction (i.e., with given friction), are due to Duvaut and Lions [12]. In the static case, important results concerning the study of contact problems of Signorini type with local or nonlocal friction have been obtained by Duvaut [11], Nečas et al. [29], Oden and Pires [31,32], Demkowicz and Oden [10], and Cocu [7]. In the quasistatic case, the first existence results were given by Andersson [1], Han and Sofonea [18], and Klarbring et al. [23] for problems with normal compliance. Their approach is based on incremental formulations obtained from the quasivariational inequality by an implicit time discretization scheme. The same technique was used by Cocu et al. [9], Rocca [36], Andersson [2], and Cocu and Rocca [8] in their existence proofs for quasistatic problems of Signorini type with local or nonlocal friction or with friction and adhesion. The works of Panagiotopoulos [33, 34], Glowinski et al. [17], Glowinski [16], Campos et al. [5], Kikuchi and Oden [21], Haslinger et al. [19], Hlaváček et al. [20], Shillor et al. [37], Eck et al. [13], and Sofonea and Matei [39] enriched, theoretically and numerically, the study of contact problems. Among those who developed algorithms of resolution of the unilateral contact problems with friction, let us quote Raous et al. [35], Sofonea et al. [40], and Lebon and Raous [24].

The book is divided into III parts and 9 chapters.

Part I reviews, in a general way, the fundamental definitions, notation and theorems of the functional analysis which will be essential to understand the following parts. So, Chap. 2 is a potpourri of standard topics on functional spaces, while Chap. 3 refers to spaces of vector-valued functions. The material we present in these two chapters is a classical one and can be found in many monographs. Also, throughout this book, when necessary, further basic results on functional analysis will be recalled.

Part II is concerned with the study of variational inequalities.

Chapter 4 presents some generally known existence and uniqueness results. More precisely, in Sect. 4.1 one considers elliptic variational inequalities of the first and second kind involving linear and continuous operators in Hilbert spaces (Sect. 4.1.1) or monotone and hemicontinuous operators in Banach spaces (Sect. 4.1.2). The results are established using projection or proximity operators, Weierstrass or Lax–Milgram theorems, Schauder or Banach fixed point theorems.

Section 4.2 deals with elliptic quasi-variational inequalities. In Sect. 4.2.1, we refer to the case of monotonous and hemicontinuous operators: the existence is obtained by using Kakutani fixed point theorem, while the uniqueness, only for strongly monotone operators, is obtained using Banach fixed point theorem. In Sect. 4.2.2 we consider the case of potential operators and we introduce and justify the concept of generalized solution of a quasi-variational inequality. We then

apply, in Sect. 4.2.3, these results to prove the existence and the uniqueness of the generalized solution of a contact problem with friction for the operator of Hencky–Nadai theory.

Section 4.3 presents a strategy, rather new, for the study of a class of abstract implicit evolutionary quasi-variational inequalities which covers the variational formulation of many quasistatic contact problems. The method used rests, as in the typical cases, on incremental formulations.

In Chap. 5 we give two remarkable properties satisfied by the solutions of certain variational inequalities. In Sect. 5.1 one highlights a maximum principle which is then applied to a problem which models the flow of fluids through a porous medium and also to an obstacle problem. In Sect. 5.2, using the method of the translations due to Nirenberg [30] (as Brezis [4] did in his thesis for a scalar second order elliptic operator), local and global regularity results of the solutions of a class of variational inequalities of the second kind are established.

In Chap. 6 we present first a brief background on convex analysis, and we then recall some classical results of the Mosco et al. [6] (M-CD-M) duality theory in its form adapted by Telega [43] for the so-called implicit variational inequalities.

In Chap. 7 one can find details results on the discrete approximation of two general classes of variational inequalities. For the quasi-variational inequalities considered in Sect. 4.2.1, the convergence of an internal approximation is obtained in Sect. 7.1 and an abstract error estimate is given in Sect. 7.2. A convergence result for an internal approximation in space and a back difference scheme in time of implicit evolutionary quasi-variational inequalities introduced in Sect. 4.3 is proved in Sect. 7.3.

In Part III we study, in an almost exhaustive way, the problem of Signorini with nonlocal Coulomb friction in elasticity.

Chapter 8 deals with the static problem. The mechanical problem is described in Sect. 8.1 and its variational formulation is obtained in Sect. 8.2. The existence and, under certain assumptions on the data, the uniqueness of the solution are obtained in Sect. 8.3 by applying the theorems established in Sect. 4.2.1. Using the regularity results given in Sect. 5.2.2 and an argument due to Fichera [15], we get, in Sect. 8.4, a local regularity result for the solutions of the static problem. In Sect. 8.5 we derive two dual formulations, dual and dual condensed, which involve as unknown the stress field instead of the displacement field like in the case of the primal problem, i.e. the variational formulation considered in Sect. 8.2. The first dual formulation is obtained, by using Green's formula, from the mechanical problem in the same way as for the primal formulation. The second dual formulation, i.e. the dual condensed one, is a problem posed on the surface of possible contact only, obtained by applying the M-CD-M duality theory developed in Sect. 6.2. This condensed dual formulation could be useful in numerical calculations since one computes directly the stresses on the contact boundary and usually these are the quantities of interest. In Sect. 8.6 we consider a finite element approximation of the primal problem. We first obtain an error estimate, either directly or by applying the estimate given in Sect. 7.3. We then prove that a higher order of the approximation can be obtained for a suitable choice of the regularization which describes the nonlocal character of Coulomb law.

In Sect. 8.7 we consider the discretization by the equilibrium finite element method of the two stress formulations, i.e. the dual formulation and the dual condensed one. We prove the convergence of our approximations and we derive error estimates of these discretized problems in different cases of the data. Section 8.8 is devoted to the study of an optimal control problem related to the Signorini problem with nonlocal Coulomb friction. More precisely, one characterizes the coefficient of friction which leads to a given profile of displacements on the contact surface.

Chapter 9 deals with the quasistatic problem. In Sect. 9.1, using an implicit time discretization scheme and applying the results of Sect. 4.3, an existence result is obtained. We then consider, in Sect. 9.2, a space finite element approximation and an implicit time discretization scheme of this problem and, by using the results of Sect. 8.3, we prove the convergence of the approximation. In the last section we consider a mathematical model describing the quasistatic process of bilateral contact with friction between an elastic body and a rigid foundation. Our goal is to study a related optimal control problem which allows us to obtain a given profile of displacements on the contact boundary, by acting with a control on another part of the boundary of the body. Using penalization and regularization techniques, we derive the necessary conditions of optimality.

This book was written in the framework of the author's research activity within the Institute of Mathematics of the Romanian Academy, and the results presented here are partially based on the author's own research.

The book is intended to be self-contained and it addresses mathematicians, applied mathematicians, graduate students in mathematical and physical sciences as well researchers in mechanics and engineering.

References

- 1. Andersson, L.E.: A quasistatic frictional problem with normal compliance. Nonlinear Anal. Theory Methods Appl. **16**, 347–369 (1991)
- 2. Andersson, L.E. : Existence results for quasistatic contact problems with Coulomb friction. Appl. Math. Optim. **42**, 169–202 (2000)
- Brézis, H.: Équations et inéquations non linéaires dans les espaces vectoriels en dualité. Ann. Inst. Fourier Grenoble 18, 115–175 (1968)
- 4. Brézis, H.: Problèmes unilatéraux. J. Math. Pures Appl. 51, 1–168 (1972)
- Campos, L.T., Oden, J.T., Kikuchi, N.: A numerical analysis of a class of contact problems with friction in elastostatics. Comput. Method Appl. M. 34, 821–845 (1982)
- Capuzzo-Dolcetta, I., Matzeu, M.: Duality for implicit variational problems and numerical applications. Numer. Funct. Anal. Optim. 2, 231–265 (1980)
- Cocu, M.: Existence of solutions of Signorini problems with friction. Int. J. Eng. Sci. 22, 567–575 (1984)
- 8. Cocu, M., Rocca, R.: Existence results for unilateral quasistatic contact problems with friction and adhesion. Math. Model. Numer. Anal. **34**, 981–1001 (2000)
- Cocu, M., Pratt, E., Raous, M.: Formulation and approximation of quasistatic frictional contact. Int. J. Eng. Sci. 34, 783–798 (1996)
- Demkowicz, L., Oden, J.T.: On some existence and uniqueness results in contact problems with nonlocal friction. Nonlinear Anal. Theory Methods Appl. 6, 1075–1093 (1982)

- Duvaut, G.: Equilibre d'un solide élastique avec contact unilatéral et frottement de Coulomb. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 290, 263–265 (1980)
- 12. Duvaut, G., Lions, J.L.: Les Inéquations en Mécanique et Physique. Dunod, Paris (1972)
- 13. Eck, C., Jarusek, J., Krbec, M.: Unilateral Contact Problems: Variational Methods and Existence Theorems. Chapman&Hall/CRC Press, Boca Raton (2005)
- 14. Fichera, G.: Problemi elastostatici con vincoli unilaterali; il problema di Signorini con ambigue condizioni al contoro. Mem. Accad. Naz. dei Lincei 7, 91–140 (1964)
- Fichera, G.: Boundary value problems of elasticity with unilateral constraints. In: Flugge, S. (ed.) Encyclopedia of Physics, vol. VI, pp. 391–424. Springer, Berlin (1972)
- 16. Glowinski, R.: Numerical Methods for Nonlinear Variational Problems. Springer, Berlin/Heidelberg/New York (1984)
- 17. Glowinski, R., Lions, J.L., Trémolières, R.: Numerical Analysis of Variational Inequalities. North-Holland, Amsterdam (1981)
- Han, W., Sofonea, M.: Quasistatic contact problems in viscoelasticity and viscoplasticity. In: AMS/IP Studies in Advanced Mathematics, vol. 30. American Mathematical Society, Providence (2002)
- Haslinger, J., Hlaváček, I., Nečas, J. : Numerical methods for unilateral problems in solid mechanics. In: Ciarlet, P.G., Lions, J.L. (eds.) Handbook of Numerical Analysis, vol. IV, pp. 313–485. North-Holland, Amsterdam (1996)
- 20. Hlaváček, I., Haslinger, J., Nečas, J., Lovišek, J.: Solution of Variational Inequalities in Mechanics. Springer, New York (1988)
- 21. Kikuchi, N., Oden, J.T.: Contact Problems in Elasticity: A Study of Variational Inequalities and Finite Element Methods. SIAM, Philadelphia (1988)
- 22. Kinderlehrer, D., Stampacchia, G.: An Introduction to Variational Inequalities an Their Applications. Academic, New York (1980)
- 23. Klarbring, A., Mikelić, A., Shillor M.: A global existence result for the quasistatic frictional contact problem with normal compliance. In: del Piero, G., Maceri, F. (eds.) Unilateral Problems in Structural Analysis, vol. 4, pp. 85–111. Birkhlauser, Boston (1991)
- Lebon, F., Raous, M.: Multibody contact problems including friction in structure assembly. Comput. Struct. 43, 925–934 (1991)
- Lions, J.L.: Quelques Méthodes de Résolution des Problèmes aux Limites non Linéaires. Dunod, Paris (1969)
- Lions, J.L., Stampacchia, G.: Variational inequalities. Commun. Pure Appl. Math. 20, 493–519 (1967)
- Mosco, U.: An introduction to the approximate solution of variational inequalities. In: CIME Summer Schools 57, G. Geymonat Ed., pp. 497–682 (1971)
- Mosco, U.: Implicit variational problems and quasi-variational inequalities. Lecture Notes in Mathematis, vol. 543, pp. 83–156. Springer, Berlin (1975)
- 29. Nečas, J., Jarusěk, J., Haslinger, J.: On the solution of the variational inequality to Signorini problem with small friction. Boll. Un. Mat. Ital. B **17**, 796–811 (1980)
- Niremberg, L.: Remarks on strongly elliptic partial differential equations. Commun. Pure Appl. Math. 8, 648–674 (1955)
- Oden, J.T., Pires, E.: Contact problems in elastostatic with non-local friction laws. TICOM Report 81-82, Austin, TX (1981)
- Oden, J.T., Pires, E.: Contact problems in elastostatics with non-local friction law. J. Appl. Mech. 50, 67–76 (1983)
- Panagiotopoulos, P.D.: On the unilateral contact problem of structures with a non quadratic strain energy density. Int. J. Solids Struct. 13, 253–261 (1977)
- 34. Panagiotopoulos, P.D.: Inequality Problems in Mechanics and Applications: Convex and Nonconvex Energy Functions. Birkhauser, Boston (1985)
- 35. Raous, M., Chabrand, P., Lebon, F.: Numerical methods for frictional contact problems and application. J. Mec. Theor. Appl **7**, 111–128 (1988)
- 36. Rocca, R.: Existence of a solution for a quasistatic problem of unilateral contact with local friction. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris **328**, 1253–1258 (1996)

- 37. Shillor, M., Sofonea, M., Telega, J.J.: Models and analysis of quasistatic contact: variational methods. Lecture Notes in Physics, vol. 655. Springer, Berlin/Heidelberg (2004)
- Signorini, A.: Sopra alcune questioni di statica dei sistemi continui. Annali della Scuola Normale Superiore di Pisa 2, 231–251 (1933)
- 39. Sofonea, M., Matei, A.: Variational inequalities with applications: a study of antiplane frictional contact problems. Advances in Mechanics, vol. 18. Springer, New York (2009)
- 40. Sofonea, M., Han, W., Shillor, M.: Analysis and approximations of contact problems with adhesion or damage. Monographs and Textbooks in Pure and Applied Mathematics. Chapman-Halls/CRC Press, New York (2005)
- Stampacchia, G.: Formes bilinéaires coercives sur les ensembles convexes. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 258, 4413–4416 (1964)
- 42. Stampacchia, G.: Variational inequalities: theory and application of monotone operators. In: Proceedings of a NATO Advanced Study Institute, Venice (1968)
- Telega, J.J.: Topics on unilateral contact problems of elasticity and inelasticity. In: Moreau, J.J., Panagiotopoulos P.D., (eds.) Nonsmooth Mechanics and Applications; CSIM Lecture Notes, vol. 302, pp. 341–462. Springer, Wien/New York (1988)
- 44. Ting, T.W.: Elastic-plastic torsion problem III. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 34, 228–244 (1969)

Part I Preliminaries

Chapter 2 **Spaces of Real-Valued Functions**

This chapter is a brief background on spaces of continuous functions and some Sobolev spaces including basic properties, embedding theorems and trace theorems. Hence, we recall some classical definitions and theorems of functional analysis which will be used throughout this book. These results are standard and so they are stated without proofs; for more details and proofs, we refer the readers to the monographs [1, 3–7, 10, 11, 14].

In this book we only deal with real-valued functions. We assume that the reader is familiar with the basic concepts of general topology and functional analysis.

For a point $\mathbf{x} = (x_1, \dots, x_d) \in \mathbb{R}^d$, we denote by D_i the differential operator $\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} (1 \le i \le d).$ If $\boldsymbol{\alpha} = (\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_d)$ is a multi-index, then $D^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}$ denotes the differential operator

of order $\boldsymbol{\alpha}$, with $|\boldsymbol{\alpha}| = \sum_{i=1}^{d} \alpha_i$, defined by

$$D^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}} = D_1^{\alpha_1} \cdots D_d^{\alpha_d} = \frac{\partial^{|\boldsymbol{\alpha}|}}{\partial x_1^{\alpha_1} \cdots \partial x_d^{\alpha_d}}$$

Obviously, D_i^0 denotes the identity operator. If $A \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, we denote by C(A) the space of real continuous functions on A.

Let Ω be an open set in \mathbb{R}^d with its boundary Γ . We denote by $\overline{\Omega} = \Omega \cup \Gamma$ the closure of Ω .

For any nonnegative integer m, let $C^m(\Omega)$, respectively $C^m(\overline{\Omega})$, be the space of real functions which, together with all their partial derivatives of orders α , with $|\boldsymbol{\alpha}| \leq m$, are continuous on Ω , respectively, on the closure $\overline{\Omega}$ of Ω in \mathbb{R}^d , i.e.

$$C^{m}(\Omega) = \{ v \in C(\Omega) ; D^{\alpha} v \in C(\Omega) \text{ for } |\boldsymbol{\alpha}| \le m \}.$$
(2.1)

Advances in Mechanics and Mathematics 31, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-10163-7_2

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2014

A. Capatina, Variational Inequalities and Frictional Contact Problems,

When m = 0, we abbreviate $C(\Omega) \equiv C^0(\Omega)$ and $C(\overline{\Omega}) \equiv C^0(\overline{\Omega})$. Any function in $C(\overline{\Omega})$ is bounded and uniformly continuous on Ω , thus it possesses a unique, bounded, and continuous extension to $\overline{\Omega}$.

Let

$$C^{\infty}(\Omega) = \bigcap_{m=0}^{\infty} C^{m}(\Omega)$$

be the space of infinitely differentiable functions on Ω .

If K is a subset of Ω , we shall write $K \subset \subset \Omega$ if $\overline{K} \subset \Omega$ and \overline{K} is a compact (i.e., bounded and closed) subset of \mathbb{R}^d .

The support of a function $v : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ is defined as the closed subset

$$\operatorname{supp} v = \{ \boldsymbol{x} \in \Omega \; ; \; v(\boldsymbol{x}) \neq 0 \}.$$

$$(2.2)$$

We shall say that a function v has compact support in Ω if there exists a compact subset K of Ω such that $v(x) = 0 \forall x \in \Omega \setminus K$ or, equivalently, supp $v \subset \subset \Omega$.

We shall denote by $C_0^m(\Omega)$ the subspace of $C^m(\Omega)$ consisting of all those functions which have compact support in Ω .

If $m < +\infty$ and Ω is bounded, then $C^m(\overline{\Omega})$ is a Banach space with the norm given by

$$\|v\|_{C^{m}(\overline{\Omega})} = \sum_{|\boldsymbol{\alpha}| \le m} \max_{\boldsymbol{x} \in \overline{\Omega}} |D^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}} v(\boldsymbol{x})|.$$
(2.3)

In the sequel, for $(X, \|\cdot\|_X)$, $(Y, \|\cdot\|_Y)$ two normed spaces with $X \subset Y$, we shall write $X \hookrightarrow Y$ to designate the continuously embedding of X in Y provided the identity operator $I : X \to Y$ is continuous. This is equivalent, since I is linear, to the existence of a constant C such that

$$||u||_Y \le C ||u||_X \qquad \forall u \in X.$$

We also say that the normed space X is compactly embedded in the normed space Y and write $X \hookrightarrow_c Y$ if the identity operator I is compact, i.e. every bounded sequence in X has a subsequence converging in Y, or, equivalently, if $\{u_k\}_k$ is a sequence which converges weakly to u in X, and we write $u_k \rightharpoonup u$, then $\{u_k\}_k$ converges strongly to u in Y, and we write $u_k \rightarrow u$.

We denote by $L^p(\Omega)$, for $1 \le p < +\infty$, the space of (equivalence classes of) real functions v defined on Ω with the p-power absolutely integrable, i.e.

$$\int_{\Omega} |v(\boldsymbol{x})|^p \, \mathrm{d} x < \infty \,,$$

where $dx = dx_1 dx_2 \dots dx_d$ is the Lebesque measure. The elements of $L^p(\Omega)$, being equivalence classes of measurable functions, are identical if they are equal almost everywhere (a.e.) on Ω . Thus, we write v = 0 in $L^p(\Omega)$ if v(x) = 0 a.e. $x \in \Omega$.

We also denote by $L^{\infty}(\Omega)$ the space consisting of all (equivalence classes of) measurable real functions v that are essentially bounded on Ω , i.e. there exists a constant C such that $|v(\mathbf{x})| \leq C$ a.e. on Ω .

The space $L^{p}(\Omega)$ endowed with the norm

$$\|v\|_{L^{p}(\Omega)} = \begin{cases} \left(\int_{\Omega} |v(\boldsymbol{x})|^{p} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \right)^{1/p} & \text{if } 1 \leq p < +\infty \\ \text{ess } \sup_{\boldsymbol{x} \in \Omega} |v(\boldsymbol{x})| = \inf\{C; |v(\boldsymbol{x})| \leq C \text{ a.e. } \boldsymbol{x} \in \Omega\} & \text{if } p = +\infty \end{cases}$$

$$(2.4)$$

is a Banach space. In addition, the space $L^{p}(\Omega)$ is separable if $1 \le p < +\infty$ and reflexive if 1 .

If $p \in [1, \infty]$, then the exponent conjugate to p is the number denoted by p' defined by the relation

$$\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{p'} = 1$$

where we used the convention

$$p' = \begin{cases} \infty & \text{if } p = 1, \\ 1 & \text{if } p = \infty. \end{cases}$$

From Riesz representation Theorem 4.1 for Hilbert spaces it follows that, for $p \in [1, +\infty)$, the dual space of $L^{p}(\Omega)$ is the space $(L^{p}(\Omega))' = L^{p'}(\Omega)$ where p' is the exponent conjugate to p. The dual space of $L^{\infty}(\Omega)$ is a space larger than $L^{1}(\Omega)$ (for more details, see [14, p. 118]).

In the case p = 2, the space $L^2(\Omega)$ is a Hilbert space with respect to the inner product

$$(u, v)_{L^2(\Omega)} = \int_{\Omega} u(\mathbf{x}) v(\mathbf{x}) \,\mathrm{d}x \,. \tag{2.5}$$

Definition 2.1. We say that a measurable function *v* defined a.e. on Ω is locally *p*-integrable on Ω if $v \in L^p(A)$ for every measurable set $A \subset \subset \Omega$.

We shall denote by $L_{loc}^{p}(\Omega)$ the space of all locally *p*-integrable functions on Ω .

Theorem 2.1. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ be an open set. The following assertions hold.

1) Let $1 < p, q < \infty$. If $u \in L^p(\Omega)$ and $v \in L^q(\Omega)$, then $uv \in L^{\frac{pq}{p+q}}(\Omega)$. If $u_n \to u$ in $L^p(\Omega)$ and $v_n \to v$ in $L^q(\Omega)$, then $u_n v_n \to uv$ in $L^{\frac{pq}{p+q}}(\Omega)$. If $u \in L^p(\Omega)$ and $v \in L^{p'}(\Omega)$ where p' is the exponent conjugate to p, then $uv \in L^1(\Omega)$ and the Hölder's inequality holds:

$$\int_{\Omega} u(\boldsymbol{x})v(\boldsymbol{x}) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \le \|\boldsymbol{u}\|_{L^{p}(\Omega)} \|v\|_{L^{p'}(\Omega)} \,. \tag{2.6}$$

When p = p' = 2, we get the Cauchy–Schwartz inequality.

- 2) For $1 \leq p \leq \infty$, every Cauchy sequence in $L^p(\Omega)$ has a subsequence converging pointwise a.e. on Ω .
- 3) $L^{p}(\Omega) \subset L^{1}_{loc}(\Omega) \quad \forall p \text{ with } 1 \leq p \leq \infty.$
- 4) Let $v \in L^{1}_{loc}(\Omega)$ be such that $\int_{\Omega} v(\mathbf{x})\varphi(\mathbf{x}) dx = 0 \quad \forall \varphi \in \mathscr{D}(\Omega)$. Then $v(\mathbf{x}) = 0$ *a.e.* on Ω .
- 5) $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$ is dense in $L^p(\Omega) \quad \forall p \text{ with } 1 \le p < \infty$.

The following theorem gives an embedding result for the spaces $L^{p}(\Omega)$ and some of its consequences.

Theorem 2.2. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ be an open set with vol $(\Omega) = \int_{\Omega} dx < \infty$. Then the following statements are valid.

following statements are valid.

1) For all p, q such that $1 \le p \le q \le \infty$, we have $L^q(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^p(\Omega)$ and

$$\|v\|_{L^p(\Omega)} \leq (\operatorname{vol} \Omega)^{\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{q}} \|v\|_{L^q(\Omega)} \quad \forall v \in L^q(\Omega).$$

- 2) $\lim_{p \to \infty} \|v\|_{L^p(\Omega)} = \|v\|_{L^\infty(\Omega)} \quad \forall v \in L^\infty(\Omega).$
- 3) Suppose that $v \in L^p(\Omega)$ for any $1 \le p < \infty$ and that there exists a constant C such that $\|v\|_{L^p(\Omega)} \le C$. Then $v \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$.

To better understand what is the meaning of the differential operator $D^{\alpha}v$ for functions v whose derivatives do not exist in the classical sense, we briefly remind the definition of distributions on Ω .

We denote by $\mathscr{D}(\Omega)$, called the space of test functions, the space $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$ equipped with the inductive limit topology as in the Schwartz theory of distributions [11].

Definition 2.2. A sequence $\{\varphi_k\}_k \subset C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$ is said to converge to a function $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$ in (the sense of the space) $\mathscr{D}(\Omega)$, provided the following conditions are satisfied:

- *i*) There exists a compact subset K of Ω such that supp $(\varphi_k \varphi) \subset K$, $\forall k$
- *ii*) $D^{\alpha}\varphi_k \to D^{\alpha}\varphi$ uniformly on K, $\forall \alpha$ multi-index.

2 Spaces of Real-Valued Functions

The dual space $\mathscr{D}'(\Omega)$ of $\mathscr{D}(\Omega)$ is called the space of (Schwartz) distributions (or, generalized functions). Hence, any distribution T is a linear and continuous functional on $\mathscr{D}(\Omega)$, i.e. $T(\varphi_k) \to T(\varphi)$ in \mathbb{R} whenever $\varphi_k \to \varphi$ in $\mathscr{D}(\Omega)$. As dual of $\mathscr{D}(\Omega)$, the space $\mathscr{D}'(\Omega)$ is equipped with the weak-star topology: $T_k \to T$ in $\mathscr{D}'(\Omega)$ if and only if $T_k(\varphi) \to T(\varphi)$ in \mathbb{R} , for every $\varphi \in \mathscr{D}(\Omega)$.

Every distribution is infinitely differentiable in the following sense: if $T \in \mathscr{D}'(\Omega)$ then, for all multi-index α , the function $D^{\alpha}T$ defined on $\mathscr{D}(\Omega)$ by

$$D^{\alpha}T(\varphi) = (-1)^{|\alpha|}T(D^{\alpha}\varphi) \quad \forall \varphi \in \mathscr{D}(\Omega).$$
(2.7)

is a distribution. In addition, the operator D^{α} from $\mathscr{D}'(\Omega)$ into $\mathscr{D}'(\Omega)$ is continuous.

Any function $u \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$ generates a distribution $T_u \in \mathscr{D}'(\Omega)$ defined by

$$T_{u}(\varphi) = \int_{\Omega} u(\mathbf{x})\varphi(\mathbf{x}) \,\mathrm{d}x \quad \forall \varphi \in \mathscr{D}(\Omega) \,. \tag{2.8}$$

Therefore, for any multi-index α , there exists the α -th derivative of T_u , namely the distribution $D^{\alpha}T_u \in \mathscr{D}'(\Omega)$ defined by (2.7), i.e.

$$D^{\alpha}T_{u}(\varphi) = (-1)^{|\alpha|}T_{u}(D^{\alpha}\varphi) \quad \forall \varphi \in \mathscr{D}(\Omega).$$

But not any distribution is generated by a locally integrable function.

Definition 2.3. We shall say that the function $u \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$ possesses the distributional (or generalized or weak) partial derivative of order α on Ω , denoted by $D^{\alpha}u$, if there exists a function $v_{\alpha} \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$ which generates the distribution $D^{\alpha}T_u \in \mathscr{D}'(\Omega)$, i.e.

$$D^{\alpha}T_{u}=T_{v_{\alpha}}$$

Thus, from the last three relations, it follows that $D^{\alpha}u = v_{\alpha}$ is the distributional partial derivative of u if $v_{\alpha} \in L^{1}_{loc}(\Omega)$ satisfies

$$\int_{\Omega} u(\mathbf{x}) D^{\alpha} \varphi(\mathbf{x}) \, \mathrm{d}x = (-1)^{|\alpha|} \int_{\Omega} v_{\alpha} \, \varphi(\mathbf{x}) \, \mathrm{d}x \quad \forall \varphi \in \mathscr{D}(\Omega) \,. \tag{2.9}$$

Obviously, the distributional derivative is uniquely defined up to a set of measure zero.

In fact, this definition generalizes the classical partial derivative, obtained, for a function $u \in C^{|\alpha|}(\Omega)$, by integrating by parts $|\alpha|$ times

$$\int_{\Omega} D^{\alpha} u(\mathbf{x}) \varphi(\mathbf{x}) \, \mathrm{d}x = (-1)^{|\alpha|} \int_{\Omega} u(\mathbf{x}) \, D^{\alpha} \varphi(\mathbf{x}) \, \mathrm{d}x \quad \forall \varphi \in \mathscr{D}(\Omega) \,.$$
(2.10)

Of course, in this case, $D^{\alpha}u$ is also a distributional partial derivative of u. However, it should be noted that the derivative in the sense of distributions of a function, even sufficiently smooth, may exist, even if it does not exist in the classical sense.

In particular, the relation (2.8) brings out a linear and continuous mapping $u \mapsto T_u$ from $L^p(\Omega)$ into $\mathscr{D}'(\Omega)$ and so, we may identify the distribution T_u with the integrable function u. The same identification may be made for $\mathscr{D}(\Omega)$. Thus, we have

$$\mathscr{D}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^p(\Omega) \hookrightarrow \mathscr{D}'(\Omega)$$
.

Using this result and the definition (2.9), Sobolev [12] expanded in a natural way the space $L^{p}(\Omega)$ by considering those functions which, for some nonnegative integer *m*, possess distributional partial derivatives of all orders $|\alpha| \le m$ in $L^{p}(\Omega)$. This is the definition of the Sobolev space

$$W^{m,p}(\Omega) = \{v; D^{\alpha}v \in L^p(\Omega), \text{ for } |\alpha| \le m\}.$$

The space $W^{m,p}(\Omega)$ is a Banach space with the norm

$$\|v\|_{W^{m,p}(\Omega)} = \begin{cases} \left(\sum_{|\alpha| \le m} \|D^{\alpha}v\|_{L^{p}(\Omega)}^{p}\right)^{1/p} \text{ if } p \in [1,\infty), \\ \max_{|\alpha| \le m} \|D^{\alpha}v\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} & \text{ if } p = \infty. \end{cases}$$

$$(2.11)$$

Obviously, $W^{0,p}(\Omega) = L^p(\Omega)$ for $p \in [1, \infty)$. The seminorm over $W^{m,p}(\Omega)$ is defined by

$$|v|_{W^{m,p}(\Omega)} = \begin{cases} \left(\sum_{|\boldsymbol{\alpha}|=m} \|D^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}v\|_{L^{p}(\Omega)}^{p}\right)^{1/p} \text{ if } p \in [1,\infty), \\ \max_{|\boldsymbol{\alpha}|=m} \|D^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}v\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} & \text{ if } p = \infty. \end{cases}$$
(2.12)

We denote by $W_0^{m,p}(\Omega)$ the closure of $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$ in the space $W^{m,p}(\Omega)$ for the norm $\|\cdot\|_{W^{m,p}(\Omega)}$. For $p \in [1,\infty)$, we have the following chain of embeddings

$$W_0^{m,p}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow W^{m,p}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^p(\Omega)$$

and, since $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$ is dense in $L^p(\Omega)$, it is clear that $W_0^{0,p}(\Omega) = L^p(\Omega)$.

It is easy to see that, if the open set Ω is bounded, the seminorm $|\cdot|_{W^{m,p}(\Omega)}$ is a norm over $W_0^{m,p}(\Omega)$ equivalent to the norm $\|\cdot\|_{W^{m,p}(\Omega)}$.

In the case p = 2, we use the notation

$$H^m(\Omega) = W^{m,2}(\Omega) \,.$$

2 Spaces of Real-Valued Functions

Endowed with the scalar product

$$(u,v)_{H^m(\Omega)} = \sum_{\alpha \le m} (D^\alpha u, D^\alpha v)_{L^2(\Omega)}, \qquad (2.13)$$

the Sobolev space $H^m(\Omega)$ is a Hilbert space. Also we denote $H_0^m(\Omega) = W_0^{m,2}(\Omega)$. If Ω is bounded, then, without any hypothesis on the regularity of Ω , we have

$$H_0^1(\Omega) \hookrightarrow_c L^2(\Omega)$$
.

Many different symbols are being used to denote these norms, when no confusion may occur: $\|\cdot\|_{m,p,\Omega}$ or $\|\cdot\|_{m,p}$ instead of $\|\cdot\|_{W^{m,p}(\Omega)}$, $\|\cdot\|_{m,\Omega}$ or $\|\cdot\|_m$ instead of $\|\cdot\|_{H^m(\Omega)}$ and $\|\cdot\|_{0,\Omega}$ or $\|\cdot\|_0$ instead of $\|\cdot\|_{L^2(\Omega)}$.

If $m \ge 1$ and $1 \le p < \infty$, we denote by $W^{-m,p'}(\Omega)$ the dual space of $W_0^{m,p}(\Omega)$, p' being the exponent conjugate to p (in fact, $W^{-m,p'}(\Omega)$ is the notation for a space of some distributions on Ω which is isometrically isomorphic to the dual space $(W_0^{m,p}(\Omega))'$; for details, see [1]). Endowed with the norm

$$\|f\|_{W^{-m,p'}(\Omega)} = \sup_{\substack{u \in W_0^{m,p}(\Omega) \\ u \neq 0}} \frac{\langle f, u \rangle}{\|u\|_{W^{m,p}(\Omega)}},$$

the space $W^{-m,p'}(\Omega)$ is a Banach space which is separable and reflexive if $1 . Here <math>\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ is the duality pairing between $W^{-m,p'}(\Omega)$ and $W_0^{m,p}(\Omega)$.

We note that if X, Y are two Hilbert spaces such that $X \hookrightarrow Y$ dense, then (see, for instance, [2, p. 51]) $Y^* \hookrightarrow X^*$ dense, where Y^* and X^* denote their dual spaces.

If Ω is bounded, then $\mathscr{D}(\Omega)$ is dense in $H_0^m(\Omega)$, and so, we can identify the dual space $H^{-m}(\Omega)$ of $H_0^m(\Omega)$ with a subspace of $\mathscr{D}'(\Omega)$:

$$\mathscr{D}(\Omega) \subset H_0^m(\Omega) \subset L^2(\Omega) \subset H^{-m}(\Omega) \subset \mathscr{D}'(\Omega).$$

Now, we notice that most of the important results involving Sobolev spaces are first obtained for regular functions and then extended to Sobolev spaces. The density theorems and the embedding theorems show how and whether an element of a Sobolev space can be approximated by smooth functions. Since these theorems require additional regularity properties for the open set Ω , we recall some definitions of them. Later, in Chaps. 5 and 8, we will use some of these assumptions on Ω for getting regularity properties of the solutions of some concrete variational inequalities.

Definition 2.4. We say that the open subset Ω of \mathbb{R}^d has the cone property if there exists a finite open bounded cover $\{O_j\}_{j \in J}$ of the boundary Γ of Ω and, for any j, there exists a cone C_j with the vertex at 0, such that, for all $\mathbf{x} \in O_j \cap \Omega$, $\mathbf{x} + C_j$ do not intersect $O_j \cap \Gamma$.

Definition 2.5. We say that the open set $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ has the segment property if there exists a locally finite open cover $\{U_j\}_j$ of the boundary Γ of Ω and a corresponding sequence $\{y_j\}_j$ of nonzero vectors such that if $x \in \overline{\Omega} \cap U_j$ for some j, then $x + ty_j \in \Omega$ for 0 < t < 1. In this case, Ω must have (d - 1)-dimensional boundary and cannot simultaneously lie on both sides of its boundary.

Definition 2.6. Let $r \ge 1$ an integer. An open bounded set $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ is said to be \mathscr{C}^r -smooth (or, of class \mathscr{C}^r) if there exists a covering of the boundary Γ of Ω by a finite number of bounded open subsets $\{U_j\}_{j \in J} \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ and, for any $j \in J$, there exists a C^r -homeomorphisms θ_j such that:

- (i) $\theta_i(U_i) = S = \{ \mathbf{y} = (\mathbf{y}', y_d) \in \mathbb{R}^d; |\mathbf{y}'| < 1, |y_d| < 1 \},\$
- (ii) $\theta_j(U_j \cap \Omega) = S_+ = \{ y \in S; y_d > 0 \},$
- (iii) $\theta_j(U_j \cap \Gamma) = S_0 = \{ y \in S; y_d = 0 \}.$

Concerning the approximation by smooth functions, we have the following results (see, for instance, [13, p. 11], [9, p. 44], or [8, p. 40]).

Theorem 2.3. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ be an open bounded set. Then, the following approximation results are true.

- 1) $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$ is dense in $W_0^{m,p}(\Omega)$.
- 2) If Ω has the cone property, then $C^{\infty}(\overline{\Omega})$ is dense in $W^{m,p}(\Omega)$.
- 3) If Ω is \mathscr{C}^{∞} -smooth, then $\mathscr{D}(\overline{\Omega})$ is dense in $H^m(\Omega)$.

We now recall the following Sobolev embedding theorem (see [1,9,13] for more details and proofs) which will be used frequently in this book.

Theorem 2.4 (Sobolev Embedding Theorem). Suppose that the open bounded set Ω has the cone property and $1 \le p < \infty$. Then, the following assertions hold.

- 1) If mp < d, then
 - *i)* $W^{m,p}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^{p^*}(\Omega)$ where $p^* = \frac{dp}{d-mp}$. *ii)* $W^{m,p}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow_c L^q(\Omega)$ for any q with $1 \le q < p^*$.
 - $(22) \quad \forall_c \ L \ (22) \text{ for any } q \text{ with } 1 \leq q \leq 1$
- 2) If mp = d, then $W^{m,p}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow_c L^q(\Omega)$ for any $1 \le q < \infty$.
- 3) If mp > d, then

i)
$$W^{m,p}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow_c L^q(\Omega)$$
 for any $1 \le q < \infty$.
ii) $W^{m,p}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow C^k(\overline{\Omega})$ for any integer k with $\frac{mp-d}{p} - 1 \le k < \frac{mp-d}{p}$.

As a consequence of this theorem we have the following particular cases that we shall often use:

$$\begin{aligned} H^{1}(\Omega) &\hookrightarrow_{c} C(\overline{\Omega}) & \text{if } d = 1 \,, \\ H^{1}(\Omega) &\hookrightarrow_{c} L^{q}(\Omega) & \text{where} & \begin{cases} q \in [1,\infty) & \text{if } d = 2 \,, \\ q = 6 & \text{if } d = 3 \,, \end{cases} \\ H^{2}(\Omega) &\hookrightarrow_{c} C(\overline{\Omega}) & \text{if } d \in \{1,2\} \,. \end{aligned}$$

We note that a function $v \in H^1(\Omega)$ is not necessary continuous on Ω , neither on $\overline{\Omega}$, and so, we may not define, in the classical sense, the values of v on the boundary Γ of Ω . The trace theorems show how one can define, in the trace sense, the restriction on the boundary Γ of a function which is not necessary continuous. Their purpose is to determine the space of functions defined on the boundary Γ of Ω containing the traces of functions in $W^{m,p}(\Omega)$.

The next theorem (see [8, p. 40] or [13, p. 9]) allows to define every function $v \in H^1(\Omega)$ almost everywhere on Γ .

Theorem 2.5 (Trace Theorem for $H^1(\Omega)$). Let Ω be an open bounded set in \mathbb{R}^d of class \mathscr{C}^1 with its boundary Γ . Then, one can uniquely define the trace $\gamma_0 v$ of $v \in H^1(\Omega)$ on Γ such that $\gamma_0 v$ coincides with the usual definition

$$\gamma_0 v(x) = v(x) \quad x \in \Gamma , \qquad (2.14)$$

if $v \in C^1(\overline{\Omega})$. Moreover, the mapping $\gamma_0 : H^1(\Omega) \to L^2(\Gamma)$ is linear continuous and the range of $\gamma_0(H^1(\Omega))$ is a space smaller than $L^2(\Gamma)$ denoted by $H^{1/2}(\Gamma)$.

Now, if $v \in C^m(\overline{\Omega})$, let γv be the linear mapping defined by

$$\boldsymbol{\gamma} \boldsymbol{\nu} = (\gamma_0 \boldsymbol{\nu}, \gamma_1 \boldsymbol{\nu}, \dots, \gamma_{m-1} \boldsymbol{\nu})$$

where $\gamma_0 v$ is "the trace of v" on Γ and $\gamma_j v$, $j = 1, \ldots, m-1$ is "the trace of order j of v" defined as the j-th order derivative in the direction of the outward unit normal v to Γ , i.e.

$$\begin{aligned} \gamma_0 v(x) &= v(x) \quad x \in \Gamma ,\\ \gamma_j v(x) &= \frac{\partial^j v}{\partial v^j}(x) \quad x \in \Gamma . \end{aligned}$$
(2.15)

The problem of characterizing the image of the space $H^m(\Omega)$ under the trace operator involves Sobolev spaces of fractional order. These spaces can be defined in different ways but, for Ω sufficiently smooth, these definitions give the same space.

A compact definition (see [1]) of $H^s(\Omega)$, for *s* a real number, is the space obtained as the closure of $C^{\infty}(\Omega)$ in the norm

$$\|v\|_{H^{s}(\Omega)}^{2} = \|v\|_{H^{[s]}(\Omega)}^{2} + \sum_{|\alpha| = [s]_{\Omega \times \Omega}} \int \frac{|D^{\alpha}v(y) - D^{\alpha}v(x)|^{2}}{|y - x|^{d + 2\{s\}}} \, \mathrm{d}y \, \mathrm{d}x \,,$$

where $s = [s] + \{s\}$ with [s] an integer and $0 < \{s\} < 1$.

Another approach (see [2, 10]) for the definition of the space $H^{s}(\Omega)$ uses the Fourier transformation of a function.

Definition 2.7. The Fourier transformation of a function $v \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is the function $\hat{v} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ defined by

$$\hat{v}(\mathbf{y}) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{d/2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} v(\mathbf{x}) \exp(-i\mathbf{x}\,\mathbf{y}) \,\mathrm{d}x$$

where $i = \sqrt{-1}$.

For any real number $s \ge 0$, the space $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, of test functions of rapid decay, is defined by:

$$\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d) = \{\varphi; \mathbf{x}^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}} D^{\boldsymbol{\beta}} \varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d), \forall \boldsymbol{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{\beta} \text{ multi-indices} \},\$$

and $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)'$, called the space of temperated distributions, is the dual space of $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

Then, the fractional order Sobolev space $H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$ is defined by

$$H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{d}) = \{ v \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^{d})' ; (1 + |y|^{2})^{s/2} \hat{v} \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d}) \}$$

with the norm

$$\|v\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} = \|(1+|\mathbf{y}|^{2})^{s/2}\hat{v}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})}$$

If s < 0, one denotes by $H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$ the dual space of $H^{-s}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$.

If Ω is sufficiently smooth, then we define $H^s(\Omega)$ to be the space of restrictions to Ω of functions of $H^s(\mathbb{R}^d)$. The boundary Γ of Ω can be identified, by means of local coordinates, to \mathbb{R}^{d-1} , and we can define $H^s(\Gamma)$ to be isomorphic to the Sobolev space $H^s(\mathbb{R}^{d-1})$.

If the open bounded set Ω of \mathbb{R}^d is \mathscr{C}^{∞} -smooth, then $\mathscr{D}(\overline{\Omega})$ is dense in $H^m(\Omega)$ and so, it is possible to extend by continuity the classical definition (2.15) to a generalized one γv for $v \in H^m(\Omega)$ (see, for instance, [9, p. 44], [10, p. 142]).

Theorem 2.6 (Trace Theorem for $H^m(\Omega)$). Suppose that the open bounded set Ω is C^{∞} -smooth. Then, for any m > 0 integer, the trace operator

$$\boldsymbol{\gamma}:\mathscr{D}(\overline{\Omega})\to(\mathscr{D}(\Gamma))^m$$

can be extended to the continuous linear and surjective operator

$$\boldsymbol{\gamma}: H^m(\Omega) \to \prod_{j=0}^{m-1} H^{m-j-1/2}(\Gamma) \,. \tag{2.16}$$

References

Moreover, there exists a continuous linear inverse operator

$$\boldsymbol{\gamma}^{-1}:\prod_{j=0}^{m-1}H^{m-j-1/2}(\Gamma)\to H^m(\Omega)$$

such that

$$\boldsymbol{\gamma}_j(\boldsymbol{\gamma}^{-1}\mathbf{g}) = g_j \quad 0 \le j \le m-1, \quad \forall \mathbf{g} \in \prod_{j=0}^{m-1} H^{m-j-1/2}(\Gamma).$$

Therefore, the space $H^{m-j-1/2}(\Gamma)$ can be seen as the space of traces of order j of $H^m(\Omega)$. In addition, the kernel of the operator $\boldsymbol{\gamma}$ is the space $H_0^m(\Omega)$, the completion of $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$ in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{H^m(\Omega)}$.

Finally, we recall the following result (see [1, p. 114]).

Theorem 2.7. Suppose that Ω is sufficiently smooth. Then

$$W^{m,p}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^q(\Gamma)$$

where $q = \frac{dp - p}{d - mp}$ if mp < d, and $1 \le q < \infty$ if mp = d.

In particular, we have the following frequently useful results.

$$H^1(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^q(\Gamma)$$
 where $\begin{cases} q \in [1,\infty) & \text{if } d = 2, \\ q = \frac{2(n-1)}{n-2} & \text{if } d \ge 3. \end{cases}$

References

- 1. Adams, R.A.: Sobolev Spaces. Academic, New York/San Francisco/London (1975)
- Aubin, J.P.: Approximation of Elliptic Boundary-value Problems. Willey-Interscience, New York (1972)
- Barbu, V.: Nonlinear Semigroups and Differential Equations in Banach Space. Noordhoff International Publishing, Leyden (1976)
- Barbu, V.: Partial Differential Equations and Boundary Value Problems. Kluwer Academic, Dordrecht (1998)
- 5. Brézis, H.: Analyse Fonctionnelle. Mason, Paris (1983)
- 6. Dunford, L., Schwartz, L.: Linear Operators, Part I. Interscience, New York (1958)
- 7. Dunford, L., Schwartz, L.: Linear Operators, Part II. Interscience, London (1963)
- 8. Duvaut, G., Lions, J.L.: Les Inéquations en Mécanique et Physique. Dunod, Paris (1972)
- Lions, J.L., Magenes, E.: Problèmes aux Limites non Homogènes et Applications. Dunod, Paris (1968)
- Oden, J.T., Reddy, J.N.: An Introduction to the Mathematical Theory of Finite Elements. John Wiley & Sons Inc. New York/London/Sydney/Toronto (1976)

- 11. Schwartz, L.: Théorie des Distributions. Hermann, Paris (1966)
- 12. Sobolev, S.L.: On a theorem of functional analysis. Transl. Am. Math. Soc. 34, 39-68 (1963)
- 13. Temam, R.: Problèmes Mathématiques en Plasticité. Méthodes mathématiques de l'informatique. Gautiers-Villars, Montrouge, France (1983)
- 14. Yosida, K.: Functional Analysis. Springer, Berlin/Gottingen/Heidelberg (1965)

Chapter 3 Spaces of Vector-Valued Functions

In this chapter we will introduce additional tools which are fundamentals for the study of evolutionary problems studied later in this book. We consider some spaces of functions defined on a time interval $I \subset \mathbb{R}$ with values into a Banach or Hilbert space *X*. The results are presented without proofs. For additional information about the results stated below, we refer the readers to [1–9].

We consider a Banach space $(X, \|\cdot\|_X)$ and an open interval $I = (0, T) \subset \mathbb{R}$ with $0 < T < \infty$ fixed. We will use the notation $\overline{I} = [0, T]$.

Definition 3.1. A function $v : I \to X$ is (strongly) continuous on *I* if it is strongly continuous in *X* at every $t \in I$, i.e. for each $\epsilon > 0$, there exists $\delta = \delta(\epsilon)$, such that

$$\|v(t) - v(s)\|_X < \epsilon \quad \forall s \in I \text{ with } |t - s| < \delta.$$

We will denote by C(I; X), respectively, $C(\overline{I}; X)$, the space of all (strongly) continuous functions from *I*, respectively, from the closed interval \overline{I} , to *X*.

Definition 3.2. A subset *A* in a normed space *V* is said to be compact (respectively, weakly compact) if every sequence $\{x_n\}_n \subset A$ contains a subsequence $\{x_{n_k}\}_k$ such that $x_{n_k} \to x$ strongly (respectively, $x_{n_k} \to x$ weakly) in *V* as $k \to \infty$, with $x \in A$.

The following theorem provides useful criteria for compactness of subsets of $C(\overline{I}; X)$.

Theorem 3.1. Let $\mathcal{M} \subset C(\overline{I}; X)$ be a family of functions such that:

(1) there exists a constant C > 0 such that $||v(t)||_X \le C \quad \forall t \in \overline{I}, \ \forall v \in \mathcal{M},$ (2) \mathcal{M} is equi-uniformly continuous, i.e. $\forall \epsilon > 0, \exists \delta = \delta(\epsilon)$ such that

$$\|v(t) - v(s)\|_X < \epsilon \quad \forall t, s \in \overline{I} \text{ with } |t - s| < \delta, \forall v \in \mathcal{M},$$

(3) For each
$$t \in I$$
, the set $\{v(t); v \in \mathcal{M}\}$ is compact in X.
Then, \mathcal{M} is compact in $C(\overline{I}; X)$.

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2014

A. Capatina, Variational Inequalities and Frictional Contact Problems,

Advances in Mechanics and Mathematics 31, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-10163-7_3

Definition 3.3. A function $v : \overline{I} \to X$ is (strongly) uniformly continuous on \overline{I} if for each $\epsilon > 0$, there exists $\delta = \delta(\epsilon)$, such that

$$\|v(t) - v(s)\|_X < \epsilon \quad \forall t, s \in \overline{I} \text{ with } |t - s| < \delta.$$

Definition 3.4. A function $v : \overline{I} \to X$ is said to be Lipschitz continuous on \overline{I} if there exists a positive constant *C* such that

$$\|v(t) - v(s)\|_X \le C |t - s| \quad \forall t, s \in \overline{I}.$$

The smallest positive constant C which satisfies the above relation is called the Lipschitz constant.

Proposition 3.1. If $v \in C(\overline{I}; X)$, then v is uniformly continuous on \overline{I} .

Definition 3.5. We say that a function $v \in C(\overline{I}; X)$ is (strongly) differentiable on \overline{I} if it is differentiable at any $t \in \overline{I}$, i.e. there exists an element in X, denoted by v'(t) and called the (strong) derivative of V at t, such that

$$\lim_{h \to 0} \left\| \frac{v(t+h) - v(t)}{h} - v'(t) \right\|_{X} = 0,$$

for *h* sufficiently small such that $t + h \in \overline{I}$. It is natural that the derivative at t = 0 is defined as a right-sided limit while at t = T as a left-sided limit.

If the function v is differentiable a.e. on \overline{I} , then the function v' (denoted also $\frac{dv}{dt}$) is called the (strong) derivative of v.

The (strong) derivative of order j, for $j \ge 2$, denoted by $v^{(j)}$ or $\frac{d^j v}{dt^j}$, is defined by $v^{(j)} = (v^{(j-1)})'$. Most often, we will use the notation \dot{v} instead of v' or $\frac{dv}{dt}$ and the convention $v^{(0)} = v$.

For $m \ge 0$ integer, let $C^m(I; X)$, respectively $C^m(\overline{I}; X)$ be the space of functions *m* times continuous differentiable defined on *I*, respectively \overline{I} , with values in *X*.

Theorem 3.2. The space

$$C^{m}(\overline{I}, X) = \{ v : \overline{I} \to X ; v^{(k)} \in C(\overline{I}; X) \text{ for } 0 \le k \le m \}$$

is a Banach space equipped with the norm

$$\|v\|_{C^{m}(\overline{I};X)} = \sum_{k \le m} \sup_{x \in \overline{I}} \|v^{(k)}(x)\|_{X} = \sum_{k \le m} \max_{x \in \overline{I}} \|v^{(k)}(x)\|_{X}.$$
 (3.1)

3 Spaces of Vector-Valued Functions

We also will denote by $C^{\infty}(I; X)$ the space of all infinitely differentiable functions defined on I with values in X, by $\mathscr{D}(I; X)$ the space of all functions of $C^{\infty}(I; X)$ with compact support, and by $\mathscr{D}'(I; X)$ the space of vectorial distributions defined on I with values in X, i.e. $\mathscr{D}'(I; X) = \mathscr{L}(\mathscr{D}(I; X); X)$ where $\mathscr{L}(U, V)$ denotes the space of all linear continuous functions from U to V.

Definition 3.6. A function $v : I \to X$ is said to be simple function if there exist Leabesgue measurable subsets I_1, I_2, \dots, I_n of I and the functions $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \dots, \alpha_n \in X$ such that

$$v(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_j \chi_{I_j}(t) \quad \text{a.e. } t \in I ,$$

where χ_{I_i} is the indicator function of I_j .

Definition 3.7. We say that a function $v : I \to X$ is (strongly) measurable if there exists a sequence $\{v_n\}_{n\geq 0}$ of simple functions $v_n : I \to X$ such that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \|v_n(t) - v(t)\|_X = 0 \quad \text{a.e. } t \in I.$$

It is easy to proven the following properties (see, e.g. [4]):

Proposition 3.2. The following assertions hold.

- 1) If $v: I \to X$ is a measurable function, then $||v||_X : I \to \mathbb{R}$ is measurable.
- 2) Let $\{v_n\}_{n\geq 0}$ be a sequence of measurable functions from I to X and $v : I \to X$ be a function such that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \|v_n(t) - v(t)\|_X = 0 \quad a.e. \ t \in I \ .$$

Then v is measurable.

3) Let $v : I \to X$ be a weakly continuous function, i.e. $v(t_n) \rightharpoonup v(t)$ weakly in X as $t_n \to t$. Then v is measurable.

Definition 3.8. We say that a function $v : I \to X$ is (Bochner) integrable if there exists a sequence $\{v_n\}_{n\geq 0}$ of simple functions $v_n : I \to X$ such that

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} \|v_n(t) - v(t)\|_X = 0 \quad \text{a.e. } t \in I ,$$

and

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\int_I \|v_n(t)-v(t)\|_X\,\mathrm{d}t=0\,.$$

(as $||v_n(t) - v(t)||_X$ is measurable and nonnegative, it follows that $\int_I ||v_n(t) - v_n(t)||_X$

 $v(t) \parallel_X dt$ makes sense).

Proposition 3.3. Let $v : I \to X$ be an integrable function and let be the sequence $\{v_n\}_{n\geq 0}$ of simple functions $v_n : I \to X$ such that

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\int_{I}\|v_n(t)-v(t)\|_X\,\mathrm{d}t=0\,.$$

Then, there exists an element in X, denoted by $\int_{I} v(t) dt$ and called the (Bochner)

integral of v over I, such that

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\left\|\int\limits_{I}v_n(t)\,\mathrm{d}t-\int\limits_{I}v(t)\,\mathrm{d}t\right\|_{X}=0\,.$$

We note that the integral of v is independent of the sequence of simple functions considered above. The properties of the Bochner integral are similar to those of the Lebesgue integral of integrable real-valued functions.

Theorem 3.3 (Bochner's Theorem). Let $v : I \to X$ be a measurable function. Then v is integrable if and only if $||v||_X$ is integrable. Moreover, we have

$$\left\|\int_{I} v(t) \, \mathrm{d}t\right\|_{X} \leq \int_{I} \|v(t)\|_{X} \, \mathrm{d}t \, .$$

Theorem 3.4 (Lebesgue's Dominated Convergence Theorem). Let $\{v_n\}_{n\geq 0}$ be a sequence of integrable functions from *I* to *X* such that

1) There exists a integrable function $u: I \to X$ such that

$$\|v_n(t)\|_X \le u(t) \quad a.e. \ t \in I, \ \forall n \in \mathbb{N},$$

2) There exists a function $v : I \to X$ such that

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} \|v_n(t) - v(t)\|_X = 0 \quad a.e. \ t \in I.$$

Then v is integrable and

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\int_{I}\|v_n(t)-v(t)\|_X\,\mathrm{d}t=0\,.$$

3 Spaces of Vector-Valued Functions

Let $p \in [1, \infty]$. We denote by $L^p(I; X)$ the space of (equivalence classes of) measurable functions $v : I \to X$ such that the mapping $t \to ||v(t)||_X$ belongs to $L^p(I)$. Endowed with the norm

$$\|v\|_{L^{p}(I;X)} = \begin{cases} \left(\int_{I} \|v(t)\|_{X}^{p} \, dt \right)^{1/p} < \infty & \text{if } p \neq \infty \,, \\ \text{ess } \sup_{t \in (0,T)} \|v(t)\|_{X} & \text{if } p = \infty \,, \end{cases}$$
(3.2)

 $L^{p}(I; X)$ is a Banach space.

In particular, if $(X, (\cdot, \cdot)_X)$ is a Hilbert space, then $L^2(I; X)$ is also a Hilbert space with respect to the inner product

$$(u, v)_{L^2(I;X)} = \int_I (u(t), v(t))_X \, \mathrm{d}t \, .$$

Definition 3.9. We say that a measurable function $v : I \to X$ is locally *p*-integrable, and we write $v \in L^p_{loc}(I; X)$, if $v \in L^p(J; X)$ for any closed interval $J \subset I$.

The following theorem summarizes some basic properties of the space $L^{p}(I; X)$.

Theorem 3.5. Let $1 \le p \le \infty$. Then

1) $\mathscr{D}(I;X) \subset L^p(I;X) \subset \mathscr{D}'(I;X)$.

- 2) If $p < \infty$, then $\mathcal{D}(I; X)$ is dense in $L^p(I; X)$.
- 3) If $p < \infty$ and X is reflexive or X is separable, then the dual space of $L^p(I; X)$ is $L^{p'}(I; X^*)$, p' being the exponent conjugate to p, and X^* denoting the dual space of X.

In particular, if $(X, (\cdot, \cdot)_X)$ is a Hilbert space, then the duality pairing $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ between $L^p(I; X)$ and its dual $L^{p'}(I; X)$ is given by

$$\langle u, v \rangle = \int_{I} (u(t), v(t))_X dt \quad \forall u \in L^{p'}(I; X), \ \forall v \in L^p(I; X)$$

4) If $u \in L^p(I; X)$ and $v \in L^{p'}(I; X^*)$, then $t \to \langle u(t), v(t) \rangle_{X^* \times X}$ is integrable and

$$\int_{I} |\langle u(t), v(t) \rangle_{X^* \times X}| \, \mathrm{d}t \le ||u||_{L^p(I;X)} ||v||_{L^{p'}(I;X^*)}$$

where $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{X^* \times X}$ denotes the duality pairing between the space X and its dual X^* .

5) $L^{q}(I; X) \hookrightarrow L^{p}(I; X)$ for $1 \le p \le q \le \infty$.

6) Let $\{v_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a bounded sequence of $L^p(I; X)$ and $v : I \to X$ such that

$$v_n(t) \rightarrow v(t)$$
 weakly in X as $n \rightarrow \infty$, a.e. $t \in I$.

Then $v \in L^p(I; X)$ and

$$\|v\|_{L^{p}(I;X)} \leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} \|v_{n}\|_{L^{p}(I;X)}$$

7) Let $v \in L^1_{loc}(I; X)$ be such that v = 0 in $\mathcal{D}'(I, X)$. Then v = 0 a.e. on I. 8) Let $v \in L^p(\mathbb{R}; X)$. If we put

$$v_h(t) = \frac{1}{h} \int_{t}^{t+h} v(s) \,\mathrm{d}s$$
, for almost all $t \in \mathbb{R}$ and $h \neq 0$,

then $v_h \in L^p(\mathbb{R}; X) \cap C_b(\mathbb{R}; X)$ and

$$\lim_{h \to 0} \|v_h - v\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R};X)} = 0, \lim_{h \to 0} \|v_h(t) - v(t)\|_X = 0 \quad a.e. \ t \in \mathbb{R},$$

 $C_b(\mathbb{R}; X)$ denoting the space of all continuous bounded functions from \mathbb{R} to X.

We now introduce a weaker notion of the differentiability of a vector-valued function which is a natural generalization of the definition for real-valued functions.

Definition 3.10. Let $v \in L^1_{loc}(I; X)$. We say that the function v is weakly differentiable if there exists $u \in L^1_{loc}(I; X)$ such that

$$\int_{I} v(t)\varphi'(t) \, \mathrm{d}t = -\int_{I} u(t)\varphi(t) \, \mathrm{d}t \quad \forall \varphi \in C_0^\infty(I) \,,$$

where the integrals are understood to be Bochner integrals. The function *u* will be denoted by v' or $\frac{dv}{dt}$ and it is called the weak derivative of *v*. In a similar way, for $j \ge 2$, we say that the function *v* possesses a *j*-th weak derivative if there exists a function $v^{(j)} \in L^1_{loc}(I; X)$ (denoted also $\frac{d^j v}{dt^j}$) such that

$$\int_{I} v(t)\varphi^{(j)}(t) \,\mathrm{d}t = (-1)^{j} \int_{I} v^{(j)}(t)\varphi(t) \,\mathrm{d}t \quad \forall \varphi \in C_{0}^{\infty}(I) \,.$$

As in the case of strong derivatives, v' and $v^{(0)}$ are usually denoted by \dot{v} and, respectively, v.
3 Spaces of Vector-Valued Functions

As we will see below, the existence of the weak derivative of a vector-valued function is related to the absolute continuity.

Definition 3.11. A function $v : \overline{I} \to X$ is said to be absolutely continuous on \overline{I} if for any $\epsilon > 0$, there exists $\delta = \delta(\epsilon)$ such that, for any finite set of disjoint intervals $\{(t_n, t'_n)\}_n \subset \overline{I}$ with $\sum_n |t_n - t'_n| < \delta$, one has $\sum_n ||v(t_n) - v(t'_n)||_X < \epsilon$.

It is known that a real-valued function $v : \overline{I} \to \mathbb{R}$ is absolutely continuous iff v is a.e. differentiable on I, with the derivative $\frac{dv}{dt} \in L^1(I)$, such that

$$v(s) = v(0) + \int_0^s \frac{\mathrm{d}v}{\mathrm{d}t}(t) \,\mathrm{d}t \quad s \in \overline{I} \,.$$

This property does not carry over to Bochner integrals in arbitrary Banach space. A Banach space for which any absolutely continuous vector-valued function has an integrable weak derivative is said to have the Radon–Nikodym property. One of these spaces is given by the following result (see [7, p. 40]).

Theorem 3.6. Let X be a reflexive Banach space. Suppose that $v : \overline{I} \to X$ is an absolutely continuous function. Then v is a.e. differentiable on I, with the derivative $\dot{v} \in L^1(I; X)$, such that

$$v(s) = v(0) + \int_0^s \dot{v}(t) \, \mathrm{d}t \quad s \in \overline{I} \, .$$

For $m \in \mathbb{N}$ and $1 \leq p \leq \infty$, let $W^{m,p}(I; X)$ be the space of all (equivalence classes of) measurable functions $v : I \to X$ whose weak derivatives of order $0 \leq j \leq m$ belong to $L^p(I; X)$. Endowed with the norm

$$\|v\|_{W^{m,p}(I;X)} = \begin{cases} \left(\sum_{j=0}^{m} \|v^{(j)}\|_{L^{p}(I;X)}^{p}\right)^{1/p} \text{ if } p \in [1,\infty), \\ \max_{0 \le j \le m} \|v^{(j)}\|_{L^{\infty}(I;X)} & \text{ if } p = \infty, \end{cases}$$

 $W^{m,p}(I;X)$ is a Banach space.

The following result gives a characterization of $W^{m,p}(I; X)$ spaces by means of absolutely continuous functions.

Theorem 3.7. For $m \in \mathbb{N}$ and $1 \le p \le \infty$, let $v \in L^p(I; X)$. Then the following conditions are equivalent:

(1)
$$v \in W^{m,p}(I;X)$$
,

(2) there exists $w \in C^{m-1}(\overline{I}; X)$ such that:

 $\begin{cases} v(t) = w(t) & a.e. \ t \in I, \\ the \ strong \ derivatives \ w^{(j)} \ are \ absolutely \ continuous \ for \ 1 \le j \le m-1, \\ the \ m-th \ strong \ derivative \ w^{(m)} \ exists \ a.e. \ and \ w^{(m)} \in L^p(I; X). \end{cases}$

Finally, we review some useful results on the space $W^{1,p}(I; X)$.

Theorem 3.8. Let $p \ge 1$. We have

- 1) $W^{1,p}(I;X) \subset C(\overline{I};X)$.
- 2) $C^{\infty}(\overline{I}; X)$ is dense in $W^{1,p}(I; X)$.

Theorem 3.9. Let X be a reflexive Banach space and $1 \le p \le \infty$.

1) Let $v \in L^p(I; X)$. Then $v \in W^{1,p}(I; X)$ if and only if there exists $u \in L^p(I; \mathbb{R})$ such that

$$\|v(\tau) - v(t)\|_X \le \left|\int_t^{\tau} u(s) \,\mathrm{d}s\right| \quad \text{for almost all } t, \tau \in I.$$

In that case, one has $\|\dot{v}\|_{L^{p}(I;X)} \leq \|u\|_{L^{p}(I;\mathbb{R})}$.

- 2) Let $v : \overline{I} \to X$ be a bounded and Lipschitz continuous function with C the Lipschitz constant. Then $v \in W^{1,\infty}(I;X)$ and $\|\dot{v}\|_{L^{\infty}(I;X)} \leq C$.
- 3) Let p > 1, $\{v_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset W^{1,p}(I; X)$ be a bounded sequence and $v : I \to X$ be such that $v_n(t) \to v(t)$ weakly in X as $n \to \infty$, for almost all $t \in I$. Then $v \in W^{1,p}(I; X)$ and

$$\liminf_{n\to\infty} \|\dot{v}_n\|_{L^p(I;X)} \ge \|\dot{v}\|_{L^p(I;X)}.$$

References

- 1. Barbu, V.: Nonlinear Semigroups and Differential Equations in Banach Space. Noordhoff International Publishing, Leyden (1976)
- 2. Barbu, V.: Partial Differential Equations and Boundary Value Problems. Kluwer Academic, Dordrecht (1998)
- 3. Brézis, H.: Analyse Fonctionnelle. Mason, Paris (1983)
- Cazenave, T., Haraux, A.: Introduction aux Problèmes Sémi-linéaires. Mathématiques et Applications. Ellipses, Paris (1990)
- 5. Dunford, L., Schwartz, L.: Linear Operators, Part I. Interscience, New York (1958)
- 6. Dunford, L., Schwartz, L.: Linear Operators, Part II. Interscience, London (1963)
- Han, W., Sofonea, M.: Quasistatic contact problems in viscoelasticity and viscoplasticity. In: AMS/IP Studies in Advanced Mathematics, vol. 30. American Mathematical Society, Providence (2002)
- Schwartz, L. : Théorie des Distributions à Valeurs Vectorielles I. Ann. Inst. Fourier VII, 1–141 (1958)
- 9. Yosida, K. : Functional Analysis. Springer, Berlin/Gottingen/Heidelberg (1965)

Part II Variational Inequalities

Chapter 4 Existence and Uniqueness Results

This chapter deals with existence and uniqueness results for variational and quasivariational inequalities. With the intention of focusing the differences among the proofs of results, we first consider elliptic variational inequalities of the first and second kind with linear and continuous operators in Hilbert space or monotone and hemicontinuous operators in Banach space. Next, we deal with elliptic quasi-variational inequalities involving monotone and hemicontinuous or potential operators. The last section concerns the study of a class of evolutionary quasi-variational inequalities. The results presented here will be applied, in the last part of the book, in the study of frictional contact problems.

4.1 Elliptic Variational Inequalities

In this section we recall some classical existence and uniqueness results for elliptic variational inequalities of the first and second kind (see, for instance, [6, 21, 21, 27, 30, 31, 37, 38, 40]).

4.1.1 Variational Inequalities with Linear Operators

Let V be a real Hilbert space with the inner product (\cdot, \cdot) and the associated norm $\|\cdot\|$.

As follows from the following result, we may identify the Hilbert space V with its dual V^* (see, e.g. [1]).

Theorem 4.1 (Riesz's Representation Theorem). Let V be a Hilbert space, and let $f \in V^*$ be a given element. Then there exists a unique element $u_f \in V$ such that

$$f(v) = (u_f, v) \quad \forall v \in V \,.$$

In addition, we have

$$||f||_{V^*} = ||u_f||_V$$

Let *K* be a nonempty closed (i.e., *K* contains the limits of all strongly convergent sequences $\{v_n\}_n \subset K$) convex subset of *V*.

Let us consider a bilinear form $a : V \times V \to \mathbb{R}$. We assume that *a* is continuous, that is, there exists a positive constant *M* such that

$$|a(u,v)| \le M ||u|| ||v|| \quad \forall u, v \in V.$$
(4.1)

We denote by $j : K \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ a proper, convex, and lower semicontinuous (l.s.c.) function, i.e.

$$j \text{ is not identically } + \infty \text{ and } j(v) > -\infty \quad \forall v \in V,$$
 (4.2)

$$j((1-t)u + tv) \le (1-t)j(u) + tj(v) \quad \forall t \in [0,1], \ \forall u, v \in K,$$
(4.3)

if
$$\{v_n\}_n \subset K$$
 converges strongly to $v \in K$ then $\liminf_{n \to \infty} j(v_n) \ge j(v)$. (4.4)

Let $f \in V$ be given. With the above notation, we consider the problem **Problem** (P_1^a) : Find $u \in K$ such that

$$a(u, v - u) + j(v) - j(u) \ge (f, v - u) \quad \forall v \in K,$$
 (4.5)

called elliptic variational inequality of the second kind.

As a particular case, for $j \equiv 0$, we have the variational inequality of the first kind defined by

$$\begin{cases} Find \ u \in K \text{ such that} \\ a(u, v - u) \ge (f, v - u) \quad \forall v \in K. \end{cases}$$

$$(4.6)$$

First, we prove the following equivalence result, due essentially to Minty [27].

Lemma 4.1. Let the above assumptions hold. We suppose, in addition, that the form a is positive (i.e., $a(v, v) \ge 0$, $\forall v \in V$). Then, the variational inequality (4.5) is equivalent to

$$\begin{cases} Find \ u \in K \text{ such that} \\ a(v, v - u) + j(v) - j(u) \ge (f, v - u) \quad \forall v \in K. \end{cases}$$

$$(4.7)$$

Moreover, the set of all solutions of the variational inequality (4.5) is a closed convex (it could be empty) subset of K.

Proof. If u is a solution of (4.5), then, since a is positive, it follows

$$a(v, v - u) + j(v) - j(u) \ge a(u, v - u) + j(v) - j(u) \ge (f, v - u) \quad \forall v \in K,$$

i.e., *u* verifies (4.7).

Conversely, as the set K is convex, we may take $v = (1 - t)u + tw \in K$ in (4.7) with $w \in K$ arbitrary, and $t \in (0, 1)$. Then, by the convexity of j, one obtains

$$a((1-t)u + tw, w - u) + j(w) - j(u) \ge (f, w - u) \quad \forall w \in K,$$

and, by passing to the limit with $t \to 0$, we get (4.5).

This equivalence implies that the set of all solutions of the variational inequality (4.5) can be written as

$$\chi = \{ u \in K ; a(v, v - u) + j(v) - j(u) \ge (f, v - u) \quad \forall v \in K \}.$$

Then, it is easy to verify that the set χ is convex since the functional j is convex. In order to prove that it is closed, let $\{u_n\}_n \subset \chi$ be a sequence such that $u_n \to u$ strongly in V. As K is closed, we have $u \in K$, and

$$a(v, v - u) + j(v) - j(u) \ge \lim_{n \to \infty} a(v, v - u_n) + j(v) - \liminf_{n \to \infty} j(u_n)$$

$$\ge \limsup_{n \to \infty} (a(v, v - u_n) + j(v) - j(u_n)) \ge \lim_{n \to \infty} (f, v - u_n) = (f, v - u) \quad \forall v \in K,$$

i.e., $u \in \chi$, which completes the proof.

We also have the following equivalence result.

Lemma 4.2. Let the above assumptions hold. We suppose, in addition, that the form a is symmetric (i.e., a(u, v) = a(v, u), $\forall u, v \in V$). Then, the variational inequality (4.5) is equivalent to the following minimization problem

$$\begin{cases} Find \ u \in K \ such \ that \\ J(u) \le J(v) \quad \forall v \in K \ , \end{cases}$$

$$(4.8)$$

where the function $J: V \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ is defined by

$$J(v) = \frac{1}{2}a(v,v) + j(v) - (f,v) \quad \forall v \in V.$$
(4.9)

Proof. If $u \in K$ is a solution of the variational inequality (4.5), then we have

$$J(v) - J(u) = a(u, v - u) + j(v) - j(u) - (f, v - u) + \frac{1}{2}a(u - v, u - v) \ge 0 \quad \forall v \in K.$$

Conversely, if u satisfies (4.8), then

$$J(u) \le J((1-t)u + tv) \quad \forall v \in K, \ \forall t \in (0,1),$$

hence

$$\frac{1}{2}t^{2}a(u-v,u-v)+ta(u,v-u)+j((1-t)u+tv)-j(u)\geq t(f,v-u).$$

Therefore, by using the convexity of *j*, dividing by *t* and passing to the limit with $t \rightarrow 0$, we conclude that *u* is a solution of (4.5).

Let us recall a Weierstrass type minimization theorem (see, for instance, [31, p. 1181], [10, p. 62], [14, p. 596]) which will be used frequently in this chapter.

Theorem 4.2 (Weierstrass's Minimization Theorem). Let $(X, \|\cdot\|_X)$ be a reflexive Banach space and let K be a nonempty weakly closed subset of X. Let $J : K \to \mathbb{R}$ be a proper function. Assume that J is weakly l.s.c., i.e.

if
$$\{v_n\}_n \subset K$$
 converges weakly to $v \in K$ then $\liminf_{n \to \infty} J(v_n) \ge J(v)$.

Suppose that one of the following three conditions holds:

1) K is bounded;

2) J is coercive, i.e. $\lim_{\|v\|\to\infty} J(v) = +\infty;$

3) every minimizing sequence $\{v_n\}_n \subset K$ of J is bounded in V.

Then J is bounded below on K and it attains its minimum value on K.

In addition, if J is convex, then the set of all minimizers of J is closed convex subset of K.

Moreover, if the functional J is strictly convex on K (i.e., J((1-t)u + tv) < (1-t)J(u) + tJ(v), $\forall t \in (0,1)$, $\forall u, v \in K$, $u \neq v$), then the minimizer of J is unique.

We now introduce two important classes of nonlinear operators defined in a Hilbert space, namely the proximity operator and the projection operator (see, e.g., [28,29]).

Definition 4.1. Let $\varphi : V \to \mathbb{R}$ be a proper convex l.s.c. function. The proximity operator with respect to the function φ is the operator $Prox_{\varphi} : V \to V$ defined by $Prox_{\varphi}(w) = u, \forall w \in V, u$ being the unique element in V, called the proximal element of w with respect to the function φ , such that

$$\Phi_w(u) = \min_{v \in V} \Phi_w(v)$$

4.1 Elliptic Variational Inequalities

where

$$\Phi_{w}(v) = \frac{1}{2} \|v\|^{2} + \varphi(v) - (w, v) \quad \forall v \in V.$$
(4.10)

This definition is justified by the following existence and uniqueness theorem.

Theorem 4.3 (Proximity Theorem). Let $\varphi : V \to \mathbb{R}$ be a proper convex l.s.c. function. Then, for any $w \in V$, there is a unique element $u \in V$ such that $u = Prox_{\varphi}(w)$.

Proof. It is easy to see that the function $\Phi_w : V \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$, defined by (4.10), is proper. As φ is convex and the norm $\|\cdot\|_V$ is strictly convex, it follows that Φ_w is strictly convex. Moreover, since the norm and the function $v \mapsto (w, v)$ are continuous, and φ is l.s.c., we deduce that Φ_w is a l.s.c. function.

Next, the hypotheses on φ imply that there exist $\lambda \in V$ and $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\varphi(v) \ge (\lambda, v) + \mu \quad \forall v \in V \,,$$

and hence

$$\Phi_{w}(v) \ge \frac{1}{2} \|v\|^{2} + (\lambda - w, v) + \mu = \frac{1}{2} \|v + \lambda - w\|^{2} - \frac{1}{2} \|\lambda - w\|^{2} + \mu$$

Therefore, the function Φ_w is coercive. Applying Weierstrass Theorem 4.2, we conclude the proof.

The following results give a characterization of the proximity operator and some of its properties.

Proposition 4.1. Let $\varphi : V \to \mathbb{R}$ be a proper convex *l.s.c.* function and let $w \in V$. *Then the following assertions are equivalent:*

(1) $u = Prox_{\varphi}(w),$ (2) $(u, v - u) + \varphi(v) - \varphi(u) \ge (w, v - u) \quad \forall v \in V.$

Proof. We apply Definition 4.1 and Lemma 4.2 for $a(u, v) = (u, v), \forall u, v \in V$. \Box

Proposition 4.2. Let $\varphi : V \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ be a proper convex l.s.c. function. Then the proximity operator $Prox_{\varphi} : V \to V$ is monotone and non-expansive, i.e.

$$(Prox_{\varphi}(w_{1}) - Prox_{\varphi}(w_{1}), w_{1} - w_{2}) \ge 0 \quad \forall w_{1}, w_{2} \in V \\ \|Prox_{\varphi}(w_{1}) - Prox_{\varphi}(w_{1})\| \le \|w_{1} - w_{2}\| \quad \forall w_{1}, w_{2} \in V.$$

Proof. Let $w_i \in V$ and $u_i = Prox_{\varphi}(w_i)$ for i = 1, 2. Therefore, by Proposition 4.1, we have

$$(u_i, u_{3-i} - u_i) + \varphi(u_{3-i}) - \varphi(u_i) \ge (w_i, u_{3-i} - u_i)$$
 $i = 1, 2$

4 Existence and Uniqueness Results

By adding the two inequalities, we obtain

$$(w_1 - w_2, u_1 - u_2) \ge ||u_1 - u_2||^2$$
,

thus

$$0 \le \|Prox_{\varphi}(w_{1}) - Prox_{\varphi}(w_{2})\|^{2} \le (Prox_{\varphi}(w_{1}) - Prox_{\varphi}(w_{2}), w_{1} - w_{2})$$

$$\le \|Prox_{\varphi}(w_{1}) - Prox_{\varphi}(w_{2})\| \|w_{1} - w_{2}\|$$

which completes the proof.

The proximity operator, being non-expansive, is continuous. In addition, by Proposition 4.1, we deduce that

$$u = Prox_{\varphi}(u) \Longleftrightarrow \varphi(u) \le \varphi(v) \quad \forall v \in V.$$
(4.11)

An important particular case of the proximity operator $Prox_{\varphi}$ is obtained by taking $\varphi = I_K$ where I_K denotes the indicator function of K defined by:

$$I_K(v) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } v \in K, \\ +\infty & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

In this case, we will denote the proximity operator $Prox_{I_K}$ by P_K , called the projection operator.

Definition 4.2. The projection operator $P_K : V \to K$ is defined by $P_K(w) = u$ where $u \in K$, called the projection of w onto K, is the unique minimizer of the functional $\Psi_w(v) = ||v - w||$ on K (i.e., the distance between the given element $w \in V$ and the closed convex set K).

As $P_K = Prox_{I_K}$, we have the following existence and uniqueness result.

Theorem 4.4 (Projection Theorem). For any $w \in V$ there is a unique element $u \in K$ such that

$$||u - w|| = \min_{v \in K} ||v - w||$$

From Propositions 4.2 and 4.1, we deduce the following results.

Proposition 4.3. The projection operator $P_K : V \rightarrow K$ is monotone and nonexpansive.

Proposition 4.4. Let $w \in V$. Then, the following assertions are equivalent:

(1) $u = P_K(w),$ (2) $(u, v - u) \ge (w, v - u) \quad \forall v \in K.$

It is easy to see that

$$u = P_K u \Longleftrightarrow u \in K \,. \tag{4.12}$$

We note that, in general, the projection operator is not linear. However, if M is a closed subspace of V, then the projection operator P_M is linear and $||P_M||_{\mathscr{L}(V,V)} = 1$.

We remind that a subset A of a normed space X is said to be compact (respectively, weakly compact) if every sequence in A has a subsequence converging strongly (respectively, weakly) in X to an element of A.

We recall now the following fixed point theorems (see, e.g., [3], [9, p. 12], [23, p. 530], [36, p. 16]) that will be useful in the sequel.

Theorem 4.5 (Brouwer's Fixed Point Theorem). Let K be a nonempty, convex, compact subset of a finite dimensional normed linear space V. If the operator $T : K \to K$ is continuous, then T has a fixed point, i.e. there exists $u \in K$ such that T(u) = u.

Theorem 4.6 (Schauder's Fixed Point Theorem). Let V be a Banach space, and let $K \subset V$ be a nonempty, convex, compact subset. If the operator $T : K \to K$ is continuous, then T has a fixed point.

Theorem 4.7 (Banach's Fixed Point Theorem). Let $(V, \|\cdot\|_V)$ be a Banach space, and let K be a nonempty closed subset of V. Suppose that the operator $T : K \to K$ is a contraction, i.e. there exists a constant $c \in [0, 1)$ such that

$$||T(u) - T(v)||_V \le c ||u - v||_V.$$

Then T has a unique fixed point.

In the finite dimensional case, we have the following existence result for the variational inequality (4.5) (see [21]).

Theorem 4.8 (Hartman–Stampacchia's Theorem). Let K be a nonempty compact convex subset of a finite dimensional space V. If we suppose that $A : K \longrightarrow V$ is a continuous mapping and $j : K \longrightarrow (-\infty, +\infty]$ is a proper l.s.c. convex function, then there exists at least one $u \in K$ such that

$$(Au, v - u) + j(v) - j(u) \ge (f, v - u) \quad \forall v \in K.$$
(4.13)

Proof. We consider the proper l.s.c. convex function $\varphi: V \longrightarrow (-\infty, +\infty]$ defined by

$$\varphi(v) = \begin{cases} j(v) \text{ if } v \in K, \\ +\infty \text{ otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(4.14)

Let the operator $T : K \to K$ be defined by $T(w) = Prox_{\varphi}(w - Aw + f)$, $\forall w \in K$, where $Prox_{\varphi}$ is the proximity operator with respect to φ . We first remark that, from the definition (4.14) of φ and the definition of the proximity operator, it follows that $T(w) \in K$, $\forall w \in K$. Then, by Proposition 4.1, it follows that the inequality (4.13) is equivalent to u = T(u).

The operators A and $Prox_{\varphi}$ are continuous, hence T is itself on the compact convex set K. Hence, from Schauder fixed point Theorem 4.6 or from Brouwer Theorem 4.5, it follows that there exists at least one element $u \in K$ such that u = T(u) which completes the proof.

We have the following results (see, e.g., [16]) on the weak compactness in reflexive Banach spaces.

Theorem 4.9 (Eberlein–Smulyan Theorem). Let V be a reflexive Banach space. Then any bounded sequence in V contains a weakly convergent subsequence.

Corollary 4.1. Any nonempty, bounded, and weakly closed subset in a reflexive Banach space is weakly compact.

The following existence result for variational inequalities holds.

Theorem 4.10. Suppose that the hypotheses (4.1)–(4.4) hold. In addition, we assume that the form a is positive and that the closed convex set K is bounded. Then, the set of all solutions of the variational inequality (4.5) is a nonempty, convex, and weakly compact subset of K.

Proof. From Lemma 4.1, the set of all solutions of (4.5) is

$$\chi = \bigcap_{v \in K} S(v) \text{ where } S(v) = \{ u \in K ; a(v, v - u) + j(v) - j(u) \ge (f, v - u) \}.$$

The set χ being closed convex, it is weakly closed (i.e., it contains the limits of all weakly convergent sequences $\{v_n\}_n \subset \chi$) in *V*. On the other hand, as the set *K* is bounded and weakly closed in *V*, by Corollary 4.1, it follows that it is weakly compact. Therefore, we will prove that $\chi \neq \emptyset$ by proving that the family $\{S(v)\}_{v \in K}$ has the finite intersection property, i.e. any finite subcollection $K_Q \subset K$ has nonempty intersection. Let $\{v_1, \dots, v_q\}$ be a finite part of *K* and $K_Q = K \cap Q$ where *Q* is the finite dimensional space spanned by the family $\{v_1, \dots, v_q\}$. Then, from Hartman–Stampacchia Theorem 4.8, it follows that there exists a solution $u \in$ $K_Q \subset K$ of the inequality

$$a(u, v - u) + j(v) - j(u) \ge (f, v - u) \quad \forall v \in K_Q,$$

i.e., there exists $u \in S(v)$, $\forall v \in K_Q$, hence $\bigcap_{v \in K_Q} S(v) \neq \emptyset$. \Box

We shall see below that, in the case of compact sets, the existence result is a consequence of Schauder fixed point Theorem 4.6.

Proposition 4.5. Under the hypotheses of Theorem 4.10, if the set K is compact, then the set of all solutions of the variational inequality (4.5) forms a nonempty compact convex subset of K.

Proof. The set χ of all solutions of (4.5) is closed and convex.

In order to prove that it is nonempty, let $T : K \to K$ be the continuous operator defined by $T(w) = Prox_{\varphi}(w - Aw + f)$, $\forall w \in K$, where the functional φ is defined by (4.14), and $A \in \mathcal{L}(V, V)$ is the operator associated with the bilinear continuous form $a(\cdot, \cdot)$, i.e.

$$(Au, v) = a(u, v) \quad \forall u, v \in V.$$

$$(4.15)$$

Hence, by Schauder fixed point Theorem 4.6, it follows that there exists $u \in K$ such that u = T(u), that is

$$((u - Au + f) - u, v - u) \le j(v) - j(u) \quad \forall v \in K,$$

and thus, the set of the solutions of (4.5) is nonempty. Moreover, as χ is closed in the compact set *K*, it follows that χ is compact.

Next, if we refer to the variational inequality of the first kind (4.6), then we have to consider the continuous operator $T: K \to K$ defined by $T(v) = P_K(v-Av+f)$ where $P_K: V \to K$ is the projection operator on the nonempty closed convex subset K. Therefore, by taking into account the characterization of the projection given by Proposition 4.4, from u = Tu it follows

$$(u - (u - Au + f), v - u) \ge 0 \quad \forall v \in K.$$

In fact, it is enough to remark that the projection operator is a particular case of the proximity operator, namely $P_K = Prox_{I_K}$, I_K being the indicator function of K.

However, the most interesting cases involve unbounded sets K. Existence results are obtained by requiring that the form a is coercive on V (or, V-elliptic), that is, there exists a positive constant α such that

$$a(u,u) \ge \alpha \|u\|^2 \quad \forall u \in V.$$
(4.16)

We first recall an important surjectivity result (see, e.g., [10, p. 42], [9, p. 41]).

Theorem 4.11 (Lax–Milgram's Theorem). Let V be a real Hilbert space, and let $a : V \times V \rightarrow \mathbb{R}$ be a bilinear, continuous, and coercive form. Then, for each $f \in V^*$, there exists a unique element $u \in V$ such that

$$a(u, v) = \langle f, v \rangle \quad \forall v \in V$$

with V^* the dual space of V and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ the duality pairing between V^* and V.

The mapping $f \mapsto u$ is one-to-one, continuous, and linear from V^* onto V.

Corollary 4.2. Let V be a real Hilbert space, and let $A : V \rightarrow V^*$ be a bilinear, continuous, and coercive operator. Then, the operator A is bijective from V onto V^* .

We have the following existence and uniqueness result for unbounded sets.

Theorem 4.12. Suppose that the hypotheses (4.1)–(4.4) hold. If the bilinear continuous form a is coercive, then there exists a unique solution $u \in K$ of the variational inequality (4.5).

Proof. In order to emphasize the difference between techniques involved in the proof, we are going to assume following cases:

- 1) If a(u, v) = (u, v), $\forall u, v \in V$, then, from Propositions 4.1 and 4.4, it follows that the variational inequalities (4.5) and (4.6) are equivalent to $u = Prox_{\varphi}(f)$ and, respectively, $u = P_K(f)$, the function φ being defined by (4.14). Therefore, Theorems 4.3 and 4.4 conclude the proof.
- 2) If the form $a(\cdot, \cdot)$ is symmetric, then, by Proposition 4.2, it follows that the problem (4.5) is equivalent to the minimization problem

$$\begin{cases} Find \ u \in K \text{ such that} \\ J(u) = \inf_{v \in K} J(v) \end{cases}$$

where the function $J: V \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ is defined by (4.9).

Therefore, Theorem 4.12 takes the form of Weierstrass Theorem 4.2.

It is easy to verify that the hypothesis (4.16) implies that the form *a* is strictly convex. Indeed, we have

$$\begin{aligned} a((1-t)u+tv, (1-t)u+tv) &= (1-t)a(u, u) + ta(v, v) - t(1-t)a(u-v, u-v) \\ &\leq (1-t)a(u, u) + ta(v, v) - \alpha t(1-t) \|u-v\|^2 \\ &< (1-t)a(u, u) + ta(v, v) \quad \forall t \in (0, 1), \ \forall u, v \in V, \ u \neq v. \end{aligned}$$

Hence the function J is strictly convex.

From the hypotheses (4.2)–(4.4), it follows that there exist $\lambda \in V$ and $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$j(v) \ge (\lambda, v) + \mu$$
.

Thus, by using (4.16), we get

$$J(v) \ge \frac{\alpha}{2} \|v\|^2 + (\lambda - f, v) + \mu \ge \frac{\alpha - \epsilon}{2} \|v\|^2 - \frac{1}{2\epsilon} \|\lambda - f\|^2 + \mu, \ \forall \epsilon \in (0, \alpha)$$

and so, the function J is coercive. In addition, J is proper and weakly l.s.c. (for convex functions, the lower semicontinuity is equivalent to the weakly lower semicontinuity). Therefore, by Theorem 4.2 the assertion follows.

3) If K = V and $j \equiv 0$, then, the variational inequality (4.5), or (4.6), becomes

$$Au = f$$

where *A* is the operator associated with the form *a* by (4.15). So, Theorem 4.12 expresses Corollary 4.2 of Lax–Milgram Theorem 4.11, and so, the operator *A* is invertible (it satisfies the hypothesis $||Av|| \ge \alpha ||v||$, $v \in V$ and it is bijective), i.e. the equation Au = f has a unique solution $u = A^{-1}f$ where $A^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(V, V)$ is the inverse operator of *A*.

4) In the general case, for any $\rho > 0$, the inequality (4.5) can be written as

$$(u - (u - \rho(Au - f)), v - u) \ge \rho \varphi(v) - \rho \varphi(u) \quad \forall v \in V$$

that is $u = Prox_{\rho\varphi}(u-\rho(Au-f))$, and, respectively, $u = P_K(u-\rho(Au-f))$ in the case of the variational inequality of the first kind (4.6). We define the operator $T_\rho: K \to K$ by

$$T_{\rho}(v) = Prox_{\rho\varphi}(v - \rho(Av - f)), \qquad (4.17)$$

and, respectively,

$$T_{\rho}(v) = P_K(v - \rho(Av - f)).$$
(4.18)

Now, the existence and uniqueness of u follow from Banach fixed point Theorem 4.7 provided that there exists ρ such that the mapping T_{ρ} is a contraction on the nonempty closed subset K of the Banach space V. Indeed, since the proximity and projection operators are non-expansive, then by the relations (4.1), (4.16), we have

$$||T_{\rho}(v_1) - T_{\rho}(v_2)|| \le \sqrt{1 + \rho^2 M^2 - 2\alpha \rho} ||v_1 - v_2|| \quad \forall v_1, v_2 \in K,$$

hence, by choosing $\rho \in (0, \frac{2\alpha}{M^2})$, one obtains $1 + \rho^2 M^2 - 2\alpha \rho \in (0, 1)$, i.e. T_{ρ} is a contraction.

4.1.2 Variational Inequalities with Nonlinear Operators

This section contains existence and uniqueness results for the solutions of variational inequalities involving a large class of nonlinear operators, namely monotone and hemicontinuous operators (see [6, 21, 30, 37, 38]). These operators are considered in most of the applications of the elliptic boundary problems. Let $(V, \|\cdot\|)$ be a real reflexive Banach space with its dual $(V^*, \|\cdot\|_*)$, and let $K \subset V$ be a nonempty closed convex subset. We consider a function $j : K \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ satisfying the following conditions

$$j$$
 is proper l.s.c. convex, (4.19)

and a monotone hemicontinuous operator $A: V \to V^*$, i.e.

$$\langle Au - Av, u - v \rangle \ge 0 \quad \forall u, v \in V , \tag{4.20}$$

 $\forall u, v \in V$, the map $t \in [0, 1] \longrightarrow \langle A((1-t)u + tv, u - v) \rangle$ is continuous, (4.21)

where $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ denotes the duality pairing between V^* and V.

We will establish conditions which ensure the existence of the solutions of the variational inequality

Problem (P_2^a) : Find $u \in K$ such that

$$\langle Au, v-u \rangle + j(v) - j(u) \ge \langle f, v-u \rangle \quad \forall v \in K,$$
 (4.22)

for $f \in V^*$ given.

First, by proceeding in a similar way as in the proof of Lemma 4.1, one obtains:

Lemma 4.3. Under the above hypotheses, an element $u \in K$ satisfies the inequality (4.22) if and only if it satisfies the inequality

$$\langle Av, v - u \rangle + j(v) - j(u) \ge \langle f, v - u \rangle \quad \forall v \in K.$$
 (4.23)

Moreover, the set of all solutions of the variational inequality (4.22) is convex closed in V.

The main result of this section is the following existence and uniqueness result (see, e.g., [37]).

Theorem 4.13. Suppose the hypotheses (4.19)–(4.21) hold. If one of the following conditions is satisfied

$$K \text{ is bounded },$$
 (4.24)

$$0 \in K, \ j(0) = 0 \ and \ \lim_{\substack{\|v\| \to +\infty\\v \in K}} \frac{\langle Av, v \rangle + j(v)}{\|v\|} = +\infty,$$

$$(4.25)$$

$$\exists v_0 \in K \text{ such that } \lim_{\substack{\|v\| \to +\infty\\v \in K}} \frac{\langle Av, v - v_0 \rangle + j(v) - j(v_0)}{\|v\|} = +\infty, \qquad (4.26)$$

then, there exists at least one solution $u \in K$ of (4.22). Moreover, the set of all solutions of the variational inequality (4.22) is convex closed bounded in V, and so, it is weakly compact.

In addition, if j is strictly convex, i.e.

$$j(\lambda u + (1 - \lambda)v) < \lambda j(u) + (1 - \lambda)j(v) \quad \forall \lambda \in (0, 1), \, \forall u, v \in V, \, u \neq v,$$

or A is strictly monotone, i.e.

$$\langle Au - Av, u - v \rangle > 0 \quad \forall u, v \in V, \ u \neq v$$

then the solution of the variational inequality (4.22) is unique.

Proof. By Lemma 4.3, the set of all solutions of (4.22) is the following closed convex set

$$\chi = \bigcap_{v \in K} S(v) \subset K \quad \text{where} \quad S(v) = \{ u \in K \; ; \; \langle Av, v - u \rangle + j(v) - j(u) \ge \langle f, v - u \rangle \}.$$

If the hypothesis (4.24) holds, then, obviously χ is also bounded. Proceeding in a similar way as in the proof of Theorem 4.10, we get $\chi \neq \emptyset$.

Now, we suppose that the hypothesis (4.25) or (4.26) is satisfied. We then consider the following closed bounded convex subset of *K*

$$K_R = K \cap B(0, R)$$

where $B(0, R) = \{v \in V ; \|v\| \le R\}$. We may assume that *R* is large enough such that the set K_R is not-empty. Therefore, from the first part of the proof, it follows that there exists $u_R \in K_R$ such that

$$\langle Au_R, v - u_R \rangle + j(v) - j(u_R) \ge \langle f, v - u_R \rangle \quad \forall v \in K_R.$$
(4.27)

We shall show that any of the two coerciveness conditions (4.25) or (4.26) implies $||u_R|| < R$. We suppose by contradiction that $||u_R|| = R$.

If (4.25) holds, then

$$\langle Au_R, u_R \rangle + j(u_R) > \langle f, u_R \rangle,$$

On the other hand, taking $v = 0 \in K_R$ in (4.27), we get

$$\langle Au_R, u_R \rangle + j(u_R) \leq \langle f, u_R \rangle$$

which represents a contradiction.

If (4.26) is true, then

$$\langle Au_R, u_R - v_0 \rangle + j(u_R) - j(v_0) > \langle f, u_R - v_0 \rangle.$$

We may always suppose that *R* is large enough such that $R \ge ||v_0||$. Therefore, from (4.27) with $v = v_0 \in K_R$, we obtain the contradiction

$$\langle Au_R, v_0 - u_R \rangle + j(v_0) - j(u_R) \ge \langle f, v_0 - u_R \rangle.$$

We conclude that $||u_R|| < R$.

We note that, for every $w \in K$, there exists $\epsilon = \epsilon(w) \in (0, 1]$ such that $v = u_R + \epsilon(w - u_R) \in K_R$. Indeed, if $w \in K_R$, then we take $\epsilon = 1$, and if $w \notin K_R$, then, by taking $0 < \epsilon \le \frac{R - ||u_R||}{||w|| - ||u_R||} \in (0, 1)$, one obtains $v \in K_R$. Therefore, from (4.27) and the convexity of j, it follows

$$\langle Au_R, w - u_R \rangle + j(w) - j(u_R) \ge \langle f, w - u_R \rangle \quad \forall w \in K$$

that is u_R is a solution of (4.22).

Therefore, in order to prove the first part of the theorem, it is enough to prove that the set χ is bounded. If we suppose that, for all R > 0, there exists $u_R \in \chi$ such that $||u_R|| > R$, then, for R sufficiently large, the coerciveness relations (4.25) or (4.26), and the inequality (4.22) give, as we have seen above, a contradiction.

Finally, if *j* is strictly convex or *A* is strictly monotone, we wish to prove the uniqueness of the solution of (4.22). Suppose that two solutions $u_1, u_2 \in K$ exist. Taking $v = \frac{u_1 + u_2}{2}$ in the corresponding inequalities, by adding them, we deduce

$$0 \leq \frac{1}{2} \langle Au_1 - Au_2, u_1 - u_2 \rangle + j(u_1) + j(u_2) - 2j\left(\frac{u_1 + u_2}{2}\right) \leq 0,$$

which, in any of the two hypotheses, implies $u_1 = u_2$.

In the following we shall see that the hypotheses (4.24)–(4.26) can be replaced by a strong assumption on the operator A.

Corollary 4.3. Let $j : K \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ be a proper l.s.c. convex function and $A : V \to V^*$ a hemicontinuous and strongly monotone operator, i.e. A satisfies (4.21) and

$$\exists \alpha > 0 \text{ such that } \langle Au - Av, u - v \rangle \ge \alpha \|u - v\|^2 \quad \forall u, v \in V.$$

$$(4.28)$$

Then, there exists a unique solution $u \in K$ of (4.22).

Proof. We shall prove that the coerciveness hypothesis (4.26) is satisfied. From the strongly monotonicity of *A*, we get

$$\lim_{\substack{\|v\| \to +\infty \\ v \in K}} \frac{\langle Av, v - v_0 \rangle}{\|v\|} = +\infty \quad \forall v_0 \in K.$$
(4.29)

On the other hand, the hypotheses on j imply that there exist $\lambda \in V^*$ and $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$j(v) \ge \langle \lambda, v \rangle + \mu \ge - \|\lambda\|_* \|v\| + \mu \quad \forall v \in K.$$
(4.30)

Now, by choosing $v_0 \in \text{dom } j = \{v \in K; j(v) < +\infty\}$ (obviously, as the function *j* is proper, one has: dom $j \neq \emptyset$), the relations (4.29) and (4.30) get (4.26).

It is known that (see, for instance, [17], p. 42) if a monotone hemicontinuous operator A is bounded (i.e., A maps bounded sets into bounded sets), then it is pseudo-monotone, that is

i) *A* is bounded
ii)
$$\forall \{u_n\}_n \subset K$$
, $\forall u \in K$ s.t. $u_n \rightharpoonup u$ weakly in *V* and $\limsup_{n \to \infty} \langle Au_n, u_n - u \rangle \leq 0$,
then $\liminf_{n \to \infty} \langle Au_n, u_n - v \rangle \geq \langle Au, u - v \rangle \quad \forall v \in K$.

Finally, we note that Theorem 4.20 is still valid for a pseudo-monotone operator A with a slightly modified proof (see, e.g., [30, 31, 40]).

4.2 Elliptic Quasi-variational Inequalities

The object of this section is to study the so-called quasi-variational inequalities, initially introduced by Bensoussan and Lions [4] in connection with some stochastic impulse control problems. The mathematical literature on quasi-variational inequalities contains many notable contributions including a wide set of applications in mechanics, engineering, economics, or game theory. We do dot claim to cover here this huge subject, we only focus our attention on two classes of quasi-variational inequalities involving monotone hemicontinuous operators and, respectively, potential operators.

4.2.1 Quasi-variational Inequalities with Hemicontinuous Operators

Let $(V, \|\cdot\|)$ be a real reflexive Banach space, $(V^*, \|\cdot\|_*)$ its dual, and let K be a nonempty closed convex subset of V. We denote by $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ the duality product between V^* and V.

For $f \in V^*$ given, we consider the following quasi-variational inequality: **Problem** (P_3^a): Find $u \in K$ such that

$$\langle Au, v - u \rangle + j(u, v) - j(u, u) \ge \langle f, v - u \rangle \quad \forall v \in K,$$
(4.31)

where $A: V \to V^*$ is an operator and $j: V \times V \to (-\infty, +\infty]$ a function.

In this paragraph we indicate a quite wide class of operators A and functionals j which guarantees the existence and, eventually, the uniqueness of the solution.

Remark 4.1. The problem (4.31) is called (see, for instance, [31]) quasi-variational inequality of the second kind.

Remark 4.2. Suppose that K = V (or, sufficiently, dom $j = K \times K$ where dom $j = \{(u, v) \in V \times V ; j(u, v) < +\infty\}$ is the effective domain of j) and

$$j(u, v) = I_{\mathcal{Q}(u)}(v) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } v \in \mathcal{Q}(u), \\ +\infty & \text{if } v \notin \mathcal{Q}(u) \end{cases}$$

where $Q: V \to 2^V$ is a multivalued mapping such that for every $u \in V$, Q(u) is a nonempty closed convex subset of V. Then the variational inequality (4.31) becomes

$$\begin{cases} u \in Q(u) \\ \langle Au, v - u \rangle \ge \langle f, v - u \rangle \quad \forall v \in Q(u) . \end{cases}$$

This inequality is called quasi-variational inequality of the first kind (see [4, 39]). We remark that this problem involves implicit constraints, i.e. constraints that depend on the solution itself.

We recall that a functional $\varphi: K \to \mathbb{R}$ is said to be weakly upper semicontinuous (weakly u.s.c.) on K if

 $\limsup_{n \to \infty} \varphi(v_n) \leq \varphi(v) \text{ for every sequence } \{v_n\}_n \subset K \text{ converging weakly in } V \text{ to } v \in K.$

Theorem 4.14. Suppose the following hypotheses hold.

the function j is weakly l.s.c. on
$$K \times K$$
, (4.33)

$$\forall v \in V$$
, the function $j(\cdot, v) : K \to (-\infty, +\infty]$ is weakly u.s.c. on K, (4.34)

$$\forall u \in K$$
, the function $j(u, \cdot) : K \to (-\infty, +\infty]$ is proper convex. (4.35)

Then, the set of all solutions of the quasi-variational inequality (4.31) is a nonempty weakly compact subset of K if one of the two conditions is satisfied:

$$K ext{ is bounded},$$
 (4.36)

$$\exists v_0 \in K \text{ s.t. } \lim_{\substack{\|v\| \to +\infty\\v \in K}} \frac{\langle Av, v - v_0 \rangle + j(v, v) - j(v, v_0)}{\|v\|} = +\infty.$$
(4.37)

In order to prove this theorem, we introduce some useful definitions and properties for multivalued mappings (for details and proofs, see [23], p. 541).

Let E and F be two topological spaces. We consider a multivalued mapping $S: E \to 2^F$.

Definition 4.3. We say that *S* is u.s.c. in a point $x_0 \in E$ if, for any open subset *U* in *F* such that $S(x_0) \subset U$, there exists a neighborhood *V* of x_0 in *E* such that $S(V) \subset U$ where $S(V) = \bigcup_{v \in V} S(v)$.

Definition 4.4. The multivalued mapping *S* is called u.s.c. on *E* if it is u.s.c. in any point $x \in E$.

Definition 4.5. We say that the mapping *S* is closed if its graph

$$\mathscr{G}_S = \{(x, y) \in E \times F; y \in S(x)\}$$

is a closed subset of $E \times F$.

Definition 4.6. Let *E* and *F* be two topological vector spaces. We say that the multivalued mapping $S : E \to 2^F$ is K-map (or, Kakutani map) if it satisfies the following conditions:

(i) S is u.s.c. on E;

(ii) $\forall x \in E, S(x)$ is a nonempty convex compact subset of *F*.

Proposition 4.6. Let *E* be a locally convex topological space and *C* a compact subset of *E*. Let $S : C \to 2^C$ be a closed multivalued mapping. Then, *S* is u.s.c. on *E* and, for any $x \in E$, S(x) is a compact subset of *C*.

The following theorem represents a generalization of the classical theorem due to Ky Fan [24].

Theorem 4.15 (Kakutani Fixed Point Theorem). Let *E* be a locally convex topological vector space and *C* a nonempty convex compact subset of *E*. Let $S : C \to 2^C$ be a K-map. Then *S* has at least a fixed point in *C*, i.e. there exists $x \in C$ such that $x \in S(x)$.

Proof of Theorem 4.14. Suppose that the hypothesis (4.36) is satisfied. For every $u \in K$, we put

$$S(u) = \{ w \in K; \langle Aw, v-w \rangle + j(u, v) - j(u, w) \ge \langle f, v-w \rangle \quad \forall v \in K \}.$$
(4.38)

From the hypotheses (4.32) and (4.35), proceeding as in Lemma 4.2, it follows that

$$S(u) = \{ w \in K; \langle Av, v - w \rangle + j(u, v) - j(u, w) \ge \langle f, v - w \rangle \quad \forall v \in K \}.$$

By applying Theorem 4.13, it follows that S(u) is a nonempty convex weakly compact subset of K.

We prove now that the multivalued mapping $S : K \to 2^K$, defined above, is weakly closed. Let $\{u_n, w_n\}_n \subset K \times K$ be such that $w_n \in S(u_n)$, $\forall n \in N$ and $u_n \rightharpoonup u$, $w_n \rightharpoonup w$ weakly in V when $n \rightarrow +\infty$. Therefore, we have

$$\langle Av, v - w_n \rangle + j(u_n, v) - \langle f, v - w_n \rangle \ge j(u_n, w_n) \quad \forall v \in K,$$

hence, by passing to the limit and using (4.34) and (4.33), one gets

$$\begin{aligned} \langle Av, v - w \rangle + j(u, v) - \langle f, v - w \rangle &\geq \limsup_{n \to +\infty} [\langle Av, v - w_n \rangle + j(u_n, v) - \langle f, v - w_n \rangle] \\ &\geq \liminf_{n \to +\infty} j(u_n, w_n) \geq j(u, w) \quad \forall v \in K \,, \end{aligned}$$

i.e., $w \in S(u)$.

We now apply Proposition 4.6 and Theorem 4.15 for E = V endowed with the weak topology, and C = K. Then, by taking into account (4.38), it follows that the quasi-variational inequality (4.31) has at least one solution $u \in K$.

Next we prove that the set of all solutions of (4.31) is a weakly closed subset of *K*. Let $\{u_n\}_n \subset K$ be such that $u_n \rightharpoonup u$ weakly in *V*, and

$$\langle Au_n, v - u_n \rangle + j(u_n, v) - j(u_n, u_n) \ge \langle f, v - u_n \rangle \quad \forall v \in K.$$

This means that $u_n \in S(u_n)$, $\forall n \in N$, and hence, since the multivalued mapping S is weakly closed, we deduce that $u \in S(u)$, i.e. u is a solution of the quasi-variational inequality (4.31).

Finally, taking into account that K is a weakly compact subset of V, we conclude the proof.

Next, we assume that the coerciveness condition (4.37) is satisfied. Let $R > ||v_0||$ be sufficiently large such that $K_R = K \cap B(0, R) \neq \emptyset$ where $B(0, R) = \{v \in V; ||v|| \leq R\}$. By applying the first part of the proof for the nonempty convex bounded closed set K_R , it follows that there exists an element $u_R \in K_R$ such that

$$\langle Au_R, v - u_R \rangle + j(u_R, v) - j(u_R, u_R) \ge \langle f, v - u_R \rangle \quad \forall v \in K_R.$$
(4.39)

Proceeding as in the proof of Theorem 4.13, one shows that the coerciveness hypothesis (4.37) implies $||u_R|| < R$.

We shall prove that u_R is a solution of (4.31). Let $w \in K \setminus K_R$. Taking $0 < \epsilon \le \frac{R - ||u_R||}{||w|| - ||u_R||}$ and $v = u_R + \epsilon(w - u_R)$, it follows that $v \in K_R$. Then, from (4.39) with this v, we obtain

$$\epsilon \langle Au_R, w - u_R \rangle + j(u_R, u_R + \epsilon(w - u_R)) - j(u_R, u_R) \ge \epsilon \langle f, w - u_R \rangle \quad \forall w \in K.$$

Using now the convexity of $j(u_R, \cdot)$ and dividing with $\epsilon > 0$, one deduces

$$\langle Au_R, w - u_R \rangle + j(u_R, w) - j(u_R, u_R) \ge \langle f, w - u_R \rangle \quad \forall w \in K,$$

that is u_R is a solution of the quasi-variational inequality (4.31).

Proceeding again as in the first part of the proof, we obtain that the set of all solutions of the inequality (4.31) is weakly closed. On the other hand, every solution u of the inequality (4.31) verifies the inequality (4.39) for any R > 0. If we choose $R > ||v_0||$ sufficiently large, then, from (4.39) and the coerciveness condition (4.37), it follows that ||u|| < R. Therefore, we conclude that there exists R > 0 such that the set of all solutions of the inequality (4.31) is weakly closed in the bounded set K_R , and so, it is weakly compact in V.

Under more restrictive hypotheses on A, one obtains the following existence and uniqueness result.

Theorem 4.16. Let $A : V \longrightarrow V^*$ be a hemicontinuous and strongly monotone operator, that is A satisfies (4.21) and

$$\exists \alpha > 0 \text{ such that } \langle Au - Av, u - v \rangle \ge \alpha \|u - v\|^2 \quad \forall u, v \in V.$$
(4.40)

We suppose that the functional $j : V \times V \longrightarrow (-\infty, +\infty]$ satisfies the following conditions:

$$\forall u \in V, \ j(u, \cdot) : V \to (-\infty, +\infty] \text{ is a proper l.s.c. convex function},$$
(4.41)

$$\begin{cases} \exists k < \alpha \text{ such that } |j(u_1, v_1) + j(u_2, v_2) - j(u_1, v_2) - j(u_2, v_1)| \\ \leq k \|u_1 - u_2\| \|v_1 - v_2\| \quad \forall u_1, u_2, v_1, v_2 \in K. \end{cases}$$
(4.42)

Then, the quasi-variational inequality (4.31) has a unique solution.

Proof. The proof is based on a fixed point theorem and on Theorem 4.13.

The operator A being strongly monotone, we obtain

$$\frac{\langle Aw, w - v_0 \rangle}{\|w\|} \ge \alpha \|w\| - 2\alpha \|v_0\| - \|Av_0\|_* + \frac{\alpha \|v_0\|^2 - \|Av_0\|_* \|v_0\|}{\|w\|} \quad \forall w, v_0 \in K,$$
(4.43)

hence

$$\lim_{\|w\| \to +\infty} \frac{\langle Aw, w - v_0 \rangle}{\|w\|} = +\infty.$$
(4.44)

From (4.41), it results that, for any $v \in K$, there exists $\lambda \in V^*$, $\lambda = \lambda(v)$, and $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$j(v,w) \ge \langle \lambda, w \rangle + \mu \ge -\|\lambda\|_* \|w\| + \mu \quad \forall w \in K,$$

$$(4.45)$$

which, together with (4.44), implies

$$\lim_{\|w\|\to+\infty} \frac{\langle Aw, w-v_0 \rangle + j(v, w) - j(v, v_0)}{\|w\|} = +\infty \,\forall v_0 \in \operatorname{dom} j(v, \cdot), \,\forall v \in K,$$
(4.46)

and so, the coerciveness condition (4.26) holds.

Now, we denote by *S* the mapping $S : K \to K$ which associates with every $w \in K$ the unique solution of the variational inequality of the second kind

$$\begin{cases} Sw \in K \\ \langle A(Sw), v - Sw \rangle + j(w, v) - j(w, Sw) \ge \langle f, v - Sw \rangle \quad \forall v \in K. \end{cases}$$
(4.47)

From (4.46) and (4.40)–(4.41), by applying Theorem 4.13, we conclude that the inequality (4.47) has a unique solution, hence the mapping *S* is well defined.

We remark that the set of all fixed points of S coincides with the set of all solutions of the quasi-variational inequality (4.31). Therefore, the question on the existence and uniqueness of the solutions of (4.31) is reduced to the existence and uniqueness of the fixed points of S.

We shall prove that the mapping S is a contraction. Indeed, for $w_1, w_2 \in K$ arbitrarily chosen, let Sw_1 and Sw_2 be the corresponding solutions of the inequality (4.47). By adding the two inequalities for $v = Sw_2$ and, respectively, $v = Sw_1$, by using (4.40) and (4.42), we obtain:

$$\|Sw_1 - Sw_2\| \le q \|w_1 - w_2\| \tag{4.48}$$

with $q = \frac{k}{\alpha} < 1$.

Hence, by Banach fixed point Theorem 4.7, it follows that the mapping S has a unique fixed point. Therefore there exists a unique solution of the quasi-variational inequality (4.31).

The above proof suggests and justifies the application of the following algorithm of Bensoussan–Lions type [4] for the approximation of the solution of the quasi-variational inequality (4.31): for $u^0 \in K$ given, we define the sequence $u^n = Su^{n-1}$, that is u^n is the unique solution of the variational inequality:

$$\langle Au^n, v - u^n \rangle + j(u^{n-1}, v) - j(u^{n-1}, u^n) \ge \langle f, v - u^n \rangle \quad \forall v \in K.$$
(4.49)

From (4.48), we deduce

$$\|u^{n} - u\| \le q^{n} \|u^{0} - u\| \le C q^{n}$$
(4.50)

where u = Su is the unique solution of the quasi-variational inequality (4.31), *C* is a positive constant independent of *n*, and q < 1. Therefore, we have $u^n \rightarrow u$ strongly in *V*.

4.2.2 Quasi-variational Inequalities with Potential Operators

Variational methods have proven to be a powerful tool in the study of linear and nonlinear operator equations. The classical result of Friedrichs (see [18] or [14], p. 134) on the extension of any linear positive definite and symmetric operator A to an operator \tilde{A} , also positive definite but surjective, allowed to introduce the concept of generalized solution (in the Sobolev sense) of the equation Au = f as the classical solution of the equation $\tilde{A}u = f$. The class of operators for which the generalized solution can be defined was enlarged with linear operators with positive definite derivative [26, 33] and nonlinear operators [15, 25]. Other generalizations were obtained for multivalued operators; so, the equation $Au + \partial j(u) \ni f$ is studied in [35] and [13] for a linear and, respectively, nonlinear operator A with positive definite and symmetric derivative, and in [22] are considered K-variational problems of the type $Pu \ni f$.

In the variational theory, the variational inequalities have an important place thanks to the characterization of the classical solution of the equation $Au + \partial j(u) \ni f$ as the solution of the variational inequality:

$$(Au, v - u) + j(v) - j(u) \ge (f, v - u).$$

In this section, following [7], we introduce the concept of generalized solution of nonlinear quasi-variational inequalities. Our approach differs from the standard techniques since a quasi-variational inequality cannot be written as an operator equation of the type $Pu \ni f$. More precisely, for $u^0 \in V$ arbitrarily and supposing that u^{n-1} is known, we define u^n as the generalized solution of the variational inequality

$$(Au^n, v - u^n) + j_n(v) - j_n(u^n) \ge (f, v - u^n) \quad \forall v \in V,$$

where $j_n(\cdot) = j(u^{n-1}, \cdot)$.

We shall prove that the sequence $\{u^n\}_n$ is convergent and that its limit is independent of u^0 . This limit is called the generalized solution of the quasi-variational inequality

$$(Aw, v - w) + j(w, v) - j(w, w) \ge (f, v - w), \forall v \in V.$$

This definition is justified by the properties given by Theorem 4.17 below.

We start by recalling some definitions and results concerning generalized solutions.

Let $(V, (\cdot, \cdot), \|\cdot\|)$ be a real Hilbert space and $\mathscr{D}(P) \subset V$ be a linear dense subspace of V. For $f \in V$ given, we consider the problem

$$(P + \partial \varphi)(u) \ni f \tag{4.51}$$

where $P : \mathscr{D}(P) \to V$ is a nonlinear operator, $\varphi : \mathscr{D}(P) \to (-\infty, +\infty]$ is a function and $\partial \varphi$ represents the subdifferential of φ at u, i.e. the set

$$\partial \varphi(u) = \{ w \in V ; \varphi(v) - \varphi(u) \ge (w, v - u) \quad \forall v \in \mathscr{D}(P) \}.$$

We suppose that the following hypotheses hold.

$$\begin{cases} P \text{ is a potential, i.e. there exists a functional} \\ \beta : \mathscr{D}(P) \to \mathbb{R} \text{ such that } D\beta(u)v = (Pu, v) \quad \forall u \in \mathscr{D}(P), \forall v \in V, \\ (4.52) \\ P \text{ is monotone}, \end{cases}$$

 φ is proper l.s.c. convex, (4.54)

where $D\beta$ denotes the Gâteaux differential of β , i.e.

$$D\beta(u)v = \lim_{t\to 0} \frac{\beta(u+tv) - \beta(u)}{t} \quad \forall u, v \in \mathscr{D}(P).$$

Remark 4.3. Under the hypotheses (4.52) and (4.53) one proves (see, for instance, [13]) that

$$\beta(v) = \int_{0}^{1} (P(sv), v) \, ds + const. \quad \forall v \in \mathscr{D}(P) ,$$

$$\beta(v+h) - \beta(v) = \int_{0}^{1} (P(v+sh), h) \, ds \quad \forall v, h \in \mathscr{D}(P) .$$
(4.55)

Definition 4.7. A classical solution for the Eq. (4.51) is an element $u \in \mathscr{D}(P)$ which verifies the variational inequality of the second kind

$$(Pu, v-u) + \varphi(v) - \varphi(u) \ge (f, v-u) \quad \forall v \in \mathscr{D}(P).$$

We have the following characterization of the classical solution.

Proposition 4.7. An element $u \in \mathcal{D}(P)$ is a classical solution for the equation (4.51) if and only if u minimizes on $\mathcal{D}(P)$ the functional

$$F_f(v) = \beta(v) + \varphi(v) - (f, v).$$
(4.56)

Proof. If $u \in \mathcal{D}(P)$ is a classical solution of (4.51), then, by using (4.55)₂ and the hypothesis (4.53), we get

$$F_{f}(v) - F_{f}(u) = \int_{0}^{1} (P(u + s(v - u)), v - u) \, ds + \varphi(v) - \varphi(u) - (f, v - u)$$

$$\geq \int_{0}^{1} (P(u + s(v - u)), v - u) \, ds - (Pu, v - u)$$

$$= \int_{0}^{1} (P(u + s(v - u)) - Pu, v - u) \, ds \ge 0 \quad \forall v \in \mathscr{D}(P) \, .$$

Conversely, if $u \in \mathcal{D}(P)$ is a minimizer of F_f on $\mathcal{D}(P)$, then

$$F_f(u) \le F_f(u + t(v - u)) \quad \forall v \in \mathscr{D}(P), \ \forall t \in (0, 1),$$

and so, by using the convexity of φ , we get

$$\frac{\beta(u+t(v-u))-\beta(u)}{t}+\varphi(v)-\varphi(u)-(f,v-u)\geq 0\quad \forall v\in\mathcal{D}(P)\,,\,\forall t\in(0,1)\,.$$

Thus, by passing to the limit with $t \to 0$, the assertion follows. In the sequel we consider the following more restrictive hypothesis on *P*:

$$\begin{cases} P \text{ is a strongly monotone operator: } \exists \alpha > 0 \text{ such that} \\ (B_{11}, B_{12}, B$$

$$((Pu_1 - Pu_2, u_1 - u_2) \ge \alpha ||u_1 - u_2||^2 \quad \forall u_1, u_2 \in \mathcal{D}(P),$$

which, obviously, implies the uniqueness of the classical solution of (4.51).

Lemma 4.4. Assume that (4.52) and (4.57) hold. Then β is strongly convex, namely

$$(1-t)\beta(u)+t\beta(v)-\beta((1-t)u+tv) \ge \frac{\alpha}{2}t(1-t)\|u-v\|^2 \quad \forall t \in [0,1], \ \forall u, v \in \mathscr{D}(P).$$

Proof. From $(4.55)_2$ and (4.57), we obtain

$$(1-t)\beta(u) + t\beta(v) - \beta((1-t)u + tv) = t(\beta(u + (v-u)) - \beta(u)) - (\beta((1-t)u + tv) - \beta(u)) = \int_{0}^{1} (P(u + s(v-u)) - P(u + st(v-u)), (1-t)s(v-u)) \frac{t}{(1-t)s} ds \geq \alpha t(1-t) ||u-v||^{2} \int_{0}^{1} s ds = \frac{\alpha}{2} t(1-t) ||u-v||^{2}.$$

Lemma 4.5. Suppose that the hypotheses (4.52), (4.54), and (4.57) are satisfied. Let F_f be the functional defined by (4.56). Then,

- (1) The functional F_f is lower bounded on $\mathcal{D}(P)$.
- (2) Every minimizing sequence for F_f on $\mathcal{D}(P)$ is convergent in V.
- (3) All the minimizing sequences for F_f on $\mathcal{D}(P)$ have the same limit in V.
- *Proof.* (1) The hypotheses (4.54) on φ imply the existence of $\lambda \in V$ and $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $\varphi(v) \geq (\lambda, v) + \mu$, $\forall v \in \mathcal{D}(P)$. Therefore, by using (4.55)₁ and (4.57), we get

$$F_{f}(v) = \int_{0}^{1} (P(sv), v) \, ds + \varphi(v) - (f, v)$$

$$\geq \int_{0}^{1} ((P(0), v) + \alpha s ||v||^{2}) \, ds + (\lambda - f, v) + \mu$$

$$\geq \frac{\alpha}{2} ||v||^{2} - ||P(0) + \lambda - f|| ||v|| + \mu$$

$$\geq -\frac{1}{2\alpha} ||P(0) + \lambda - f||^{2} + \mu > -\infty \quad \forall v \in \mathscr{D}(P)$$

and hence F_f is lower bounded on $\mathcal{D}(P)$.

(2) Let $\{v_n\}_n \subset \mathscr{D}(P)$ be a minimizing sequence for F_f , i.e.

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} F_f(v_n) = d = \inf_{v\in\mathscr{D}(P)} F_f(v).$$

Using Lemma 4.4 and the convexity of φ , we get

$$\frac{\alpha}{4} \|u_n - u_m\|^2 \le \beta(u_n) + \beta(u_m) - 2\beta\left(\frac{u_n + u_m}{2}\right) \le F_f(u_n) + F_f(u_m) - 2F_f\left(\frac{u_n + u_m}{2}\right) \le (F_f(u_n) - d) + (F_f(u_m) - d),$$

and so, by passing to the limit with $n, m \to \infty$, we find that $\{v_n\}_n$ is a Cauchy sequence.

(3) If $\{v_n\}_n$, $\{w_n\}_n \subset \mathscr{D}(P)$ are two minimizing sequences for F_f , then we have

$$\frac{\alpha}{4} \|u_n - w_n\|^2 \le (F_f(u_n) - d) + (F_f(w_n) - d)$$

which obviously gives $\lim_{n\to\infty} v_n = \lim_{n\to\infty} w_n$ in V.

Lemma (4.5) justifies the following definition:

Definition 4.8. The limit in V of any minimizing sequence for the functional F_f on $\mathcal{D}(P)$ is called the generalized solution of the Eq. (4.51).

Proposition 4.8. Under the hypotheses (4.52), (4.54), and (4.57), the following assertions hold.

- (1) The generalized solution of the equation (4.51) exists and it is unique.
- (2) If the generalized solution of the equation (4.51) belongs to $\mathscr{D}(P)$, then it is the classical solution.
- (3) The classical solution (if there exists) is the generalized solution.
- (4) If $\mathcal{D}(P) = V$, then, the classical solution of the equation (4.51) exists and it is unique.

We now consider the following quasi-variational inequality: **Problem** (P_A^a): Find $u \in \mathcal{D}(P)$ such that

$$(Pu, v - u) + j(u, v) - j(u, u) \ge (f, v - u) \quad \forall v \in \mathscr{D}(P)$$

$$(4.58)$$

where the operator $P : \mathscr{D}(P) \to V$ satisfies the hypotheses (4.52) and (4.57), and $j : V \times \mathscr{D}(P) \to (-\infty, +\infty]$ is a function such that

$$\forall u \in V, \ j(u, \cdot) : \mathcal{D}(P) \to (-\infty, +\infty] \text{ is proper l.s.c. convex}$$
(4.59)

$$\begin{cases} \exists k < \frac{\alpha}{2} \text{ such that } |j(u_1, v_1) + j(u_2, v_2) - j(u_1, v_2) - j(u_2, v_1)| \\ \leq k \|u_1 - u_2\| \|v_1 - v_2\|, \ \forall u_1, u_2, v_1, v_2 \in \mathscr{D}(P). \end{cases}$$
(4.60)

Remark 4.4. The hypotheses (4.57) and (4.60) ensure the uniqueness of the classical solution of the inequality (4.58). Indeed, if we have two solutions $u_1, u_2 \in \mathcal{D}(P)$, then, by taking $v = u_2$, and, respectively, $v = u_1$ in the inequality (4.58) satisfied by u_1 , and, respectively u_2 , one obtains

$$\alpha \|u_1 - u_2\|^2 \le (Pu_1 - Pu_2, u_1 - u_2) \le j(u_1, u_2) + j(u_2, u_1) -j(u_1, u_1) - j(u_2, u_2) \le k \|u_1 - u_2\|^2$$

$$(4.61)$$

and so, as $k < \alpha$, one follows that $u_1 = u_2$.

In order to introduce the concept of generalized solution of the quasi-variational inequality (4.58), we denote by $S : V \to V$ the mapping which associates with every element $w \in V$ the generalized solution $u = Sw \in V$, which there exists and it is unique, of the following equation:

$$(P + \partial j_w)(u) \ni f , \qquad (4.62)$$

where $j_w(v) = j(w, v)$, $\forall v \in \mathscr{D}(P)$.

Lemma 4.6. The mapping S is a contraction.

Proof. Let $w_1, w_2 \in V$ be arbitrarily chosen and let $Sw_1, Sw_2 \in V$ be the corresponding generalized solutions, i.e. Sw_i (i = 1, 2) is the limit in V of any minimizing sequence of the function $F_f^i : \mathscr{D}(P) \to (-\infty, +\infty]$ defined by

$$F_f^i(v) = \beta(v) + j(w_i, v) - (f, v), \ \forall v \in \mathscr{D}(P).$$

If $\{w_n^1\}_n, \{w_n^2\}_n \subset \mathscr{D}(P)$ are two minimizing sequences for F_f^1 , and, respectively, for F_f^2 , then $w_n^i \to Sw^i$ (i = 1, 2) strongly in V when $n \to \infty$.

Using Lemma 4.4 and the convexity of $j(w_i, \cdot)$, we easily deduce that the functional F_f^i is strongly convex with the same constant $\frac{\alpha}{2}$ as β , i.e.

$$tF_{f}^{i}(v) + (1-t)F_{f}^{i}(u) - F_{f}^{i}(tv + (1-t)u) \ge \frac{\alpha}{2}t(1-t)||u-v||^{2}$$
$$i = 1, 2, \ \forall t \in [0,1], \ \forall u, v \in \mathcal{D}(P).$$

Taking $v = w_n^i$ and $u = w_n^{3-i}$ (i = 1, 2) in the above relation, we get:

$$\frac{\alpha}{2}t(1-t)\|w_n^1 - w_n^2\|^2 \le tF_f^i(w_n^i) + (1-t)F_f^i(w_n^{3-i}) -F_f^i(tw_n^i + (1-t)w_n^{3-i}) \le tF_f^i(w_n^i) + (1-t)F_f^i(w_n^{3-i}) - d_i \qquad i = 1, 2,$$
(4.63)

where

$$d_i = \inf_{v \in \mathscr{D}(P)} F_f^i(v) \le F_f^i(tw_n^i + (1-t)w_n^{3-i})$$

By adding the inequalities (4.63) for i = 1, 2, we obtain:

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha t(1-t) \|w_n^1 - w_n^2\|^2 &\leq t \left((F_f^1(w_n^1) - d_1) + (F_f^2(w_n^2) - d_2) \right) \\ &+ (1-t) \left(F_f^1(w_n^2) + F_f^2(w_n^1) - d_1 - d_2 \right). \end{aligned}$$
(4.64)

Now, from the definition of F_{f}^{i} , we have:

$$F_f^i(w_n^{3-i}) = F_f^{3-i}(w_n^{3-i}) + j(w_i, w_n^{3-i}) - j(w_{3-i}, w_n^{3-i}) \qquad i = 1, 2$$

and, by using (4.60), this gives:

$$F_{f}^{1}(w_{n}^{2}) + F_{f}^{2}(w_{n}^{1}) - d_{1} - d_{2} \leq (F_{f}^{1}(w_{n}^{1}) - d_{1}) + (F_{f}^{2}(w_{n}^{2}) - d_{2}) + k \|w_{1} - w_{2}\| \|w_{n}^{1} - w_{n}^{2}\|.$$
(4.65)

On the other hand, from the definition of the generalized solution Sw_i , for i = 1, 2, we have:

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \|w_n^1 - w_n^2\| = \|Sw_1 - Sw_2\|$$
(4.66)

and

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} F_f^i(w_n^i) = d_i . \tag{4.67}$$

By passing to the limit, with $n \to \infty$, in (4.64) and using (4.65)–(4.67), one deduces

$$\alpha t \|Sw_1 - Sw_2\| \le k \|w_1 - w_2\|,$$

hence, by taking $t = \frac{1}{2}$, one obtains:

$$\|Sw_1 - Sw_2\| \le q \|w_1 - w_2\| \tag{4.68}$$

with $q = \frac{2k}{\alpha} < 1$. This concludes the proof.

Therefore, by Banach fixed point Theorem 4.7, it results that there exists a unique fixed point, denoted by u, of the mapping S.

Lemma 4.6 suggests the definition of the following sequence: for $u^0 \in V$ given, we put $u^n = Su^{n-1}$, i.e. u^n is the generalized solution of the equation:

$$(P + \partial j_n)(v) \ni f , \qquad (4.69)$$

where $j_n(v) = j(u^{n-1}, v), \forall v \in \mathscr{D}(P).$

Remark 4.5. The sequence $\{u^n\}_n$, defined above, is convergent. Moreover, for any u^0 , every sequence $\{u^n\}_n$ has the same limit, namely the unique fixed point u of the mapping *S*. Indeed, from (4.68), one has

$$||u^{n} - u|| = ||Su^{n-1} - Su|| \le \frac{2k}{\alpha} ||u^{n-1} - u|| \le \ldots \le \left(\frac{2k}{\alpha}\right)^{n} ||u^{0} - u||.$$

Definition 4.9. The limit u in V of the sequence $\{u^n\}_n$ of the generalized solutions of the equations (4.69) is called the generalized solution of the quasi-variational inequality (4.58).

This definition is justified by the following result:

Theorem 4.17. *Suppose that the hypotheses* (4.52), (4.57), (4.59), *and* (4.60) *hold. Then, we have:*

- (1) The generalized solution of the quasi-variational inequality (4.58) exists and it is unique.
- (2) If the generalized solution of the quasi-variational inequality (4.58) belongs to D(P), then it is also the classical solution.
- (3) If the quasi-variational inequality (4.58) has a classical solution, then it is the generalized solution.

Proof. (1) It follows from Definition 4.9 and Remark 4.5.

(2) If u ∈ D(P) is the generalized solution of the quasi-variational inequality (4.58), then, from Remark 4.5, we have u = Su and hence, the generalized solution Su of the Eq. (4.51), for φ(v) = j(u, v) ∀v ∈ D(P), belongs to D(P). By applying Proposition 4.8(2), it follows that Su is also the classical solution, i.e.

$$(P(Su), v - Su) + j(u, v) - j(u, Su) \ge (f, v - Su) \quad \forall v \in \mathscr{D}(P).$$

and so, u = Su is the classical solution of (4.58).

(3) If u is the classical solution of the quasi-variational inequality (4.58), then u is the classical solution of the equation

$$(P + \partial j_u)(v) \ni f \tag{4.70}$$

where $j_u(v) = j(u, v)$, $\forall v \in \mathcal{D}(P)$. By applying Proposition 4.8(3) one obtains that *u* is the generalized solution of the equation (4.70). On the other hand, from the definition of the mapping *S*, the unique generalized solution of the equation (4.70) is *Su*. We conclude that u = Su which, again by Remark 4.5, implies that *u* is the generalized solution of the quasi-variational inequality (4.58).

Corollary 4.4. If $\mathcal{D}(P) = V$, then, there exists a unique classical solution of the quasi-variational inequality (4.58).

4.2.3 Example

We consider a frictional contact problem for the operator of Hencky–Nadai theory (i.e., the theory of small elastic-plastic deformations (see, e.g., [12])). By applying the variational method developed in the above section, we prove the existence and the uniqueness of the generalized solution for this problem.

Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, d = 2, 3, be an open bounded set occupied by an elastic-plastic body in reference configuration. Let us denote by Γ , supposed sufficiently smooth, the boundary of Ω which is decomposed into three open disjoint parts Γ_0 , Γ_1 , Γ_2 such that $\Gamma = \overline{\Gamma}_0 \cup \overline{\Gamma}_1 \cup \overline{\Gamma}_2$ and meas(Γ_0) > 0. On Γ_2 the body is in contact with a rigid foundation. We suppose that the foundation does not allow a detachment of Ω on Γ_2 , and so, the normal displacement is zero while the tangential displacement is a displacement with friction. On Γ_0 one supposes that the body is clamped. The body is subject to the action of volume forces f, given in Ω , and surface forces g, given on Γ_1 .

The classical formulation of this boundary problem is: **Problem** (\mathscr{P}_{ep}) : Find a displacement field $u : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^d$ such that

$$\begin{cases}
-\operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{\sigma} = \boldsymbol{f} \quad \text{in } \Omega, \\
\boldsymbol{u} = \boldsymbol{0} \quad \text{on } \Gamma_0, \\
\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{v} = \boldsymbol{g} \quad \text{on } \Gamma_1, \\
\boldsymbol{u}_{\nu} = 0 \quad \text{on } \Gamma_2, \\
|\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}| \leq \mu |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\nu}^*| \text{ and} \\
|\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}| < \mu |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\nu}^*| \Rightarrow \boldsymbol{u}_{\tau} = 0 \quad \text{on } \Gamma_2 \\
|\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}| = \mu |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\nu}^*| \Rightarrow \exists \lambda \geq 0, \quad \boldsymbol{u}_{\tau} = -\lambda \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}
\end{cases}$$
(4.71)

where μ is the coefficient of friction and $\sigma = \sigma(u) = (\sigma_{ij})$ is the stress tensor related by the strain tensor $\epsilon = (\epsilon_{ij})$ by the nonlinear Hooke's law:

$$\sigma_{ij}(\boldsymbol{u}) = 2\varphi(\gamma(\boldsymbol{u}))\epsilon_{ij}(\boldsymbol{u}) + \left(k - \frac{2}{3}\varphi(\gamma(\boldsymbol{u}))\right)\epsilon_{ij}(\boldsymbol{u})\delta_{ij}$$
(4.72)

with $k = \lambda + \frac{2}{3}\theta$, λ and θ being the Lamé coefficients of the material. We denoted by φ a given function and by γ the following form:

$$\gamma(\boldsymbol{u}) = \bar{\gamma}(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{u}),$$

$$\bar{\gamma}(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}) = 2\epsilon_{ij}(\boldsymbol{u})\epsilon_{ij}(\boldsymbol{v}) - \frac{2}{3}\epsilon_{ii}(\boldsymbol{u})\epsilon_{jj}(\boldsymbol{v}).$$
(4.73)

In (4.71), σ_{ν}^{*} represents a regularization for σ_{ν} (for more details, see Sect. 8.1).

In order to obtain a variational formulation of the problem (4.71), we make the following hypotheses:

$$\begin{cases} \sigma_{\nu}^{*}(\boldsymbol{u}) \in C^{1}(\Gamma_{2}) \quad \forall \boldsymbol{u} \in (H^{1}(\Omega))^{d} ,\\ \mu \in L^{\infty}(\Gamma_{2}) \text{ such that } \mu \geq 0 \text{ a.e. on } \Gamma_{2} ,\\ \varphi \in C^{2}[0, +\infty) ,\\ \boldsymbol{f} \in (L^{2}(\Omega))^{d} , \ \boldsymbol{g} \in (L^{2}(\Gamma_{1}))^{d} . \end{cases}$$

$$(4.74)$$

By using a similar technique as in [32] or in Sect. 8.2, one obtains that the variational formulation of the problem (4.71) is the following quasi-variational inequality:

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{u} \in \mathscr{D}(P), \\ (P\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v} - \boldsymbol{u}) + j(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}) - j(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{u}) \ge \mathbf{L}(\boldsymbol{v} - \boldsymbol{u}) \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \mathscr{D}(P) \end{cases}$$
(4.75)

where

$$V = \{ \mathbf{v} \in (H^{1}(\Omega))^{d} ; \mathbf{v} = \mathbf{0} \text{ a.e. on } \Gamma_{0}, v_{\nu} = 0 \text{ a.e. on } \Gamma_{2} \},$$

$$\mathscr{D}(P) = V \cap (C^{2}(\Omega))^{d} \cap (C(\overline{\Omega}))^{d},$$

$$(Pu, v) = \int_{\Omega} \sigma_{ij}(u)\epsilon_{ij}(v) \, dx \quad \forall u \in \mathscr{D}(P), \quad \forall v \in V,$$

$$j(u, v) = \begin{cases} \int_{\Gamma_{2}} \mu |\sigma_{v}^{*}(u)| |v_{\tau}| \, ds \quad \forall u \in V, \quad \forall v \in \mathscr{D}(P), \\ \Gamma_{2} + \infty \quad \forall u \in V, \quad \forall v \in V \setminus \mathscr{D}(P), \end{cases}$$

$$\mathbf{L}(v) = \int_{\Omega} f \cdot v \, dx + \int_{\Gamma_{1}} g \cdot v \, ds \quad \forall v \in V.$$

Remark 4.6. From Korn's inequality (8.29), it follows that a norm on V, equivalent to the norm $\|\cdot\|_1$, is defined by

$$\|\mathbf{v}\| = \int_{\Omega} \epsilon_{ij}(\mathbf{v}) \epsilon_{ij}(\mathbf{v}) \,\mathrm{d}x \quad \forall \mathbf{v} \in V.$$

Theorem 4.18. Suppose that the hypotheses (4.74) are satisfied. In addition, we assume that there exist the constants φ_0 and φ_1 such that:

$$0 < \varphi_0 \le \varphi(s) \le \frac{3}{2}k \quad \forall s \ge 0,$$
(4.76)

$$\varphi(s) + 2s\varphi'(s) \ge \varphi_1 > 0 \quad \forall s \ge 0.$$
(4.77)

Then, there exists a constant $\mu_1 > 0$ such that for any $\mu \in L^{\infty}(\Gamma_2)$ with $\mu \ge 0$ a.e. on Γ_2 and $\|\mu\|_{L^{\infty}(\Gamma_2)} \le \mu_1$, the problem (4.75) has a unique generalized solution $\mathbf{u} \in \mathbf{V}$. Moreover, if the generalized solution \mathbf{u} belongs to $\mathcal{D}(P)$, then \mathbf{u} is the classical solution of the problem (4.71).

Proof. We shall show that the hypotheses of Theorem 4.17 are satisfied.

Let $\beta : \mathscr{D}(P) \to \mathbb{R}$ be the functional defined by:

$$\beta(\mathbf{v}) = \int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{2} \left(k \epsilon_{ii}^2(\mathbf{v}) + \int_{0}^{\gamma(\mathbf{v})} \varphi(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \right) \, \mathrm{d}x \, .$$

By using the relations (4.72) and (4.73), we obtain the Gâteaux derivative of β :

$$D\beta(\boldsymbol{u}) \cdot \boldsymbol{v} = \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{\beta(\boldsymbol{u} + t\boldsymbol{v}) - \beta(\boldsymbol{u})}{t} = \int_{\Omega} \left[k \epsilon_{ii}(\boldsymbol{u}) \epsilon_{jj}(\boldsymbol{v}) + \varphi(\gamma(\boldsymbol{u})) \bar{\gamma}(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}) \right] dx$$
$$= \int_{\Omega} \left[k \epsilon_{ii}(\boldsymbol{u}) \epsilon_{jj}(\boldsymbol{v}) + \varphi(\gamma(\boldsymbol{u})) \left(-\frac{2}{3} \epsilon_{ii}(\boldsymbol{u}) \epsilon_{jj}(\boldsymbol{v}) + 2 \epsilon_{ij}(\boldsymbol{u}) \epsilon_{ij}(\boldsymbol{v}) \right) \right] dx$$
$$= \int_{\Omega} \left[\left(k - \frac{2}{3} \varphi(\gamma(\boldsymbol{u})) \right) \epsilon_{ii}(\boldsymbol{u}) \epsilon_{jj}(\boldsymbol{v}) + 2 \varphi(\gamma(\boldsymbol{u})) \epsilon_{ij}(\boldsymbol{u}) \epsilon_{ij}(\boldsymbol{v}) \right] dx$$
$$= (P \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}) \quad \forall \boldsymbol{u}, \, \boldsymbol{v} \in \mathcal{D}(P) ,$$
(4.78)

and hence, the operator P is potential.

In order to prove that the operator P is strongly monotone, by using (4.78), we get:

$$D^{2}\beta(\boldsymbol{u}); \boldsymbol{w} \cdot \boldsymbol{v} = \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{D\beta(\boldsymbol{u} + t\boldsymbol{w}) - D\beta(\boldsymbol{u})}{t} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}$$

$$= \int_{\Omega} k \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{\epsilon_{ii}(\boldsymbol{u} + t\boldsymbol{w}) - \epsilon_{ii}(\boldsymbol{u})}{t} \epsilon_{jj}(\boldsymbol{v}) dx$$

$$+ \int_{\Omega} \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{\varphi(\gamma(\boldsymbol{u} + t\boldsymbol{w})) - \varphi(\gamma(\boldsymbol{u}))}{t} \left(2\epsilon_{ij}(\boldsymbol{u})\epsilon_{ij}(\boldsymbol{v}) - \frac{2}{3}\epsilon_{ii}(\boldsymbol{u})\epsilon_{jj}(\boldsymbol{v}) \right) dx$$

$$+ \int_{\Omega} \lim_{t \to 0} \varphi(\gamma(\boldsymbol{u} + t\boldsymbol{w})) \left(2\epsilon_{ij}(\boldsymbol{w})\epsilon_{ij}(\boldsymbol{v}) - \frac{2}{3}\epsilon_{ii}(\boldsymbol{w})\epsilon_{jj}(\boldsymbol{v}) \right) dx$$

$$= \int_{\Omega} (k\epsilon_{ii}(\boldsymbol{w})\epsilon_{jj}(\boldsymbol{v}) + 2\varphi'(\gamma(\boldsymbol{u}))\gamma(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{w})\gamma(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}) + \varphi(\gamma(\boldsymbol{u}))\gamma(\boldsymbol{w},\boldsymbol{v})) dx,$$
(4.79)

hence

$$(P(\boldsymbol{u}+\boldsymbol{v}) - P\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}) = D\beta(\boldsymbol{u}+\boldsymbol{v}) \cdot \boldsymbol{v} - D\beta(\boldsymbol{u}) \cdot \boldsymbol{v} = \int_{0}^{1} D^{2}\beta(\boldsymbol{u}+t\boldsymbol{v}); \boldsymbol{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{v} \, dt$$
$$= \int_{0}^{1} \left(\int_{\Omega} k\epsilon_{ii}^{2}(\boldsymbol{v}) + 2\varphi'(\gamma(\boldsymbol{u}+t\boldsymbol{v}))\gamma^{2}(\boldsymbol{u}+t\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{v}) + \varphi(\gamma(\boldsymbol{u}+t\boldsymbol{v}))\gamma(\boldsymbol{v}) \, dx \right) \, dt$$
$$= \int_{0}^{1} \left(\int_{\Omega_{+}} E(\boldsymbol{x}) \, dx + \int_{\Omega_{-}} E(\boldsymbol{x}) \, dx \right) \, dt$$
(4.80)

where

$$E(\mathbf{x}) = (k\epsilon_{ii}^2(\mathbf{v}) + 2\varphi'(\gamma(\mathbf{u} + t\mathbf{v}))\gamma^2(\mathbf{u} + t\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{v}) + \varphi(\gamma(\mathbf{u} + t\mathbf{v}))\gamma(\mathbf{v}))(\mathbf{x}),$$

$$\Omega_+ = \{\mathbf{x} \in \Omega \; ; \; \varphi'(\gamma(\mathbf{u}))(\mathbf{x}) \ge 0\},$$

$$\Omega_- = \{\mathbf{x} \in \Omega \; ; \; \varphi'(\gamma(\mathbf{u}))(\mathbf{x}) < 0\}.$$

For $x \in \Omega_+$, from (4.76) and the definition (4.73) of γ , we have

$$E(\mathbf{x}) \geq \frac{2}{3}\varphi_0\epsilon_{ii}(\mathbf{v}) + \varphi_0\gamma(\mathbf{v}) = 2\varphi_0\epsilon_{ij}(\mathbf{v})\epsilon_{ij}(\mathbf{v}),$$

and so,

$$\int_{0}^{1} \int_{\Omega_{+}} E(\mathbf{x}) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t \ge 2\varphi_{0} \int_{\Omega_{+}} \epsilon_{ij}(\mathbf{v}) \epsilon_{ij}(\mathbf{v}) \, \mathrm{d}x \,. \tag{4.81}$$

For $x \in \Omega_-$ we have

$$E(\mathbf{x}) \geq \frac{2}{3}\varphi_0\epsilon_{ii}^2(\mathbf{v}) - 2|\varphi'(\gamma(\mathbf{u}+t\mathbf{v}))|\gamma^2(\mathbf{u}+t\mathbf{v},\mathbf{v}) + \varphi(\gamma(\mathbf{u}+t\mathbf{v}))\gamma(\mathbf{v})$$

which, by the Schwartz inequality:

$$\gamma^2(\boldsymbol{u}+t\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{v}) \leq \gamma(\boldsymbol{u}+t\boldsymbol{v})\gamma(\boldsymbol{v})$$

and the condition (4.77) implies the relations

$$E(\mathbf{x}) \geq \frac{2}{3}\varphi_0\epsilon_{ii}^2(\mathbf{v}) - 2|\varphi'(\gamma(\mathbf{u}+t\mathbf{v}))|\gamma(\mathbf{u}+t\mathbf{v})\gamma(\mathbf{v}) + \varphi(\gamma(\mathbf{u}+t\mathbf{v}))\gamma(\mathbf{v})$$
$$= \frac{2}{3}\varphi_0\epsilon_{ii}(\mathbf{v}) = \left(\varphi(\gamma(\mathbf{u}+t\mathbf{v})) + 2\varphi'(\gamma(\mathbf{u}+t\mathbf{v},\mathbf{v})\gamma(\mathbf{u}+t\mathbf{v}))\right)\gamma(\mathbf{v})$$

$$\geq \frac{2}{3}\varphi_0\epsilon_{ii}(\mathbf{v}) + \varphi_1\gamma(\mathbf{v}) = \frac{2}{3}\varphi_0\epsilon_{ii}(\mathbf{v}) + \varphi_1\left(2\epsilon_{ij}^2(\mathbf{v}) - \frac{2}{3}\epsilon_{ii}^2(\mathbf{v})\right)$$
$$= \frac{2}{3}(\varphi_0 - \varphi_1)\epsilon_{ii}^2(\mathbf{v}) + 2\varphi_1\epsilon_{ij}(\mathbf{v})\epsilon_{ij}(\mathbf{v}).$$

We may suppose that $\varphi_0 \ge \varphi_1$, and thus

$$\int_{0}^{1} \int_{\Omega_{-}} E(\mathbf{x}) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t \ge 2\varphi_{1} \int_{\Omega_{-}} \epsilon_{ij}(\mathbf{v}) \epsilon_{ij}(\mathbf{v}) \, \mathrm{d}x \,. \tag{4.82}$$

Therefore, by using (4.81) and (4.82) in (4.80), it results

$$(P(\boldsymbol{u}+\boldsymbol{v})-P\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v})\geq 2\varphi_1\int_{\Omega}\epsilon_{ij}(\boldsymbol{v})\epsilon_{ij}(\boldsymbol{v})\,\mathrm{d}x\,,$$

hence, by Remark 4.6, it follows that the operator P satisfies the relation (4.57), that is P is strongly monotone.

Finally, it is easy to see that the functional j satisfies the hypothesis (4.59). Next, we remark that we can write

$$|j(\boldsymbol{u}_{1},\boldsymbol{v}_{2}) + j(\boldsymbol{u}_{2},\boldsymbol{v}_{1}) - j(\boldsymbol{u}_{1},\boldsymbol{v}_{1}) - j(\boldsymbol{u}_{2},\boldsymbol{v}_{2})|$$

$$\leq \int_{\Gamma_{2}} \mu |\sigma_{\nu}^{*}(\boldsymbol{u}_{1})| - |\sigma_{\nu}^{*}(\boldsymbol{u}_{2})| || ||\boldsymbol{v}_{1\tau}| - |\boldsymbol{v}_{2\tau}| |ds$$

$$\leq \int_{\Gamma_{2}} \mu |\sigma_{\nu}^{*}(\boldsymbol{u}_{1}) - \sigma_{\nu}^{*}(\boldsymbol{u}_{2})| |\boldsymbol{v}_{1\tau} - \boldsymbol{v}_{2\tau}| ds$$

$$\leq C \|\mu\|_{L^{\infty}(\Gamma_{2})} \|\boldsymbol{u}_{1} - \boldsymbol{u}_{2}\| \|\boldsymbol{u}_{1} - \boldsymbol{u}_{2}\| \quad \forall \boldsymbol{u}_{1}, \, \boldsymbol{u}_{2} \, \boldsymbol{v}_{1}, \, \boldsymbol{v}_{2} \in \mathscr{D}(P).$$

If we choose $\mu_1 < \frac{\varphi_1}{C}$, then, for any $\|\mu\|_{L^{\infty}(\Gamma_2)} < \mu_1$, we obtain the relation (4.60) satisfied with $k = C \|\mu\|_{L^{\infty}(\Gamma_2)} < \varphi_1$.

Therefore, by applying Theorem 4.17, we deduce the assertion.

\Box

4.3 Implicit Evolutionary Quasi-variational Inequalities

This section is concerned with the mathematical analysis, following the work [8], of a class of abstract implicit evolutionary variational inequalities which constitutes a generalization of variational inequalities related to various quasistatic contact problems and of some parabolic variational inequalities of the second kind (see, for instance, [11, 19, 20, 34]).
As usual for quasistatic and dynamic problems, by an implicit time discretization scheme, the incremental formulation of the considered problem is obtained. We prove that the incremental formulation has a unique solution and some a priori estimates are obtained. Next, by using the incremental solution, we construct a sequence of piecewise constant functions which verify the variational formulation for all $t \in [0, T]$, T being the time interval considered. The existence of a solution of the implicit evolutionary problem is obtained by proving that some subsequences of the above sequence have a weak limit which verifies this problem.

The results obtained here will be applied, in Chap. 9, to quasistatic contact problems with nonlocal friction in linear elasticity. We mention that these results can be used in the study of a large variety of contact conditions, as, for instance, the unilateral or bilateral contact with nonlocal friction between two elastic bodies, the frictional contact with normal compliance or the corresponding frictionless cases.

We denote by $(V, (\cdot, \cdot))$ a real Hilbert space with the associated norm $\|\cdot\|$. Let *K* be a convex closed cone contained in *V* with its vertex at 0, i.e. $\rho v \in K$, $\forall v \in K$, $\forall \rho \geq 0$.

We mention that, if $C \,\subset V$ is a cone of vertex at 0, then *C* is a convex cone if and only if $u + v \in C$, $\forall u, v \in C$. Indeed, if *C* is a convex cone, then $\frac{u+v}{2} \in$ *C*, $\forall u, v \in C$. Since the vertex of *C* is at 0, it results that $2\frac{u+v}{2} = u + v \in$ *C*, $\forall u, v \in C$. Conversely, if $u, v \in C$, then, *C* being a cone with its vertex at 0, it follows that $-v \in C$, and thus, $u - v \in C$. Then $\rho(u - v) \in C$, $\forall \rho \geq 0$, and so, $\rho(u - v) + v \in C$, $\forall \rho \geq 0$.

We consider a bilinear symmetric form $a : V \times V \rightarrow \mathbb{R}$. We suppose that the form $a(\cdot, \cdot)$ is V-elliptic (or, coercive) and continuous, that is

$$\begin{cases} \text{there exists } \alpha > 0 \text{ such that } a(v, v) \ge \alpha \|v\|^2 & \forall v \in V, \\ \text{there exists } M > 0 \text{ such that } a(u, v) \le M \|u\| \|v\| & \forall u, v \in V. \end{cases}$$
(4.83)

We also consider a family $\{K(g)\}_{g \in V}$ of nonempty convex subsets of K such that $0 \in K(0)$. We denote $D_K = \{(g, v)/g \in V, v \in K(g)\} \subset V \times K$.

In the sequel we assume that the set D_K is strongly–weakly closed in $V \times V$ in the following sense:

$$\begin{cases} \forall (g_n, v_n) \in D_K \text{ s.t.} \\ g_n \to g \text{ strongly in } V \\ v_n \to v \text{ weakly in } V \end{cases} \implies (g, v) \in D_K. \tag{4.84}$$

Remark 4.7. Under the above hypothesis, it follows that, for any $g \in V$, the set K(g) is weakly closed in V.

We denote by $(H, (\cdot, \cdot)_H)$ a real Hilbert space with its norm $\|\cdot\|_H$ and we consider the operator $\beta : D_K \to H$ which satisfies the hypotheses: β is strongly–weakly continuous, i.e.

$$\left. \begin{array}{l} \forall (g_n, v_n) \in D_K \text{ s.t.} \\ g_n \to g \text{ strongly in } V \\ v_n \to v \text{ weakly in } V \end{array} \right\} \Longrightarrow \beta(g_n, v_n) \to \beta(g, v) \text{ strongly in } H ,$$
 (4.85)

and

$$\|\beta(g_1, v_1) - \beta(g_2, v_2)\|_H \le k_1(\|g_1 - g_2\| + \|v_1 - v_2\|) \ \forall (g_1, v_1), (g_2, v_2) \in D_K,$$
(4.86)

with k_1 a positive constant.

Let $j : D_K \times V \to \mathbb{R}$ be a functional such that for all $(g, v) \in D_K$, the functional $j(g, v, \cdot) : V \to \mathbb{R}$ is sub-additive and positively homogeneous, i.e.

$$j(g, v, w_1 + w_2) \le j(g, v, w_1) + j(g, v, w_2) \qquad \forall w_1, w_2 \in V,$$
(4.87)

$$j(g, v, \lambda w) = \lambda j(g, v, w) \qquad \forall w \in V, \, \forall \lambda \ge 0.$$
(4.88)

In addition, we suppose that

$$j(0,0,w) = 0 \qquad \forall w \in V, \tag{4.89}$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} |j(g_1, v_1, w_2) + j(g_2, v_2, w_1) - j(g_1, v_1, w_1) - j(g_2, v_2, w_2)| \\ &\leq k_2(||g_1 - g_2|| + ||\beta(g_1, v_1) - \beta(g_2, v_2)||_H)||w_1 - w_2|| \\ &\forall (g_1, v_1), (g_2, v_2) \in D_K, \ \forall w_1, w_2 \in V, \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.90)$$

where k_2 is a positive constant.

Lemma 4.7. The functional *j* has the following properties:

(i)

$$j(g, v, 0) = 0 \quad \forall (g, v) \in D_K,$$

$$(4.91)$$

(ii)

$$\forall (g, v) \in D_K \text{ the functional } j(g, v, \cdot) : V \to \mathbb{R} \text{ is convex},$$
 (4.92)

(iii) $\forall (g, v) \in D_K$, the functional $j(g, v, \cdot) : V \to \mathbb{R}$ is Lipschitz continuous. More precisely, we have

$$|j(g, v, w_1) - j(g, v, w_2)| \le |j(g, v, w_1 - w_2)| \le ((1 + k_1)k_2 ||g|| + k_1k_2 ||v||) ||w_1 - w_2|| \qquad \forall w_1, w_2 \in V,$$

$$(4.93)$$

(iv) The functional j has the following continuity properties:

$$\begin{cases} \forall (g_n, v_n) \in D_K \text{ s.t.} \\ g_n \to g \text{ strongly in } V, \\ v_n \to v \text{ weakly in } V, \end{cases} \Rightarrow \lim_{n \to \infty} j(g_n, v_n, w) = j(g, v, w) \quad \forall w \in V,$$

$$\end{cases}$$

$$\begin{cases} \forall (g_n, v_n) \in D_K, \forall w_n \in V \text{ s.t.} \\ g_n \to g \text{ strongly in } V, \\ v_n \to v \text{ weakly in } V, \\ w_n \to w \text{ weakly in } V, \end{cases} \Rightarrow \liminf_{n \to \infty} j(g_n, v_n, w_n) \ge j(g, v, w).$$

$$\end{cases}$$

$$\end{cases}$$

$$\begin{cases} \Rightarrow \liminf_{n \to \infty} j(g_n, v_n, w_n) \ge j(g, v, w). \\ (4.95) \end{cases}$$

Proof. It is easy to see that hypothesis (4.88) implies (i) and the hypotheses (4.87) and (4.88) imply (ii).

In order to prove (iii), we first note that the hypothesis (4.87) implies

$$j(g, v, w_1) - j(g, v, w_2) = j(g, v, w_1 - w_2 + w_2) - j(g, v, w_2) \le j(g, v, w_1 - w_2),$$

and hence, by taking in (4.90), $g_1 = g$, $g_2 = 0$, $v_1 = v$, $v_2 = 0$, $w_1 = w_1 - w_2$, $w_2 = 0$ and using (4.86), we obtain (4.93).

Now, if we take $g_1 = g_n$, $g_2 = g$, $v_1 = v_n$, $v_2 = v$, $w_1 = 0$, $w_2 = w$ in (4.90), it follows

$$|j(g_n, v_n, w_n) - j(g, v, w)| \le k_2(||g_n - g|| + ||\beta(g_n, v_n) - \beta(g, v)||_H)||w||,$$

hence, by taking into account (4.85), one obtains (4.94).

Finally, from (ii) and (iii), it results that, for every $(g, v) \in D_K$, the functional $j(g, v, \cdot)$ is weakly l.s.c. On the other hand, from the hypothesis (4.90) written for $g_1 = g_n$, $g_2 = g$, $v_1 = v_n$, $v_2 = v$, $w_1 = 0$, $w_2 = w_n$, by using (4.85) and taking into account the boundedness of the sequence $\{w_n\}_n$, it follows

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} \left(j(g_n, v_n, w_n) - j(g, v, w_n) \right) = 0.$$

Concluding, we obtain

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} j(g_n, v_n, w_n) \ge \lim_{n \to \infty} \left(j(g_n, v_n, w_n) - j(g, v, w_n) \right) + \liminf_{n \to \infty} j(g, v, w_n)$$

$$\ge j(g, v, w).$$

We also introduce a functional $b : D_K \times V \to \mathbb{R}$ which satisfies the following conditions

$$\forall (g, v) \in D_K, \ b(g, v, \cdot) \text{ is linear on } V, \tag{4.96}$$

 $\begin{cases} \forall (g_n, v_n) \in D_K \quad \forall w_n \in V \text{ s.t.} \\ g_n \to g \text{ strongly in } V, \\ v_n \to v \text{ weakly in } V, \\ w_n \to w \text{ strongly in } V \end{cases} \Rightarrow \lim_{n \to \infty} b(g_n, v_n, w_n) = b(g, v, w), \quad (4.97)$

$$|b(g_1, v_1, w) - b(g_2, v_2, w)| \le k_3 (||g_1 - g_2|| + ||v_1 - v_2||) ||w|| \forall (g_1, v_1), (g_2, v_2) \in D_K, \forall w \in V,$$
(4.98)

where k_3 is a positive constant.

For any $g \in V$, $d \in K$, we define the mapping $S_{g,d} : K(g) \to K$ by $S_{g,d}(w) = u_w$, $\forall w \in K(g)$ where u_w is the unique solution, according to Theorem 4.12, of the variational inequality

$$\begin{cases} u_{w} \in K \\ a(u_{w}, v - u_{w}) + j(g, w, v - d) - j(g, w, u_{w} - d) \ge 0 \qquad \forall v \in K. \end{cases}$$
(4.99)

We shall suppose that, for all $g \in V$, $d \in K$, the set K(g) is stable under the mapping $S_{g,d} : K(g) \to K$, that is

$$S_{g,d}(K(g)) \subset K(g). \tag{4.100}$$

In the following we suppose that the constants k_1 , k_2 and α satisfy the relation

$$k_1 k_2 < \alpha. \tag{4.101}$$

Lemma 4.8. For all $g \in V$, $d \in K$, there exists a unique $u \in K(g)$ such that $u = S_{g,d}(u)$, i.e.

$$\begin{cases} u \in K(g) \\ a(u, v - u) + j(g, u, v - d) - j(g, u, u - d) \ge 0 \quad \forall v \in K. \end{cases}$$
(4.102)

Proof. Let $w_1, w_2 \in K$ and $u_1 = S_{g,d}(w_1)$, $u_2 = S_{g,d}(w_2)$. By adding the inequalities (4.99) corresponding to u_1 and u_2 for $v = u_2$, and, respectively, for $v = u_1$, from (4.83), (4.90), and (4.86), one obtains

$$\begin{aligned} & \alpha \|u_1 - u_2\|^2 \le a(u_1 - u_2, u_1 - u_2) \le j(g, w_1, u_2 - d) + j(g, w_2, u_1 - d) \\ & -j(g, w_1, u_1 - d) - j(g, w_2, u_2 - d) \le k_2 k_1 \|w_1 - w_2\| \|u_1 - u_2\| \end{aligned}$$

hence

$$\|S_{g,d}(w_1) - S_{g,d}(w_2)\| \le \frac{k_1 k_2}{\alpha} \|w_1 - w_2\|.$$

Consequently, from the hypothesis (4.101), it follows that the mapping $S_{g,d}$ is a contraction, and hence, by Theorem 4.7, there exists a unique $u \in K(g)$ such that $u = S_{g,d}(u)$.

For all $g \in V$, $d \in K$, we consider the following auxiliary problems **Problem** ($\tilde{\mathbf{Q}}^a$): Find $u \in K(g)$ such that

$$\begin{cases} a(u, v-u) + j(g, u, v-d) - j(g, u, u-d) \ge b(g, u, v-u) & \forall v \in V, \\ b(g, u, z-u) \ge 0 & \forall z \in K \end{cases}$$

$$(4.103)$$

and

Problem ($\tilde{\mathbf{R}}^a$): Find $u \in K(g)$ such that

$$a(u, v - u) + j(g, u, v - d) - j(g, u, u - d) \ge 0 \quad \forall v \in K.$$
(4.104)

We make the hypothesis

If
$$u$$
 is a solution of (\mathbf{R}^a) , then u is a solution of (\mathbf{Q}^a) . (4.105)

Remark 4.8. If *u* satisfies $(\tilde{\mathbf{Q}}^a)$, then *u* obviously satisfies $(\tilde{\mathbf{R}}^a)$.

Let $f \in W^{1,2}(0, T; V)$, with T > 0, be given and let $u_0 \in K(f(0))$ be the unique solution, according to Lemma 4.8, of the following elliptic variational inequality

$$a(u_0, w - u_0) + j(f(0), u_0, w) - j(f(0), u_0, u_0) \ge 0 \quad \forall w \in K.$$

$$(4.106)$$

Remark 4.9. Taking into account that *K* is a cone with the vertex at 0, we may take in (4.106) $w = 2u_0$ and w = 0. We conclude that the variational inequality (4.106) is equivalent to the system

$$\begin{cases} a(u_0, u_0) + j(f(0), u_0, u_0) = 0, \\ a(u_0, w) + j(f(0), u_0, w) \ge 0 \quad \forall w \in K. \end{cases}$$

We consider the following evolutionary system of coupled variational inequalities:

Problem (\mathbf{Q}^a): Find $u \in W^{1,2}(0, T; V)$ such that

$$\begin{cases} u(0) = u_0, u(t) \in K(f(t)) \quad \forall t \in [0, T], \\ a(u(t), v - \dot{u}(t)) + j(f(t), u(t), v) - j(f(t), u(t), \dot{u}(t)) \\ \ge b(f(t), u(t), v - \dot{u}(t)) \quad \forall v \in V \text{ a.e. in }]0, T[, \\ b(f(t), u(t), z - u(t)) \ge 0 \quad \forall z \in K, \forall t \in [0, T] \end{cases}$$

$$(4.107)$$

where the dot denotes the time derivative, that is $\dot{u} = \frac{\partial u}{\partial t}$.

Our goal is to prove the existence of a solution for the problem (\mathbf{Q}^a) . In a first step, we shall consider an incremental formulation obtained by an implicit time discretization scheme.

For $n \in N^*$, we put $\Delta t = T/n$ and $t_i = i \Delta t$ for i = 0, 1, ..., n. If θ is a continuous function of $t \in [0, T]$, we use the notation

$$\theta^i = \theta(t_i), \ \forall i \in \{0, 1, \dots, n\}, \quad \partial \theta^i = \frac{\theta^{i+1} - \theta^i}{\Delta t}, \ \forall i \in \{0, 1, \dots, n-1\}$$

We also put $K^i = K(f(t_i)) \forall i \in \{0, 1, ..., n\}$ and $u^0 = u_0$. We then approximate the problem (\mathbf{Q}^a) by the following sequence $\{ (\mathbf{Q}^a)_{\mathbf{n}}^{\mathbf{i}} \}_{i=0,1,...,n-1}$ of incremental problems

Problem $(\mathbf{Q}^a)_{\mathbf{n}}^{\mathbf{i}}$: Find $u^{i+1} \in K^{i+1}$ such that

$$\begin{cases} a(u^{i+1}, v - \partial u^{i}) + j(f^{i+1}, u^{i+1}, v) - j(f^{i+1}, u^{i+1}, \partial u^{i}) \\ \ge b(f^{i+1}, u^{i+1}, v - \partial u^{i}) \quad \forall v \in V, \\ b(f^{i+1}, u^{i+1}, z - u^{i+1}) \ge 0 \quad \forall z \in K. \end{cases}$$

$$(4.108)$$

Lemma 4.9. If u is a solution of (\mathbf{Q}^a) and u^{i+1} is a solution of $(\mathbf{Q}^a)_{\mathbf{n}}^{\mathbf{i}}$, then

$$b(f(t), u(t), u(t)) = 0 \quad on \ [0, T]$$
(4.109)

$$b(f^{i+1}, u^{i+1}, u^{i+1}) = 0 \quad \forall i \in \{0, 1, \dots, n-1\}.$$
(4.110)

$$b(f(t), u(t), \dot{u}(t)) = 0 \quad a.e. \text{ on } [0, T], \tag{4.111}$$

Proof. Since K is a cone with the vertex at 0, we may take in the second inequalities of (\mathbf{Q}^a) and $(\mathbf{Q}^a)_{\mathbf{n}}^{\mathbf{i}}$, z = 2u(t) and z = 0, respectively, $z = 2u^{i+1}$ and z = 0, thus we obtain the relations (4.109) and (4.110).

Also, from the second inequality of (\mathbf{Q}^a) , we deduce that, for all $t \in]0, T[$ and for all $\Delta t > 0$ sufficiently small, we obtain

$$b\left(f(t), u(t), \frac{u(t+\Delta t)-u(t)}{\Delta t}\right) \ge 0$$

and

$$b\left(f(t), u(t), \frac{u(t-\Delta t)-u(t)}{-\Delta t}\right) \le 0.$$

which imply the relation (4.111).

Now, for any $i \in \{0, ..., n-1\}$, we introduce the following problem **Problem** (\mathbb{R}^{a})ⁱ_n: Find $u^{i+1} \in K^{i+1}$ such that

$$a(u^{i+1}, w - u^{i+1}) + j(f^{i+1}, u^{i+1}, w - u^{i}) -j(f^{i+1}, u^{i+1}, u^{i+1} - u^{i}) \ge 0 \quad \forall w \in K.$$

$$(4.112)$$

Lemma 4.10. The problem $(\mathbf{Q}^a)^{\mathbf{i}}_{\mathbf{n}}$ is equivalent to the problem $(\mathbf{R}^a)^{\mathbf{i}}_{\mathbf{n}}$.

Proof. By taking $v = \frac{w - u^i}{\Delta t}$ with *w* arbitrarily chosen in *V*, it is easy to prove that the first inequality of $(\mathbf{Q}^a)^{\mathbf{i}}_{\mathbf{n}}$ is equivalent to

$$a(u^{i+1}, w - u^{i+1}) + j(f^{i+1}, u^{i+1}, w - u^{i}) - j(f^{i+1}, u^{i+1}, u^{i+1} - u^{i})$$

$$\geq b(u^{i+1}, w - u^{i+1}) \quad \forall w \in V.$$

Therefore, from Remark 4.8 and the hypothesis (4.105) for $g = f^{i+1}$ and $d = u^i$, the assertion follows.

Proposition 4.9. Under the above hypotheses, there exists a unique solution $u^{i+1} \in K^{i+1}$ of the problem $(\mathbf{Q}^a)^{\mathbf{i}}_{\mathbf{n}}$.

Proof. By applying Lemma 4.8, for $g = f^{i+1}$ and $d = u^i$, it results that the problem $(\mathbf{R}^a)^{\mathbf{i}}_{\mathbf{n}}$ has a unique solution. Hence by Lemma 4.10, the problem $(\mathbf{Q}^a)^{\mathbf{i}}_{\mathbf{n}}$ has.

By using the fact that the function f is absolutely continuous, we give the following estimates.

Lemma 4.11. Let $u^{i+1} \in K^{i+1}$ be the solution of $(\mathbf{Q}^a)^{\mathbf{i}}_{\mathbf{n}}$, $i \in \{0, 1, ..., n-1\}$. *Then*

$$\|u^{0}\| \leq C_{0} \|f\|_{C([0,T];V)}, \quad \|u^{i+1}\| \leq C_{0} \|f\|_{C([0,T];V)}, \quad (4.113)$$

$$\|u^{i+1} - u^{i}\| \le C_{0} \int_{t_{i}}^{t_{i+1}} \|\dot{f}(\tau)\| \,\mathrm{d}\tau \le C_{0} \sqrt{\Delta t} \|\dot{f}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;V)}, \qquad (4.114)$$

$$\sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \|u^{i+1} - u^{i}\|^{2} \le C_{0}^{2} \Delta t \|\dot{f}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;V)}^{2}, \qquad (4.115)$$

where

$$C_0 = \frac{(k_1 + 1)k_2}{\alpha - k_1 k_2} \,. \tag{4.116}$$

Proof. From Remark 4.9, by using the relations (4.83), (4.91), and (4.93) for $w_1 = u^0$, $w_2 = 0$, we get

$$\alpha \|u^0\|^2 \le |j(f^0, u^0, u^0)| \le \left((1+k_1)k_2\|f^0\| + k_1k_2\|u^0\|\right)\|u^0\|.$$

Since $f \in W^{1,2}(0, T; V) \subset C([0, T]; V)$, we have

$$||f^{i}|| = ||f(t_{i})|| \le \max_{t \in [0,T]} ||f(t)|| = ||f||_{C([0,T];V)}, \forall i \in \{0, 1, ..., n\},$$

thus the first part of the estimate (4.113) is true.

In the following we take into account Lemma 4.10, that is u^{i+1} is the unique solution of $(\mathbf{R}^a)_{\mathbf{n}}^{\mathbf{i}}$. By taking w = 0 in $(\mathbf{R}^a)_{\mathbf{n}}^{\mathbf{i}}$, it follows

$$a(u^{i+1}, u^{i+1}) \le |j(f^{i+1}, u^{i+1}, -u^i) - j(f^{i+1}, u^{i+1}, u^{i+1} - u^i)|$$

which, together with (4.83) and (4.93), gives the second part of the estimate (4.113).

Next, if we take $w = u^{i}$ in $(\mathbf{R}^{a})_{\mathbf{n}}^{\mathbf{i}}$ and $w = u^{i+1}$ in $(\mathbf{R}^{a})_{\mathbf{n}}^{\mathbf{i}-1}$, then, by using (4.87), (4.90), (4.91), and (4.86), we get

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha \|u^{i+1} - u^{i}\|^{2} &\leq j(f^{i}, u^{i}, u^{i+1} - u^{i-1}) - j(f^{i}, u^{i}, u^{i} - u^{i-1}) \\ &- j(f^{i+1}, u^{i+1}, u^{i+1} - u^{i}) \\ &\leq j(f^{i}, u^{i}, u^{i+1} - u^{i}) - j(f^{i+1}, u^{i+1}, u^{i+1} - u^{i}) \\ &\leq ((1+k_{1})k_{2}\|f^{i+1} - f^{i}\| + k_{1}k_{2}\|u^{i+1} - u^{i}\|)\|u^{i+1} - u^{i}\|. \end{aligned}$$

This implies (4.114). Indeed, by taking into account the regularity of f, Bochner Theorem 3.3 and Cauchy–Schwartz inequality, we have

$$\|f(t) - f(s)\| = \|\int_{s}^{t} \dot{f}(\tau) \, \mathrm{d}\tau\| \le \int_{s}^{t} \|\dot{f}(\tau)\| \, \mathrm{d}\tau$$

$$\le C_0 \sqrt{t-s} \|\dot{f}\|_{L^2(0,T;V)}^{s} \quad \forall s, t \in [0,T], s < t.$$
(4.117)

The last estimate (4.115) is easily obtained by writing

$$\|u^{i+1} - u^{i}\|^{2} \leq C_{0}^{2} \left(\int_{t_{i}}^{t_{i+1}} \|\dot{f}(\tau)\|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \right) \left(\int_{t_{i}}^{t_{i+1}} \mathrm{d}\tau \right) = C_{0}^{2} \Delta t \int_{t_{i}}^{t_{i+1}} \|\dot{f}(\tau)\|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \,.$$

]	

Now, if we define the functions

$$\begin{cases} u_n(0) = \hat{u}_n(0) = u^0, \\ f_n(0) = f^0, \\ u_n(t) = u^{i+1} \\ \hat{u}_n(t) = u^i + (t - t_i)\partial u^i \\ f_n(t) = f^{i+1} \end{cases} \forall i \in \{0, 1, \dots, n-1\} \quad \forall t \in (t_i, t_{i+1}],$$

$$(4.118)$$

then we obviously have u_n , $f_n \in L^2(0, T; V)$ and $\hat{u}_n \in W^{1,2}(0, T; V)$. From $(\mathbf{Q}^a)_{\mathbf{n}}^{\mathbf{i}}$ we deduce that these functions satisfy, for all $t \in [0, T]$, the following incremental formulation

Problem $(\mathbf{Q}^a)_{\mathbf{n}}$: Find $u_n(t) \in K(f_n(t))$ such that

$$\begin{cases} a\left(u_n(t), v - \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\hat{u}_n(t)\right) + j(f_n(t), u_n(t), v) - j\left(f_n(t), u_n(t), \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\hat{u}_n(t)\right) \\ \ge b\left(f_n(t), u_n(t), v - \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\hat{u}_n(t)\right) \quad \forall v \in V, \\ b(f_n(t), u_n(t), z - u_n(t)) \ge 0 \quad \forall z \in K. \end{cases}$$

$$(4.119)$$

Remark 4.10. From (4.118), (4.96) and the second inequality of $(\mathbf{Q}^a)_{\mathbf{n}}^{\mathbf{i}}$, we get

$$b\left(f_{n}(t), u_{n}(t), v - \frac{d}{dt}\hat{u}_{n}(t)\right) = b(f^{i+1}, u^{i+1}, v - \partial u^{i}) = b(f^{i+1}, u^{i+1}, v) + \frac{1}{\Delta t}b(f^{i+1}, u^{i+1}, u^{i} - u^{i+1}) \ge b(f_{n}(t), u_{n}(t), v) \quad \forall t \in (t_{i}, t_{i+1}], \quad \forall v \in V,$$
(4.120)

and hence,

$$b\left(f_n(t), u_n(t), \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\hat{u}_n(t)\right) \le 0 \quad \forall t \in (0, T), \ \forall v \in V.$$
(4.121)

Lemma 4.12. We have the estimates

$$\|u_n(t)\| \le C_0 \|f\|_{C([0,T];V)}, \quad \forall t \in [0,T],$$
(4.122)

$$\min\left\{t + \frac{T}{n}, T\right\}$$

$$\|u_n(s) - u_n(t)\| \le C_0 \qquad \int_{s} \|\dot{f}(\tau)\| \,\mathrm{d}\tau \,, \quad \forall s, t \in [0, T], \, s < t \,,$$
(4.123)

$$\|\hat{u}_n\|_{L^2(0,T;V)} \le C_0 \sqrt{T} \|f\|_{C([0,T];V)}, \qquad (4.124)$$

$$\|u_n - \hat{u}_n\|_{L^2(0,T;V)} \le C_0 \frac{\Delta t}{\sqrt{3}} \|\dot{f}\|_{L^2(0,T;V)}, \qquad (4.125)$$

$$\left\| \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \hat{u}_n \right\|_{L^2(0,T;V)} \le C_0 \|\dot{f}\|_{L^2(0,T;V)}, \qquad (4.126)$$

where C_0 is the constant defined by (4.116).

Proof. The estimate (4.122) follows from the definition (4.118) and the estimate (4.113).

For proving (4.123), let $s, t \in [0, T]$ with s < t and $0 \le i \le j \le n - 1$ such that $s \in (t_i, t_{i+1}], t \in (t_j, t_{j+1}]$. Then, from (4.114), we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|u_{n}(s) - u_{n}(t)\| &= \|u^{i+1} - u^{j+1}\| \\ &= \|(u^{j+1} - u^{j}) + (u^{j} - u^{j-1}) + \dots + (u^{i+2} - u^{i+1})\| \\ &\leq \sum_{k=i+1}^{j} \|u^{k+1} - u^{k}\| \leq C_{0} \sum_{k=i+1}^{j} \int_{t_{k}}^{t_{k+1}} \|\dot{f}(\tau)\| \, \mathrm{d}\tau \\ &= C_{0} \int_{t_{i+1}}^{t_{j+1}} \|\dot{f}(\tau)\| \, \mathrm{d}\tau \\ &\leq C_{0} \int_{s}^{t_{j+1}} \|\dot{f}(\tau)\| \, \mathrm{d}\tau. \end{aligned}$$

The estimate (4.124) is easily obtained by the following computations

$$\begin{split} \|\hat{u}_{n}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;V)}^{2} &= \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \int_{t_{i}}^{t_{i+1}} \left\| \left(1 - \frac{t - t_{i}}{\Delta t}\right) u^{i} + \frac{t - t_{i}}{\Delta t} u^{i+1} \right\|^{2} \mathrm{d}t \\ &\leq \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \int_{t_{i}}^{t_{i+1}} \left(\left(1 - \frac{t - t_{i}}{\Delta t}\right) \|u^{i}\| + \frac{t - t_{i}}{\Delta t} \|u^{i+1}\| \right)^{2} \mathrm{d}t \leq C_{0}^{2} T \|f\|_{C([0,T];V)}^{2}, \end{split}$$

where we have used (4.113).

Next, from (4.118) and (4.115), we get

$$\begin{aligned} \|u_n - \hat{u}_n\|_{L^2(0,T;V)}^2 &= \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \int_{t_i}^{t_{i+1}} \left\| u^{i+1} - u^i - \frac{t - t_i}{\Delta t} (u^{i+1} - u^i) \right\|^2 \, \mathrm{d}t \\ &= \frac{1}{\Delta t^2} \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \|u^{i+1} - u^i\|^2 \int_{t_i}^{t_{i+1}} (t_{i+1} - t)^2 \, \mathrm{d}t = \frac{\Delta t}{3} \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \|u^{i+1} - u^i\|^2 \\ &\leq \frac{C_0^2 \Delta t^2}{3} \|\dot{f}\|_{L^2(0,T;V)}^2, \end{aligned}$$

that is (4.125).

Finally, by taking into account that

$$\left\|\frac{\mathrm{d}\hat{u}_n}{\mathrm{d}t}\right\|_{L^2(0,T;V)} = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{\Delta t} \|u_n - \hat{u}_n\|_{L^2(0,T;V)},$$

we also deduce the estimate (4.126).

Lemma 4.13. There exist a subsequence $\{(u_{n_k}, \hat{u}_{n_k})\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}^*}$ of $\{(u_n, \hat{u}_n)\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}^*}$ and an element $u \in W^{1,2}(0, T; V)$ such that

 $u_{n_k}(t) \rightharpoonup u(t)$ weakly in $V \quad \forall t \in [0, T],$ (4.127)

$$\hat{u}_{n_k} \rightharpoonup u \quad weakly \text{ in } W^{1,2}(0,T;V).$$
 (4.128)

In addition, for all $s \in [0, T]$, we have

$$\liminf_{k \to \infty} \int_{0}^{s} a\left(u_{n_{k}}(t), \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\hat{u}_{n_{k}}(t)\right) \mathrm{d}t \geq \int_{0}^{s} a(u(t), \dot{u}(t)) \mathrm{d}t, \qquad (4.129)$$

$$\liminf_{k \to \infty} \int_{0}^{s} j\left(f_{n_{k}}(t), u_{n_{k}}(t), \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\hat{u}_{n_{k}}(t)\right) \mathrm{d}t \ge \int_{0}^{s} j(f(t), u(t), \dot{u}(t)) \mathrm{d}t.$$
(4.130)

Proof. Applying a process of diagonalization, from (4.122) and (4.123), we deduce that we can extract a subsequence $\{u_{n_k}\}_k \subset \{u_n\}_n$ such that $u_{n_k}(t) \rightarrow u(t)$ weakly in $V, \forall t \in [0, T]$ with $u \in L^2(0, T; V)$. Indeed, let $E = \{\tau_j\}_{j \in \mathbb{N}} \subset [0, T]$ be a countable dense subset. From (4.122) it follows that, for all $j \in \mathbb{N}$ and for all $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$, we have $||u_n(\tau_j)|| \leq C_1$ where $C_1 = C ||f||_{C([0,T];V)}$. Therefore, by a process of diagonalization, we can extract $\{u_{n_k}\}_k \subset \{u_n\}_n$ such that, for all $j \in \mathbb{N}$, the sequence $\{u_{n_k}(\tau_j)\}_k$ converges weakly towards an element of V denoted by $u(\tau_j)$. For the sake of simplicity we shall omit the subscript k from now.

We shall prove that, for all $t \in [0, T]$, the sequence $\{u_n(t)\}_n$ is weakly Cauchy. For $\varphi \in V$, $t \in [0, T)$, q > 0 and $\tau_i \in E$ arbitrarily chosen, we have

$$\begin{aligned} |(u_{n+q}(t) - u_n(t), \varphi)| &\leq |(u_{n+q}(t) - u_{n+q}(\tau_j), \varphi)| + |(u_{n+q}(\tau_j) - u_n(\tau_j), \varphi)| \\ + |(u_n(\tau_j) - u_n(t), \varphi)| &\leq ||\varphi|| (||u_{n+q}(t) - u_{n+q}(\tau_j)|| + ||u_n(\tau_j) - u_n(t)||) \\ + |(u_{n+q}(\tau_j) - u_n(\tau_j), \varphi)|. \end{aligned}$$

Taking $\tau_i > t$ and using (4.123), we deduce

$$\begin{aligned} |(u_{n+q}(t) - u_{n}(t), \varphi)| &\leq C_{0} \|\varphi\| \left(\int_{t}^{\min\{\tau_{j} + \frac{T}{n+q}, T\}} \|\dot{f}(\tau)\| d\tau \right) \\ &+ \int_{t}^{\min\{\tau_{j} + \frac{T}{n}, T\}} \|\dot{f}(\tau)\| d\tau \right) + |(u_{n+q}(\tau_{j}) - u_{n}(\tau_{j}), \varphi)| \\ &\leq 2C_{0} \|\varphi\| \int_{t}^{t} \|\dot{f}(\tau)\| d\tau + |(u_{n+q}(\tau_{j}) - u_{n}(\tau_{j}), \varphi)| \\ &\leq 2C_{0} \|\varphi\| \sqrt{\frac{T}{n} + \tau_{j} - t} \|\dot{f}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;V)} + |(u_{n+q}(\tau_{j}) - u_{n}(\tau_{j}), \varphi)|. \end{aligned}$$
(4.131)

As $E = {\tau_j}_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ is dense in [0, T], we can choose $\tau_j > t$ such that $\tau_j - t$ is sufficiently small. On the other hand, the sequence ${u_n(\tau_j)}_n$ being weakly convergent it is also weakly Cauchy. Therefore, from (4.131), it follows that the sequence ${u_n(t)}_n$ is weakly Cauchy, and so $u_n(t) \rightharpoonup u(t)$ weakly in *V*. As *K* is weakly closed, it follows that $u(t) \in K$ and $u_n \rightharpoonup u$ weakly in $L^2(0, T; V)$.

Next, from (4.124) and (4.126), one obtains that there exists a subsequence $\{\hat{u}_n\}_n$, still denoted by $\{\hat{u}_n\}_n$, and an element $\hat{u} \in W^{1,2}(0, T; V)$ such that $\hat{u}_n \rightharpoonup \hat{u}$ weakly in $W^{1,2}(0, T; V)$ (in fact, one considers that $\|\hat{u}_{n_k}\|_{W^{1,2}(0,T;V)}$ is bounded for the same indices n_k for which the subsequence $u_{n_k}(t)$ is weakly convergent, and one extracts from this sequence a subsequence $\hat{u}_{n_{k_p}}$ which converges weakly in $W^{1,2}(0, T; V)$ towards \hat{u}). We show that $u = \hat{u}$. Indeed, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| (\hat{u}_n - u_n, \varphi)_{L^2(0,T;V)} \right| &= \left| \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \int_{t_i}^{t_{i+1}} \left(u^i + \frac{t - t_i}{\Delta t} (u^{i+1} - u^i) - u^{i+1}, \varphi(t) \right) \, \mathrm{d}t \right| \\ &\leq \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \int_{t_i}^{t_{i+1}} \|u^{i+1} - u^i\| \, \|\varphi(t)\| \, \mathrm{d}t \\ &\leq \left(\sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \int_{t_i}^{t_{i+1}} \|u^{i+1} - u^i\|^2 \, \mathrm{d}t \right)^{1/2} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \int_{t_i}^{t_{i+1}} \|\varphi(t)\|^2 \, \mathrm{d}t \right)^{1/2} \\ &\leq C_0 \frac{T}{n} \|\dot{f}\|_{L^2(0,T;V)} \|\varphi\|_{L^2(0,T;V)} \end{aligned}$$

that is, \hat{u}_n and u_n have the same weak limit in $L^2(0, T; V)$.

In order to prove (4.129), let $s \in [0, T]$ and $i \in \{0, ..., n - 1\}$ be such that $s \in (t_i, t_{i+1}]$. Using the definitions (4.118) and the properties of *a*, we obtain

4 Existence and Uniqueness Results

$$\int_{0}^{s} a\left(u_{n}(t), \frac{d}{dt}\hat{u}_{n}(t)\right) dt = \int_{0}^{t_{i+1}} a\left(u_{n}(t), \frac{d}{dt}\hat{u}_{n}(t)\right) dt - R_{n}$$

$$= \sum_{j=0}^{i} \int_{t_{j}}^{t_{j+1}} a\left(u^{j+1}, \frac{u^{j+1} - u^{j}}{\Delta t}\right) dt - R_{n} \ge \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=0}^{i} \left(a(u^{j+1}, u^{j+1}) - a(u^{j}, u^{j})\right)$$

$$-R_{n} = \frac{a(u^{i+1}, u^{i+1}) - a(u^{0}, u^{0})}{2} - R_{n} = \frac{a(u_{n}(s), u_{n}(s)) - a(u^{0}, u^{0})}{2} - R_{n}$$

$$(4.132)$$

where $R_n = \int_{s}^{t_{n+1}} a\left(u_n(t), \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\hat{u}_n(t)\right) \mathrm{d}t.$

First, due to (4.83), (4.113), and (4.114), we have

$$|R_{n}| = \frac{1}{\Delta t} \left| \int_{s}^{t_{i+1}} a(u^{i+1}, u^{i+1} - u^{i}) dt \right| \le M \frac{t_{i+1} - s}{\Delta t} ||u^{i+1}|| ||u^{i+1} - u^{i}||$$

$$\le C_{0}^{2} M \sqrt{\frac{T}{n}} ||f||_{C([0,T];V)} ||\dot{f}||_{L^{2}(0,T;V)}$$

which implies

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}R_n=0.$$

Therefore, as the form a is symmetric, from (4.132), we get

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{s} a\left(u_{n}(t), \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\hat{u}_{n}(t)\right) \,\mathrm{d}t \geq \frac{1}{2} \liminf_{n \to \infty} a(u_{n}(s), u_{n}(s)) - \frac{1}{2}a(u^{0}, u^{0})$$
$$\geq \frac{a(u(s), u(s)) - a(u(0), u(0))}{2} = \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{s} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}a(u(t), u(t)) \,\mathrm{d}t = \int_{0}^{s} a(u(t), \dot{u}(t)) \,\mathrm{d}t \,,$$

and thus, the relation (4.129) holds.

Next, since, for all $f, u \in V$, the functional $j(f, u, \cdot)$ is l.s.c. convex on V, it follows (see [5], p. 160) that the mapping $v \mapsto \int_{0}^{s} j(f(t), u(t), v(t)) dt$ is l.s.c. convex on $L^{2}(0, T; V)$. Thus

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{s} j\left(f(t), u(t), \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\hat{u}_{n}(t)\right) \mathrm{d}t \geq \int_{0}^{s} j(f(t), u(t), \dot{u}(t)) \mathrm{d}t.$$
(4.133)

On the other hand, from (4.90), (4.91), and (4.126), one obtains

$$\begin{split} & \left| \int_{0}^{s} \left(j \left(f_{n}(t), u_{n}(t), \frac{d}{dt} \hat{u}_{n}(t) \right) - j \left(f(t), u(t), \frac{d}{dt} \hat{u}_{n}(t) \right) \right) dt \right| \\ & \leq k_{2} \left| \int_{0}^{s} \left(\| f_{n}(t) - f(t) \| + \| \beta(f_{n}(t), u_{n}(t)) - \beta(f(t), u(t)) \|_{H} \right) \left\| \frac{d}{dt} \hat{u}_{n}(t) \right\| dt \right| \\ & \leq C_{0} k_{2} \| \dot{f} \|_{L^{2}(0,T;V)} \left[\left(\int_{0}^{s} \| f_{n}(t) - f(t) \|^{2} dt \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ & + \left(\int_{0}^{s} \| \beta(f_{n}(t), u_{n}(t)) - \beta(f(t), u(t)) \|_{H}^{2} dt \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right] \end{split}$$

from which, since $f, u \in W^{1,2}(0, T; V) \subset C([0, T]; V)$ and $f_n(t) \to f(t)$ in $V \forall t \in [0, T]$, by using the property (4.85) of β , one has

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{s} \left(j \left(f_n(t), u_n(t), \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \hat{u}_n(t) \right) - j \left(f(t), u(t), \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \hat{u}_n(t) \right) \right) \mathrm{d}t = 0.$$
(4.134)

Combining the relations (4.133) and (4.134), we deduce

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{s} j\left(f_{n}(t), u_{n}(t), \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\hat{u}_{n}(t)\right) \mathrm{d}t$$

$$\geq \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{s} \left(j\left(f_{n}(t), u_{n}(t), \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\hat{u}_{n}(t)\right) - j\left(f(t), u(t), \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\hat{u}_{n}(t)\right)\right) \mathrm{d}t$$

$$+ \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{s} j\left(f(t), u(t), \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\hat{u}_{n}(t)\right) \mathrm{d}t \geq \int_{0}^{s} j(f(t), u(t), \dot{u}(t)) \mathrm{d}t$$

which completes the proof.

We now prove the following strong convergence result together with the main result of this section, namely the existence of a solution for the problem (\mathbf{Q}^a) .

Theorem 4.19. We suppose that the hypotheses (4.83)–(4.90), (4.96)–(4.98), (4.100), (4.101), and (4.105) are satisfied. Then the problem (\mathbf{Q}^a) has at least one solution. More precisely, there exists a subsequence $\{(u_{n_k}, \hat{u}_{n_k})\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}^*}$ of $\{(u_n, \hat{u}_n)\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}^*}$ such that

$$u_{n_k}(t) \to u(t) \quad strongly in V \quad \forall t \in [0, T],$$

$$(4.135)$$

$$\hat{u}_{n_k} \to u \quad strongly in L^2(0,T;V),$$
(4.136)

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\hat{u}_{n_k} \rightharpoonup \dot{u} \quad weakly \text{ in } L^2(0,T;V), \tag{4.137}$$

as $k \to \infty$, where $u \in W^{1,2}(0,T;V)$ is a solution of the problem (\mathbf{Q}^a).

Proof. Let $\{u_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}^*}$ be the subsequence given by Lemma 4.13. We first prove that its weak limit *u* is a solution of the problem (\mathbf{Q}^a).

It is easy to show that $u(t) \in K(f(t))$, $\forall t \in [0, T]$. Indeed, since $(f_n(t), u_n(t)) \in D_K$, $\forall t \in [0, T]$, then, the convergences $f_n(t) \to f(t)$ strongly in $V, \forall t \in [0, T]$ and $u_n(t) \to u(t)$ weakly in $V, \forall t \in [0, T]$ imply, due to the hypothesis (4.84) on the set D_K , the assertion.

Let $s \in [0, T]$. Integrating the first inequality of $(\mathbf{Q}^a)_{\mathbf{n}}$ over [0, s] and using (4.120), we obtain

$$\int_{0}^{s} a\left(u_{n}(t), \frac{d}{dt}\hat{u}_{n}(t)\right) dt + \int_{0}^{s} j\left(f_{n}(t), u_{n}(t), \frac{d}{dt}\hat{u}_{n}(t)\right) dt$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{s} a(u_{n}(t), v(t)) dt + \int_{0}^{s} j(f_{n}(t), u_{n}(t), v(t)) dt \qquad (4.138)$$

$$- \int_{0}^{s} b(f_{n}(t), u_{n}(t), v(t)) dt \quad \forall v \in L^{2}(0, T; V).$$

On the other hand, from (4.94) and (4.97), we have

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{s} j(f_n(t), u_n(t), v(t)) dt = \int_{0}^{s} j(f(t), u(t), v(t)) dt$$
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{s} b(f_n(t), u_n(t), v(t)) dt = b(f(t), u(t), v(t)) dt.$$

Therefore, by passing to the limit in (4.138) and by using the convergences (4.129)–(4.130), we deduce that

$$\int_{0}^{s} a(u(t), v(t) - \dot{u}(t)) dt + \int_{0}^{s} j(f(t), u(t), v(t) dt - \int_{0}^{s} j(f(t), u(t), \dot{u}(t)) dt$$

$$\geq \int_{0}^{s} b(f(t), u(t), v(t)) dt \quad \forall v \in L^{2}(0, T; V), \quad \forall s \in [0, T].$$
(4.139)

Now, by taking $v \in L^2(0, T; V)$ defined by

$$v(t) = \begin{cases} w & \text{if } t \in [s, s+h] \\ \dot{u}(t) & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

with $w \in V$ arbitrarily and $s \in [0, T]$, h > 0 such that $s + h \leq T$, we get

$$\int_{s}^{s+h} a(u(t), w - \dot{u}(t)) dt + \int_{s}^{s+h} j(f(t), u(t), w) dt - \int_{s}^{s+h} j(f(t), u(t), \dot{u}(t)) dt$$

$$\geq \int_{s}^{s+h} b(f(t), u(t), w) dt \quad \forall w \in V, \quad \forall s \in [0, T]$$

which gives, by passing to the limit with $h \rightarrow 0$, the inequality

$$a(u(t), w - \dot{u}(t)) + j(f(t), u(t), w) - j(f(t), u(t), \dot{u}(t)) \geq b(f(t), u(t), w) \quad \forall w \in V \text{ a.e. on }]0, T].$$
(4.140)

In order to show that *u* satisfies the second inequality of (\mathbf{Q}^a) , let us remark that, from the second inequality of $(\mathbf{Q}^a)_{\mathbf{n}}$, it follows

$$b(f_n(t), u_n(t), z) \ge b(f_n(t), u_n(t), u_n(t)) \quad \forall z \in K,$$

from which, by passing to the limit and taking into account the hypotheses (4.95) and (4.94), one obtains

$$b(f(t), u(t), z - u(t)) \ge 0 \quad \forall z \in K, \quad \forall t \in [0, T].$$
(4.141)

Therefore, proceeding as in the proof of Lemma 4.9, one obtains

$$b(f(t), u(t), \dot{u}(t)) = 0. \tag{4.142}$$

From (4.140), (4.141), and (4.142) we conclude that u is a solution of (\mathbf{Q}^a).

In order to prove the convergences (4.135)–(4.137), we shall use an argument due to Andersson [2]. We first prove that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{s} a\left(u_n(t), \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\hat{u}_n(t)\right) \mathrm{d}t = \int_{0}^{s} a(u(t), \dot{u}(t)) \mathrm{d}t \quad \forall s \in [0, T].$$
(4.143)

Taking v = 0 in the first inequality of $(\mathbf{Q}^a)_{\mathbf{n}}$ and w = 0, $w = 2\dot{u}(t)$ in (4.140), and integrating these inequalities on [0, s] for $s \in [0, T]$, one obtains

$$0 \ge \limsup_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{s} \left(a \left(u_n(t), \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \hat{u}_n(t) \right) + j \left(f_n(t), u_n(t), \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \hat{u}_n(t) \right) \right) \mathrm{d}t$$

$$\ge \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{s} \left(a \left(u_n(t), \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \hat{u}_n(t) \right) + j \left(f_n(t), u_n(t), \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \hat{u}_n(t) \right) \right) \mathrm{d}t$$

$$\ge \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{s} a \left(u_n(t), \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \hat{u}_n(t) \right) \mathrm{d}t + \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{s} j \left(f_n(t), u_n(t), \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \hat{u}_n(t) \right) \mathrm{d}t$$

$$\ge \int_{0}^{s} a(u(t), \dot{u}(t)) \mathrm{d}t + \int_{0}^{s} j(f(t), u(t), \dot{u}(t)) \mathrm{d}t = 0$$

where we used (4.88), (4.96), (4.142), (4.129), (4.121), and (4.130). Therefore, we conclude

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{s} a\left(u_n(t), \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\hat{u}_n(t)\right) \mathrm{d}t = \int_{0}^{s} a(u(t), \dot{u}(t)) \mathrm{d}t, \qquad (4.144)$$

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{s} j\left(f_{n}(t), u_{n}(t), \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\hat{u}_{n}(t)\right) \mathrm{d}t = \int_{0}^{s} j(f(t), u(t), \dot{u}(t)) \mathrm{d}t \,. \tag{4.145}$$

On the other hand, taking $v = \dot{u}(t)$ in the first inequality of $(\mathbf{Q}^a)_{\mathbf{n}}$ and integrating on [0, s], from (4.145), (4.97), (4.142), (4.120), and (4.144), we have

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{s} a\left(u_{n}(t), \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\hat{u}_{n}(t)\right) \mathrm{d}t \leq \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{s} a(u_{n}(t), \dot{u}(t)) \mathrm{d}t + \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{s} j(f_{n}(t), u_{n}(t), \dot{u}(t)) \mathrm{d}t - \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{s} j\left(f_{n}(t), u_{n}(t), \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\hat{u}_{n}(t)\right) \mathrm{d}t - \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{s} b(f_{n}(t), u_{n}(t), \dot{u}(t)) \mathrm{d}t = \int_{0}^{s} a(u(t), \dot{u}(t)) \mathrm{d}t = \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{s} a\left(u_{n}(t), \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\hat{u}_{n}(t)\right) \mathrm{d}t ,$$

$$(4.146)$$

and thus, (4.143). Obviously, from (4.143) and (4.132), we deduce

$$\frac{a(u(s), u(s)) - a(u^0, u^0)}{2} = \int_0^s a(u(t), \dot{u}(t)) dt = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_0^s a\left(u_n(t), \frac{d}{dt}\hat{u}_n(t)\right) dt$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \lim_{n \to \infty} a(u_n(s), u_n(s)) - \frac{1}{2}a(u^0, u^0) \quad \forall s \in [0, T]$$

which gives

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} a(u_n(s), u_n(s)) = a(u(s), u(s)) \quad \forall s \in [0, T]$$

Therefore, using the coerciveness of a, we deduce the strong convergence (4.135) which, obviously, implies

$$u_n \rightarrow u$$
 dans $L^2(0, T; V)$ fort.

Thus, from (4.125), we obtain (4.136). Finally, the sequence $\{\hat{u}_n\}_n$ being bounded in $W^{1,2}(0, T; V)$, the convergence (4.136) implies the convergence (4.137) which completes the proof.

References

- 1. Adams, R.A.: Sobolev Spaces. Academic Press, New York/San Francisco/London (1975)
- Andersson, L.E.: A quasistatic frictional problem with normal compliance. Nonlinear Anal. Theory Methods Appl. 16, 347–369 (1991)
- Banach, S.: Sur les opérations dans les ensembles abstraits et leurs applications aux équations intégrales. Fund. Math. 3, 133–181 (1922)
- Bensoussan, A., Lions, J.L.: Applications des Inéquations Variationnelles et Contrôle Stochastique. Dunod, Paris (1978)
- 5. Brézis, H.: Problèmes unilatéraux. J. Math. Pures Appl. 51, 1–168 (1972)
- Browder, F.: Nonlinear monotone operators and convex sets in Banach spaces. Bull. Am. Math. Soc. 71, 780–785 (1965)
- 7. Capatina, A.: Quasi-variational inequalities for potential operators. St. Cerc. Mat. 46, 1 (1994)
- Capatina, A., Cocou, M., Raous, M.: A class of implicit variational inequalities and applications to frictional contact. Math. Meth. Appl. Sci. 32, 1804–1827 (2009)
- 9. Carl, S., Le, V.K., Motreanu, D.: Nonsmooth Variational Problems and Their Inequalities. Springer, New York (2007)
- 10. Céa, J.: Optimisation, Théorie et Algorithmes. Dunod, Paris (1971)
- Cocu, M., Pratt, E., Raous, M.: Formulation and approximation of quasistatic frictional contact. Int. J. Eng. Sci. 34, 783–798 (1996)
- Dinca, G.: Sur la monotonie d'àprés Minty-Browder de l'opérateur de la théorie de plasticité. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 269, 535–538 (1969)
- Dincă, G.: Monotone Operators in the Theory of Plasticity (in romanian). Romanian Academy, Bucharest (1972)
- 14. Dincă, G.: Variational Methods and Applications (in romanian). Tech. Publ. House, Bucharest (1980)

- Dincă, G., Roşca, I.: Une méthode variationnelle pour l'étude des opérateurs non-linéaires à differentiellle K-positivement définie. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 286, 25–28 (1978)
- 16. Dunford, L., Schwartz, L.: Linear Operators, Part I. Interscience, New York (1958)
- Ekeland, I., Temam, R.: Analyse Convexe et Problèmes Variationnells. Dunod, Gauthier-Villars, Paris (1974)
- Friedrichs, K.: On the boundary-value problem of the theory of elasticity and Korn's inequality. Ann. Math. 48, 441–471 (1947)
- 19. Glowinski, R., Lions, J.L., Trémolières, R.: Numerical Analysis of Variational Inequalities. North-Holland, Amsterdam (1981)
- Han, W., Sofonea, M.: Quasistatic Contact Problems in Viscoelasticity and Viscoplasticity. In: AMS/IP Studies in Advanced Mathematics, vol. 30, (2002)
- Hartman, P., Stampacchia, G.: On some nonlinear elliptic differential equations. Acta. Math. 115, 271–310 (1966)
- Ionescu, I., Rosca, I., Sofonea, M.: A variational method for nonlinear multivalued operators. Nonlinear Anal. TMA 9, 259–273 (1985)
- Kantorovici, I.V., Akilov, G.P.: Functional Analysis (in romanian). Sci. and Tech. Publ. House, Bucharest (1986)
- Fan, K.: Fixed-point and minimax theorems in locally convex topological linear spaces. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 38, 121–126 (1952)
- Langenbach, A.: Variationsmethoden in der nichtlinearen Elastizitats und Plastizitatstheorie. Wiss, Z. Humboldt Univ. Berlin, Mat. Nat. Reihe IX, (1959/1960)
- 26. Martiniuk, A.E.: On some generalization of variational method. Dokl. Akad. Nauk. S.S.S.R. 1222–1225 (1959)
- Minty, G.J.: On the generalization of a direct method of the calculus of variations. Bull. Am. Math. Soc. 73, 314–321 (1967)
- Moreau, J.J.: Proximité et dualité dans un espace hilbertien. Bull. Soc. Math. France 93, 273– 299 (1965)
- Moreau, J.J.: Fonctionnelles convexes. Sém. sur les équations aux dérivées partielles, Collége de France (1967)
- Mosco, U.: Implicit variational problems and quasi-variational inequalities. Lect. Note Math. 543, 83–156 (1975)
- Oden, J.T., Kikuchi, N.: Theory of variational inequalities with applications to problems of flow through porous media. Int. J. Eng. Sci. 18, 1171–1284 (1980)
- Oden, J.T., Pires, E.: Contact problems in elastostatic with non-local friction laws. TICOM Report 81–82, Austin, Texas (1981)
- Petryshyn, W.V.: On a class of K-p.d. and non K-p.d. operators and operators equation. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 10, 1–24 (1965)
- Shillor, M., Sofonea, M.: A quasistatic viscoelastic contact problem with friction. Int. J. Eng. Sci. 38, 1517–1533 (2001)
- Sofonea, M.: Une méthode variationnelle pour une classe d'inéquations non-linéaires dans les espaces de Hilbert. Bull. Soc. Sci. Math. Roumaine 30, 47–55 (1986)
- 36. Sofonea, M., Matei, A.: Variational Inequalities with Applications: A Study of Antiplane Frictional Contact Problems. Advances in Mechanics, vol. 18. Springer, New York (2009)
- Stampacchia, G.: Variational inequalities: Theory and application of monotone operators. In: Proceedings of a NATO Advanced Study Institute Venice, Italy (1968)
- 38. Stampaccia, G.: Variational inequalities. Actes Congres intern. Math. 2, 877-883 (1970)
- Tartar, L.: Inéquations quasi variationnelles abstraites. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 278, 1193–1196 (1974)
- Tartar, L.: Variational Methods and Monotonicity. Mathematics Research Center, University of Winsconsin (1975)

Chapter 5 Some Properties of Solutions

In this chapter one studies some properties of solutions of various variational inequalities of the first and second kind. We first consider a class of variational inequalities of the first kind and we emphasize, following the work [19], a property of solutions, namely a maximum principle. We illustrate it by a problem which models the flow of fluids through a porous medium and an obstacle problem. Next, following the work [10], we use the method of the translation to derive local and global regularity results of solutions of a class of variational inequalities of the second kind. In Sect. 8.4, these results will be applied to a frictional contact problem.

5.1 A Maximum Principle for a Class of Variational Inequalities

5.1.1 A General Result

The class of variational inequalities considered in this paragraph is characterized by the bilinear form

$$a(u,v) = \int_{\Omega} \nabla u \cdot \nabla v \, \mathrm{d}x \qquad \forall u, v \in H^{1}(\Omega)$$
(5.1)

where Ω is a bounded open subset of \mathbb{R}^d , with its boundary $\partial \Omega$ sufficiently smooth. We denote by *K* the set of constraints of our problem, defined by

$$K = \{ v \in H^1(\Omega); v \ge 0 \text{ a.e. in } \Omega \text{ and } v = g \text{ a.e. on } \partial \Omega \},$$
(5.2)

where g is a given function such that

$$g \in H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega), \quad g = 0 \text{ a.e. on } \Gamma_0,$$
 (5.3)

Advances in Mechanics and Mathematics 31, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-10163-7_5

A. Capatina, Variational Inequalities and Frictional Contact Problems,

 Γ_0 being an open subset of $\partial\Omega$ such that meas $(\Gamma_0) > 0$. Thus, the set *K* can be written as

$$K = \{ v \in V; v \ge 0 \text{ a.e. in } \Omega \text{ and } v = g \text{ a.e. on } \Gamma_1 \}$$
(5.4)

where

$$V = \{ v \in H^1(\Omega); v = 0 \text{ a.e. on } \Gamma_0 \},$$
(5.5)

 Γ_0 and Γ_1 being open and disjoint sets such that $\partial \Omega = \overline{\Gamma}_0 \cup \overline{\Gamma}_1$.

For $f \in L^2(\Omega)$ given, we consider the following variational inequality

Find
$$u \in K$$
 such that
 $a(u, v - u) \ge (f, v - u) \quad \forall v \in K$

$$(5.6)$$

where $a : H^1(\Omega) \times H^1(\Omega) \to \mathbb{R}$ is the bilinear form defined by (5.1) and (\cdot, \cdot) denotes the usual inner product on $L^2(\Omega)$.

Proposition 5.1. Suppose that the hypothesis (5.3) is true. Then the variational inequality (5.6) has a unique solution.

Proof. We show that the hypotheses of Theorem 4.12 are satisfied.

It is easy to see that the set K is convex subset of V.

For proving that it is closed, let us consider a sequence $\{v_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}} \subset K$ such that $v_n \to v$ strongly in $H^1(\Omega)$. It follows that $v_n \to v$ strongly in $L^2(\Omega)$, and hence, there exists a subsequence $\{v_{n_k}\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ such that v_{n_k} converges pointwise a.e. on Ω towards v (see, for instance, [1], p. 27). As $v_{n_k}(x) \ge 0$ for almost everywhere $x \in \Omega$, it results that the pointwise a.e. limit v has the same property, i.e. $v \ge 0$ a.e. in Ω . As the trace operator $\gamma : H^1(\Omega) \to H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)$ is continuous (in fact, $\gamma = \gamma_0$ from Theorem 2.5, p. 17) and $H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^2(\partial\Omega)$, it follows that the convergence $v_n \to v$ in $H^1(\Omega)$ implies the convergence $\gamma v_n \to \gamma v$ in $L^2(\partial\Omega)$, and so $\gamma v = g$ a.e. on Γ_1 . We conclude that $u \in K$ and so, K is closed.

We shall show that the set *K* is nonempty. Let $\tilde{g} \in H^1(\Omega)$ be the extension of $g \in H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)$ given by the surjectivity of the trace operator $\gamma : H^1(\Omega) \to$ $H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)$, i.e. $\gamma \tilde{g} = g$. Therefore, the positive part of \tilde{g} , denoted by $\tilde{g}^+ = \max\{\tilde{g}, 0\} \in H^1(\Omega)$, is such that $\tilde{g}^+ \ge 0$ a.e. on Ω and $\gamma \tilde{g}^+ = \max_{\partial\Omega}\{\gamma \tilde{g}, 0\} =$ $\max\{g, 0\} = g$. Hence, $\tilde{g}^+ \in K$.

 $\partial \Omega$ Next, by using the Schwartz inequality, we have

$$a(u,v) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{\Omega} \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_{i}} \cdot \frac{\partial v}{\partial x_{i}} \, \mathrm{d}x \le \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{\Omega} \left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial x_{i}}\right)^{2} \, \mathrm{d}x\right)^{1/2} \cdot \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{\Omega} \left(\frac{\partial v}{\partial x_{i}}\right)^{2} \, \mathrm{d}x\right)^{1/2}$$
$$= |u|_{1} \cdot |v|_{1} \le ||u||_{1} \cdot ||v||_{1} \qquad \forall u, v \in V.$$
(5.7)

where $|\cdot|_1$ and $\|\cdot\|_1$ denote the seminorm and, respectively, the norm on $H^1(\Omega)$. Moreover, from the Poincaré–Friedrichs inequality

$$\|v\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \leq C \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\| \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_{i}} \right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \quad \forall v \in H^{1}(\Omega) \text{ such that } v = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_{0},$$

it follows that $\sqrt{a(u, u)}$ is a norm on V equivalent to the norm $\|\cdot\|_1$, i.e.

$$\sqrt{a(u,u)} = |u|_1 \le ||u||_1 \le C |u|_1 \qquad \forall u \in V,$$
(5.8)

with *C* a positive constant depending only on Ω and on the dimension *d*. Thus, the bilinear continuous form $a(\cdot, \cdot)$ is coercive on *V*. By applying Theorem 4.12, we conclude the proof.

Let $u \in K$ be the solution of the variational inequality (5.6). We denote by K_u the following set

$$K_u = \{ w \in H^1(\Omega) ; \exists v \in K \text{ and } \exists \epsilon \in \mathbb{R}_+ \text{ such that } w = \epsilon(v - u) \}.$$
 (5.9)

It is easy to verify that the set K_u is nonempty closed in $H^1(\Omega)$ and $K_u \subset H^1_o(\Omega)$.

Lemma 5.1. The solution $u \in K$ of the variational inequality (5.6) satisfies:

$$a(u,w) \ge (f,w) \quad \forall w \in K_u.$$
 (5.10)

Proof. Let $w \in K_u$ and the corresponding $v \in K$, $\epsilon > 0$ such that $w = \epsilon(v - u)$. By writing (5.6) for this choice of v, the assertion is immediate.

The following result shows that the solution $u \in K$ of (5.6) satisfies the same inequality on a set which is independent of g or u, namely on the cone of all non-negative elements of $H_0^1(\Omega)$.

Proposition 5.2. The solution $u \in K$ of the variational inequality (5.6) verifies:

$$a(u,w) \ge (f,w) \quad \forall w \in H_0^1(\Omega) \text{ with } w \ge 0 \text{ a.e. in } \Omega.$$
 (5.11)

Proof. It is easy to verify

$$\{w \in H_0^1(\Omega) \, ; \, w \ge 0 \text{ a.e. in } \Omega\} \subset K_u \,. \tag{5.12}$$

Indeed, if $w \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ with $w \ge 0$ a.e. in Ω , then, it follows that $v = w + u \in K$, and hence $w \in K_u$.

We now prove the main result of this section.

Theorem 5.1. Under the hypothesis (5.3), let $\overline{u} \in H^1(\Omega)$ be a function which satisfies

$$\begin{cases} a(\overline{u}, w) \ge (f, w) \quad \forall w \in H_0^1(\Omega) \quad w \ge 0 \text{ a.e. in } \Omega, \\ \overline{u} \ge 0 \quad \text{a.e. in } \Omega, \\ \overline{u} \ge g \quad \text{a.e. on } \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$
(5.13)

Then

$$u \leq \overline{u}$$
 a.e. in Ω ,

u being the unique solution of the variational inequality (5.6).

Proof. We first remark that

$$\min\{\overline{u}, v\} \in K \quad \forall v \in K$$

Thus, by taking $v = \min{\{\overline{u}, u\}} = u - (u - \overline{u})^+$ in (5.6), we obtain

$$a(u, -(u - \overline{u})^+) \ge (f, -(u - \overline{u})^+).$$
 (5.14)

On the other hand, since $(u - \overline{u})^+ = u - \min\{u, \overline{u}\}$, it follows that $(u - \overline{u})^+ \in H_0^1(\Omega)$. Obviously, one has $(u - \overline{u})^+ \ge 0$ a.e. in Ω . By taking $w = (u - \overline{u})^+$ in $(5.13)_1$, we get

$$a(\bar{u}, (u-\bar{u})^+) \ge (f, (u-\bar{u})^+).$$
 (5.15)

By adding the relations (5.14) and (5.15), one obtains

$$a(u - \overline{u}, (u - \overline{u})^+) \le 0.$$
 (5.16)

We now remark that $a(v^+, v^-) = 0$, $\forall v \in H^1(\Omega)$, and thus $a(v, v^+) = a(v^+, v^+)$, $\forall v \in H^1(\Omega)$. This leads, thanks to the coerciveness of $a(\cdot, \cdot)$, to

$$\exists \alpha > 0 \text{ such that } \alpha \|v^+\|_1^2 \le a(v, v^+) \quad \forall v \in H^1(\Omega) \text{ with } v^+ \in V.$$
 (5.17)

Therefore, from (5.16) and (5.17), we have

$$\alpha \| (u - \overline{u})^+ \|_1^2 \le a (u - \overline{u}, (u - \overline{u})^+) \le 0, \qquad (5.18)$$

and thus $(u - \overline{u})^+ = 0$ a.e. in Ω , i.e. $u \le \overline{u}$ a.e. in Ω which completes the proof. \Box

Remark 5.1. A function $\overline{u} \in H^1(\Omega)$ which satisfies (5.13) is called a supersolution of the variational inequality (5.6) (for general results and details, see [9]). Therefore, Theorem 5.1 asserts that the solution of the variational inequality (5.6) is the smallest supersolution of (5.6).

If the given function $f \in L^2(\Omega)$ is negative, we deduce the following maximum principle.

Corollary 5.1. Let $u \in K$ be the solution of the variational inequality (5.6) for $f \leq 0$ in Ω . Suppose that the function $g \in H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)$ is bounded above by a positive constant C. Then $u \leq C$ a.e. in Ω .

Proof. The hypothesis on f implies $(f, w) \le 0 \quad \forall w \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ with $w \ge 0$ a.e. in Ω . This shows that $\overline{u} = C$ is a supersolution of (5.6). Hence, by Theorem 5.1, the assertion follows.

In the sequel, we shall consider a slightly generalization of the above results. Let the set of constraints of the problem (5.6) be defined by

 $K(\psi, g) = \{ v \in H^1(\Omega) ; \quad v \ge \psi \text{ a.e. in } \Omega , \quad v = g \text{ a.e. on } \partial \Omega \}$ (5.19)

with ψ a given function such that

$$\psi \in H^1(\Omega) \cap C^0(\overline{\Omega}), \quad \psi \le 0 \text{ on } \partial\Omega.$$
 (5.20)

Proposition 5.3. Suppose that the hypotheses (5.3) and (5.20) hold. Then, the variational inequality

$$\begin{cases} Find \ u \in K(\psi, g) \text{ such that} \\ a(u, v - u) \ge (f, v - u) \quad \forall v \in K(\psi, g) \end{cases}$$
(5.21)

has a unique solution.

Proof. We first remark that the set $K(\psi, g)$ can be written as

$$K(\psi, g) = \{ v \in V ; \quad v \ge \psi \text{ a.e. in } \Omega, v = g \text{ on } \Gamma_1 \}.$$
(5.22)

Proceeding as in the proof of Proposition 5.2, one proves that the set $K(\psi, g)$ is convex and closed in *V*. In order to prove that $K(\psi, g)$ is nonempty, let $\tilde{g} \in H^1(\Omega)$ be such that $\gamma \tilde{g} = g$. Therefore, $v = \tilde{g}^+ + \psi^+ \in K(\psi, g)$. By applying Theorem 4.12, the assertion follows.

By similar proofs, we also obtain the analogous results to Theorem 5.1 and Corollary 5.1.

Theorem 5.2. Suppose that the hypotheses (5.3) and (5.20) hold. Let $u \in K(\psi, g)$ be the unique solution of the variational inequality (5.21) and let $\overline{u} \in H^1(\Omega)$ be a function which satisfies the conditions

$$\begin{cases} a(\overline{u}, w) \ge (f, w) \quad \forall w \in H_0^1(\Omega) \quad w \ge 0 \text{ a.e. in } \Omega, \\ \overline{u} \ge \psi \quad \text{a.e. in } \Omega, \\ \overline{u} \ge g \quad \text{a.e. on } \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$
(5.23)

Then $u \leq \overline{u}$ a.e. in Ω .

Corollary 5.2. Let $u \in K(\psi, g)$ be the solution of the variational inequality (5.21) for $f \in L^2(\Omega)$ such that $f \leq 0$ a.e. in Ω . We suppose that the functions ψ and g are bounded above in Ω , respectively, on $\partial\Omega$, by a constant C_1 , respectively, by a constant C_2 . Then $u \leq \max\{C_1, C_2\}$ a.e. in Ω .

Remark 5.2. The conditions of the above corollary are satisfied if, for instance, $g \in C(\partial\Omega)$ and $\psi \in C(\overline{\Omega})$ or $\psi \in H^2(\Omega)$ and d = 2.

5.1.2 Examples

In the sequel, we shall consider applications of the above results to a dam problem and an obstacle problem.

1. A dam problem

We consider the problem of stationary flow of an incompressible fluid through a dam of an isotropic homogeneous porous media on a horizontal impervious base (see, for instance, [3, 5, 6, 18]). We suppose that the dam separates two tanks of different levels H and h with H > h and that it is bounded by parallel vertical walls, so that the flow may be considered to be two-dimensional. The geometry of this problem, taking into account that the flow is the same for any normal section in the porous medium, is given in Fig. 5.1.

The dam cross-section is assumed to be the rectangle $D = (0, a) \times (0, H)$, i.e. *a* is the width of the dam. The flow region is a subset of *D*, with its boundary partially unknown, defined by

$$\Omega = \{ (x, y) \in D ; \quad 0 < x < a , 0 < y < \varphi(x) \}.$$
(5.24)

where $\varphi : [0, a] \to [0, H]$ is a continuous and strictly decreasing function such that $\varphi(0) = H$, $\varphi(a) \ge h$.



Fig. 5.1 A dam problem

If **v** denotes the velocity of the fluid, then by the continuity equation div v = 0and the Darcy's law $\mathbf{v} = -\nabla u$ (the permeability coefficient of the porous medium is supposed equal to 1), we deduce

$$-\Delta u = 0 \qquad \text{in } \Omega \,, \tag{5.25}$$

where *u* is called a "potential velocity".

It is known (see [4]) that the above physical description leads to the following boundary conditions (according to Fig. 5.1):

$$\begin{cases}
u = H & \text{on } [AF], \\
u = h & \text{on } [BC], \\
\frac{\partial u}{\partial v} = 0 & \text{on } \widehat{FC}_{\varphi} \cup (AB), \\
u = y & \text{on } \widehat{FC}_{\varphi} \cup [CC_{\varphi}],
\end{cases}$$
(5.26)

where the curve \widehat{FC}_{φ} and the closed segment $[CC_{\varphi}]$ are, respectively, the free line and the seepage line, and $\frac{\partial u}{\partial v}$ denotes the outward derivative normal.

The problem (5.25)-(5.26) has as unknown the triplet (φ, Ω, u) . As in many free boundary problems, the solution cannot be directly written as the solution of a variational inequality. However, Baiocchi [3] introduced a change of unknown functions which allows to reduce this problem to a variational inequality of the type (5.6). Namely, supposing that the solution u, in the weak sense, of the problem (5.25)-(5.26) belongs to $H^1(\Omega) \cap C(\overline{\Omega})$, one defines the Baiocchi transformation:

$$w(x, y) = \int_{y}^{H} (\tilde{u}(x, t) - t) dt \qquad \forall (x, y) \in D$$
(5.27)

where

$$\tilde{u}(x, y) = \begin{cases} u(x, y) & \text{if } (x, y) \in \overline{\Omega}, \\ y & \text{if } (x, y) \in \overline{D} \setminus \overline{\Omega}. \end{cases}$$
(5.28)

It is easy to show (for instance, see [6]) that w belongs to $H^1(D) \cap C(\overline{D})$ and it is the unique solution of the variational inequality

$$\int_{D} \nabla w \cdot \nabla (v - w) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y \ge - \int_{D} (v - w) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y \quad \forall v \in K$$
(5.29)

where

$$K = \{ v \in H^1(D); v \ge 0 \text{ a.e. on } D, v = g \text{ on } \partial D \}$$
(5.30)

and

$$g(x, y) = w(x, y) \quad \forall (x, y) \in \partial D.$$
 (5.31)

From (5.26), (5.28), and (5.27), it is immediate that

$$g = \begin{cases} \frac{H^2}{2} - \frac{H^2 - h^2}{2a} x & \text{on } (AB), \\ \frac{1}{2}(H - y)^2 & \text{on } [AF], \\ \frac{1}{2}(h - y)^2 & \text{on } [BC], \\ 0 & \text{on } \partial D \setminus ([AF] \cup (AB) \cup [BC]). \end{cases}$$

Now, if $w \in H^1(D) \cap C(\overline{D})$ is the unique solution of the variational inequality (5.29), then if we put

$$\begin{split} \Omega &= \{(x, y); \, (x, y) \in D; \, w(x, y) > 0\},\\ \varphi(x) &= \sup\{y; \, (x, y) \in \Omega\} \qquad 0 < x < a,\\ \varphi(0) &= \lim_{x \searrow 0} \varphi(x) \qquad \varphi(a) = \lim_{x \nearrow a} \varphi(x),\\ u(x, y) &= y - \frac{\partial w}{\partial y}(x, y) \quad \forall (x, y) \in \overline{\Omega}, \end{split}$$

then, it follows that the triplet (φ, Ω, u) is the unique solution of the problem (5.25)–(5.26).

The function g has the properties: $g \ge 0$ on ∂D , g = 0 on $\Gamma_0 = (FE] \cup [EC)$, g is Lipschitz continuous and hence $g \in H^{1/2}(\partial \Omega)$ (see, e.g., [14]). Therefore, the problem (5.29) is a variational inequality of (5.6) type with f = -1.

Finally, by Corollary 5.1, we conclude that the unique solution of the variational inequality (5.29) satisfies:

$$w(x, y) \leq \frac{H^2}{2}$$
 in D .

2. An obstacle problem.

We consider an elastic membrane, occupying an open bounded subset Ω of \mathbb{R}^2 , which is fixed along its boundary Γ and must lie over an obstacle which is represented by a function $\psi : \overline{\Omega} \to \mathbb{R}$. The membrane is subject to the action of a vertical force of density f. We suppose that when f = 0, the membrane is in the plan of coordinates (x, y) (Fig. 5.2).





The problem consists in finding the position of the membrane u and the free boundary γ such that:

$$\begin{cases}
-\Delta u \ge f \quad \text{in } \Omega, \\
u \ge \psi \quad \text{in } \Omega, \\
(-\Delta u - f)(u - \psi) = 0 \quad \text{in } \Omega, \\
u = 0 \quad \text{on } \Gamma, \\
u^+ = u^0 \text{ on } \gamma.
\end{cases}$$
(5.32)

We mention that γ is the part of the membrane which touches the obstacle, that is $\gamma = \partial \Omega^+ \cap \partial \Omega^0$ where $\Omega^+ = \{x \in \Omega ; u(x) > \psi(x)\}$ and $\Omega^0 = \{x \in \Omega ; u(x) = \psi(x)\}$. We also denoted $u^+ = u/\Omega^+$ and $u^0 = u/\Omega^0$.

Suppose that $f \in L^2(\Omega)$ and $\psi \in H^1(\Omega) \cap C(\overline{\Omega})$ with $\psi \leq 0$ on Γ . Then, it can be proved (see, for instance, [13], p. 26) that the variational formulation of this problem is a variational inequality of the form (5.21) with the notation

$$\begin{cases} V = H_0^1(\Omega), \\ g = 0, \\ K(\psi, 0) = \{ v \in V ; v \ge \psi \text{ a.e. on } \Omega \}, \\ a(u, v) = \int_{\Omega} \nabla u \cdot \nabla v \, dx \, dy \quad \forall u, v \in V. \end{cases}$$
(5.33)

Applying Theorem 5.2 we find that the unique solution u of the variational inequality

$$a(u, v - u) \ge 0 \quad \forall v \in K(\psi, 0)$$

is the smallest supersolution of the above variational inequality. In addition, for $f \le 0$ (we always may suppose $f \le 0$), by applying Corollary 5.2, we deduce the expected physical result:

$$u \le \max_{x \in \Omega} \psi(x)$$
 a.e. on Ω .

5.2 Regularity Properties

As the theory of variational inequalities represents a generalization of the theory of boundary value problems for partial differential equations, then it is of great interest to study the regularity of the solutions of variational inequalities.

Brézis and Stampacchia [8] studied this problem from an abstract point of view, considering a variational inequality of the first kind. The question is to find the conditions that ensure $Au \in \mathcal{W}$ if $f \in \mathcal{W}$, with \mathcal{W} a subspace of V^* . Regularity results for the solutions of variational inequalities for a scalar second order elliptic operator have been obtained by many authors as, for instance, Lions [15], Necas [16], Duvaut [11].

In this section we study the regularity of the solutions of a class of variational inequalities of the second kind. We shall show, in Sect. 8.4, that these results allow us to obtain a local regularity for the solution of the quasi-variational inequality which models the Signorini problem with nonlocal Coulomb friction.

The section starts with some rappels on standard results which will be useful in what follows. Then, we state the variational inequality for which we obtain local and global regularity results. Our proof is based on the method of translation, due to Niremberg [17], as Brézis did in his thesis [7] for a scalar second order elliptic operator.

5.2.1 Notation and Preliminary Results

For a function *v* defined on \mathbb{R}^d , one introduces the notation

$$v_h^i(\mathbf{x}) = v(\mathbf{x} + h\mathbf{e}_i), i \in \{1, ..., d\},\$$

where \mathbf{e}_i is the unit vector $(\delta_{1i}, \delta_{2i}, \dots, \delta_{di}), \delta_{ji}$ being the Kronecker's symbol and *h* is a real number.

We first recall some standard results (for proofs, see, for instance, [2]).

Proposition 5.4. Let Ω be an open set in \mathbb{R}^d . If $v \in H^1(\Omega)$ and $\varphi \in C^1(\overline{\Omega})$, then $v\varphi \in H^1(\Omega)$ and

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}(v\varphi) = \frac{\partial v}{\partial x_i}\varphi + v\frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial x_i}, \quad i \in \{1, \dots, d\}.$$

In the sequel we denote by C or C_j positive constants which we distinguish by subscripts if necessary.

Proposition 5.5. Let Ω be an open set in \mathbb{R}^d which has the segment property (cf. p. 16) and $v \in H^m(\Omega)$ with $m \ge 0$ an integer. If, for $i \in \{1, ..., d\}$, there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$\left\|\frac{v_h^i - v}{h}\right\|_{H^m(\Omega')} \le C , \qquad (5.34)$$

for every $\overline{\Omega}' \subset \Omega$ and for all $h \neq 0$ with |h| sufficiently small, then

$$\left\|\frac{\partial v}{\partial x_i}\right\|_{H^m(\Omega)} \le C$$

If (5.34) holds for every $i \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$, then $v \in H^{m+1}(\Omega)$.

Proposition 5.6. Let Ω be an open set in \mathbb{R}^d . Suppose that $v \in H^m(\Omega)$, $m \ge 1$, and let $\overline{\Omega}' \subset \Omega$. Then

$$\left\|\frac{v_h^i - v}{h}\right\|_{H^{m-1}(\Omega')} \le \|v\|_{H^m(\Omega)},$$

for all $h \neq 0$ such that dist $(\overline{\Omega'}, \partial \Omega) > |h|$.

From the above proposition, we derive the following.

Corollary 5.3. Let $\eta \in C^{\infty}(\overline{S})$ be such that supp $\eta \subset S \cup \Sigma$, where $S = \{ \boldsymbol{\xi} = (\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_d) \in \mathbb{R}^d ; |\boldsymbol{\xi}| < 1, \xi_d > 0 \}$, $d \ge 2$ and $\Sigma = \{ \boldsymbol{\xi} \in \mathbb{R}^d ; |\boldsymbol{\xi}| < 1, \xi_d = 0 \}$. Then, for every $\boldsymbol{v} \in (H^1(S))^d$, we have

$$\left\|\frac{\eta(\mathbf{v}_{i}^{h}-\mathbf{v})}{h}\right\|_{(L^{2}(S))^{d}} \leq C \|\mathbf{v}\|_{(H^{1}(S))^{d}},$$

for all $h \neq 0$ with $|h| < dist (\partial S \setminus \Sigma, supp \eta)$ and $i \in \{1, 2, ..., d - 1\}$.

Proof. Let $S_1 = \{\boldsymbol{\xi} \in S, \eta(\boldsymbol{\xi}) \neq 0\}, \tilde{S} = \{\boldsymbol{\xi} \in \mathbb{R}^d, |\boldsymbol{\xi}| < 1\}$ and $\tilde{S}_1 = S_1 \cup (\Sigma \cap \overline{S}_1) \cup \{\boldsymbol{\xi} = (\xi_1, \dots, \xi_d) \in \mathbb{R}^d, (\xi_1, \dots, \xi_{d-1}, -\xi_d) \in S_1\}.$

For any function *w*, we put

$$\tilde{w}(\boldsymbol{\xi}) = \begin{cases} w(\boldsymbol{\xi}) & \text{if } \xi_d \ge 0, \\ w(\xi_1, \dots, \xi_{d-1}, -\xi_d) & \text{if } \xi_d < 0. \end{cases}$$
(5.35)

It is easy to see that, if $\mathbf{w} \in (H^1(S))^d$, then $\tilde{\mathbf{w}} \in (H^1(\tilde{S}))^d$ and

$$\|\tilde{\boldsymbol{w}}\|_{(H^m(\tilde{S}))^d}^2 = 2\|\boldsymbol{w}\|_{(H^m(S))^d}^2 \quad \text{for } m \in \{0, 1\}.$$
(5.36)

Let $\tilde{\eta}, \tilde{v}$ and \tilde{v}_h^i $(i \in \{1, ..., d-1\})$ be defined as in (5.35). Then supp $\tilde{\eta} = \tilde{\tilde{S}'} \subset \tilde{S}$ and

$$\left\| \frac{\eta(\mathbf{v}_{h}^{i} - \mathbf{v})}{h} \right\|_{(L^{2}(S))^{d}} = \left\| \frac{\eta(\mathbf{v}_{h}^{i} - \mathbf{v})}{h} \right\|_{(L^{2}(S'))^{d}}$$

$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left\| \frac{\tilde{\eta}(\tilde{\mathbf{v}}_{h}^{i} - \tilde{\mathbf{v}})}{h} \right\|_{(L^{2}(\tilde{S}_{1}))^{d}} \le \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} C \left\| \frac{\tilde{\mathbf{v}}_{h}^{i} - \tilde{\mathbf{v}}}{h} \right\|_{(L^{2}(\tilde{S}_{1}))^{d}} .$$
(5.37)

Applying Proposition 5.6 and using the relations (5.36) and (5.37), we conclude

$$\left\|\frac{\eta(\mathbf{v}_{h}^{i}-\mathbf{v})}{h}\right\|_{(L^{2}(S))^{d}} \leq \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}C \left\|\frac{\tilde{\mathbf{v}}_{h}^{i}-\tilde{\mathbf{v}}}{h}\right\|_{(L^{2}(\tilde{S}_{1}))^{d}} \leq \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}C \|\tilde{\mathbf{v}}\|_{(H^{1}(\tilde{S}))^{d}} = C \|\mathbf{v}\|_{(H^{1}(S))^{d}}.$$

5.2.2 Setting of the Problem and Regularity Results

Let Ω be an open bounded set in \mathbb{R}^d with Γ an open subset of its boundary $\partial\Omega$. Let $x_0 \in \Gamma$. Suppose that Ω is C^3 -smooth in x_0 (see Definition 2.6, 16), i.e. there exists a neighborhood I of x_0 such that the set $\overline{\Omega} \cap \overline{I}$ can be mapped C^3 -homeomorphically onto \overline{S} where $S = \{\boldsymbol{\xi} \in \mathbb{R}^d : |\boldsymbol{\xi}| < 1, \xi_d > 0\}$, such that the set $\partial\Omega \cap \overline{I}$ is mapped onto the set $\overline{\Sigma}$ where $\Sigma = \{\boldsymbol{\xi} = (\xi_1, \dots, \xi_d) \in \mathbb{R}^d, |\boldsymbol{\xi}| < 1, \xi_d = 0\}$. Without loss of generality, we may assume that $\partial\Omega \cap I \subset \Gamma$.

Let θ be the C^3 -homeomorphism from $\overline{\Omega} \cap \overline{I}$ to \overline{S} . If w is a function defined on $\Omega \cap I$, we shall denote by \tilde{w} the function

$$\tilde{w}(\boldsymbol{\xi}) = w(\theta^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\xi})) \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\xi} \in S.$$

Let $v \in (H^1(\Omega))^d$. For $\eta \in \mathcal{D}(I)$ and *h* a real number, we set

$$\mathbf{v}_{h,\eta}^{i}(\mathbf{x}) = \begin{cases} \mathbf{v}(\mathbf{x}) + \eta(\mathbf{x}) \left(\tilde{\mathbf{v}}_{h}^{i}(\theta(\mathbf{x})) - \mathbf{v}(\mathbf{x}) \right) & \text{if } \mathbf{x} \in \text{supp } \eta \cap \Omega, \\ \mathbf{v}(\mathbf{x}) & \text{if } \mathbf{x} \in \Omega \setminus \text{supp } \eta, \end{cases}$$

where $i \in \{1, ..., d-1\}$ and $\tilde{v}_h^i = (\tilde{v})_h^i$. It is immediate that, for |h| sufficiently small, $v_{h,\eta}^i$ is well defined and $v_{h,\eta}^i \in (H^1(\Omega))^d$.

In the sequel we use the summation convention.

We now define the bilinear form

$$b(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}) = \int_{\Omega} \left(a_{ij}^{kl}(\boldsymbol{x}) \frac{\partial u_k}{\partial x_i} \frac{\partial v_l}{\partial x_j} + b_i^{kl}(\boldsymbol{x}) \frac{\partial u_k}{\partial x_i} v_l + c_i^{kl}(\boldsymbol{x}) \frac{\partial v_l}{\partial x_i} u_k \right. \\ \left. + d^{kl}(\boldsymbol{x}) u_k v_l \right) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \quad \forall \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v} \in (H^1(\Omega))^d$$

where a_{ij}^{kl} , b_i^{kl} , c_i^{kl} , $d^{kl} \in C^1(\overline{\Omega})$ and $a_{ij}^{kl} = a_{ji}^{kl}$, $\forall i, j, k, l \in \{1, \dots, d\}$. In the matrix form, we can write

$$b(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}) = \int_{\Omega} \left(\mathbf{A}_{ij}(\boldsymbol{x})\boldsymbol{u}_{,i}\boldsymbol{v}_{,j} + \mathbf{B}_{i}(\boldsymbol{x})\boldsymbol{u}_{,i}\boldsymbol{v} + \mathbf{C}_{i}(\boldsymbol{x})\boldsymbol{u}\boldsymbol{v}_{,i} + \mathbf{D}(\boldsymbol{x})\boldsymbol{u}\boldsymbol{v} \right) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \,,$$

where

$$\mathbf{w}_{,i} = \left(\frac{\partial w_1}{\partial x_i}, \dots, \frac{\partial w_d}{\partial x_i}\right), \ \mathbf{A}_{ij} = (a_{ij}^{kl})_{k,l}, \ \mathbf{B}_i = (b_i^{kl})_{k,l}, \ \mathbf{C}_i = (c_i^{kl})_{k,l}, \ \mathbf{D} = (d^{kl})_{k,l}.$$

For any open set ω in \mathbb{R}^d , we shall denote by $\|\cdot\|_{m,\omega}$ the norm on the product space $(H^m(\omega))^d$.

We suppose that there exists a constant $\alpha > 0$ such that

$$b(\mathbf{v},\mathbf{v}) \ge \alpha \|\mathbf{v}\|_{1,\Omega}^2 \qquad \forall \mathbf{v} \in (H^1(\Omega))^d \text{ with supp } \mathbf{v} \subset \overline{\Omega} \cap I.$$
 (5.38)

We consider the functional $J : (H^1(\Omega))^d \to \mathbb{R}$ defined by

$$J(\mathbf{v}) = \int_{\Gamma} r(s)\psi(\mathbf{v}(s)) \,\mathrm{d}s \quad \forall \mathbf{v} \in (H^1(\Omega))^d \,,$$

where $r \in H^1(\Gamma)$ with $r \ge 0$ a.e. on Γ and ψ is a seminorm on \mathbb{R}^d .

We denote by Q a nonempty closed convex subset of $(H^1(\Omega))^d$ such that

if
$$\mathbf{v} \in Q$$
 then $\mathbf{v}_{h,\eta}^{l} \in Q$, $\forall l \in \{1, ..., d-1\}$, $\forall \eta \in \mathscr{D}(I)$ with $0 \le \eta \le 1$,
and $\forall h \ne 0$ with $|h| < \text{dist} (\partial S \setminus \Sigma, \text{ supp } \tilde{\eta})$,
(5.39)

where $\tilde{\eta}(\boldsymbol{\xi}) = \eta(\theta^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\xi})), \ \forall \boldsymbol{\xi} \in S.$

With the above notation, we consider the following variational inequality of second kind

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{u} \in \boldsymbol{Q} ,\\ \boldsymbol{b}(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v} - \boldsymbol{u}) + \boldsymbol{J}(\boldsymbol{v}) - \boldsymbol{J}(\boldsymbol{u}) \ge (\boldsymbol{L}, \boldsymbol{v} - \boldsymbol{u}) \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{Q} \end{cases}$$
(5.40)

where $L \in (L^2(\Omega))^d$ is defined by

$$(\boldsymbol{L}, \boldsymbol{v}) = \int_{\Omega} L_i v_i \, \mathrm{d}x \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in (H^1(\Omega))^d$$

We can state our local regularity result.

Theorem 5.3. Suppose that there exists a solution \mathbf{u} of the variational inequality (5.40). Then, for any open set I' containing \mathbf{x}_0 such that $\overline{I}' \subset I$, we have $\mathbf{u} \in (H^2(\Omega \cap I'))^d$ and

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}\|_{2,\Omega\cap I'} \le C(\|\boldsymbol{u}\|_{1,\Omega\cap I} + \|\boldsymbol{r}\|_{H^1(\Gamma\cap I)} + \|\boldsymbol{L}\|_{0,\Omega\cap I}).$$
(5.41)

~

Proof. Let $S' = \theta(\Omega \cap I')$. We shall prove that

$$\|\tilde{u}\|_{2,S'} \leq C(\|\tilde{u}\|_{1,S} + \|\tilde{r}\|_{H^1(\Sigma)} + \|L\|_{0,S}).$$

First, let $\eta \in \mathscr{D}(\Omega)$ with $0 \le \eta \le 1$. It is easy to see that, if we take in (5.40) $\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{u}_{h,\eta}^l$ and, respectively, $\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{u}_{-h,\eta}^l$, $l \in \{1, ..., d-1\}$, we obtain by using local coordinates

5 Some Properties of Solutions

$$\tilde{b}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}, \tilde{\eta}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{h}^{l} - \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})) + \int_{\Sigma} \tilde{r}\tilde{\eta}\psi(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{h}^{l}) \,\mathrm{d}\sigma - \int_{\Sigma} \tilde{r}\tilde{\eta}\psi(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}) \,\mathrm{d}\sigma \ge (\tilde{\boldsymbol{L}}, \tilde{\eta}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{h}^{l} - \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}))$$
(5.42)

$$\tilde{b}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}, \tilde{\eta}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{-h}^{l} - \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})) + \int_{\Sigma} \tilde{r} \tilde{\eta} \psi(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{-h}^{l}) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma - \int_{\Sigma} \tilde{r} \tilde{\eta} \psi(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma \ge (\tilde{\boldsymbol{L}}, \tilde{\eta}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{-h}^{l} - \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})) \quad (5.43)$$

where

$$\tilde{b}(\tilde{u},\tilde{v}) = \int_{S} (\mathbf{A}_{ij}\tilde{u}_{,i}\tilde{v}_{,j} + \mathbf{B}_{i}\tilde{u}_{,i}\tilde{v} + \mathbf{C}_{i}\tilde{u}\tilde{v}_{,i} + \mathbf{D}\tilde{u}\tilde{v}) \,\mathrm{d}\xi$$
$$(\tilde{L},\tilde{v}) = \int_{S} L_{i}\tilde{v}_{i} \,\mathrm{d}\xi \,.$$

Here, for the sake of simplicity, we do not change the notation for A_{ij} , B_i , C_i , D and L_i .

Let $\varphi \in \mathscr{D}(I)$ be such that $0 \le \varphi \le 1$ and $\varphi \equiv 1$ in I'. Taking $\tilde{\eta} = \tilde{\varphi}^2$ in (5.42) and $\tilde{\eta} = \tilde{\varphi}^2_{-h}$ in (5.43), by adding the two inequalities, we get for |h| sufficiently small

$$0 \leq b(\boldsymbol{u}, \varphi^{2}(\boldsymbol{u}_{h} - \boldsymbol{u})) - b(\boldsymbol{u}, \varphi^{2}_{-h}(\boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u}_{-h})) + \int_{\Sigma} r\varphi^{2}(\psi(\boldsymbol{u}_{h}) - \psi(\boldsymbol{u})) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma$$

+
$$\int_{\Sigma} r\varphi^{2}_{-h}(\psi(\boldsymbol{u}_{-h}) - \psi(\boldsymbol{u})) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma + (\boldsymbol{L}, \varphi^{2}_{-h}(\boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u}_{-h})) - (\boldsymbol{L}, \varphi^{2}(\boldsymbol{u}_{h} - \boldsymbol{u}))$$

(5.44)

where, for simplicity, we omitted the " \sim " and the index *l*. Therefore, from (5.44), we deduce that

$$b(\varphi(\boldsymbol{u}_{h}-\boldsymbol{u}),\varphi(\boldsymbol{u}_{h}-\boldsymbol{u})) \leq b(\varphi(\boldsymbol{u}_{h}-\boldsymbol{u}),\varphi(\boldsymbol{u}_{h}-\boldsymbol{u})) + b(\boldsymbol{u},\varphi^{2}(\boldsymbol{u}_{h}-\boldsymbol{u})) -b(\boldsymbol{u},\varphi^{2}_{-h}(\boldsymbol{u}-\boldsymbol{u}_{-h})) + \int_{\Sigma} r\varphi^{2}(\psi(\boldsymbol{u}_{h})-\psi(\boldsymbol{u})) \,\mathrm{d}\sigma + \int_{\Sigma} r\varphi^{2}_{-h}(\psi(\boldsymbol{u}_{-h})-\psi(\boldsymbol{u})) \,\mathrm{d}\sigma + (\boldsymbol{L},\varphi^{2}_{-h}(\boldsymbol{u}-\boldsymbol{u}_{-h})) - (\boldsymbol{L},\varphi^{2}(\boldsymbol{u}_{h}-\boldsymbol{u})) \,.$$
(5.45)

We now estimate the right-hand side of the inequality (5.45). First, from Proposition 5.4, we have

96

$$\begin{split} b(\varphi(u_{h}-u),\varphi(u_{h}-u)) + b(u,\varphi^{2}(u_{h}-u)) - b(u,\varphi^{2}_{-h}(u-u_{-h})) \\ &= \int_{S} \{\mathbf{A}_{ij}[\varphi(u_{h}-u)]_{,i}[\varphi(u_{h}-u)]_{,j} + \mathbf{B}_{i}[\varphi(u_{h}-u)]_{,i}[\varphi(u_{h}-u)] \\ + \mathbf{C}_{i}[\varphi(u_{h}-u)][\varphi(u_{h}-u)]_{,i} + \mathbf{D}\varphi^{2}(u_{h}-u)(u_{h}-u) - \mathbf{A}_{ij}u_{,i}[\varphi^{2}_{-h}(u-u_{-h})]_{,i} \\ - \mathbf{B}_{i}u_{,i}[\varphi^{2}_{-h}(u-u_{-h})] - \mathbf{C}_{i}u[\varphi^{2}_{-h}(u-u_{-h})]_{,i} - \mathbf{D}u\varphi^{2}_{-h}(u-u_{-h}) \\ + \mathbf{A}_{ij}u_{,i}[\varphi^{2}(u_{h}-u)]_{,j} + \mathbf{B}_{i}u_{,i}[\varphi^{2}(u_{h}-u)] + \mathbf{C}_{i}u[\varphi^{2}(u_{h}-u)]_{,i} \\ + \mathbf{D}u\varphi^{2}(u_{h}-u)\} d\xi = \int_{S} \{\mathbf{A}_{ij}\varphi_{,i}\varphi_{,j}(u_{h}-u)(u_{h}-u) \\ + \mathbf{A}_{ij}\varphi^{2}(u_{h}-u)(u_{h}-u)_{,j} + \mathbf{A}_{ij}\varphi\varphi_{,j}(u_{h}-u)_{,i}(u_{h}-u) \\ + \mathbf{A}_{ij}\varphi^{2}(u_{h}-u)[\varphi(u_{h}-u)]_{,i} - [(\mathbf{A}_{ij})_{h}u_{h,i} - \mathbf{A}_{ij}u_{,i}][\varphi^{2}(u_{h}-u)]_{,j} \\ - [(\mathbf{B}_{i})_{h}u_{h,i} - \mathbf{B}_{i}u_{,i}]\varphi^{2}(u_{h}-u) - [(\mathbf{C}_{i})_{h}u_{h} - \mathbf{C}_{i}u][\varphi^{2}(u_{h}-u)]_{,i} \\ - (\mathbf{D}_{h}-\mathbf{D})u_{h}\varphi^{2}(u_{h}-u)]_{,i} - [(\mathbf{B}_{i})_{h}u_{h,i} - \mathbf{B}_{i}u_{,i}]\varphi^{2}(u_{h}-u) \\ - [(\mathbf{C}_{i})_{h}u_{h} - \mathbf{C}_{i}u] [\varphi(u_{h}-u)]_{,i} - [(\mathbf{B}_{i})_{h}u_{h,i} - \mathbf{B}_{i}u_{,i}]\varphi^{2}(u_{h}-u) \\ - [(\mathbf{C}_{i})_{h}u_{h} - \mathbf{C}_{i}u] \cdot [\varphi_{,i}\varphi(u_{h}-u) + \varphi(\varphi(u_{h}-u))_{,i}] \\ - (\mathbf{D}_{h}-\mathbf{D})u_{h}\varphi^{2}(u_{h}-u)]_{,i} + [(\mathbf{B}_{i})_{h}u_{h,i} - \mathbf{B}_{i}u_{,i}]\varphi^{2}(u_{h}-u) \\ - [(\mathbf{C}_{i})_{h}u_{h} - \mathbf{C}_{i}u] \cdot [\varphi_{,i}\varphi(u_{h}-u) + \varphi(\varphi(u_{h}-u))_{,i}] \\ - (\mathbf{D}_{h}-\mathbf{D})u_{h}\varphi^{2}(u_{h}-u)]_{,i} d\xi \\ . \end{split}$$

Now we can apply Corollary 5.3 by taking $\eta = \varphi$ and $\eta = \varphi_{,i}$. It follows that, for all $h \neq 0$ such that $|h| < \text{dist} (\partial S \setminus \Sigma, \text{supp } \varphi)$, we give

$$\frac{1}{|h|} [b(\varphi(\boldsymbol{u}_{h} - \boldsymbol{u}), \varphi(\boldsymbol{u}_{h} - \boldsymbol{u})) + b(\boldsymbol{u}, \varphi^{2}(\boldsymbol{u}_{h} - \boldsymbol{u})) - b(\boldsymbol{u}, \varphi^{2}_{-h}(\boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u}_{-h}))] \\
\leq C_{1} \|\boldsymbol{u}\|_{1,S} \|\varphi(\boldsymbol{u}_{h} - \boldsymbol{u})\|_{1,S}.$$
(5.46)

On the other hand, from Proposition 5.6, we have

$$\int_{\Sigma} r\varphi^{2}[\psi(\boldsymbol{u}_{h}) - \psi(\boldsymbol{u})] \,\mathrm{d}\sigma + \int_{\Sigma} r\varphi^{2}_{-h}[\psi(\boldsymbol{u}_{-h}) - \psi(\boldsymbol{u})] \,\mathrm{d}\sigma$$

$$= \int_{\Sigma} (r - r_{h})\varphi^{2}[\psi(\boldsymbol{u}_{h} - \psi(\boldsymbol{u})] \,\mathrm{d}\sigma \leq C_{2}|h| \,\|r\|_{H^{1}(\Sigma)} \|\varphi(\boldsymbol{u}_{h} - \boldsymbol{u})\|_{1,S}$$
(5.47)

and

$$(L, \varphi_{-h}^{2}(u - u_{-h})) - (L, \varphi^{2}(u_{h} - u)) = -(L, \varphi^{2}(u_{h} - u) + \varphi_{-h}^{2}(u_{-h} - u))$$

$$\leq C_{3}|h| \|L\|_{0,S} \|\varphi(u_{h} - u)\|_{1,S}.$$
(5.48)

Combining (5.45)–(5.48) and using the coerciveness condition (5.38), one deduces

$$\left\|\frac{\varphi(\boldsymbol{u}_h-\boldsymbol{u})}{h}\right\|_{1,S} \leq C_4(\|\boldsymbol{u}\|_{1,S}+\|\boldsymbol{r}\|_{H^1(\Sigma)}+\|\boldsymbol{L}\|_{0,S}),$$

and hence

$$\left\|\frac{\boldsymbol{u}_{h}-\boldsymbol{u}}{h}\right\|_{1,S'} \le C_{4}(\|\boldsymbol{u}\|_{1,S}+\|\boldsymbol{r}\|_{H^{1}(\Sigma)}+\|\boldsymbol{L}\|_{0,S}).$$
(5.49)

We then conclude from Proposition 5.5 that

$$\frac{\partial^2 \boldsymbol{u}}{\partial \xi_i \partial \xi_j} \in (L^2(S'))^d \text{ for } i \in \{1, \dots, d-1\} \text{ and } j \in \{1, \dots, d\}.$$

Let us remark that *u* solves the system

$$-\frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_j} \left(\mathbf{A}_{ij} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{u}}{\partial \xi_i} \right) + \mathbf{B}_i \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{u}}{\partial \xi_i} - \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_i} (\mathbf{C}_i \boldsymbol{u}) + \mathbf{D} \cdot \boldsymbol{u} = \boldsymbol{L} \text{ in } S' .$$
(5.50)

The coerciveness condition (5.38) implies that det $(\mathbf{A}_{dd}(\boldsymbol{\xi})) \neq 0$, $\forall \boldsymbol{\xi} \in S'$, and so, $\frac{\partial^2 \boldsymbol{u}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_d^2}$ can be calculated from (5.50). Thus $\frac{\partial^2 \boldsymbol{u}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_d^2} \in (L^2(S'))^d$, and, from (5.49), we obtain

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}\|_{2,S'} \leq C(\|\boldsymbol{u}\|_{1,S} + \|\boldsymbol{r}\|_{H^1(\Sigma)} + \|\mathbf{F}\|_{0,S}).$$

Therefore, by transformation back to the x_1, x_2, \dots, x_d coordinates, we get the estimate (5.41).

Remark 5.3. Using a similar technique as in the above theorem, we can obtain the known regularity result of the solution of the variational inequality (5.40) in a neighborhood of an interior point of Ω . Indeed, for any point $x \in \Omega$, by taking $I = \{y \in \Omega; |y - x| < R\}$ with *R* sufficiently small such that $\overline{I} \subset \Omega$, we can repeat the above proof with no need of using local coordinates, by requiring that

$$\begin{cases} \text{if } \mathbf{v} \in Q \text{ then } (1-\eta)\mathbf{v} + \eta \mathbf{v}_h^l \in Q, \ \forall l \in \{1, \dots, d\}, \ \forall \eta \in \mathcal{D}(I) \\ \text{with } 0 \le \eta \le 1, \ \forall h \ne 0 \text{ such that } |h| < \text{dist } (\partial I, \text{ supp } \eta). \end{cases}$$
(5.51)

If Ω is C^3 -smooth in $x \in \partial \Omega$, one denotes by I_x the corresponding neighborhood of x, and, if $x \in \Omega$, one denotes by I_x the set $\{y \in \mathbb{R}^d : |y - x| < R\}$ with R sufficiently small such that $I_x \subset \Omega$.

Finally, from the local regularity result given by Theorem 5.3 and the above remark, we can easily obtain the following global regularity for the solution of the inequality (5.40).

Theorem 5.4. Suppose that Ω is C^3 -smooth in any point $\mathbf{x} \in \partial \Omega$ and $\Gamma = \partial \Omega$. Moreover, we suppose that the following assumptions hold

$$\begin{cases} \text{if } \mathbf{v} \in Q \text{ then } \tilde{\mathbf{v}}_{h}^{l} \in Q, \forall l = 1, ..., d - 1, \forall \eta \in \mathscr{D}(I_{\mathbf{x}}) \text{ with } 0 \leq \eta \leq 1, \\ \text{and } \forall h \neq 0 \text{ with } |h| < \text{ dist } (\partial S \setminus \Sigma, \text{ supp } \tilde{\eta}), \forall \mathbf{x} \in \partial \Omega, \end{cases}$$

$$(5.52)$$

$$\begin{cases} \exists \alpha > 0 \text{ such that } b(\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{v}) \ge \alpha \|\mathbf{v}\|_{1,\Omega}^2, \\ \forall \mathbf{v} \in (H^1(\Omega))^d \text{ with supp } \mathbf{v} \subset I_{\mathbf{x}} \cap \overline{\Omega}, \ \forall \mathbf{x} \in \overline{\Omega}, \end{cases}$$
(5.53)

and

$$\begin{cases} if \, \mathbf{v} \in Q, \, then \, (1-\eta)\mathbf{v} + \eta \mathbf{v}_h^l \in Q, \, \forall l = 1, \dots, d, \, \forall \eta \in \mathcal{D}(I_x) \\ with \, 0 \le \eta \le 1, \, \forall h \ne 0 \, such \, that \, |h| < \, dist \, (\partial I_x, \, supp \, \eta), \, \forall \mathbf{x} \in \Omega \,. \end{cases}$$

$$(5.54)$$

If there exists a solution u of the variational inequality (5.40), then $u \in (H^2(\Omega))^d$ and

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}\|_{2,\Omega} \leq C \left(\|\boldsymbol{u}\|_{1,\Omega} + \|\boldsymbol{r}\|_{H^{1}(\Gamma)} + \|\boldsymbol{L}\|_{0,\Omega} \right).$$
(5.55)

Proof. For every $\mathbf{x} \in \overline{\Omega}$, let $I'_{\mathbf{x}}$ be an open set containing \mathbf{x} such that $\overline{I}'_{\mathbf{x}} \subset I_{\mathbf{x}}$. As $\overline{\Omega}$ is compact, we can extract from $\{I'_{\mathbf{x}}\}_{\mathbf{x}\in\overline{\Omega}}$ a finite open covering $\{I'_{\mathbf{x}_i}\}_{i=1,...,n}$. Therefore, from Theorem 5.3 and the above remark, we get

$$\boldsymbol{u} \in (H^2(\Omega \cap I'_{\boldsymbol{x}_i}))^d$$

and

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}\|_{2,\Omega\cap I'_{x_i}} \leq C_i \left(\|\boldsymbol{u}\|_{1,\Omega\cap I_{x_i}} + \|\boldsymbol{r}\|_{H^1(\Gamma\cap I_{x_i})} + \|\boldsymbol{L}\|_{0,\Omega\cap I_{x_i}} \right),$$
(5.56)

for all $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$, C_i being a constant which depends on i. It follows that $u \in (H^2(\Omega))^d$ and, by adding the relations (5.56) for all i, we obtain (5.55). \Box

Note that Theorems 5.3 and 5.4 still hold under a less restrictive assumption on Ω .

Remark 5.4. In more restrictive assumptions on b and Ω and for J = 0, analogous regularity results were obtained by Fichera [12].

References

- 1. Adams, R.A.: Sobolev Spaces. Academic Press, New York/San Francisco/London (1975)
- 2. Agmon, S.: Lectures on Elliptic Boundary Value Problems. Van Nostrand, New York (1965)
- Baiocchi, C.: Sur un problème à frontière libre traduisant le filtrage de liquides à travers des milieux poreux. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 273, 1215–1217 (1971)
- 4. Baiocchi, C.: Su un problema di frontiera libera connesso a questioni di idraulica. Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. **92**, 107–127 (1972)
- 5. Baiocchi, C., Comincioli, V., Guerri, L., Volpi, G.: Free boundary problems in the theory of fluid flow through porous media; a numerical approach. Calcolo **10**, 1–85 (1973)
- Baiocchi, C., Comincioli, V., Magenes, E., Pozzi, G.A.: Free boundary problems in the theory of fluid flow through porous media: existence and uniqueness theorems. Ann. di Mat. Pura e Appl. 4 (1973)
- 7. Brézis, H.: Problèmes unilatéraux. J. Math. Pures Appl. 51, 1-168 (1972)
- Brézis, H., Stampacchia, G.: Sur la régularité de la solution d'inéquations elliptiques. Bull. Soc. Mat. Fr. 96, 153–180 (1968)
- 9. Carl, S., Le, V.K., Motreanu, D.: Nonsmooth Variational Problems and Their Inequalities. Springer, New York (2007)
- Cocu, M., Radoslovescu (Capatina), A.: Regularity properties for the solutions of a class of variational inequalities. J. Nonlin. Anal. 11, 221–230 (1987)
- Duvaut, G.: Equilibre d'un solide élastique avec contact unilatéral et frottement de Coulomb. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 290, 263–265 (1980)
- Fichera, G.: Boundary Value Problems of Elasticity with Unilateral Constraints. In: Flugge, S. (ed.) Encyclopedia of Physics, vol. VI, pp. 391–424. Springer, Berlin (1972)
- 13. Glowinski, R.: Numerical Methods for Nonlinear Variational Problems. Springer, Berlin/Heidelberg/New York (1984)
- Lewy, H., Stampacchia, G.: On the regularity of the solution of a variational inequality. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 22, 153–188 (1969)
- Lions, J.L.: Quelques Méthodes de Résolution des Problèmes aux Limites non Linéaires. Dunod, Paris (1969)
- Necas, J.: On regularity of solutions to nonlinear variational inequalities for second order elliptic systems. Rend. Mat. 8, 481–498 (1975)
- Niremberg, L.: Remarks on strongly elliptic partial differential equations. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 8, 648–674 (1955)
- Oden, J.T., Kikuchi, N.: Theory of variational inequalities with applications to problems of flow through porous media. Int. J. Eng. Sci. 18, 1171–1284 (1980)
- Radoslovescu (Capatina), A.: Une propriété de la solution d'une classe d'inéquations variationnelles. Rev. Roum Sci. Tech. Méc. Appl. 29, 81–92 (1984)

Chapter 6 Dual Formulations of Quasi-Variational Inequalities

The aim of this chapter is to derive dual formulations for quasi-variational inequalities. First, we present a brief background on convex analysis and, then, we recall the main ideas of the Mosco, Capuzzo-Dolcetta, and Matzeu (M–CD–M) duality theory [3] in its form adapted by Telega [14] for implicit variational inequalities.

As we saw in Lemma 4.2, for A symmetric (i.e., $\langle Au, v \rangle = \langle u, Av \rangle$, $\forall u, v \in V$), a variational inequality of the form (4.22) is equivalent to the minimization of the functional J defined by

$$J(v) = \frac{1}{2} \langle Av, v \rangle + j(v) - \langle f, v \rangle.$$

Generally speaking, the duality theory allows to associate with a minimization problem

$$\inf_{v \in K} J(v), \tag{6.1}$$

called primal problem, a maximization one, called dual problem, and to study the relationships between the two problems.

A large number of duality theories have been developed. The main idea in any duality theory is that a proper convex l.s.c. function is the upper envelope of its affine minorants, and so, we can write

$$J(v) = \sup_{\lambda \in \Lambda} \mathscr{L}(v, \lambda).$$

for various choices of \mathscr{L} , called the Lagrangian function, and of the set Λ of Lagrange multipliers λ . Hence, the primal problem (6.1) can be written as

$$\inf_{v \in K} \sup_{\lambda \in \Lambda} \mathcal{L}(v, \lambda).$$
(6.2)

101

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2014

A. Capatina, Variational Inequalities and Frictional Contact Problems,

Advances in Mechanics and Mathematics 31, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-10163-7_6

The dual problem is defined by

$$\sup_{\lambda \in \Lambda} \inf_{\nu \in K} \mathscr{L}(\nu, \lambda).$$
(6.3)

The oldest of the theories of duality is that based on the classical theorems of minimax of Fan [7] and Sion [13]. They studied the existence of saddle points for the Lagrangian function \mathscr{L} (a saddle point for \mathscr{L} is an element $(v^*, \lambda^*) \in K \times \Lambda$ such that $\mathscr{L}(v^*, \lambda) \leq \mathscr{L}(v^*, \lambda^*) \leq \mathscr{L}(v, \lambda^*), \forall v \in K, \forall \lambda \in \Lambda$) and they give criteria (see also [5]) which ensure that $\sup_{\lambda \in \Lambda} \inf_{v \in K} \mathscr{L}(v, \lambda) = \inf_{v \in K} \sup_{\lambda \in \Lambda} \mathscr{L}(v, \lambda)$.

Another theory has been developed by Fenchel [6] and Rockafellar [11]. In their theory, the minimization problem is approached by a family of perturbed problems and the dual problem is defined by means of the conjugate functions. More details can be found in Rockafellar [12], Céa [4], Ekeland and Temam [5].

The duality theory has many applications in mechanics, numerical analysis, control theory, game theory, or economics. In addition, the so-called primal–dual algorithms are often used in solving the primal problem. Nevertheless, classical duality approaches do not apply to quasi-variational inequalities since they cannot be formulated as extremum problems. For this reason, within this chapter we do not want to develop classical duality methods, our intention is only to recall some results of the M–CD–M [3] duality theory for the so-called implicit variational problems. In Sect. 8.5, we will use this theory to derive the so-called condensed dual formulation for a frictional contact problem.

6.1 Convex Analysis Background

We recall some definitions and standard results which will be useful in the subsequent paragraph. Let *V* be a reflexive Banach space with its dual V^* (we note that almost all the results remain valid if *V* and V^* are two topological vector spaces which are in duality; see, for instance, [1, 5, 8, 10]). We denote by $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{V^* \times V}$ the duality pairing between V^* and *V*.

Let $f: V \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ be a function.

Let us recall that the effective domain of f, the epigraph of f and, for any $a \in \mathbb{R}$, the level sets are defined by

dom
$$f = \{v \in V : f(v) < \infty\}$$
,
epi $f = \{(v, a) \in V \times \overline{\mathbb{R}} : f(v) \le a\}$.

and, respectively,

$$E_a(f) = \{ v \in V : f(v) \le a \}.$$

The function f is said to be proper if dom $f \neq \emptyset$ and $f(v) > -\infty, \forall v \in V$.

The convexity and the lower semicontinuity of functions can be characterized in the following way.

Proposition 6.1. Let $f : V \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ be a function. Then the following statements are equivalent:

- (i) the function f is convex and l.s.c. on V;
- (ii) the set epi f is a convex and closed subset of $V \times \overline{\mathbb{R}}$.

Proof. For convexity, we only use its definition for functions and sets.

If f is l.s.c., then it is easy to show that epi f is closed in $V \times \overline{\mathbb{R}}$. Conversely, if the set epi f is closed in $V \times \overline{\mathbb{R}}$, then, for any $a \in \overline{\mathbb{R}}$, the level sets $E_a(f)$ are closed in V and so, the sets $\{v \in V : f(v) > a\}$ are open, i.e. the function f is l.s.c. on V.

Definition 6.1. The function $f^*: V^* \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ defined by

$$f^*(v^*) = \sup_{v \in V} \{ \langle v^*, v \rangle_{V^* \times V} - f(v) \},$$

is called the Fenchel conjugate (sometimes also called convex conjugate, conjugate function, or polar function) to f.

In the particular case $V = \mathbb{R}$, f^* is the Young conjugate function to f. An elementary property is the following Young inequality

$$f(v) + f^*(v^*) \ge \langle v^*, v \rangle_{V^* \times V} \quad \forall v \in V, \, \forall v^* \in V^*.$$
(6.4)

Remark 6.1. Let $C \subset V$ be a set such that $0 \in C$. Then

$$I_{C}^{*}(v^{*}) = \sup_{v \in C} \{ \langle v^{*}, v \rangle_{V^{*} \times V} \} = I_{C^{*}}(v^{*})$$

where $C^* = \{v^* \in V^* : \langle v^*, v \rangle_{V^* \times V} \leq 0, \forall v \in C\}$ is the polar cone of *C* and *I*_A is the indicator function of the set *A*.

We give below a separation theorem (see, e.g., [8]) which will be frequently used in the sequel.

Theorem 6.1. Let M be a convex closed subset of V and let be $v_0 \in V$ such that $v_0 \notin M$. Then there exists $v^* \in V^*$, $v^* \neq 0$, strictly separating M and v_0 , i.e. there exists $c \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\langle v^*, v_0 \rangle_{V^* \times V} > c \ge \langle v^*, v \rangle_{V^* \times V} \quad \forall v \in M.$$

Proposition 6.2. Let $f: V \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ be a function. Then

1) The conjugate function f^* is convex l.s.c. on V^* .

2) If f is proper convex l.s.c. on V, then f^* is proper.

Proof. 1) Let $u^*, v^* \in V$ and $t \in [0, 1]$. We have

$$f^*((1-t)u^* + tv^*) = \sup_{v \in V} \{ (1-t)(\langle u^*, v \rangle_{V^* \times V} - f(v)) + t(\langle v^*, v \rangle_{V^* \times V} - f(v)) \}$$

$$\leq (1-t)f^*(u^*) + tf^*(v^*),$$

i.e. f^* is convex.

In order to prove that f^* is l.s.c., let be the sequence $\{u_n^*\}_n \subset V^*$ and let be $u^* \in V^*$ such that $u_n^* \to u^*$ strongly in V^* . Applying Young's inequality (6.4), we get

$$f^*(u_n^*) \ge \langle u_n^*, v \rangle_{V^* \times V} - f(v) \quad \forall v \in V,$$

and hence

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} f^*(u_n^*) \ge \langle u^*, v \rangle_{V^* \times V} - f(v) \quad \forall v \in V.$$

This yields

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} f^*(u_n^*) \ge f^*(u^*).$$

2) As f is proper, there exists $v_0 \in V$ such that $f(v_0) < \infty$. Hence, Young's inequality (6.4) yields

$$f^*(v^*) \ge \langle v^*, v_0 \rangle_{V^* \times V} - f(v_0) > -\infty \quad \forall v^* \in V^*.$$

Let d > 0. Since $(v_0, f(v_0) - d) \notin epi f$ and epi f is convex closed in $V \times \mathbb{R}$, by the Separation Theorem 6.1, it follows that there exist $v_0^* \in V^*$, $v_0^* \neq 0$, and $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\langle v_0^*, v_0 \rangle_{V^* \times V} + \alpha(f(v_0) - d) > \langle v_0^*, v \rangle_{V^* \times V} + \alpha a \quad \forall (v, a) \in \text{epi } f.$$
 (6.5)

It is easy to prove that $\alpha < 0$. Indeed, if we suppose that $\alpha > 0$, then, for any $(v, a) \in \text{epi } f$, we can take $(v, a+n) \in \text{epi } f$ in (6.5), for any n > 0. Thus the righthand side of (6.5) tends to $+\infty$ which is in contradiction with the relation (6.5). If $\alpha = 0$, then we obtain $\langle v_0^*, v_0 \rangle_{V^* \times V} > \langle v_0^*, v \rangle_{V^* \times V}, \forall v \in V$ which contradicts $v_0 \in V$.

Therefore, if we put $v_1^* = -\frac{1}{\alpha}v_0^*$ in (6.5), in particular we deduce that

$$\langle v_1^*, v_0 \rangle_{V^* \times V} - f(v_0) + d > \langle v_1^*, v \rangle_{V^* \times V} - f(v) \quad \forall v \in V,$$

and so, as $v_0 \in \text{dom}(f)$, we get

$$+\infty > \langle v_1^*, v_0 \rangle_{V^* \times V} - f(v_0) + d > \sup_{v \in V} \{ \langle v_1^*, v \rangle_{V^* \times V} - f(v) \} = f^*(v_1^*),$$

and hence, f^* is proper.

Definition 6.2. Let $f^* : V^* \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ be the conjugate function to f. Then the function $f^{**} : V \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ defined by

$$f^{**}(v) = \sup_{v^* \in V^*} \{ \langle v^*, v \rangle_{V^* \times V} - f^*(v^*) \},$$

is called the biconjugate function to f.

From Young's inequality (6.4), we always have $f^{**}(v) \leq \sup_{v^* \in V^*} \{\langle v^*, v \rangle_{V^* \times V} - \langle v^*, v \rangle_{V^* \times V} + f(v) \} = f(v)$, i.e.

$$f^{**}(v) \le f(v) \quad \forall v \in V.$$
(6.6)

The following statement gives conditions which ensure the equality between a function and its biconjugate.

Theorem 6.2 (Fenchel–Moreau Duality Theorem). Let $f : V \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ be a proper function. Then, f is l.s.c. and convex if and only if $f^{**} = f$.

Proof. Suppose that f is l.s.c. and convex. By Proposition 6.2, it follows that f^* is a proper l.s.c. convex function, and so, f^{**} is a proper l.s.c. convex function.

As we always have $f^{**}(v) \leq f(v)$, suppose that there exists $v_0 \in V$ such that $f^{**}(v_0) < f(v_0)$. Thus $(v_0, f^{**}(v_0)) \notin epi (f)$. Applying the Separation Theorem 6.1, it follows that there exist $v_0^* \in V^*$, $v_0^* \neq 0$, and $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\langle v_0^*, v_0 \rangle_{V^* \times V} + \alpha f^{**}(v_0) > \langle v_0^* \rangle, v \rangle_{V^* \times V} + \alpha a \quad \forall (v, a) \in \operatorname{epi} f.$$

Proceeding as in the proof of Proposition 6.2 we conclude that $\alpha < 0$. If we put $v_1^* = -\frac{1}{\alpha}v_0^*$, then we deduce

$$\langle v_1^*, v_0 \rangle_{V^* \times V} - f^{**}(v_0) > \sup_{(v,a) \in \text{epi } f} \{ \langle v_1^* \rangle, v \rangle_{V^* \times V} - a \}$$

$$\geq \sup_{v \in V} \{ \langle v_1^* \rangle, v \rangle_{V^* \times V} - f(v) \} = f^*(v_1^*)$$

which contradicts the definition of $f^{**}(v_0)$.

Conversely, if $f = f^{**}$ then, by Proposition 6.2, it follows that f, as the conjugate to f^* , is l.s.c. convex on V.

$$\Box$$

Remark 6.2. If $f: V \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ is a convex l.s.c. function which takes the value $-\infty$, then f is identically equal to $-\infty$. Therefore it is natural to consider convex l.s.c. functions $f: V \to (-\infty, +\infty]$.

Definition 6.3. Let $f : V \to (-\infty, +\infty]$ be a proper function and $u \in \text{dom } (f)$. An element $u^* \in V^*$ is said to be subgradient of f at u (according to e.g., [9]) if

$$f(v) - f(u) \ge \langle u^*, v - u \rangle_{V^* \times V}, \quad \forall v \in V.$$

The set of all subgradients of f at u is called the subdifferential of f at u and is denoted by $\partial f(u)$,

$$\partial f(u) = \{ u^* \in V^*; \ f(v) - f(u) \ge \langle u^*, v - u \rangle_{V^* \times V}, \quad \forall v \in V \}.$$

So, the subdifferential of f is the multivalued mapping $\partial f : V \to 2^{V^*}$ which associates with every $u \in V$ the subset $\partial f(u)$ of V^* .

The function f is said to be subdifferentiable at u, respectively, on V, if $\partial f(u) \neq \emptyset$, respectively, $\partial f(u) \neq \emptyset$, $\forall u \in V$.

The next result follows immediately from the definitions.

Theorem 6.3. Let $f : V \to (-\infty, +\infty]$ be a proper function. Then, the following two conditions are equivalent:

(1) $f(u) = \min_{v \in V} f(v),$ (2) $0 \in \partial f(u)$

Theorem 6.4. Let $f : V \to (-\infty, +\infty]$ be a function. Then the following two conditions are equivalent:

- (1) $f(u) + f^*(u^*) = \langle u^*, u \rangle$,
- (2) u* ∈ ∂f(u). Moreover, any of the above conditions implies
 (3) u ∈ ∂f*(u*).
- In addition, if f is proper l.s.c. and convex, then the three above conditions are equivalent.

Proof. "(1) \Rightarrow (2)" By using the hypothesis (1) and Young's inequality (6.4), we obtain

$$\langle u^*, u \rangle_{V^* \times V} - f(u) = f^*(u^*) \ge \langle u^*, v \rangle_{V^* \times V} - f(v) \quad \forall v \in V,$$

i.e. the condition (2).

"(2) \Rightarrow (1)" If $u^* \in \partial f(u)$, then

$$\langle u^*, u \rangle_{V^* \times V} - f(u) \ge \langle u^*, v \rangle_{V^* \times V} - f(v) \quad \forall v \in V$$

and so,

$$\langle u^*, u \rangle_{V^* \times V} - f(u) \ge \sup_{\forall v \in V} \{ \langle u^*, v \rangle_{V^* \times V} - f(v) \} = f^*(u^*).$$

Therefore, by Young's inequality (6.4), the assertion follows.

"(1) \Rightarrow (3)" By the definition of f^* and the hypothesis (1), we have

$$f^*(v^*) - f^*(u^*) = \sup_{\forall v \in V} \{ \langle v^*, v \rangle_{V^* \times V} - f(v) \} + f(u) - \langle u^*, u \rangle_{V^* \times V}$$
$$\geq \langle v^*, u \rangle_{V^* \times V} - f(u) + f(u) - \langle u^*, u \rangle_{V^* \times V}$$
$$= \langle v^* - u^*, u \rangle_{V^* \times V} \ \forall v^* \in V^*,$$

i.e. $u \in \partial f^*(u^*)$.

Suppose now that $f: V \to (-\infty, +\infty]$ is a proper l.s.c. convex function. "(3) \Rightarrow (1)" If $u \in \partial f^*(u^*)$, then we have

$$\langle u^*, u \rangle_{V^* \times V} - f^*(u^*) \ge \langle v^*, u \rangle_{V^* \times V} - f^*(v^*) \quad \forall v^* \in V^*,$$

which implies

$$\langle u^*, u \rangle_{V^* \times V} - f^*(u^*) \ge \sup_{\forall_{v^*} \in V^*} \{ \langle v^*, u \rangle_{V^* \times V} - f^*(v^*) \} = f^{**}(u),$$

As Theorem 6.2 provides $f^{**}(u) = f(u)$, by Young's inequality (6.4), we conclude that $f^{*}(u^{*}) + f(u) = \langle u^{*}, u \rangle_{V^{*} \times V}$.

Let $f_1, f_2: V \to (-\infty, +\infty]$ be two proper functions.

Definition 6.4. The infimal convolution of functions f_1 and f_2 , denoted by $f_1 \nabla f_2$, is the function defined by

$$(f_1 \nabla f_2)(u) = \inf_{v \in V} \{ f_1(v) + f_2(u-v) \} = \inf_{\substack{v_1 + v_2 = u \\ v_1, v_2 \in V}} \{ f_1(v_1) + f_2(v_2) \} \quad \forall u \in V.$$

Definition 6.5. We say that the infimal convolution $f_1 \nabla f_2$ is exact at u if there exists $v \in V$ such that $(f_1 \nabla f_2)(u) = f_1(v) + f_2(u-v)$ or, equivalent, if there exist $v_1, v_2 \in V$ such that $v_1 + v_2 = u$ and $(f_1 \nabla f_2)(u) = f_1(v_1) + f_2(v_2)$.

Proposition 6.3. Let $f_1, f_2: V \to (-\infty, +\infty]$ be proper functions. Then

- (1) $(f_1 \nabla f_2)^* = f_1^* + f_2^*,$
- (2) If $f_1 \nabla f_2$ is exact at u, i.e. there exists $u_1, u_2 \in V$ such that $u_1 + u_2 = u$ and $(f_1 \nabla f_2)(u) = f_1(u_1) + f_2(u_2)$, then $\partial(f_1 \nabla f_2)(u) = \partial f(u_1) \cap \partial f_2(u_2)$.
- (3) If f_1 , f_2 are convex, then $f_1 \nabla f_2$ is convex.

Proof. (1) By definitions, we have

$$(f_1 \nabla f_2)^* (u^*) = \sup_{v \in V} \{ \langle u^*, v \rangle_{V^* \times V} - \inf_{u \in V} \{ f_1(u) + f_2(v - u) \} \}$$

= $\sup_{v \in V} \{ \langle u^*, v \rangle_{V^* \times V} + \sup_{u \in V} \{ -f_1(u) - f_2(v - u) \} \}$
= $\sup_{u,v \in V} \{ \langle u^*, v \rangle_{V^* \times V} - f_1(u) - f_2(v - u) \}$
= $\sup_{u \in V} \{ \langle u^*, u \rangle_{V^* \times V} - f_1(u) + \sup_{v \in V} \{ \langle u^*, v - u \rangle_{V^* \times V} - f_2(v - u) \} \}$
= $\sup_{u \in V} \{ \langle u^*, u \rangle_{V^* \times V} - f_1(u) \} + f_2^*(u^*) = f_1^*(u^*) + f_2^*(u^*).$

(2) Theorem 6.4, the relation (1) and the hypothesis yield that we have the following sequence of equivalent assertions

$$u^* \in \partial(f_1 \nabla f_2)(u)$$

$$\iff (f_1 \nabla f_2)^*(u^*) + (f_1 \nabla f_2)(u) = \langle u^*, u \rangle_{V^* \times V}$$

$$\iff f_1^*(u^*) + f_2^*(u^*) + f_1(u_1) + f_2(u_2) = \langle u^*, u_1 \rangle_{V^* \times V} + \langle u^*, u_2 \rangle_{V^* \times V}$$

As from the Young inequality (6.4) we have

$$f_1^*(u^*) + f_1(u_1) \ge \langle u^*, u_1 \rangle_{V^* \times V}, f_2^*(u^*) + f_2(u_2) \ge \langle u^*, u_2 \rangle_{V^* \times V},$$

it follows that we must have $f_i^*(u^*) + f_i(u_i) = \langle u^*, u_i \rangle_{V^* \times V}$, for i = 1, 2. Again Theorem 6.4 provides $u^* \in \partial f_i(u_i)$, for i = 1, 2, i.e. $u^* \in \partial f_1(u_1) \cap \partial f_2(u_2)$.

(3) As f_1 , f_2 are convex, it follows that epi f_1 and epi f_2 are convex sets in $V \times \overline{\mathbb{R}}$. We prove that

$$epi (f_1 \nabla f_2) = epi (f_1) + epi (f_2),$$

from which the assertion follows. Indeed, we have

$$\begin{array}{l} (u,a) \in {\rm epi}\;(f_1 \nabla f_2) \\ \Longleftrightarrow \inf_{\substack{v_1 + v_2 = u \\ v_1, v_2 \in V}} \{f_1(v_1) + f_2(v_2)\} \le a \\ \Leftrightarrow \exists u_1, u_2 \in V, \; u_1 + u_1 = u \; {\rm s.t.}\; f_1(u_1) + f_2(u_2) \le a \\ \Leftrightarrow \exists u_1, u_2 \in V, \; u_1 + u_1 = u \; {\rm s.t.}\; f_1(u_1) + f_2(u_2) \le a \\ \Leftrightarrow \exists u_1, u_2 \in V, \; u_1 + u_2 = u, \; u_1 + u_2 = u \\ \Leftrightarrow f_1(u_1) \le a_1, \; f_2(u_2) \le a_2, \; u_1 + u_2 = u, \; a_1 + a_2 = a \\ \Leftrightarrow (u_1, a_1) \in {\rm epi}\; f_1, \; (u_2, a_2) \in {\rm epi}\; f_2, \; u_1 + u_2 = u, \; a_1 + a_2 = a \\ \Leftrightarrow (u, a) = (u_1, a_1) + (u_2, a_2) \in {\rm epi}\; f_1 + {\rm epi}\; f_2. \end{array}$$

We now recall the Fenchel's duality theorem. The proof is available in [9], so we omit here.

Theorem 6.5 (Fenchel's Duality Theorem). Let $f, -g : V \to (-\infty, +\infty]$ be two proper convex l.s.c. functions. Suppose that there exists $u_0 \in dom(f) \cap dom(-g)$ such that f or g is continuous at u_0 . Then

$$\inf_{v \in V} \{ f(v) - g(v) \} = \max_{v^* \in V^*} \{ g_*(v^*) - f^*(v^*) \},$$
(6.7)

where g_* is the concave conjugate function to g, i.e.

$$g_*(v^*) = \inf_{v \in V} \{ \langle v^*, v \rangle_{V^* \times V} - g(v) \}.$$

Proposition 6.4. Let $f_1, f_2 : V \rightarrow (-\infty, +\infty]$ be two proper convex l.s.c. functions. If there exists $u_0 \in dom(f_1) \cap dom(f_2)$ such that f_1 or f_2 is continuous at u_0 , then

$$(f_1+f_2)^*(u^*) = (f_1^* \nabla f_2^*)(u^*) = f_1^*(u_1^*) + f_2^*(u_2^*) \quad \forall u^* \in V^* \text{ with } u_1^* + u_2^* = u^*$$

i.e. $f_1^* \nabla f_2^*$ is exact on V^* .

Proof. Let $u^* \in V^*$. We apply Fenchel's Duality Theorem 6.5 for

$$f(v) = f_2(v), \ g(v) = \langle u^*, v \rangle_{V^* \times V} - f_1(v) \quad \forall v \in V.$$

It is easy to verify that

$$\inf_{v \in V} \{f(v) - g(v)\} = -\sup_{v \in V} \{\langle u^*, v \rangle_{V^* \times V} - (f_1 + f_2)(v)\} = -(f_1^* + f_2^*)(u^*)$$

and

$$\max_{v^* \in V^*} \{g_*(v^*) - f^*(v^*)\} = -\min_{v^* \in V^*} \{f_1^*(u^* - v^*) + f_2^*(v^*)\}$$
$$= -f_1^*(u_1^*) - f_2^*(u_2^*), \quad u_1^* + u_2^* = u^*$$

On the other hand, from the definition of the infinimal convolution, we have

$$\min_{v^* \in V^*} \{ f_1^*(u^* - v^*) + f_2^*(v^*) \} = (f_1^* \nabla f_2^*)(u^*).$$

Therefore, by (6.7), we get $(f_1^* + f_2^*)(u^*) = (f_1^* \nabla f_2^*)(u^*) = f_1^*(u_1^*) + f_2^*(u_2^*),$ $\forall u^* \in V^*$, and $u_1^* + u_2^* = u^*$, which completes the proof. **Theorem 6.6.** Let $f_1, f_2 : V \to (-\infty, +\infty]$ be two proper convex l.s.c. functions. Suppose that there exists $u_0 \in dom(f_1) \cap dom(f_2)$ such that f_1 is continuous at u_0 . Then

$$\partial (f_1 + f_2)(u) = \partial f_1(u) + \partial f_2(u) \quad \forall u \in V.$$

Proof. Let $u \in V$.

We first prove that $\partial(f_1 + f_2)(u) \subset \partial f_1(u) + \partial f_2(u)$. Let $u^* \in \partial(f_1 + f_2)(u)$. Applying Theorem 6.4 and Proposition 6.4, we get

$$\langle u^*, u \rangle_{V^* \times V} = (f_1 + f_2)(u) + (f_1 + f_2)^*(u^*) = f_1(u) + f_1^*(u_1^*) + f_2(u) + f_2^*(u_2^*) \quad \text{with } u_1^* + u_2^* = u^*.(6.8)$$

Since from the Young inequality we have

$$f_1(u) + f_1^*(u_1^*) \ge \langle u_1^*, u \rangle_{V^* \times V}, f_2(u) + f_2^*(u_2^*) \ge \langle u_2^*, u \rangle_{V^* \times V},$$

the relation (6.8) implies

$$f_1(u) + f_1^*(u_1^*) = \langle u_1^*, u \rangle_{V^* \times V}, f_2(u) + f_2^*(u_2^*) = \langle u_2^*, u \rangle_{V^* \times V},$$

and so, again by Theorem 6.4, $u_1^* \in \partial f_1(u)$ and $u_2^* \in \partial f_2(u)$ with $u_1^* + u_2^* = u^*$, i.e. $u^* \in \partial f_1(u) + \partial f_2(u)$.

The reverse $\partial f_1(u) + \partial f_2(u) \subset \partial (f_1 + f_2)(u)$ holds without any hypotheses on f_1 or f_2 . Indeed, if $u^* \in \partial f_1(u) + \partial f_2(u)$, then there exist $u_1^*, u_2^* \in V^*$ such that $u^* = u_1^* + u_2^*, u_1^* \in \partial f_1(u)$ and $u_2^* \in \partial f_2(u)$, i.e.

$$\begin{aligned} f_1(v) - f_1(u) &\geq \langle u_1^*, v - u \rangle_{V^* \times V} & \forall v \in V, \\ f_2(v) - f_2(u) &\geq \langle u_2^*, v - u \rangle_{V^* \times V} & \forall v \in V. \end{aligned}$$

By adding them, we have

$$(f_1 + f_2)(v) - (f_1 + f_2)(u) \ge \langle u^*, v - u \rangle_{V^* \times V} \quad \forall v \in V,$$

which means $u^* \in \partial (f_1 + f_2)(u)$.

6.2 M-CD-M Theory of Duality

We present here the main ideas for obtaining a dual formulation in the sense of M–CD–M (see [3, 14]) of an abstract problem.

Let $(V, V^*, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{V^* \times V})$ and $(Y, Y^*, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{Y^* \times Y})$ be two reflexive Banach spaces with their duals and their duality pairings. We consider the following primal problem:

$$\begin{cases} \text{Find } u \in V \text{ such that} \\ \varphi(Lu, u) + \psi(u, u) \le \varphi(Lu, v) + \psi(u, v) \quad \forall v \in V \end{cases}$$
(6.9)

where the operator $L: V \to Y$ and the functions $\varphi: Y \times V \to (-\infty, +\infty]$ and $\psi: V \times V \to \mathbb{R}$ satisfy the following hypotheses:

$$L$$
 is a linear continuous operator, (6.10)

$$\forall u \in V, \ \varphi(Lu, \cdot) \text{ is proper convex l.s.c.}$$
 (6.11)

$$\forall u \in V, \ \psi(u, \cdot) \text{ is convex and } \psi(u, u) \text{ is continuous}$$
 (6.12)

 $\begin{cases} \forall u \in V, \text{ the mapping } v \mapsto \psi(u, v) \text{ has a Gâteaux derivative } D_2\psi(u, v) \\ \text{with respect to the second variable at } v = u \text{ such that, for any} \\ v^* \in V^*, \text{ the set } \{u \in V; D_2\psi(u, u) = v^*\} \text{ contains at most one} \\ \text{element denoted by } (D_2\psi)^{-1}(v^*). \end{cases}$

(6.13)

We recall that the Gâteaux derivative with respect to the second variable of $\psi(u, \cdot)$ at *v* is defined by

$$\langle D_2\psi(u,v),w\rangle_{V^*\times V} = \lim_{t\to 0+} \frac{\psi(u,v+tw) - \psi(u,v)}{t}$$

The dual problem of (6.9) is constructed by means of Fenchel conjugates of φ^* and ψ^* with respect to the second variable, defined by

$$\varphi^*: Y \times V^* \to (-\infty, +\infty], \quad \varphi^*(Lu, v^*) = \sup_{v \in V} \left(\langle v^*, v \rangle_{V^* \times V} - \varphi(Lu, v) \right),$$

$$\psi^*: V \times V^* \to (-\infty, +\infty], \quad \psi^*(u, v^*) = \sup_{v \in V} \left(\langle v^*, v \rangle_{V^* \times V} - \psi(u, v) \right).$$

We also denote, for all $u \in V$, the subdifferentials of $\psi(u, \cdot)$ and $\varphi^*(Lu, \cdot)$ with respect to the second variable by $\partial_2 \psi(u, \cdot)$, and respectively, by $\partial_2 \varphi^*(Lu, \cdot)$, where

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_2 \psi(u,z) &= \{ v^* \in V \; ; \; \psi(u,v) - \psi(u,z) \ge \langle v^*, v - z \rangle_{V^* \times V}, \; \forall v \in V \} \quad \forall z \in V, \\ \partial_2 \varphi^*(Lu,z^*) &= \{ v \in V \; ; \; \varphi^*(Lu,v^*) - \varphi^*(Lu,z^*) \\ &\ge \langle v^* - z^*, v \rangle_{V^* \times V}, \; \forall v^* \in V^* \} \quad \forall z^* \in V^*. \end{aligned}$$

With the above notation, the dual problem of (6.9) is

$$\begin{cases} \text{Find } (u, u^*) \in V \times V^* \text{ such that} \\ -u^* \in \partial_2 \psi(u, u) \\ u \in \partial_2 \varphi^*(Lu, u^*) \end{cases}$$
(6.14)

or, equivalently

 $\begin{cases} \text{Find } (u, u^*) \in V \times V^* \text{ such that} \\ \psi(u, v) - \psi(u, u) \ge \langle -u^*, v - u \rangle_{V^* \times V} & \forall v \in V, \\ \varphi^*(Lu, v^*) - \varphi^*(Lu, u^*) \ge \langle v^* - u^*, u \rangle_{V^* \times V} & \forall v^* \in V^*. \end{cases}$ (6.15)

The relationship between the primal problem and the dual problem is given by the next result (see, e.g., [2, 15]).

Theorem 6.7. Suppose the hypotheses (6.10)–(6.12) are satisfied.

- (i) If u is a solution of the primal problem (6.9), then there exists $u^* \in V^*$ such that (u, u^*) is a solution of the dual problem (6.14).
- (ii) If (u, u^*) is a solution of the dual problem (6.14), then u is a solution of the primal problem (6.9).

In addition, the following extremality conditions hold:

$$\begin{cases} \varphi(Lu, u) + \varphi^{*}(Lu, u^{*}) = \langle u^{*}, u \rangle_{V^{*} \times V}, \\ \psi(u, u) + \psi^{*}(u, -u^{*}) = -\langle u^{*}, u \rangle_{V^{*} \times V}. \end{cases}$$
(6.16)

Proof. (i) Let u be a solution of (6.9) and $f(v) = \varphi(Lu, v) + \psi(u, v)$. It follows that

$$f(u) \le f(v) \qquad \forall v \in V,$$

and so, by using Theorems 6.3, 6.4 and Proposition 6.4, we get

$$0 \in \partial f(u) \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad u \in \partial f^*(0) = \partial (f_1^* \nabla f_2^*)(0), \tag{6.17}$$

where $f_1(v) = \varphi(Lu, v)$ and $f_2(v) = \psi(u, v)$.

On the other hand, from Proposition 6.4, the infimal convolution $f_1^* \nabla f_2^*$ is exact at 0. Hence, by Proposition 6.3₂, we deduce that $\partial(f_1^* \nabla f_2^*)$ is exact at 0, i.e. there exists $u^* \in V^*$ such that

$$\partial (f_1^* \nabla f_2^*)(0) = \partial f_1^*(u^*) \cap \partial f_2^*(-u^*).$$
(6.18)

Now, the relations (6.17) and (6.18) yield that there exists $u^* \in V^*$ such that $u \in \partial_2 \varphi^*(Lu, u^*) \cap \partial_2 \psi^*(u, -u^*)$. We conclude, by Theorem 6.4, that $u \in \partial_2 \varphi^*(Lu, u^*)$ and $-u^* \in \partial_2 \psi(u, u)$, i.e. (u, u^*) is a solution of (6.14).

(ii) If (u, u^*) is a solution of (6.14), then, from Theorem 6.4, we obtain

$$u \in \partial_2 \varphi^*(Lu, u^*) \cap \partial_2 \psi^*(u, -u^*)$$

and, proceeding as in the first part (i), the assertion follows.

Finally, as

$$-u^* \in \partial_2 \psi(u, u)$$
 and $u \in \partial_2 \varphi^*(Lu, u^*)$,

Theorem 6.4 provides the extremality conditions (6.16).

The first variable u from the solution (u, u^*) of the dual problem (6.14) is eliminated by using the assumption (6.13).

Theorem 6.8 (M–CD–M Theorem). Let the hypotheses (6.10)–(6.13) be satisfied. Then, u is a solution of the primal problem (6.9) if and only if $u^* = -D_2\psi(u, u)$ is a solution of the following dual problem

$$\begin{cases} Find \ u^* \in V^* \ such \ that \\ \varphi^*(L(D_2\psi)^{-1}(-u^*), v^*) - \varphi^*(L(D_2\psi)^{-1}(-u^*), u^*) \\ \ge \langle v^* - u^*, (D_2\psi)^{-1}(-u^*) \rangle_{V^* \times V} \quad \forall v^* \in V^*. \end{cases}$$
(6.19)

Moreover, the extremality conditions (6.16) hold.

Proof. We first remark that the hypothesis (6.13) implies

$$-u^* = D_2 \psi(u, u) \iff u = (D_2 \psi)^{-1} (-u^*).$$
 (6.20)

Now, if *u* is a solution of the primal problem (6.9), then, by Theorem 6.7, one has $u \in \partial_2 \varphi^*(Lu, u^*)$, and hence, by the characterization (6.20), one obtains

$$(D_2\psi)^{-1}(-u^*) \in \partial_2\varphi^*(L(D_2\psi)^{-1}(-u^*), u^*).$$

Therefore, from the definition of the subdifferential of ψ with respect to the second variable, we conclude that u^* solves (6.19).

Conversely, if $u^* = -D_2\psi(u, u)$ is a solution of the dual problem (6.19), then $(D_2\psi)^{-1}(-u^*) \in \partial_2\varphi^*(L(D_2\psi)^{-1}(-u^*), u^*)$ which, together with (6.20), gives

$$\begin{cases} u \in \partial_2 \varphi^*(Lu, u^*), \\ -u^* = D_2 \psi(u, u) = \partial_2 \psi(u, u), \end{cases}$$

that is (u, u^*) is a solution of (6.14). Finally, from Theorem 6.7, we conclude the proof.

References

- 1. Barbu, V., Precupanu T.: Convexity and Optimization in Banach Spaces. D. Reidel, Dordrecht (1986)
- Capatina, A., Lebon, F.: Remarks on the equilibrium finite element method for frictional contact problems. In: Mihailescu-Suliciu, M., (ed.) New Trends in Continuum Mechanics, The Theta Foundation, Conference proceedings, Constanta, 2003, pp. 25–33 (2005)
- 3. Capuzzo-Dolcetta, I., Matzeu, M.: Duality for implicit variational problems and numerical applications. Numer. Funct. Anal. Optim. **2**, 231–265 (1980)
- 4. Céa, J.: Optimisation, Théorie et Algorithmes. Dunod, Paris (1971)
- Ekeland, I., Temam, R.: Analyse Convexe et Problèmes Variationnells. Dunod/Gauthier-Villars, Paris (1974)
- 6. Fenchel, W.: On conjugate convex functions. Canad. J. Math. 1, 73-77 (1949)
- 7. Fan, K.: Minimax theorems. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 39, 42-47 (1953)
- 8. Laurent, P.J.: Approximation et Optimisation. Hermann, Paris (1972)
- 9. Moreau, J.J.: Proximité et dualité dans un espace hilbertien. Bull. Soc. Math. France 93, 273–299 (1965)
- Moreau, J.J.: Fonctionnelles convexes. Sém. sur les équations aux dérivées partielles, Collége de France (1967)
- Rockafellar, R.T.: Convex functions and duality in optimization problems and dynamics. Lecture Notes in Operation Research and Mathematical Economics 11/12, pp. 117–141, Springer, Berlin (1969)
- 12. Rockafellar, R.T.: Convex Analysis. Princeton Landmarks in Mathematics and Physics series (1997)
- 13. Sion, M.: On general minimax theorems. Pac. J. Math. 8, 171-176 (1958)
- Telega, J.J.: Topics on unilateral contact problems of elasticity and inelasticity. In: Moreau, J.J., Panagiotopoulos P.D., (eds.) Nonsmooth Mechanics and Applications; CSIM Lect. Notes, vol. 302, pp. 341–462, Springer, Wien-New York (1988)
- Telega, J.J.: Quasi-static Signorini's contact problem with friction and duality. Int. Ser. Numer. Math. 101, 199–214 (1991)

Chapter 7 Approximations of Variational Inequalities

This chapter is devoted to the discrete approximation of abstract elliptic and implicit evolutionary quasi-variational inequalities. We restrict ourselves to present convergence results for internal approximations in space of elliptic quasi-variational inequalities together with a backward difference scheme in time of implicit evolutionary quasi-variational inequalities. For more details we refer the reader to Glowinski, Lions and Trémolières [6], Glowinski [5], and the bibliography of these works. Here, following the works of Capatina and Cocu [7] and Capatina, Cocou and Raous [1], numerical analysis is carried out on general problems. Also, a general error estimate is derived. The results obtained in this chapter, representing generalizations of the approximations of variational inequalities of the first and second kinds, can be applied to a large variety of static and quasistatic contact problems, including unilateral and bilateral contact or normal compliance conditions with friction. In particular, static and quasistatic unilateral contact problems with nonlocal Coulomb friction in linear elasticity will be considered in Chaps. 8 and 9.

7.1 Internal Approximation of Elliptic Variational Inequalities

In this section one considers the internal approximation of the following abstract quasi-variational inequality.

Problem (\mathbf{P}^a): Find $u \in K$ such that

$$\langle Au, v - u \rangle + j(u, v) - j(u, u) \ge \langle f, v - u \rangle \quad \forall v \in K,$$
(7.1)

where $(V, \|\cdot\|)$ is a real reflexive Banach space with $(V^*, \|\cdot\|_*)$ its dual and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ the duality product between V^* and V. We denote by K a nonempty closed convex

Advances in Mechanics and Mathematics 31, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-10163-7_7

A. Capatina, Variational Inequalities and Frictional Contact Problems,

subset of V and let $f \in V^*$ be given. One supposes that the operator $A : V \longrightarrow V^*$ is Lipschitz continuous and strongly monotone, i.e.

$$\exists M > 0 \text{ such that } \|Au - Av\|_* \le M \|u - v\| \quad \forall u, v \in V,$$
(7.2)

$$\exists \alpha > 0 \text{ such that } \langle Au - Av, u - v \rangle \ge \alpha ||u - v||^2 \quad \forall u, v \in V.$$
(7.3)

In addition, we assume that the function $j(\cdot, \cdot) : V \times V \longrightarrow (-\infty, +\infty]$ satisfies the conditions of Theorem 4.16, so

$$\forall u \in V, \ j(u, \cdot) : V \to (-\infty, +\infty] \text{ is a proper convex l.s.c. function},$$
(7.4)

$$\begin{cases} \exists k < \alpha \text{ such that } |j(u_1, v_1) + j(u_2, v_2) - j(u_1, v_2) - j(u_2, v_1)| \\ \leq k \|u_1 - u_2\| \|v_1 - v_2\| \quad \forall u_1, u_2, v_1, v_2 \in K. \end{cases}$$

$$(7.5)$$

From the existence and uniqueness proof of Theorem 4.16, the following algorithm of Bensoussan–Lions type for the numerical approximation of Problem (\mathbf{P}^{a}) follows: let $u^{0} \in K$ be arbitrary and

$$u^n = S u^{n-1}, \quad n \ge 1$$
 (7.6)

where $S : K \to K$ is the mapping which associates with every $w \in K$ the unique solution $Sw \in K$ of the following variational inequality of the second kind:

$$\langle A(Sw), v - (Sw) \rangle + j(w, v) - j(w, (Sw)) \ge \langle f, v - (Sw) \rangle \quad \forall v \in K.$$

The hypothesis $k < \alpha$ implies (see p. 50) that the quasi-variational inequality (7.1) has a unique solution u = Su and

$$u^n \to u$$
 strongly in V as $n \to \infty$. (7.7)

We shall consider an internal approximation of Problem (\mathbf{P}^a) .

Let *h* be a parameter which converges to zero. Let us consider a family $\{V_h\}_h$ of closed subspaces of *V* (in applications, we often take V_h to be finite dimensional), and a family $\{K_h\}_h$ of nonempty convex closed subsets of V_h which approximates *K* in the following sense (see, e.g., [6]):

$$\begin{cases} (i) \quad \forall v \in K, \ \exists r_h v \in K_h \text{ such that } r_h v \to v \text{ strongly in } V, \\ (ii) \quad \forall v_h \in K_h \text{ with } v_h \to v \text{ weakly in } V, \text{ then } v \in K. \end{cases}$$
(7.8)

Often one uses approximations A_h , f_h , and j_h for A, f and j, usually obtained by a process of numerical integration. Nevertheless, since the use of approximations A_h and f_h does not bring any major change comparatively with the use of A and f, here we only consider an approximate of the function $j(\cdot, \cdot)$ by a family $\{j_h\}_h$ of functions which, for every $u \in V$, satisfies the following conditions (see also [5]):

$$\forall h, \ j_h(u, \cdot) : V_h \to (-\infty, +\infty] \text{ is a convex l.s.c. function},$$
(7.9)

$$\begin{cases} \text{the family } \{j_h(u,\cdot)\}_h \text{ is uniformly proper, i.e.} \\ \exists \lambda = \lambda(u) \in V^*, \ \exists \mu = \mu(u) \in \mathbb{R} \text{ such that} \\ j_h(u,v_h) \ge \langle \lambda, v_h \rangle + \mu \ \forall v_h \in V_h, \ \forall h, \end{cases}$$
(7.10)

 $\liminf_{h \to 0} j_h(u, v_h) \ge j(u, v) \quad \forall v_h \in V_h \text{ such that } v_h \rightharpoonup v \text{ weakly in } V, \qquad (7.11)$

$$\lim_{h \to 0} j_h(u, r_h v) = j(u, v) \quad \forall v \in K.$$
(7.12)

In addition, we suppose that, for every h, j_h satisfies

$$\begin{aligned} |j_h(u_h^1, v_h^2) + j_h(u_h^2, v_h^1) - j_h(u_h^1, v_h^1) - j_h(u_h^2, v_h^2)| \\ \le k \|u_h^1 - u_h^2\| \|v_h^1 - v_h^2\| \quad \forall u_h^1, u_h^2, v_h^1, v_h^2 \in K_h. \end{aligned}$$
(7.13)

Under the previous assumptions, one formulates the following discrete problem. **Problem** $(\mathbf{P}^a)_{\mathbf{h}}$: Find $u_h \in K_h$ such that

$$\langle Au_h, v_h - u_h \rangle + j_h(u_h, v_h) - j_h(u_h, u_h) \ge \langle f, v_h - u_h \rangle \quad \forall v_h \in K_h.$$
(7.14)

Arguing as in the proof of Theorem 4.16, it follows that the mapping $S_h : K_h \rightarrow K_h$ defined, for every $w_h \in K_h$, as the unique element $S_h w_h \in K_h$ which verifies

$$\langle A(S_hw_h), v_h - S_hw_h \rangle + j_h(w_h, v_h) - j_h(w_h, S_hw_h) \ge \langle f, v_h - S_hw_h \rangle \quad \forall v_h \in K_h ,$$

is a contraction:

$$\|S_h w_1 - S_h w_2\| \le \frac{k}{\alpha} \|w_1 - w_2\| \quad \forall w_1, w_2 \in K_h.$$
(7.15)

Hence, the following existence and uniqueness result holds.

Proposition 7.1. The discrete quasi-variational inequality (7.14) has a unique solution $u_h = S_h u_h \in K_h$.

As in the continuous case, we approximate the discrete solution u_h by the sequence $\{u_h^n\}_{n\geq 1}$ defined by

$$u_h^n = S_h u_h^{n-1} \,, \quad n \ge 1$$

where $u_h^0 \in K_h$ is given such that the sequence $\{u_h^0\}_h$ is bounded. Obviously, we have

$$\|u_h^n - u_h\| = \|S_h u_h^{n-1} - S_h u_h\| \le \left(\frac{k}{\alpha}\right)^n \|u_h^0 - u_h\|.$$
(7.16)

Thus, in order to prove that the sequence $\{u_h^n\}_n$ is uniformly bounded in *h*, it is enough to prove the following result.

Lemma 7.1. The sequence $\{u_h\}_h$ of the solutions of the quasi-variational inequality (7.14) is bounded.

Proof. Let $v \in K$ and $r_h v \in K_h$ such that $r_h v \to v$ strongly in V as $h \to 0$. Taking $v_h = r_h v$ in (7.14), we obtain

$$\alpha \|u_{h} - r_{h}v\|^{2} \leq \langle Au_{h} - A(r_{h}v), u_{h} - r_{h}v \rangle \leq \langle A(r_{h}v), r_{h}v - u_{h} \rangle + (j_{h}(u_{h}, r_{h}v) - j_{h}(u_{h}, u_{h}) + j_{h}(u, u_{h}) - j_{h}(u, r_{h}v))$$
(7.17)
$$- j_{h}(u, u_{h}) + j_{h}(u, r_{h}v) - \langle f, r_{h}v - u_{h} \rangle.$$

From (7.12) we have

$$|j_h(u, r_h v)| \le C_1,$$

and, since the sequence $\{r_h v\}_h$ is bounded, from (7.2), we get

$$\|A(r_h v)\|_* \le C_2$$

with C_1 and C_2 positive constants independent of *h*. Therefore, from (7.17), (7.10) and (7.13), we obtain

$$\alpha \|u_{h} - r_{h}v\|^{2} - \|\lambda\|_{*} \|u_{h}\| - |\mu| \leq \langle Au_{h} - A(r_{h}v), u_{h} - r_{h}v \rangle + j_{h}(u, u_{h})$$

$$\leq C_{2} \|r_{h}v - u_{h}\| + k \|u_{h} - u\| \|r_{h}v - u_{h}\| + C_{1} + \|f\|_{*} \|r_{h}v - u_{h}\|,$$
(7.18)

hence

$$\left(\alpha - k - \frac{k\epsilon_1 + \epsilon_2 + \epsilon_3}{2} \right) \|u_h - r_h v\|^2 \le \frac{\|\lambda\|_*}{2\epsilon_3} + \|r_h v\| \|\lambda\|_*$$

+
$$\frac{k}{2\epsilon_1} \|r_h v - u\|^2 + \frac{(C_2 + \|f\|_*)^2}{2\epsilon_2} + C_1 + |\mu| \le C$$
 (7.19)

where $\epsilon_1, \epsilon_2, \epsilon_3 > 0$ are chosen such that $\alpha - k - \frac{k\epsilon_1 + \epsilon_2 + \epsilon_3}{2} > 0$ (for instance, $\epsilon_1 = \frac{\alpha - k}{3k}, \epsilon_2 = \frac{5}{6}(\alpha - k), \epsilon_3 = \frac{5}{12}(\alpha - k)$) and *C* is a positive constant independent of *h*. Therefore, according to the choice of $\{r_hv\}_h$, we conclude that the sequence $\{u_h - r_hv\}_h$ is bounded, and so, the sequence $\{u_h\}_h$ is. \Box

Now, from (7.16), the above lemma and the boundedness of $\{u_h^0\}_h$, it follows that

$$\|u_h^n - u_h\| \le C q^n \tag{7.20}$$

with $q = \frac{k}{\alpha} < 1$ and *C* a positive constant independent of *n* and *h*, i.e. $\{u_h^n\}_n$ is uniformly bounded in *h*. Hence, for all $\epsilon > 0$, there exists $N = N_{\epsilon}$ such that

$$\|u_h^n - u_h\| \le \epsilon \quad \forall n \ge N_\epsilon \,, \, \forall h > 0 \,. \tag{7.21}$$

We recall that, for any $n \ge 1$, u^n , respectively u_h^n , are defined as the unique solutions of the following problems:

Problem $(\mathbf{P}^a)_{\mathbf{n}}$: Find $u^n \in K$ such that

$$\langle Au^n, v - u^n \rangle + j(u^{n-1}, v) - j(u^{n-1}, u^n) \ge \langle f, v - u^n \rangle \quad \forall v \in K,$$
(7.22)

respectively,

Problem $(\mathbf{P}^a)_{\mathbf{h},\mathbf{n}}$: Find $u_h^n \in K_h$ such that

$$\langle Au_{h}^{n}, v_{h} - u_{h}^{n} \rangle + j_{h}(u_{h}^{n-1}, v_{h}) - j_{h}(u_{h}^{n-1}, u_{h}^{n}) \ge \langle f, v_{h} - u_{h}^{n} \rangle \quad \forall v_{h} \in K_{h}.$$
 (7.23)

This means that Problem $(\mathbf{P}^a)_{\mathbf{n}}$ is an iterative approximation of Problem $(\mathbf{P}^a)_{\mathbf{h},\mathbf{n}}$ is an iterative approximation of Problem $(\mathbf{P}^a)_{\mathbf{h}}$.

In order to obtain the convergence of the sequence $\{u_h\}_h$ to u, as $h \to 0$, we introduce an auxiliary sequence of problems. So, for $w_h^0 \in K_h$ given such that the sequence $\{w_h^0\}_h$ is bounded, we denote by $w_h^n \in K_h$ the solution, that there exists and is unique, of the following problem.

Problem $(\mathbf{P}^a)_{\mathbf{n},\mathbf{h}}$: Find $w_h^n \in K_h$ such that

$$\langle Aw_{h}^{n}, v_{h} - w_{h}^{n} \rangle + j_{h}(u^{n-1}, v_{h}) - j_{h}(u^{n-1}, w_{h}^{n}) \ge \langle f, v_{h} - w_{h}^{n} \rangle \quad \forall v_{h} \in K_{h},$$
 (7.24)

where the sequence $\{u^n\}_n \subset K$ is defined by (7.6). We note that Problem $(\mathbf{P}^a)_{\mathbf{n},\mathbf{h}}$ is an internal approximation of Problem $(\mathbf{P}^a)_{\mathbf{n}}$.

We have the following convergence result.

Proposition 7.2. The sequence $\{w_h^n\}_h$, defined by (7.24), approximates the solution u^n of (7.22) in the sense

$$w_h^n \to u^n$$
 strongly in V as $h \to 0$.

Moreover, we have

$$\lim_{h \to 0} j_h(u^{n-1}, w_h^n) = j(u^{n-1}, u^n).$$

Proof. Let $v \in K$ be arbitrarily chosen. Taking $v_h = r_h v$ in (7.24), it results

$$\langle Aw_h^n, w_h^n \rangle + j_h(u^{n-1}, w_h^n) \le \langle Aw_h^n, r_h v \rangle + j_h(u^{n-1}, r_h v) - \langle f, r_h v - w_h^n \rangle.$$
(7.25)

By using the hypotheses (7.3), (7.2), (7.10), and (7.12), one gets

$$\alpha \|w_h^n\|^2 \le \|\lambda\|_* \|w_h^n\| + |\mu| + M \|w_h^n\| \|r_hv\| + C + \|f\|_* (\|r_hv\| + \|w_h^n\|) \le C_1 \|w_h^n\| + C_2$$

with *C*, *C*₁, and *C*₂ positive constants independent of *h*. Hence, the sequence $\{w_h^n\}_h$ is bounded and we can extract a subsequence $\{w_{h_p}^n\}_p$ such that $w_{h_p}^n \rightharpoonup w_n$ weakly in *V*, with $w^n \in K$ (from (7.8)₂). Now, from (7.25), by using (7.3), (7.11), and (7.12), we obtain

7 Approximations of Variational Inequalities

$$\begin{aligned} \langle Aw^n, w^n \rangle + j(u^{n-1}, w^n) &\leq \liminf_{h_p \to 0} (\langle Aw^n_{h_p}, w^n_{h_p} \rangle + j_h(u^{n-1}, w^n_{h_p})) \\ &\leq \langle Aw^n, v \rangle + j(u^{n-1}, v) - \langle f, v - w^n \rangle \quad \forall v \in K \,. \end{aligned}$$

This implies $w^n = u^n$, where u^n is the unique solution of the variational inequality (7.22). Therefore, $w_h^n \rightharpoonup u^n$ weakly in V as $h \rightarrow 0$.

Finally, from (7.25) and using the hypotheses (7.11) and (7.12), we have

$$\begin{aligned} j(u^{n-1}, u^n) &\leq \liminf_{h \to 0} j_h(u^{n-1}, w_h^n) \leq \liminf_{h \to 0} (\alpha \|w_h^n - u^n\|^2 + j_h(u^{n-1}, w_h^n)) \\ &\leq \limsup_{h \to 0} (\alpha \|w_h^n - u^n\|^2 + j_h(u^{n-1}, w_h^n)) \\ &\leq \lim_{h \to 0} (\langle Aw_h^n, r_h v \rangle + j_h(u^{n-1}, r_h v) - \langle f, r_h v - w_h^n \rangle - \langle Aw_h^n, u^n \rangle - \langle Au^n, w_h^n \rangle \\ &+ \langle Au^n, u^n \rangle) = \langle Au^n, v - u^n \rangle + j(u^{n-1}, v) - \langle f, v - u^n \rangle \quad \forall v \in K \,. \end{aligned}$$

The proof is completed by taking $v = u^n$.

We are now prepared to prove the main result of this section.

Theorem 7.1. We suppose that (7.2)–(7.13) hold. Let u and u_h be the unique solutions of (7.1) and, respectively, (7.14). Then, we have

$$u_h \to u \text{ strongly in } V \text{ as } h \to 0.$$
 (7.26)

Proof. We observe that we have

$$\|u_h - u\| \le \|u_h - u_h^n\| + \|u_h^n - u^n\| + \|u^n - u\| \quad \forall n \ge 0.$$
(7.27)

First, from (7.7) and (7.21), it results that, for $\epsilon > 0$ given, there exists $N_{\epsilon} > 0$ such that

$$||u_h^n - u_h|| + ||u^n - u|| \le \frac{\epsilon}{2} \quad \forall n \ge N_{\epsilon}.$$
 (7.28)

In order to estimate the second term in the right-hand side of (7.27), we deduce, form the definitions of u_h^n and w_h^n , that

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha \|u_h^n - w_h^n\|^2 &\leq \langle Aw_h^n - Au_h^n, w_h^n - u_h^n \rangle \\ &\leq j_h(u^{n-1}, u_h^n) + j_h(u_h^{n-1}, w_h^n) - j_h(u^{n-1}, w_h^n) - j_h(u_h^{n-1}, u_h^n) \,, \end{aligned}$$

from which, using (7.13), we deduce

$$\|u_h^n - w_h^n\| < \|u_h^{n-1} - u^{n-1}\|.$$
(7.29)

Now, by choosing $w_h^0 = u_h^0$, we shall prove by recurrence, that

$$\|u_h^n - u^n\| \le \sum_{i=0}^n \|w_h^i - u^i\| \quad \forall n \ge 0.$$
(7.30)

Indeed, for n = 0 the result is obvious. If we suppose that (7.30) holds for n - 1, then, from (7.29), we get

$$\|u_{h}^{n} - u^{n}\| \le \|u_{h}^{n} - w_{h}^{n}\| + \|w_{h}^{n} - u^{n}\| \le \|u_{h}^{n-1} - u^{n-1}\| + \|w_{h}^{n} - u^{n}\| \le \sum_{i=0}^{n} \|w_{h}^{i} - u^{i}\|.$$

It follows that the relation (7.30) holds for every $n \ge 0$.

Choosing $n = N_{\epsilon}$ in (7.27) and taking into account (7.30) and (7.28), we obtain

$$||u_h - u|| \le \frac{\epsilon}{2} + \sum_{i=0}^{N_{\epsilon}} ||w_h^i - u^i||.$$
 (7.31)

But, from Proposition 7.2, it follows that, for every *i*, there exists $H_{\epsilon}^i > 0$ such that

$$\|w_h^i - u^i\| \le \frac{\epsilon}{2(N_{\epsilon} + 1)} \quad \forall h \le H_{\epsilon}^i .$$
(7.32)

Concluding, from (7.31) and (7.32), for $\epsilon > 0$ given, there exists $H_{\epsilon} = \min_{i=0}^{N_{\epsilon}} H_{\epsilon}^{i}$ such that

$$\|u_h - u\| \le \epsilon \quad \forall h \le H_\epsilon$$

hence $u_h \rightarrow u$ strongly in V as $h \rightarrow 0$.

7.2 Abstract Error Estimate

The purpose of this section is to obtain a priori error estimate for the approximation (7.14) of the quasi-variational inequality (7.1). This estimate generalizes the estimates obtained by Cea [2, 3] and Falk [4] for the approximation of variational equations and, respectively, variational inequalities of the first kind.

Theorem 7.2. Let u and u_h be the unique solutions of the quasi-variational inequality (7.1) and, respectively, (7.14).

We suppose that (7.2)–(7.13) hold. Moreover, we assume that there exists a Hilbert space $(H, \|\cdot\|_H)$ and a Banach space $(U, \|\cdot\|_U)$ such that $V \hookrightarrow H$ dense, $V \subset U$ and

$$Au - f \in H , \tag{7.33}$$

$$|j_h(u, v_h) - j(u, v)| \le C_1 ||v_h - v||_U \quad \forall v_h \in K_h, \ \forall v \in K,$$
(7.34)

where C_1 is a positive constant independent of h. Then, there exists a positive constant C, independent of h, such that the estimate

$$\|u_{h} - u\| \leq C \left\{ \inf_{v_{h} \in K_{h}} \left(\|u - v_{h}\|^{2} + \|Au - f\|_{H} \|u - v_{h}\|_{H} + C_{1} \|u - v_{h}\|_{U} \right) + \inf_{v \in K} \left(\|Au - f\|_{H} \|u_{h} - v\|_{H} + C_{1} \|u_{h} - v\|_{U} \right) \right\}^{1/2}$$

$$(7.35)$$

holds.

Proof. From (7.1) and (7.14), we get

$$\langle Au_h - Au, u_h - u \rangle \leq \langle Au - f, v - u_h + v_h - u \rangle + \langle Au_h - Au, v_h - u \rangle + j_h(u_h, v_h) - j_h(u_h, u_h) + j(u, v) - j(u, u) \quad \forall v \in K \quad \forall v_h \in K_h .$$

$$(7.36)$$

Evaluating each term in the right-hand side, we have

$$\langle Au - f, v - u_h + v_h - u \rangle \le \|Au - f\|_H (\|v - u_h\|_H + \|v_h - u\|_H), \quad (7.37)$$

$$\langle Au_h - Au, v_h - u \rangle \le M ||u_h - u|| ||v_h - u||$$
 (7.38)

and

$$j_{h}(u_{h}, v_{h}) - j_{h}(u_{h}, u_{h}) + j(u, v) - j(u, u) \leq |j_{h}(u_{h}, v_{h}) - j_{h}(u_{h}, u_{h}) + j_{h}(u, u_{h}) - j_{h}(u, v_{h})| + |j_{h}(u, v_{h}) - j(u, u)| + |j(u, v) - j_{h}(u, u_{h})| \leq k ||u_{h} - u|| ||v_{h} - u_{h}|| + C_{1}(||v_{h} - u||_{U} + ||v - u_{h}||_{U}) \leq k ||u_{h} - u||^{2} + k ||u_{h} - u|| ||v_{h} - u|| + C_{1}(||v_{h} - u||_{U} + ||v - u_{h}||_{U}).$$
(7.39)

By using (7.37)–(7.39) in (7.36), with (7.3), it follows

$$\begin{aligned} (\alpha - k) \|u_h - u\|^2 &\leq (M + k) \|u_h - u\| \|v_h - u\| + \|Au - f\|_H (\|v - u_h\|_H) \\ + \|v_h - u\|_H) + C_1 (\|v_h - u\|_U + \|v - u_h\|_U) \quad \forall v \in K, \ \forall v_h \in K_h, \end{aligned}$$

$$(7.40)$$

which, by Young'inequality : $ab \leq \frac{\epsilon a^2}{2} + \frac{b^2}{2\epsilon}$ for $\epsilon = \frac{\alpha - k}{M + k}$, $a = ||u_h - u||$ and $b = ||v_h - u||$, implies

$$\frac{\alpha - k}{2} \|u_h - u\|^2 \le \frac{M + k}{2(\alpha - k)} \|v_h - u\|^2 + \|Au - f\|_H (\|v - u_h\|_H) + \|v_h - u\|_H) + C_1 (\|v_h - u\|_U + \|v - u_h\|_U) \quad \forall v \in K, \ \forall v_h \in K_h,$$
(7.41)

i.e. (7.35).

Remark 7.1. If $K_h \subset K$, then the term

$$\inf_{v \in K} \left(\|Au - f\|_H \|u_h - v\|_H + C_1 \|u_h - v\|_U \right) \, .$$

which is expected to have the highest weight in (7.35), vanishes, thus one obtains

$$||u_h - u|| \le C \left\{ \inf_{v_h \in K_h} \left(||u - v_h||^2 + ||Au - f||_H ||u - v_h||_H + C_1 ||u - v_h||_U \right) \right\}^{1/2}$$

This means that an optimal error estimate $||u_h - u||$ depends of the distance between the exact solution u and the finite dimensional subspace V_h of V. Hence, the more suitable construction of the space V_h is, the better order of the error estimate will be. As we shall see on concrete examples in Sect. 8.6, the order of approximation essentially depends on the chosen type of finite element approximation for the space V.

Remark 7.2. If $j(\cdot, \cdot) \equiv 0$, therefore, by taking $C_1 = 0$, we deduce

$$\begin{aligned} \|u_h - u\| &\leq C \left\{ \inf_{v_h \in K_h} \left(\|u - v_h\|^2 + \|Au - f\|_H \|u - v_h\|_H \right) \\ + \|Au - f\|_H \inf_{v \in K} \|u_h - v\|_H \right\}^{1/2}, \end{aligned}$$

so, the estimate obtained by Falk [4] for the internal approximation of variational inequalities of first kind with A a linear and continuous operator.

Remark 7.3. If $j(\cdot, \cdot) \equiv 0$ and K = V, then, by taking $K_h = V_h$, from (7.35), we get

$$||u_h - u|| \le C \inf_{v_h \in V_h} ||u - v_h||$$

so, the result given by Céa [3] for the operator equation Au = f with A a linear and continuous operator.

Finally, the following form of the error estimate is obvious.

Theorem 7.3. We suppose that the hypotheses of Theorem 7.2 are satisfied but with the condition (7.33) replaced by

$$\langle Au - f, v \rangle \le C_2 \|v\|_U \quad \forall v \in V.$$
(7.42)

Therefore, we have the estimate

$$\|u_{h} - u\| \leq C \left\{ \inf_{v_{h} \in K_{h}} \left(\|u - v_{h}\|^{2} + (C_{1} + C_{2}) \|u - v_{h}\|_{U} \right) + (C_{1} + C_{2}) \inf_{v \in K} \|u_{h} - v\|_{U} \right\}^{1/2}$$
(7.43)

with C a positive constant independent of h.

7.3 Discrete Approximation of Implicit Evolutionary Inequalities

This section is concerned with the numerical analysis of a class of abstract implicit evolutionary variational inequalities. Convergence results are proved using a method based on a semi-discrete internal approximation and an implicit time discretization scheme.

More precisely, for $f \in W^{1,2}(0, T; V)$ given, one considers the problem (4.107) (p. 68), i.e.

Problem (\mathbf{Q}^a): Find $u \in W^{1,2}(0, T; V)$ such that

where $(V, (\cdot, \cdot))$ is a real Hilbert space with the associated norm $\|\cdot\|$ and $K \subset V$ is a closed convex cone with its vertex at 0.

We suppose that $a(\cdot, \cdot)$, $j(\cdot, \cdot, \cdot)$, $b(\cdot, \cdot, \cdot)$ and K(g) satisfy the hypotheses (4.83)–(4.90), (4.96)–(4.98), (4.100), (4.101), and (4.105). We recall that $u_0 \in K(f(0))$ is the unique solution of the following elliptic variational inequality

$$a(u_0, w - u_0) + j(f(0), u_0, w) - j(f(0), u_0, u_0) \ge 0 \quad \forall w \in K.$$
(7.45)

In order to obtain the discretization of Problem (\mathbf{Q}^a), we first consider a semidiscrete approximation of it. For a positive parameter *h* converging to 0, let $\{V_h\}_h$ be a family of finite dimensional subspaces of *V* and let $\{K_h\}_h$ be a family of closed convex cones with their vertices at 0 such that $K_h \subset V_h$ and $(K_h)_h$ is an internal approximation of *K* in the sense specified in Sect. 7.1, i.e.

$$\begin{cases} (i) \quad \forall v \in K, \ \exists r_h v \in K_h \text{ such that } r_h v \to v \text{ strongly in } V, \\ (ii) \quad \forall v_h \in K_h \text{ avec } v_h \rightharpoonup v \text{ weakly in } V, \text{ then } v \in K. \end{cases}$$
(7.46)

For any h > 0, let $\{K_h(g)\}_{g \in V}$ be a family of nonempty convex subsets of K_h such that $0 \in K_h(0)$. We put $D_{K_h} = \{(g, v_h) \in V \times K_h; v_h \in K_h(g)\}$ and we assume the following conditions hold:

$$\left. \begin{array}{l} \forall (g_n, v_{hn}) \in D_{K_h} \text{ such that} \\ g_n \to g \text{ strongly in } V, v_{hn} \rightharpoonup v_h \text{ weakly in } V \end{array} \right\} \Longrightarrow (g, v_h) \in D_{K_h}$$
(7.47)

$$\forall (g, v_h) \in D_{K_h} \text{ such that } v_h \rightarrow v \text{ weakly in } V \Longrightarrow (g, v) \in D_K$$
 (7.48)

We assume that the functional $j : D_K \times V \to \mathbb{R}$ is approximated by a family $\{j_h\}_h$ of functionals $j_h : D_{K_h} \times V_h \to \mathbb{R}$ satisfying

$$\begin{cases} \forall g \in C([0, T]; V), \forall v_h \rightarrow v \text{ weakly in } W^{1,2}(0, T, V) \text{ such that} \\ (g(t), v_h(t)) \in D_{K_h}, \forall t \in [0, T] \end{cases} \\ \Rightarrow \liminf_{h \rightarrow 0} \int_0^s j_h(g(t), v_h(t), \dot{v}_h(t)) \, \mathrm{d}t \geq \int_0^s j(g(t), v(t), \dot{v}(t)) \, \mathrm{d}t, \forall s \in [0, T], \end{cases}$$

$$(7.49)$$

and

$$\begin{cases} \forall (g, v_h) \in D_{K_h}, \forall w_h \in V_h \text{ such that} \\ v_h \to v \text{ weakly in } V, \\ w_h \to w \text{ strongly in } V \end{cases} \} \Rightarrow \lim_{h \to 0} j_h(g, v_h, w_h) = j(g, v, w).$$

$$(7.50)$$

Furthermore, we suppose that, for all *h*, the following conditions are fulfilled:

 $\forall (g, v_h) \in D_{K_h}, \ j_h(g, v_h, \cdot) : V_h \to \mathbb{R} \text{ is a sub-additive and}$ positively homogeneous functional, (7.51)

$$j_h(0,0,w_h) = 0 \quad \forall w_h \in V_h \tag{7.52}$$

$$\begin{aligned} |j_{h}(g_{1}, v_{1h}, w_{1h}) + j_{h}(g_{2}, v_{2h}, w_{2h}) - j_{h}(g_{1}, v_{1h}, w_{2h}) - j_{h}(g_{2}, v_{2h}, w_{1h})| \\ \leq k_{2}(||g_{1} - g_{2}|| + ||\beta_{h}(g_{1}, v_{1h}) - \beta_{h}(g_{2}, v_{2h})||_{H})||w_{1h} - w_{2h}|| \\ \forall (g_{i}, v_{ih}) \in D_{K_{h}}, \forall w_{ih} \in V_{h}, i = 1, 2 \end{aligned}$$

$$(7.53)$$

where the operator $\beta_h : D_{K_h} \to H$ is such that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\beta_h(g_1, v_{1h}) - \beta_h(g_2, v_{2h})\|_H &\leq k_1(\|g_1 - g_2\| + \|v_{1h} - v_{2h}\|) \\ \forall (g_1, v_{1h}), \ (g_2, v_{2h}) \in D_{K_h}, \end{aligned}$$
(7.54)

with k_1 , k_2 the positive constants from (4.86), (4.90) such that $k_1k_2 < \alpha$ (i.e., condition (4.101) from p. 65).

From the properties of a, j_h and K_h and proceeding as in the continuous case, it follows that, for any $g \in V$, $d_h \in K_h$, $w_h \in K_h(g)$, the elliptic variational inequality

$$\begin{cases} \text{Find } u_h \in K_h \text{ such that} \\ a(u_h, v_h - u_h) + j_h(g, w_h, v_h - d_h) - j_h(g, w_h, u_h - d_h) \ge 0 \quad \forall v_h \in K_h \\ (7.55) \end{cases}$$

has a unique solution $u_h = u_h(g, d_h, w_h)$. Hence, we can define the mapping

$$S_{g,d_h}^h: K_h(g) \to K_h \text{ by } S_{g,d_h}^h(w_h) = u_h$$
(7.56)

and, as in Remark 4.8, one obtains that it is a contraction.

We suppose that, for all $g \in V$ and $d_h \in K_h$

$$S^h_{g,d_h}(K_h(g)) \subset K_h(g). \tag{7.57}$$

Let u_{0h} be the unique fixed point of the mapping $S_{f(0),0}^{h}$, so

$$\begin{cases} u_{0h} \in K_h(f(0)), \\ a(u_{0h}, w_h - u_{0h}) + j_h(f(0), u_{0h}, w_h) - j_h(f(0), u_{0h}, u_{0h}) \ge 0 \ \forall \ w_h \in K_h. \end{cases}$$
(7.58)

From Theorem 7.1, it follows that

$$u_{0h} \to u_0$$
 strongly in V , (7.59)

as $h \rightarrow 0$, u_0 being the unique solution of (7.45).

Now, for all $g \in V$ and $d_h \in K_h$, we introduce the following two auxiliary problems.

Problem ($\tilde{\mathbf{Q}}_{\mathbf{h}}^{a}$): Find $u_{h} \in K_{h}(g)$ such that

$$\begin{cases} a(u_{h}, v_{h} - u_{h}) + j_{h}(g, u_{h}, v_{h} - d_{h}) - j_{h}(g, u_{h}, u_{h} - d_{h}) \\ \geq b(g, u_{h}, v_{h} - u_{h}) \quad \forall v_{h} \in V_{h}, \\ b(g, u_{h}, z_{h} - u_{h}) \geq 0 \quad \forall z_{h} \in K_{h}, \end{cases}$$
(7.60)

and

Problem ($\tilde{\mathbf{R}}_{\mathbf{h}}^{a}$): Find $u_{h} \in K_{h}(g)$ such that

$$a(u_h, v_h - u_h) + j_h(g, u_h, v_h - d_h) - j_h(g, u_h, u_h - d_h) \ge 0 \quad \forall v_h \in K_h.$$
(7.61)

We will suppose that

If
$$u_h$$
 is a solution of $(\tilde{\mathbf{R}}_{\mathbf{h}}^a)$, then u_h is a solution of $(\tilde{\mathbf{Q}}_{\mathbf{h}}^a)$. (7.62)

Remark 7.4. It is obvious that, if u_h satisfies $(\tilde{\mathbf{Q}}_{\mathbf{h}}^a)$, then u_h satisfies also $(\tilde{\mathbf{R}}_{\mathbf{h}}^a)$.

Let us consider the following semi-discrete problem.

Problem ($\mathbf{Q}_{\mathbf{h}}^{a}$): Find $u_{h} \in W^{1,2}(0, T; V_{h})$ such that

$$\begin{aligned} u_{h}(0) &= u_{0h}, \ u_{h}(t) \in K_{h}(f(t)) \quad \forall t \in [0, T], \\ a(u_{h}(t), v_{h} - \dot{u}_{h}(t)) + j_{h}(f(t), u_{h}(t), v_{h}) - j_{h}(f(t), u_{h}(t), \dot{u}_{h}(t)) \\ &\geq b(f(t), u_{h}(t), v_{h} - \dot{u}_{h}(t)) \quad \forall v_{h} \in V_{h} \text{ a.e. in }]0, T[, \\ b(f(t), u_{h}(t), z_{h} - u_{h}(t)) \geq 0 \quad \forall z_{h} \in K_{h} \quad \forall t \in [0, T]. \end{aligned}$$

$$(7.63)$$

The full discretization of $(\mathbf{Q}_{\mathbf{h}}^{a})$ is obtained by using a backward difference scheme as in Sect. 4.3 for (\mathbf{Q}^{a}) : for $u_{h}^{0} = u_{0h}$ and $i \in \{0, 1, ..., n-1\}$, we define u_{h}^{i+1} as the unique solution of the following problem.

Problem $(\mathbf{Q}_{\mathbf{h}}^{a})_{\mathbf{n}}^{\mathbf{i}}$: Find $u_{h}^{i+1} \in K_{h}^{i+1}$ such that

$$\begin{cases} a(u_{h}^{i+1}, v_{h} - \partial u_{h}^{i}) + j_{h}(f^{i+1}, u_{h}^{i+1}, v_{h}) - j_{h}(f^{i+1}, u_{h}^{i+1}, \partial u_{h}^{i}) \\ \geq b(f^{i+1}, u_{h}^{i+1}, v_{h} - \partial u_{h}^{i}) \quad \forall v_{h} \in V_{h}, \\ b(f^{i+1}, u_{h}^{i+1}, z_{h} - u_{h}^{i+1}) \geq 0 \quad \forall z_{h} \in K_{h}, \end{cases}$$
(7.64)

where $K_h^{i+1} = K_h(f^{i+1})$.

By (7.62) and Remark 7.4, it is easy to see that Problem $(\mathbf{Q}_{\mathbf{h}}^{a})_{\mathbf{n}}^{\mathbf{i}}$ is equivalent to the following quasi-variational inequality.

Problem $(\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{h}}^{a})_{\mathbf{n}}^{\mathbf{i}}$: Find $u_{h}^{i+1} \in K_{h}^{i+1}$ such that

$$\begin{cases} a(u_h^{i+1}, w_h - u_h^{i+1}) + j_h(f^{i+1}, u_h^{i+1}, w_h - u_h^{i}) \\ -j_h(f^{i+1}, u_h^{i+1}, u_h^{i+1} - u_h^{i}) \ge 0 \quad \forall w_h \in K_h. \end{cases}$$
(7.65)

From (4.83), (4.86), (4.90), (4.101), and (7.57), it follows that the mapping

$$S^{h}_{f^{i+1},u^{i}_{h}}: K^{i+1}_{h} \to K^{i+1}_{h},$$

defined by (7.56), is a contraction, so that $(\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{h}}^{a})_{\mathbf{n}}^{\mathbf{i}}$ has a unique solution.

We now define, as in the continuous case, the functions

$$\begin{cases} u_{hn}(0) = \hat{u}_{hn}(0) = u_{0h}, \\ u_{hn}(t) = u_{h}^{i+1} \\ \hat{u}_{hn}(t) = u_{h}^{i} + (t-t_{i})\partial u_{h}^{i} \end{cases} \forall i \in \{0, 1, \dots, n-1\} \quad \forall t \in (t_{i}, t_{i+1}].$$

$$(7.66)$$

Then, the functions $u_{hn} \in L^2(0, T; V_h)$ and $\hat{u}_{hn} \in W^{1,2}(0, T; V_h)$ satisfy the following problem.

Problem $(\mathbf{Q}_{\mathbf{h}}^{a})_{\mathbf{n}}$: Find $u_{hn}(t) \in K(f_{n}(t))$ such that

$$\begin{cases} a\left(u_{hn}(t), v_{h} - \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\hat{u}_{hn}(t)\right) + j_{h}(f_{n}(t), u_{hn}(t), v_{h}) \\ -j_{h}\left(f_{n}(t), u_{hn}(t), \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\hat{u}_{hn}(t)\right) \ge b\left(f_{n}(t), u_{hn}(t), v_{h} - \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\hat{u}_{hn}(t)\right) \\ \forall v_{h} \in V_{h}, \\ b(f_{n}(t), u_{hn}(t), z_{h} - u_{hn}(t)) \ge 0 \quad \forall z_{h} \in K_{h}. \end{cases}$$
(7.67)

Moreover, we have the analogues of Lemmas 4.12 and 4.13. Hence, we conclude, as in Theorem 4.19, that the following convergence and existence result holds.

Theorem 7.4. Assume that the hypotheses (4.83)–(4.90), (4.96)–(4.98),(4.100), (4.101), (4.105), (7.46), (7.57), and (7.62) hold. Then, the problem ($\mathbf{Q}_{\mathbf{h}}^{a}$) has at least one solution. In addition, there exists a subsequence of $\{(u_{hn}, \hat{u}_{hn})\}_{n \in N^{*}}$, still denoted by $\{(u_{hn}, \hat{u}_{hn})\}_{n \in N^{*}}$, such that

$$u_{hn}(t) \to u_h(t) \quad in \quad V \quad \forall t \in [0, T] \quad as \ n \to \infty,$$
 (7.68)

$$\hat{u}_{hn} \to u_h \quad in \quad W^{1,2}(0,T;V) \quad as \ n \to \infty,$$
(7.69)

where $u_h \in W^{1,2}(0, T; V_h)$ is a solution of (\mathbf{Q}_h^a) .

We now proceed to find a priori estimates for the solutions of u_h of (\mathbf{Q}_h^a) which are limits of subsequences of $\{u_{hn}\}_n$.

Lemma 7.2. For h > 0, let u_h be the solution of (\mathbf{Q}^a_b) given by Lemma 7.4. Then,

$$\|u_h(t)\| \le C_0 \|f\|_{C([0,T];V)} \quad \forall t \in [0,T],$$
(7.70)

$$\|u_h(s) - u_h(t)\| \le C_0 \int_s^t \|\dot{f}(\tau)\| \,\mathrm{d}\tau \quad \forall \, s, \, t \in [0, T], \, s < t,$$
(7.71)

$$\|u_h\|_{W^{1,2}(0,T;V)} \le C_0 \sqrt{T \|f\|_{C([0,T];V)}^2 + \|\dot{f}\|_{L^2(0,T;V)}^2}, \qquad (7.72)$$

where C_0 is the constant, independent of h, given by the relation (4.116).

Proof. Using the same arguments as in the proof of Lemma 4.12, we obtain the estimates

$$||u_{hn}(t)|| \le C_0 ||f||_{C([0,T];V)} \quad \forall t \in [0,T],$$

$$\begin{aligned} \|u_{hn}(s) - u_{hn}(t)\| &\leq C_0 \int_{s}^{\min\{t + \Delta t, T\}} \|\dot{f}(\tau)\| \, \mathrm{d}\tau \quad \forall \, s, \, t \in [0, T], \, s < t, \\ \|\hat{u}_{hn}\|_{W^{1,2}(0,T;V)}^2 &\leq C_0^2(T\|f\|_{C([0,T];V)}^2 + \|\dot{f}\|_{L^2(0,T;V)}^2). \end{aligned}$$

Combining these results with (7.68), (7.69) and taking into account that the norm is weakly lower semicontinuous, the estimates (7.70)–(7.72) follow.

Now, we have in position to prove the following convergence result.

Theorem 7.5. Under the assumptions (4.83)–(4.90), (4.96)–(4.98), (4.100), (4.101), (4.105), (7.46), (7.57), and (7.62), there exists a subsequence of $\{u_h\}_h$, still denoted by $\{u_h\}_h$, such that

$$u_h(t) \to u(t)$$
 strongly in $V \quad \forall t \in [0, T]$ as $h \to 0$, (7.73)

$$\dot{u}_h \rightarrow \dot{u} \quad weakly in \quad L^2(0,T;V) \quad as \ h \rightarrow 0,$$
 (7.74)

where $u \in W^{1,2}(0,T;V)$ is a solution of (\mathbf{Q}^a) .

Proof. From Lemma 7.2, it follows that there exists a subsequence of $\{u_h\}_h$ and an element $u \in W^{1,2}(0, T; V)$ such that

$$u_h(t) \to u(t)$$
 strongly in $V \quad \forall t \in [0, T],$ (7.75)

$$u_h \rightarrow u$$
 weakly in $W^{1,2}(0,T;V)$.. (7.76)

Moreover, from (7.75) and (7.59), we get

$$\liminf_{h \to 0} \int_{0}^{s} a(u_{h}(t), \dot{u}_{h}(t)) dt \ge \frac{1}{2} (\liminf_{h \to 0} a(u_{h}(s), u_{h}(s)) - \lim_{h \to 0} a(u_{0h}, u_{0h}))$$
$$\ge \frac{1}{2} (a(u(s), u(s)) - a(u_{0}, u_{0})) = \int_{0}^{s} a(u(t), \dot{u}(t)) dt \quad \forall s \in [0, T].$$
(7.77)

On the other hand, from the hypothesis (7.49), we have

$$\liminf_{h \to 0} \int_{0}^{s} j_{h}(f(t), u_{h}(t), \dot{u}_{h}(t)) dt \ge \int_{0}^{s} j(f(t), u(t), \dot{u}(t)) dt .$$
(7.78)

Next, we prove that *u* satisfies (7.44). In order to pass to the limit in ($\mathbf{Q}_{\mathbf{h}}^{a}$), we will make a convenable choice of v_{h} in V_{h} . Let $\pi_{h} : L^{2}(0, T; V) \to L^{2}(0, T; V_{h})$ be the projection operator defined by $a(\pi_{h}v, w_{h}) = a(v, w_{h}) \forall v \in L^{2}(0, T; V), \forall w_{h} \in V_{h}$. Obviously, the operator π_{h} is well defined and $\pi_{h}v(t) \to v(t)$ in *V* a.e. on [0, T], hence, by (7.49) and (4.97), it follows that, for all $s \in [0, T]$, we have

$$\lim_{h \to 0} \int_{0}^{s} j_{h}(f(t), u_{h}(t), \pi_{h}v(t)) dt = \int_{0}^{s} j(f(t), u(t), v(t)) dt \quad \forall v \in L^{2}(0, T; V)$$

and

$$\lim_{h \to 0} \int_{0}^{s} b(f(t), u_{h}(t), \pi_{h}v(t)) dt = \int_{0}^{s} b(f(t), u(t), v(t)) dt \quad \forall v \in L^{2}(0, T; V).$$

Since $b(f(t), u_h(t), \dot{u}_h(t)) = 0$ a.e. on [0, T], by integrating (\mathbf{Q}_h^a) over [0, s] for $v_h = \pi_h \dot{u}$ and passing to the limit, we obtain that u satisfies the first inequality of (7.44).

Now, we prove the strong convergence (7.73). Using the same argument as in the proof of Theorem 4.19, by taking v = 0, $v = 2\dot{u}$ in (7.44), $v_h = 0$, $v_h = 2\dot{u}_h(t)$ in (\mathbf{Q}_h^a) and using (7.77), (7.78), for all $s \in [0, T]$, we have

$$\liminf_{h \to 0} \int_{0}^{s} a(u_{h}(t), \dot{u}_{h}(t)) dt = \int_{0}^{s} a(u(t), \dot{u}(t)) dt,$$
(7.79)

$$\liminf_{h \to 0} \int_{0}^{s} j_{h}(f(t), u_{h}(t), \dot{u}_{h}(t)) dt = \int_{0}^{s} j(f(t), u(t), \dot{u}(t)) dt.$$
(7.80)

and, by taking $v_h = \pi_h \dot{u}(t)$ in (\mathbf{Q}_h^a) , we obtain

$$\limsup_{h \to 0} \int_{0}^{s} a(u_{h}(t), \dot{u}_{h}(t)) \, \mathrm{d}t \le \int_{0}^{s} a(u(t), \dot{u}(t)) \, \mathrm{d}t \quad \forall s \in [0, T].$$
(7.81)

From (7.79) and (7.81), it follows

$$\lim_{h \to 0} \int_{0}^{s} a(u_{h}(t), \dot{u}_{h}(t)) dt = \int_{0}^{s} a(u(t), \dot{u}(t)) dt,$$

or

$$\lim_{h \to 0} (a(u_h(s), u_h(s)) - a(u_h(0), u_h(0))) = a(u(s), u(s)) - a(u_0, u_0).$$

We recall that $u_h(0) = u_{0h}$ and $u_{0h} \longrightarrow u_0$ strongly in V. Hence, we conclude

$$\lim_{h \to 0} a(u_h(s), u_h(s)) = a(u(s), u(s)) \quad \forall s \in [0, T]$$

which, with the ellipticity of a, implies the strong convergence (7.73).

Finally, we prove that *u* satisfies the second inequality of (7.44). From $(\mathbf{Q}_{\mathbf{h}}^{a})$, as $j_{h}(f(t), u_{h}(t), \cdot)$ is sub-additive, we deduce that, for all $t \in [0, T]$, we have

$$a(u_h(t), v_h - u_h(t)) + j_h(f(t), u_h(t), v_h - u_h(t)) \ge 0 \quad \forall v_h \in K_h.$$
(7.82)

Let $v \in K$ be arbitrarily chosen. Then, from (7.46), there exists $r_h v \in K_h$ such that $r_h v \rightarrow v$ strongly in V. By passing to the limit in (7.82) for $v_h = r_h v$ and using (7.73) and (7.50), we get that u satisfies

$$a(u(t), v - u(t)) + j(f(t), u(t), v - u(t)) \ge 0 \quad \forall v \in K$$

which, by the hypothesis (4.105), implies that u satisfies the second inequality of (7.44). From (7.73) and (7.48), it results that $u \in K(f)$ which completes the proof.

Using Theorems 7.4 and 7.5, we conclude with the following main approximation result.

Theorem 7.6. Under the assumptions of Theorem 7.5, the sequence $\{u_{hn}\}_{hn}$ of all solutions of complete discrete Problem $(\mathbf{Q}^a_{\mathbf{h}})_{\mathbf{n}}$ has a subsequence, still denoted by $\{u_{hn}\}_{hn}$, such that

$$u_{hn}(t) \to u(t)$$
 strongly in $V \quad \forall t \in [0, T]$ as $h \to 0, n \to \infty$, (7.83)

$$\dot{u}_{hn} \rightarrow \dot{u} \quad weakly in \quad L^2(0,T;V) \quad as \ h \rightarrow 0, n \rightarrow \infty,$$
(7.84)

where $u \in W^{1,2}(0,T;V)$ is a solution of Problem (\mathbf{Q}^a).

References

- 1. Capatina, A., Cocou, M., Raous, M.: A class of implicit variational inequalities and applications to frictional contact. Math. Meth. Appl. Sci. **32**, 1804–1827 (2009)
- Céa, J.: Approximation variationnelle des problèmes aux limites. Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 14, 345–444 (1964)
- 3. Céa, J.: Optimisation, Théorie et Algorithmes. Dunod, Paris (1971)
- Falk, R.S.: Approximation of an elliptic boundary value problem with unilateral constraints. Math. Model. Numer. Anal. 9, 5–12 (1975)
- 5. Glowinski, R.: Numerical Methods for Nonlinear Variational Problems. Springer, Berlin/Heidelberg/New York (1984)
- Glowinski, R., Lions, J.L., Trémolières, R.: Numerical Analysis of Variational Inequalities. North-Holland, Amsterdam (1981)
- 7. Radoslovescu Capatina, A., Cocu, M.: Internal approximation of quasi-variational inequalities. Numer. Math. **59**, 385–398 (1991)

Part III Contact Problems with Friction in Elasticity

Chapter 8 Static Problems

In this chapter we study, in an almost exhaustive way, a contact problem with friction which models the contact between an elastic body and a rigid foundation. The contact is modeled upon the well-known Signorini conditions and the friction is described by a nonlocal Coulomb friction law. The classical formulation of the model is described, and a variational formulation of the problem is derived. Under appropriate assumptions on the data, existence, uniqueness and regularity results are provided. We also derive two dual formulations of this problem. Numerical analysis is carried out and convergence results are proved. Finally, a related optimal control problem is studied.

Most of these results are obtained by applying abstract results on variational inequalities presented in Part II.

8.1 Classical Formulation

We study here a static unilateral contact problem with nonlocal Coulomb friction in linear elasticity.

Let us consider a linearly elastic body occupying a bounded open set $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, d = 2, 3, with a sufficiently smooth boundary Γ which is decomposed into three open and disjoint parts Γ_0 , Γ_1 , Γ_2 such that $\Gamma = \overline{\Gamma}_0 \cup \overline{\Gamma}_1 \cup \overline{\Gamma}_2$. The body is subjected to the action of volume forces of density f given in Ω and surface tractions of density g given on Γ_1 . The displacements are prescribed on Γ_0 . For the sake of simplicity we suppose that the body is clamped on Γ_0 and, so, the displacement vector vanishes here. On Γ_2 the body is in unilateral contact with a rigid foundation (Fig. 8.1).

We denote by u, ϵ , and σ the displacement vector, the infinitesimal strain tensor and, respectively, the stress tensor related, in the framework of linear elasticity, by the constitutive law:

8 Static Problems



Fig. 8.1 The contact with a rigid support

$$\sigma_{ii} = a_{iikh} \epsilon_{kh}(\boldsymbol{u})$$

This law expresses a linear relationship, the generalized Hooke's law, between the stress tensor and the small strain tensor (also, called linear, infinitesimal, or Cauchy's strain) defined by:

$$\epsilon_{ij}(\boldsymbol{u}) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\partial u_i}{\partial x_j} + \frac{\partial u_j}{\partial x_i} \right) \quad 1 \le i, j \le d \; .$$

Here and below we adopt the usual summation convention. We suppose that the elasticity coefficients a_{ijkh} satisfy the usual symmetry conditions

$$a_{ijkh} = a_{jihk} = a_{khij} \quad 1 \le i, j, k, h \le d$$
, (8.1)

and the ellipticity condition

$$\exists \alpha > 0 \text{ such that } a_{ijkh} \xi_{ij} \xi_{kh} \ge \alpha |\boldsymbol{\xi}|^2, \ \forall \boldsymbol{\xi} = (\xi_{ij}) \in \mathbb{R}^{d^2}.$$
(8.2)

We use a classical decomposition in the normal and the tangential components of the displacement vector and of the stress vector on Γ , i.e.

$$u_{\nu} = u_{i} \nu_{i} , \qquad \boldsymbol{u}_{\tau} = \boldsymbol{u} - u_{\nu} \boldsymbol{\nu}$$

$$\sigma_{\nu} = \sigma_{ij} \nu_{i} \nu_{j} , \quad \sigma_{\tau_{i}} = \sigma_{ij} \nu_{j} - \sigma_{\nu} \nu_{i}$$

where \mathbf{v} is the exterior unit normal to Γ with the components $\mathbf{v} = (v_i)$.

The unilateral contact on Γ_2 is described by the Signorini's conditions (see, e.g., [51, 52]):

$$u_{\nu} \leq 0, \quad \sigma_{\nu} \leq 0, \quad u_{\nu}\sigma_{\nu} = 0 \quad \text{on } \Gamma_2.$$
 (8.3)

8.1 Classical Formulation

We see that, in the unilateral contact, the non-penetration condition $(u_v \leq 0)$ of the body into the obstacle, which is assumed to be rigid and fixed, is taken into account. The Signorini's conditions express the fact that two cases are possible: the case when there is no contact between the body and the foundation (characterized by $u_v < 0$ and $\sigma_v = 0$) and the case when there is contact (characterized by $u_v = 0$ and $\sigma_v \leq 0$). Hence, the effective surface on which the body comes into contact with the obstacle is not known in advance and it is a part of Γ_2 . But these conditions are not smooth since σ_v is a multivalued application of u_v . In fact, we have

$$\begin{cases} \sigma_{\nu}(u_{\nu}) = 0 & \text{if } u_{\nu} < 0, \\ \sigma_{\nu}(0) \in (-\infty, 0]. \end{cases}$$

We can regularize the Signorini's conditions by using the compliance model of [36, 45] in which σ_{ν} is considered to be a nonlinear function of u_{ν} . In fact, the condition of non-penetration, $u_{\nu} \leq 0$, is relaxed, i.e. the penetration is allowed but it is penalized with a normal compliance term. Though this model has the advantage of being simpler from mathematical point of view and having a mechanical meaning, it is not convenient for dealing with problems where the penetration into the obstacle is small: in this case σ_{ν} is a very stiff function of u_{ν} , i.e. σ_{ν} becomes almost a multivalued application of u_{ν} (see [49]).

We suppose that the contact on Γ_2 is with friction which is modeled by Coulomb's law. Outlined initially by Amontons [3], this law, which became famous, was presented to the Academy of Sciences of Paris in 1785, by the French engineer Charles-Augustin de Coulomb [19] under its form for static dry friction: "the relative sliding between two bodies in contact along plane surfaces will occur when the net share force parallel to the plane reaches a critical value proportional to the net normal force pressing the two bodies together". The constant of proportionality is called the coefficient of friction and it is dependent on the nature of the materials in contact. It should be mentioned that at the time when Coulomb has formulated his law, the concept of constraint and the general equations of the linear elasticity had not emerged. This law describes the effects of friction between two bodies and the raw slipping of the body relative to the foundation. The future developments of this law are written in terms of velocities: the frictional force required to initiate and to maintain the sliding is proportional with the magnitude of the normal force of contact and the tangential velocity is collinear to the tangential force. However, the static case, which is considered in this chapter, is a very convenient approach for problems describing monotonic loadings and, also, it can be considered as an intermediate problem in solving evolutionary problems by using incremental formulations (see Sects. 4.3 and 9.1). Therefore, the Coulomb's law is given by the following conditions:

$$|\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}| \leq \mu |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\nu}| \text{ and } \begin{cases} |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}| < \mu |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\nu}| \Rightarrow \boldsymbol{u}_{\tau} = \boldsymbol{0} \\ |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}| = \mu |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\nu}| \Rightarrow \boldsymbol{u}_{\tau} = -\lambda \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau} \end{cases} \text{ on } \Gamma_{2}, \qquad (8.4)$$
where μ is the coefficient of friction and $|\cdot|$ denotes the absolute value if it is applied to a scalar or the Euclidean norm if it is applied to a vector.

This law shows that σ_{τ} is a multivalued application of u_{τ} :

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}(\boldsymbol{u}_{\tau}) = -\mu \sigma_{\nu} & \text{if } \boldsymbol{u}_{\tau} < \boldsymbol{0} \\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}(\boldsymbol{0}) \in (\mu \sigma_{\nu}, -\mu \sigma_{\nu}) \\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}(\boldsymbol{u}_{\tau}) = \mu \sigma_{\nu} & \text{if } \boldsymbol{u}_{\tau} > \boldsymbol{0} . \end{cases}$$

As in the case of unilateral contact, a regularization of this law may be obtained by considering a normal compliance penalization term (see [4, 32, 33]).

Finally, the classical formulation of this static unilateral contact problem with friction is given by the equations of equilibrium, the constitutive relation (linear elasticity), the kinematic equations (the linearized strain tensor), the boundary conditions on Γ_0 and Γ_1 and the unilateral contact conditions of Signorini and the friction law of Coulomb on Γ_2 .

Find a displacement field u = u(x) such that

$$\begin{aligned} f - \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{\sigma} &= \boldsymbol{f} \quad \text{in } \Omega, \\ \boldsymbol{\sigma} &= \mathscr{A} \boldsymbol{\epsilon}, \qquad \boldsymbol{\epsilon} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\nabla \boldsymbol{u} + \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^T \right) \quad \text{in } \Omega, \\ \boldsymbol{u} &= \boldsymbol{0} \quad \text{on } \Gamma_0, \\ \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{v} &= \boldsymbol{g} \quad \text{on } \Gamma_1, \\ \boldsymbol{u}_{\nu} &\leq 0, \quad \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\nu} \leq 0, \quad \boldsymbol{u}_{\nu} \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\nu} = 0 \quad \text{on } \Gamma_2, \\ |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}| &\leq \mu |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\nu}| \text{ and } \begin{cases} |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}| < \mu |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\nu}| \Rightarrow \boldsymbol{u}_{\tau} = \boldsymbol{0} \\ |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}| = \mu |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\nu}| \Rightarrow \exists \lambda \geq 0, \quad \boldsymbol{u}_{\tau} = -\lambda \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau} \end{cases} \quad \text{on } \Gamma_2, \end{aligned}$$

$$(8.5)$$

where $\mathscr{A} = (a_{ijkh})$ is the fourth order tensor of elasticity.

Remark 8.1. Obviously, the Coulomb law with unilateral contact should be written under the form

$$\begin{cases} u_{\nu} \leq 0, \quad \sigma_{\nu} \leq 0, \quad u_{\nu}\sigma_{\nu} = 0 \quad \text{on } \Gamma_{2}, \\ |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}| \leq -\mu\sigma_{\nu} \text{ and } \begin{cases} |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}| < -\mu\sigma_{\nu} \Rightarrow \boldsymbol{u}_{\tau} = \boldsymbol{0} \\ |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}| = -\mu\sigma_{\nu} \Rightarrow \exists \lambda \geq 0, \ \boldsymbol{u}_{\tau} = -\lambda\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau} \end{cases} \text{ on } \Gamma_{2}.$$

However, we shall prefer to keep the formulation (8.5) unless a few special cases when the above formulation is more convenient (see Sects. 8.4 and 8.8). For the strengths and the weaknesses of the formulation (8.5), see also Remark 8.3 below.

Unfortunately, the writing at each point of the Coulomb law leads to great mathematical difficulties. Indeed, as we will see later, the variational formulation of this problem is a quasi-variational inequality which contains the term $\int_{\Gamma_2} \mu |\sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u})| |\boldsymbol{v}_{\tau}| ds$

or
$$\int_{\Gamma_2} \mu \sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u}) |\boldsymbol{v}_{\tau}| \, \mathrm{d}s$$
. But, if
 $\boldsymbol{u} \in \mathscr{U}_{ad} = \{ \boldsymbol{v} \in (H^1(\Omega))^d ; \, \boldsymbol{v} = 0 \text{ a.e. on } \Gamma_0 \},$

then $\sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u})$ is not defined on Γ_2 . Moreover, even if $\boldsymbol{u} \in (H^1(\Omega))^d$ satisfies Eq. (8.5)₁ for $\boldsymbol{f} \in (L^2(\Omega))^d$, then $\sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u})$ is defined as a distribution only, and $|\sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u})|$ has no mathematical meaning. More precisely, it is known (see, for instance, [23]) that

$$\sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u}) \in H^{-1/2}(\Gamma), \quad \forall \boldsymbol{u} \in \boldsymbol{H}^{1}_{\operatorname{div}}(\Omega) = \{ \boldsymbol{\nu} \in (H^{1}(\Omega))^{d} ; \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{\nu}) \in (L^{2}(\Omega))^{d} \},\$$

where $H^{-1/2}(\Gamma)$ denotes the dual space of $H^{1/2}(\Gamma)$. Also, the stress vector $\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}$ is defined, via an extension of the Green formula, by

$$\langle \sigma_{ij}(\boldsymbol{u}) v_j, \gamma(v_i) \rangle_{1/2,\Gamma} = \int_{\Omega} \sigma_{ij}(\boldsymbol{u}) \epsilon_{ij}(\boldsymbol{v}) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} \sigma_{ij,j}(\boldsymbol{u}) v_i \, \mathrm{d}x$$

$$\forall \boldsymbol{u} \in \boldsymbol{H}^1_{\mathrm{div}}(\Omega) \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in (H^1(\Omega))^d ,$$
 (8.6)

the symbol $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{1/2,\Gamma}$ denoting the duality pairing between $H^{-1/2}(\Gamma)$ and $H^{1/2}(\Gamma)$. Obviously, if **u** is a regular function, then we have the classical Green formula:

$$\int_{\Gamma} \sigma_{ij}(\boldsymbol{u}) v_j v_i \, \mathrm{d}s = \int_{\Omega} \sigma_{ij}(\boldsymbol{u}) \epsilon_{ij}(\boldsymbol{v}) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} \sigma_{ij,j}(\boldsymbol{u}) v_i \, \mathrm{d}x \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in (H^1(\Omega))^d$$
(8.7)

where ds is the surface measure element.

Therefore, if $\mathbf{u} \in (H^1(\Omega))^d$ satisfies Eq. (8.5)₁ for $\mathbf{f} \in (L^2(\Omega))^d$, then $\sigma_{ij,j} \in L^2(\Omega)$, which implies $\sigma_v(\mathbf{v}) \in H^{-1/2}(\Gamma)$ and $|\sigma_v(\mathbf{u})|$ has not a mathematical meaning on Γ . One can avoid this difficulty by using a nonlocal version of the Coulomb law. This law, introduced by Duvaut [22], stipulates that the motion at a point of contact between two deformable bodies may occur when the magnitude of the tangential stress vector at that point reaches a value proportional to an average of the normal stress vector in a neighborhood of the point. The character of the effective neighborhood and the manner in which the neighborhood stresses contribute to the slipping condition depend on the micro-structure of materials in contact. The nonlocal character of this law is given by the regularization of the normal stress vector σ_v which is defined (see [20, 22, 46, 47]) at each point as a convolution on a small area surrounding the point:

$$\sigma_{\nu}^{*}(\boldsymbol{u})(x) = \int_{\Gamma_{2}} \omega_{\rho}(|x-y|)(-\sigma_{\nu}(y)) \,\mathrm{d}y$$

where

$$\omega_{\rho}(x) = \begin{cases} \rho^2 \\ C e^{\overline{x^2 - \rho^2}} & \text{if } 0 \le |x| \le \rho \\ 0 & \text{if } |x| > \rho \end{cases},$$

with C a constant such that $\int_{-e}^{e} \omega_{\rho}(x) dx = 1.$

Hence, the local contact between the asperities is taken into account. So, in the sequel, we will consider the following problem.

Problem (\mathscr{P}): Find a displacement field $u : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^d$ such that

$$\begin{aligned} & \boldsymbol{\sigma} = \boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}) = \mathscr{A}\boldsymbol{\epsilon}, \quad \boldsymbol{\epsilon} = \frac{1}{2}(\nabla \boldsymbol{u} + \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{T}) \quad \text{in } \Omega, \\ & \boldsymbol{u} = \boldsymbol{0} \quad \text{on } \Gamma_{0}, \\ & \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{v} = \boldsymbol{g} \quad \text{on } \Gamma_{1}, \\ & \boldsymbol{u}_{\nu} \leq 0, \quad \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\nu} \leq 0, \quad \boldsymbol{u}_{\nu}\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\nu} = 0 \quad \text{on } \Gamma_{2}, \\ & |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}| \leq \mu |\mathscr{R}\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\nu}| \text{ and } \begin{cases} |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}| < \mu |\mathscr{R}\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\nu}| \Rightarrow \boldsymbol{u}_{\tau} = 0 \\ |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}| = \mu |\mathscr{R}\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\nu}| \Rightarrow \exists \lambda \geq 0, \quad \boldsymbol{u}_{\tau} = -\lambda\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau} \end{cases} \quad \begin{array}{l} \text{on } \Gamma_{2}, \\ & \text{on } \Gamma_{2}, \end{cases} \end{aligned}$$

$$(8.8)$$

where $\Re \sigma_{\nu}$ denotes a regularization of σ_{ν} which will be specified later.

8.2 Displacement Variational Formulation

From now on, we will suppose that the elasticity coefficients a_{ijkh} satisfy the usual symmetry and ellipticity conditions (8.1) and (8.2).

In order to obtain the variational formulation of the mechanical problem (\mathcal{P}) , we make the following regularity hypotheses on the data:

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{f} \in (L^{2}(\Omega))^{d}, \, \boldsymbol{g} \in (L^{2}(\Gamma_{1}))^{d}, \\ a_{ijkl} \in L^{\infty}(\Omega), \, i, j, k, l = 1, \dots, d, \\ \mu \in L^{\infty}(\Gamma_{2}), \, \mu \geq 0 \text{ a.e. on } \Gamma_{2} \\ \mathscr{R} : H^{-1/2}(\Gamma_{2}) \to L^{2}(\Gamma_{2}) \text{ is a linear continuous operator} \end{cases}$$
(8.9)

where $H^{-1/2}(\Gamma_2)$ is the dual space of $H^{1/2}(\Gamma_2) = \{v/\Gamma_2; v \in H^{1/2}(\Gamma); v = 0$ a.e. on $\Gamma \setminus \overline{\Gamma}_2 \}$.

Let us introduce the following linear subspace

$$\boldsymbol{V} = \{ \boldsymbol{v} \in (H^1(\Omega))^d ; \, \boldsymbol{v} = \boldsymbol{0} \text{ a.e. on } \Gamma_0 \}$$
(8.10)

of the Hilbert space $(H^1(\Omega))^d$ and the set of statically admissible displacement fields defined by

$$\mathbf{K} = \{ \mathbf{v} \in \mathbf{V} ; \, v_{\nu} \le 0 \text{ a.e. on } \Gamma_2 \} \,. \tag{8.11}$$

We shall use the notation:

$$\begin{cases} a(\boldsymbol{w}, \boldsymbol{v}) = \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{w}) \boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{v}) \, \mathrm{d}x \quad \forall \boldsymbol{w}, \, \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V}, \\ j_f(\boldsymbol{w}, \boldsymbol{v}) = \int_{\Gamma_2} \mu |\mathscr{R} \sigma_{\boldsymbol{v}}(\boldsymbol{P}_f \boldsymbol{w})| \, |\boldsymbol{v}_t| \, \mathrm{d}s \quad \forall \boldsymbol{w}, \, \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V} \end{cases}$$

$$(8.12)$$

where $P_f: V \to C_f$ is the projection operator onto the closed convex set

$$C_f = \{ \mathbf{v} \in V ; a(\mathbf{v}, \boldsymbol{\varphi}) = (f, \boldsymbol{\varphi}) \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\varphi} \in (\mathscr{D}(\Omega))^d \}.$$

Remark 8.2. Since $\sigma_{\nu}(w) \in H^{-1/2}(\Gamma)$, for any $w \in H^{1}_{div}(\Omega)$, we may define the functional

$$j(\boldsymbol{w},\boldsymbol{v}) = \int_{\Gamma_2} \mu |\mathscr{R}\sigma_{\boldsymbol{v}}(\boldsymbol{w})| \, |\boldsymbol{v}_t| \, \mathrm{d}s \quad \forall \boldsymbol{w} \in \boldsymbol{H}^1_{\mathrm{div}}(\Omega) \,, \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V} \,.$$
(8.13)

It is obvious that we have

$$j_f(w, v) = j(w, v) \quad \forall w \in C_f, \quad \forall v \in V.$$

Remark 8.3. As mentioned in Remark 8.1, the functional $j_f(\cdot, \cdot)$ can be defined by

$$j_f(\boldsymbol{w},\boldsymbol{v}) = -\int_{\Gamma_2} \mu \mathscr{R} \sigma_{\boldsymbol{v}}(P_f \boldsymbol{w}) |\boldsymbol{v}_t| \, \mathrm{d}s \quad \forall \boldsymbol{w}, \, \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V}$$

but, in this case, we will make the following additional assumption on the regularization operator \mathscr{R} :

$$\mathscr{R}(\tau) \leq 0 \quad \forall \tau \in H^{-1/2}(\Gamma_2),$$

and so, \mathscr{R} must be more regular. However, the above assumption seems to be too strong taking into account that in problem (\mathscr{P}) one imposes $\sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u}) \leq 0$ only for the solution \boldsymbol{u} .

We denote by F the element of V given by

$$(\boldsymbol{F},\boldsymbol{v})_{\boldsymbol{V}} = (\boldsymbol{f},\boldsymbol{v})_0 + (\boldsymbol{g},\boldsymbol{v})_{0,\Gamma_1} = \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f} \cdot \boldsymbol{v} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} + \int_{\Gamma_1} \boldsymbol{g} \cdot \boldsymbol{v} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{s} \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V} \,, \qquad (8.14)$$

where $(\cdot, \cdot)_V$ denotes the inner product over the space V.

The variational formulation of (\mathcal{P}) , in terms of displacements, is the following one.

Problem (**P**): Find $u \in K$ such that

$$a(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}-\boldsymbol{u}) + j_f(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}) - j_f(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{u}) \ge (\boldsymbol{F},\boldsymbol{v}-\boldsymbol{u})_V \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{K} .$$

$$(8.15)$$

Remark 8.4. The condition of non-penetration is taken into account by the appurtenance of the displacement to the cone K of the Hilbert space V.

Remark 8.5. If **u** is a solution of the problem (**P**), then, by taking $v = u \pm \varphi$, with $\varphi \in (\mathscr{D}(\Omega))^d$, we get $u \in C_f$, and so,

$$j_f(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}) = j(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}) \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V}.$$

Remark 8.6. For any $v \in C_f$, we have

$$\|\sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{\nu})\|_{-1/2,\Gamma} \le C(\|\boldsymbol{\nu}\|_{1}^{2} + \|\boldsymbol{f}\|_{0}^{2})^{1/2}, \qquad (8.16)$$

where *C* is a positive constant depending only on Ω and $\|\cdot\|_{-1/2,\Gamma}$, $\|\cdot\|_1$ and $\|\cdot\|_0$ denote the norms on $H^{-1/2}(\Gamma)$, $(H^1(\Omega))^d$ and, respectively, on $(L^2(\Omega))^d$.

Remark 8.7. For any $u, v \in V$, we have

$$\|\sigma_{\nu}(P_{f}\boldsymbol{u}) - \sigma_{\nu}(P_{f}\boldsymbol{v})\|_{-1/2,\Gamma} \le C \|\boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{v}\|_{1}.$$
(8.17)

Indeed, if $u, v \in V$, then $P_f u - P_f v \in C_0 = \{v \in V ; a(v, \varphi) = 0, \forall \varphi \in (\mathscr{D}(\Omega))^d\}$. From the relation (8.16), taking into consideration that $v \mapsto \sigma_v(v)$ is linear and the projection operator is non-expansive, we obtain

$$\|\sigma_{\nu}(P_{f}u) - \sigma_{\nu}(P_{f}v)\|_{-1/2,\Gamma} \leq C \|P_{f}u - P_{f}v\|_{1} \leq C \|u - v\|_{1}.$$

Theorem 8.1. The problem (\mathcal{P}) is formally equivalent with the problem (\mathbf{P}) in the following sense:

- (i) If u is a sufficiently smooth function which verifies (\mathscr{P}), then u is a solution of the quasi-variational inequality (**P**).
- (ii) If u is a regular solution of the quasi-variational inequality (P), then u satisfies
 (P) in a generalized sense.
- *Proof.* (i) As usual, for obtaining a variational formulation, we suppose that all the functions are sufficiently smooth so that all the mathematical operations are justified. From $(\mathcal{P})_1$ we deduce directly that $u \in C_f$, so $P_f u = u$ and

$$j_f(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}) = j(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}) \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V} \,. \tag{8.18}$$

Multiplying the equation $(\mathcal{P})_1$ with v - u for $v \in K$ and integrating by parts over Ω , we get the Green formula:

$$(\boldsymbol{f}, \boldsymbol{v} - \boldsymbol{u})_0 = a(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v} - \boldsymbol{u}) - \int_{\Gamma} \sigma_{ij}(\boldsymbol{u}) v_j(v_i - u_i) \,\mathrm{d}s \,. \tag{8.19}$$

Now, by using the conditions $(\mathcal{P})_3 - (\mathcal{P})_5$ and taking into account that u and v belong to K, we have

$$\int_{\Gamma} \sigma_{ij}(\boldsymbol{u}) v_j(v_i - u_i) \, \mathrm{d}s = \int_{\Gamma_0} \sigma_{ij}(\boldsymbol{u}) v_j(v_i - u_i) \, \mathrm{d}s + \int_{\Gamma_1} \sigma_{ij}(\boldsymbol{u}) v_j(v_i - u_i) \, \mathrm{d}s$$
$$+ \int_{\Gamma_2} (\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau} \cdot (\boldsymbol{v}_{\tau} - \boldsymbol{u}_{\tau}) + \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{v}(v_{v} - u_{v})) \, \mathrm{d}s = \int_{\Gamma_1} \boldsymbol{g} \cdot (\boldsymbol{v} - \boldsymbol{u}) \, \mathrm{d}s$$
$$+ \int_{\Gamma_2} (\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{v} v_{v} + \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau} \cdot (\boldsymbol{v}_{\tau} - \boldsymbol{u}_{\tau})) \, \mathrm{d}s \ge \int_{\Gamma_1} \boldsymbol{g} \cdot (\boldsymbol{v} - \boldsymbol{u}) \, \mathrm{d}s$$
$$+ \int_{\Gamma_2} \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau} \cdot (\boldsymbol{v}_{\tau} - \boldsymbol{u}_{\tau}) \, \mathrm{d}s , \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{K} .$$
(8.20)

Combining the relations (8.19) and (8.20), one obtains

$$a(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}-\boldsymbol{u})+j(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v})-j(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{u})-(\boldsymbol{F},\boldsymbol{v}-\boldsymbol{u})_{\boldsymbol{V}}$$

$$\geq \int_{\Gamma_{2}} (\boldsymbol{\mu}|\mathscr{R}\sigma_{\boldsymbol{v}}(\boldsymbol{u})|(|\boldsymbol{v}_{\tau}|-|\boldsymbol{u}_{\tau}|)+\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}\cdot(\boldsymbol{v}_{\tau}-\boldsymbol{u}_{\tau})) \, \mathrm{d}s \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{K} \,.$$
(8.21)

Next, we will prove that the conditions $(\mathcal{P})_6$ imply

$$E = \mu |\mathscr{R}\sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u})|(|\boldsymbol{v}_{\tau}| - |\boldsymbol{u}_{\tau}|) + \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau} \cdot (\boldsymbol{v}_{\tau} - \boldsymbol{u}_{\tau}) \ge 0 \quad \text{a.e. on } \Gamma_{2},$$

 $\forall \boldsymbol{v} \text{ smooth function.}$ (8.22)

Indeed, if $|\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}| < \mu |\mathscr{R} \sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u})|$, then $\boldsymbol{u}_{\tau} = \boldsymbol{0}$ and, so

$$E = \mu |\mathscr{R} \sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u})| |\boldsymbol{v}_{\tau}| + \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}_{\tau} \geq (\mu |\mathscr{R} \sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u})| - |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}|) |\boldsymbol{v}_{\tau}| \geq 0.$$

If $|\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}| = \mu |\mathscr{R} \sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u})|$, then $\boldsymbol{u}_{\tau} = -\lambda \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}$, and, thus

$$E = \mu |\mathscr{R}\sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u})| |\boldsymbol{v}_{\tau}| - \lambda \mu |\mathscr{R}\sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u})| |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}| + \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}_{\tau} + \lambda |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}|^{2}$$

= $|\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}| |\boldsymbol{v}_{\tau}| + \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}_{\tau} \ge 0.$

Finally, from (8.21), (8.22), and (8.18), it follows

$$a(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}-\boldsymbol{u})+j_f(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v})-j_f(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{u})-(\boldsymbol{F},\boldsymbol{v}-\boldsymbol{u})_V\geq 0\quad\forall\boldsymbol{v}\in\boldsymbol{K}.$$

(ii) If u is a solution of the variational problem (**P**), then, by taking $v = u \pm \varphi$ with $\varphi \in (\mathscr{D}(\Omega))^d$, one obtains

$$a(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{\varphi}) = (\boldsymbol{f},\boldsymbol{\varphi})_0, \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\varphi} \in (\mathscr{D}(\Omega))^d.$$

On the other hand, from the Green formula (8.7), one has

$$a(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{\varphi}) = -\int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi} \, \mathrm{d}x, \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\varphi} \in (\mathscr{D}(\Omega))^d,$$

which gives $(\mathcal{P})_1$ in a generalized sense.

We multiply now $(\mathscr{P})_1$ with v - u, for $v \in K$, we integrate over Ω and we use the Gauss divergence theorem. This leads to

$$a(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}-\boldsymbol{u})-(\boldsymbol{f},\boldsymbol{v}-\boldsymbol{u})_0=\int_{\Gamma}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}\cdot\boldsymbol{v})\cdot(\boldsymbol{v}-\boldsymbol{u})\,\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{s}$$

and so, from the variational inequality (P), we have

$$j(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}) - j(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{u}) - \int_{\Gamma_1} \boldsymbol{g} \cdot (\boldsymbol{v} - \boldsymbol{u}) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{s} + \int_{\Gamma} (\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}) \cdot (\boldsymbol{v} - \boldsymbol{u}) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{s} \ge 0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{K} , \quad (8.23)$$

where we took into consideration the Remark 8.5, i.e. $j_f(u, v) = j(u, v)$, $\forall v \in V$, with *j* defined by (8.13).

Choosing $v = u \pm \varphi$ with $\varphi \in (H^{1/2}(\Gamma))^d$ and supp $\varphi \subset \Gamma_1$, it follows

$$\int_{\Gamma_1} (\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu} - \boldsymbol{g}) \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi} \, \mathrm{d} \boldsymbol{s} = 0$$

hence $(\mathcal{P})_4$ holds. Therefore, keeping in mind the inequality (8.23), one obtains

$$j(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}) - j(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{u}) + \int_{\Gamma_2} [\sigma_{\boldsymbol{v}}(\boldsymbol{v}_{\boldsymbol{v}} - \boldsymbol{u}_{\boldsymbol{v}}) + \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau} \cdot (\boldsymbol{v}_{\tau} - \boldsymbol{u}_{\tau})] \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{s} \ge 0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{K} \;.$$
(8.24)

Now, we choose $\mathbf{v} = \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{\tau} + u_{\nu}\mathbf{v}$ with $\boldsymbol{\varphi} \in (H^{1/2}(\Gamma))^d$ such that supp $\boldsymbol{\varphi} \subset \Gamma_2$. Since $v_{\nu} = u_{\nu}, \mathbf{v}_{\tau} = \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{\tau}$ and $\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}\boldsymbol{\varphi}_{\tau} = \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}\boldsymbol{\varphi}$, we deduce

$$\int_{\Gamma_2} [\mu|\mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu})|(|\boldsymbol{\varphi}_{\tau}| - |\boldsymbol{u}_{\tau}|) + \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau} \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi}] \, \mathrm{d}s \geq \int_{\Gamma_2} \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}_{\tau} \, \mathrm{d}s$$

thus, as $|\boldsymbol{\varphi}| \geq |\boldsymbol{\varphi}_{\tau}|$, we have

$$\int_{\Gamma_2} (\mu |\mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu})| |\boldsymbol{\varphi}| + \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau} \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi}) \, \mathrm{d}s - \int_{\Gamma_2} (\mu |\mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu})| |\boldsymbol{u}_{\tau}| + \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}_{\tau}) \, \mathrm{d}s \geq 0$$

Taking $\varphi = \lambda \varphi$ with $\lambda > 0$, we get

$$\lambda T_1 - T_2 \ge 0 \quad \forall \lambda > 0$$

where

$$T_1 = \int_{\Gamma_2} (\mu |\mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu})| |\varphi| + \sigma_{\tau} \cdot \varphi) \, \mathrm{d}s \,,$$

$$T_2 = \int_{\Gamma_2} (\mu |\mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu})| |\boldsymbol{u}_{\tau}| + \sigma_{\tau} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}_{\tau}) \, \mathrm{d}s \,.$$

Therefore, we have

$$T_1 \ge 0$$
, $T_2 \le 0 \quad \forall \varphi \in (H^{1/2}(\Gamma))^d$ such that supp $\varphi \subset \Gamma_2$.

This implies, by taking $\varphi = \pm \varphi$,

$$\int_{\Gamma_2} |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}| |\boldsymbol{\varphi}| \, \mathrm{d}s \leq \int_{\Gamma_2} (\mu |\mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu})| |\boldsymbol{\varphi}| \, \mathrm{d}s \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\varphi} \in (H^{1/2}(\Gamma))^d \text{ with supp } \boldsymbol{\varphi} \subset \Gamma_2 \,,$$

and so, $|\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}| \leq \mu |\mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu})|$. Since $T_2 \leq 0$, it follows that $T_2 = 0$ and, thus

$$\mu|\mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu})| |\boldsymbol{u}_{\tau}| + \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}_{\tau} = 0 \quad \text{a.e. on } \Gamma_{2}.$$
(8.25)

This gives $(\mathscr{P})_6$. Indeed, if $|\sigma_{\tau}| < \mu | \mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu})|$ then, assuming $u_{\tau} \neq 0$, from (8.25), one obtains $\sigma_{\tau} \cdot u_{\tau} = -\mu | \mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu})| |u_{\tau}| < -|\sigma_{\tau}| |u_{\tau}|$ and, so, it is necessary to have $u_{\tau} = 0$. If $|\sigma_{\tau}| = \mu | \mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu})|$, then, from (8.25), it follows $\sigma_{\tau} \cdot u_{\tau} = -|\sigma_{\tau}| |u_{\tau}|$, and so, there exists $\lambda \geq 0$ such that $u_{\tau} = -\lambda \sigma_{\tau}$.

In order to obtain the Signorini conditions $(\mathscr{P})_5$, we recall (8.24) and we take $\boldsymbol{\nu} = \varphi_{\nu}\boldsymbol{\nu} + \boldsymbol{u}_{\tau}$ where $\boldsymbol{\varphi} \in (H^1(\Gamma))^d$ with supp $\boldsymbol{\varphi} \subset \Gamma_2$ and $\varphi_{\nu} \leq 0$ a.e. on Γ_2 . We obtain

$$\int_{\Gamma_2} \sigma_{\nu} \varphi_{\nu} \, \mathrm{d}s - \int_{\Gamma_2} \sigma_{\nu} u_{\nu} \, \mathrm{d}s \ge 0 \quad \forall \varphi \in (H^1(\Gamma))^d \text{ with supp } \varphi \subset \Gamma_2 \text{ and}$$

$$\varphi_{\nu} \le 0 \text{ a.e. on } \Gamma_2.$$

By taking, as we made in the cases of the conditions $(\mathscr{P})_6, \varphi = \lambda \varphi$ with $\lambda > 0$, we recover the conditions $(\mathscr{P})_5$. Obviously, as $u \in K$, the condition $u_{\nu} \leq 0$ a.e. on Γ_2 is satisfied.

8.3 Existence and Uniqueness Results

In this section we give existence and, for a small enough coefficient of friction, uniqueness results for the solutions of the static unilateral contact problem with nonlocal Coulomb friction (\mathbf{P}).

The beginning of the general theory of contact problems can be attributed to Duvaut and Lions [23] which gave a first mathematical formulation of the contact problem with friction in linear elasticity and proved an existence and uniqueness result for the solution of a bilateral contact problem (the contact is maintained independently of the direction of the efforts) with given friction (often called, by analogy with the corresponding plasticity law, Tresca friction). The first existence result for static unilateral contact problems with local Coulomb friction was obtained by Necas et al. [41] and then extended by Jarusek [30]. Concerning the static problem where the contact is described by a normal compliance law, we quote

the results of Oden and Martins [45], Klarbring et al. [32, 33] and, for unilateral contact problems with nonlocal Coulomb friction, the results of Demkowicz and Oden [20], Oden and Pires [47], and Cocu [17].

We consider the case d = 3. We first prove the following existence result.

Theorem 8.2. Let the hypotheses (8.9) hold. We assume that one of the following two conditions is satisfied:

$$meas (\Gamma_0) > 0, \tag{8.26}$$

$$\Gamma_0 = \emptyset \text{ and } \mathscr{S} \cap \mathbf{K} = \{\mathbf{0}\}, \tag{8.27}$$

where $\mathscr{S} = \{\mathbf{v}; \mathbf{v}(x) = \mathbf{a} + \mathbf{b} \wedge \mathbf{x} \text{ with } \mathbf{a}, \mathbf{b} \in \mathbb{R}^d\}$ is the set of rigid displacements.

Then, the set of all solutions of the quasi-variational inequality (\mathbf{P}) is a nonempty weakly compact subset of K.

Proof. We shall show that the hypotheses (4.32)–(4.35) and (4.37) of Theorem 4.14 are satisfied. First, we remark that the operator $A : V \to V^*$ defined by

$$\langle A\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}\rangle = a(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}) \quad \forall \boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V}$$

is linear and continuous. Here, $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ denotes the duality pairing between V^* and V.

We will prove that any of the two conditions, (8.26) or (8.27), implies the existence of a constant C > 0 such that

$$\langle A\boldsymbol{\nu}, \boldsymbol{\nu} \rangle \ge C \, \|\boldsymbol{\nu}\|_1^2 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\nu} \in \boldsymbol{K} \,, \tag{8.28}$$

i.e. the operator A is strongly monotone $(\|\cdot\|_1$ denotes the norm on $(H^1(\Omega))^d$).

If meas $(\Gamma_0) > 0$, then $\mathscr{S} \cap V = \{\mathbf{0}\}$. On the other hand, if $\mathbf{v} \in V$ such that $a(\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{v}) = 0$, then $\epsilon_{ij}(\mathbf{v}) = 0$, $\forall i, j \in \{1, 2, 3\}$. Hence there exist $\{a_{ij}\}_{i,j \in \{1,2,3\}} \subset \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\begin{cases} v_i = a_{ii} + \sum_{j \neq i} a_{ij} x_j & i \in \{1, 2, 3\} \\ a_{ij} + a_{ji} = 0 & \forall i \neq j , \end{cases}$$

and so, $v = \mathbf{a} + \mathbf{b} \wedge \mathbf{x}$ with $\mathbf{a} = (a_{11}, a_{22}, a_{33})$ and $\mathbf{b} = (a_{32}, a_{13}, a_{21})$. Thus we have

$$a(\mathbf{v},\mathbf{v}) = 0 \quad \mathbf{v} \in V \iff \mathbf{v} \in \mathscr{S}.$$

The above relation and the symmetry condition (8.1) imply that $\sqrt{a(v,v)}$ is a norm on V which is equivalent to the norm $||v||_1$. Indeed, as meas (Γ_0) > 0, Korn's inequality (see, e.g., [27]) holds, i.e.

$$\int_{\Omega} \epsilon_{ij}(\mathbf{v}) \epsilon_{ij}(\mathbf{v}) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} v_i v_i \, \mathrm{d}x \ge C \, \|\mathbf{v}\|_1^2 \quad \forall \mathbf{v} \in V \,.$$
(8.29)

Hence, arguing by contradiction (see, for instance, [23, p. 116]), one proves that:

$$\int_{\Omega} \epsilon_{ij}(\mathbf{v}) \epsilon_{ij}(\mathbf{v}) \, \mathrm{d}x \ge C \int_{\Omega} v_i v_i \, \mathrm{d}x \quad \forall \mathbf{v} \in \mathbf{V} \,,$$

with *C* a constant depending only on Ω and Γ_0 .

Therefore, from the ellipticity condition (8.2), it follows that there exists a constant $C = C(\alpha, \Omega, \Gamma_0) > 0$ such that

$$a(\mathbf{v},\mathbf{v}) \geq C \|\mathbf{v}\|_1^2 \quad \forall \mathbf{v} \in V$$
,

where α is the ellipticity constant from the relation (8.2).

If $\Gamma_0 = \emptyset$ and $\mathscr{S} \cap \mathbf{K} = \{\mathbf{0}\}$, then we decompose $V = \mathscr{S} \oplus \mathscr{S}^{\perp}$ where \mathscr{S}^{\perp} represents the orthogonal complement of \mathscr{S} in V and, taking into account that Korn's inequality (8.29) still holds in \mathscr{S}^{\perp} , i.e.

$$a(\mathbf{w}, \mathbf{w}) \ge C \|\mathbf{w}\|_1^2 \quad \forall \mathbf{w} \in \mathscr{S}^\perp$$

it follows that

$$a(\mathbf{v},\mathbf{v}) \geq C \|\mathbf{v}\|_1^2 \quad \forall \mathbf{v} \in \mathbf{K}.$$

Concluding, the condition (8.26) or (8.27) is enough to ensure that the operator A, corresponding to the bilinear form $a(\cdot, \cdot)$, verifies (8.28). Therefore, by using the positivity of the function j_f , by taking $v_0 = 0$, it follows that the condition (4.37) is satisfied.

It is easy to verify that, for any $u \in V$, the mapping $v \mapsto j_f(u, v)$ is proper convex continuous.

Next, we will show that, for any $v \in V$, the mappings $u \mapsto j_f(u, v)$ and $u \mapsto j_f(u, u)$ are weakly continuous on K. Let $\{u_k\}_k \subset K$ be a sequence which is weakly convergent to an element $u \in K$.

For any arbitrary element $u^* \in C_f$, we can write $C_f = u^* + C_0$. Hence, we have

$$P_f v = u^* + P_0(v - u^*) \quad \forall v \in V ,$$
 (8.30)

where $P_0: V \longrightarrow C_0$ is the projection operator on the linear subspace C_0 of V. Indeed, for every $v \in V$, by denoting $\bar{v} = u^* + P_0(v - u^*)$, one has $\bar{v} \in C_f$ and

$$(\bar{v} - v, w - \bar{v})_V = (P_0(v - u^*) - (v - u^*), z - P_0(v - u^*))_V \ge 0 \quad \forall w \in C_f$$

where $\mathbf{z} \in C_0$ such that $w = u^* + \mathbf{z}$. Therefore, the relation (8.30) is a consequence of the uniqueness of the projection of v by the operator P_f .

The relation (8.30) implies, P_0 being linear continuous, that $P_f u_k \rightarrow P_f u$ weakly in *V*. In addition, the mapping $u \mapsto \sigma_v(u)$ is weakly continuous, the trace operator from *V* to $H^{1/2}(\Gamma)$ is compact and, so it is \mathscr{R} . It follows that the mappings $u \mapsto j_f(u, v)$ and $u \mapsto j_f(u, u)$ are weakly continuous. Hence, by applying Theorem 4.14, the proof is complete. \Box

Remark 8.8. The existence of a solution for the problem (**P**) under the hypothesis (8.26) or (8.27) or

$$\Gamma_0 = \emptyset \ , \ (F, v) < 0 \ , \ \forall v \in \mathscr{S} \cap \mathbf{K} \setminus \{\mathbf{0}\}$$

$$(8.31)$$

is obtained in [17] by using the Ky-Fan inequality (see, for instance, [40, 44, 55]).

An uniqueness result for problem (\mathbf{P}) is obtained in the case of a small enough coefficient of friction (see also [17]).

Theorem 8.3. We assume that the assumptions (8.9) are satisfied and meas $(\Gamma_0) > 0$. Then there exists $\mu_1 > 0$ such that for any $\mu \in L^{\infty}(\Gamma_2)$ with $\mu \ge 0$ a.e. on Γ_2 and $\|\mu\|_{L^{\infty}(\Gamma_2)} \le \mu_1$, the problem (**P**) has a unique solution.

Proof. This existence and uniqueness result can be obtained by applying Theorem 4.16. We will show that the functional $j_f(\cdot, \cdot)$ satisfies the relation (4.42). By using Schwartz's inequality (2.6) in $L^2(\Gamma_2)$ and taking into account that the operator \mathscr{R} is linear continuous, we obtain

$$|j_{f}(\boldsymbol{u}_{1},\boldsymbol{v}_{2}) + j_{f}(\boldsymbol{u}_{2},\boldsymbol{v}_{1}) - j_{f}(\boldsymbol{u}_{1},\boldsymbol{v}_{1}) - j_{f}(\boldsymbol{u}_{2},\boldsymbol{v}_{2})|$$

$$= |\int_{\Gamma_{2}} \mu(|\mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu}(P_{f}\boldsymbol{u}_{1}))| - |\mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu}(P_{f}\boldsymbol{u}_{2}))|)(|\boldsymbol{v}_{2\tau}| - |\boldsymbol{v}_{1\tau}|) \, \mathrm{d}s|$$

$$\leq |\int_{\Gamma_{2}} \mu|\mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu}(P_{f}\boldsymbol{u}_{1} - P_{f}\boldsymbol{u}_{2}))| \, |\boldsymbol{v}_{2\tau} - \boldsymbol{v}_{1\tau}| \, \mathrm{d}s|$$

$$\leq ||\boldsymbol{\mu}||_{L^{\infty}(\Gamma_{2})} ||\mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu}(P_{f}\boldsymbol{u}_{1} - P_{f}\boldsymbol{u}_{2}))||_{L^{2}(\Gamma_{2})} ||\boldsymbol{v}_{1} - \boldsymbol{v}_{2}||_{(L^{2}(\Gamma_{2}))^{d}}$$

$$\leq C_{1} ||\boldsymbol{\mu}||_{L^{\infty}(\Gamma_{2})} ||\sigma_{\nu}(P_{f}\boldsymbol{u}_{1} - P_{f}\boldsymbol{u}_{2})||_{-1/2,\Gamma_{2}} ||\boldsymbol{v}_{1} - \boldsymbol{v}_{2}||_{(L^{2}(\Gamma_{2}))^{d}},$$

$$(8.32)$$

with C_1 a positive constant.

So, since the trace operator from V into $(L^2(\Gamma_2))^d$ is continuous, with (8.17) we deduce that there exists a positive constant $C_2 = C_2(\Omega, \Gamma_2)$ such that

$$|j_f(u_1, v_2) + j_f(u_2, v_1) - j_f(u_1, v_1) - j_f(u_2, v_2)| \le C_2 ||\mu||_{L^{\infty}(\Gamma_2)} ||u_1 - u_2||_1 ||v_1 - v_2||_1 \quad \forall u_1, u_2, v_1, v_2 \in V,$$
(8.33)

i.e. $j_f(\cdot, \cdot)$ satisfied (4.42) with $k = C_2 \|\mu\|_{L^{\infty}(\Gamma_2)}$. Then, if we choose

$$0 < \mu_1 < \frac{\alpha}{C_2} \,, \tag{8.34}$$

it follows that, for any $\mu \in L^{\infty}(\Gamma_2)$ with $\mu \ge 0$ a.e. on Γ_2 and $\|\mu\|_{L^{\infty}(\Gamma_2)} \le \mu_1$, we have $k < \alpha$. Hence, the result follows from Theorem 4.16.

Let us also note that, using Theorem 8.2, this uniqueness result can be directly derived from the quasi-variational inequality (8.15). Indeed, supposing that there exist two solutions u_1 and u_2 of Problem (**P**), we take $v = u_{3-i}$ in the inequality (8.15) corresponding to u_i , i = 1, 2. Then, by adding the two inequalities and taking into account that $j_f(u_i, v) = j(u_i, v)$, $\forall v \in V$, we obtain

$$\alpha \| u_1 - u_2 \|_1^2 \le |j(u_1, u_2) + j(u_2, u_1) - j(u_1, u_1) - j(u_2, u_2)| \le C \| \mu \|_{L^{\infty}(\Gamma_2)} \| u_1 - u_2 \|_1^2,$$

with *C* a positive constant. Hence, for $0 < \mu_1 < \frac{\alpha}{C}$ and $\|\mu\|_{L^{\infty}(\Gamma_2)} \leq \mu_1$, we get $u_1 = u_2$.

8.4 A Regularity Result

The solution of the quasi-variational inequality (**P**) is not, in general, enough smooth and, therefore, by Theorem 8.1, this solution does not satisfy the classical problem (\mathscr{P}). For this reason, it is called weak solution. Thus, it is very useful to find necessary conditions which ensure a good regularity for the solutions of the problem (**P**).

In this section, following the work [18], we give a local regularity result for the solutions of the problem (\mathbf{P}). This result is obtained in more restrictive hypotheses on the data, namely

$$\Gamma_2 \neq \emptyset, \tag{8.35}$$

$$a_{ijkl} \in C^1(\overline{\Omega}) , \qquad (8.36)$$

$$\mu \in C^1(\overline{\Gamma}_2), \ \mu \ge 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_2,$$
(8.37)

 $\mathscr{R}: H^{-1/2}(\Gamma_2) \to C^1(\overline{\Gamma}_2) \text{ is a linear continuous operator such that}$ $\mathscr{R}(\tau) \le 0, \ \forall \tau \in H^{-1/2}(\Gamma_2)$ (8.38)

$$\boldsymbol{f} \in (L^2(\Omega))^d$$
, $\boldsymbol{g} \in (L^2(\Gamma_1))^d$. (8.39)

In what follows we also suppose the problem (**P**) has at least one solution (for instance, if one of the conditions (8.26), (8.27), or (8.31) is satisfied).

We remark that, if u is a solution of the problem (**P**), then the functional $j_f(u, \cdot)$, defined by $(8.12)_3$, can be rewritten under the form

$$j_f(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}) = -\int_{\Gamma_2} \mu \mathscr{R}(\sigma_v(\boldsymbol{u})) |\boldsymbol{v}_t| \, \mathrm{d}s \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V} \, .$$

Theorem 8.4. Let u be a solution of the problem (**P**). Suppose that Ω is C^3 -smooth in all $\mathbf{x} \in \Gamma_2$. Then, under the above hypotheses, for every open set U such that $\overline{U} \subset \Omega \cup \Gamma_2$, we have

$$\boldsymbol{u} \in (H^2(U))^d$$
.

Proof. For obtaining this result, we will apply Theorem 5.3.

Let $x \in \Gamma_2$. From the definition of the C^3 -smoothness of Ω at x, it follows that there exists a neighborhood I of x such that $\overline{\Omega} \cap \overline{I}$ can be mapped by a C^3 -homeomorphism onto \overline{S} and the set $\partial \Omega \cap \overline{I}$ can be mapped onto the set $\overline{\Sigma}$ where the sets S and Σ are defined in Sect. 5.2.2 (see p. 94). We may assume, without loss of generality, that $\partial \Omega \cap I \subset \Gamma_2$.

Let u be a solution of the problem (**P**). Then, we remark that u verifies the following variational inequality

$$\int_{\Omega \cap I} a_{ijkl} \epsilon_{ij}(\boldsymbol{u}) \epsilon_{kl}(\boldsymbol{v}) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Gamma_2 \cap I} r(s) |\boldsymbol{v}_t| \, \mathrm{d}s - \int_{\Gamma_2 \cap I} r(s) |\boldsymbol{u}_t| \, \mathrm{d}s$$

$$\geq \int_{\Omega \cap I} f_i(v_i - u_i) \, \mathrm{d}x \qquad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{K}_{\boldsymbol{u}},$$
(8.40)

where $r(s) = -\mu(s)\mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u}))(s), \forall s \in \overline{\Gamma}_2$ and

$$\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{u}} = \{ \mathbf{w} \in (H^1(\Omega \cap I))^d ; \mathbf{w} = \mathbf{u} \text{ in } \Omega \cap \partial I, w_{\nu} \leq 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_2 \cap I \}.$$

Indeed, for any $w \in K_u$, it follows that $w' \in K$ where

$$w' = \begin{cases} w \text{ on } \Omega \cap I , \\ u \text{ on } \Omega \setminus I . \end{cases}$$

Thus, by taking v = w' in (**P**), we get (8.40).

In order to apply Theorem 5.3, we use an argument due to Fichera [24]. The C^3 smoothness of Ω at \mathbf{x} implies that, in every $\mathbf{y} \in \Omega \cap I$, there exists an orthogonal system of unit vectors $\mathbf{w}^1(\mathbf{y}), \ldots, \mathbf{w}^d(\mathbf{y})$ such that $\mathbf{w}^i \in (C^2(\overline{\Omega} \cap \overline{I}))^d$, $i = 1, \ldots, d$ and $\mathbf{w}^d(\mathbf{y}) = \mathbf{v}(\mathbf{y})$ for $\mathbf{y} \in \Gamma_2 \cap \overline{I}$. Hence, for any $\mathbf{v} \in (H^1(\Omega \cap I))^d$, we can write

$$\mathbf{v}(\mathbf{y}) = \bar{\mathbf{v}}_i(\mathbf{y})\mathbf{w}^i(\mathbf{y}) \qquad \forall \mathbf{y} \in \Omega \cap I.$$

We put $\bar{\mathbf{v}} = (\bar{v}_1, \cdots, \bar{v}_d)$. Let **X** be the closed convex subset of $(H^1(\Omega \cap I))^d$ defined by

$$\mathbf{X} = \{ \bar{\mathbf{v}} \in (H^1(\Omega \cap I))^d ; \ \bar{\mathbf{v}} = \bar{\mathbf{u}} \text{ in } \Omega \cap \partial I \text{ and } \bar{\mathbf{v}}_d \leq 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_2 \cap I \}.$$

It is obvious that $v \in K_u$ iff $\bar{v} \in \mathbf{X}$.

Now, let us define the following forms:

$$\begin{split} b(\bar{\mathbf{v}}, \bar{\mathbf{v}}') &= \int_{\Omega \cap I} \left(a_{ij}^{kl}(\mathbf{y}) \frac{\partial \bar{v}_k}{\partial y_i} \frac{\partial \bar{v}'_l}{\partial y_j} + b_i^{kl}(\mathbf{y}) \frac{\partial \bar{v}_k}{\partial y_i} v'_l + c_i^{kl}(\mathbf{y}) \frac{\partial \bar{v}'_l}{\partial y_i} \bar{v}_k \right. \\ &+ d^{kl}(\mathbf{y}) \bar{v}_k \bar{v}'_l \right) \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{y} \quad \forall \bar{\mathbf{v}}, \bar{\mathbf{v}}' \in \mathbf{X} \,, \\ &J(\bar{\mathbf{v}}) &= \int_{\Gamma_2 \cap I} r(s) \psi(\bar{\mathbf{v}}) \, \mathrm{d}s \quad \forall \bar{\mathbf{v}} \in \mathbf{X} \,, \\ &(\boldsymbol{L}, \bar{\mathbf{v}}) = \int_{\Omega \cap I} L_j \bar{v}_j \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{y} \quad \forall \bar{\mathbf{v}} \in \mathbf{X} \,, \end{split}$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} &a_{ij}^{kl} = a_{ijqr} w_q^k w_r^l & b_i^{kl} = a_{ijqr} w_q^k (w_r^l)_{,j} \\ &c_i^{kl} = a_{ijqr} (w_q^k)_{,j} w_r^l & d^{kl} = a_{ijqr} (w_q^k)_{,i} (w_r^l)_{,j} \\ &\psi(\bar{\mathbf{v}}) = |(\bar{\mathbf{v}}_1, \cdots, \bar{\mathbf{v}}_{d-1}, 0)| & L_j = f_i w_j^j . \end{aligned}$$

We directly obtain that

$$b(\bar{\boldsymbol{v}}, \bar{\boldsymbol{v}}') = \int_{\Omega \cap I} a_{ijkl} \epsilon_{ij}(\boldsymbol{v}) \epsilon_{kl}(\boldsymbol{v}') \, \mathrm{d}x \quad \forall \bar{\boldsymbol{v}}, \ \bar{\boldsymbol{v}}' \in \mathbf{X},$$

$$J(\bar{\boldsymbol{v}}) = \int_{\Gamma_2 \cap I}^{\Omega \cap I} r(s) |\boldsymbol{v}_l| \, \mathrm{d}s \quad \forall \bar{\boldsymbol{v}} \in \mathbf{X},$$

$$(\boldsymbol{L}, \bar{\boldsymbol{v}}) = \int_{\Omega \cap I}^{\Omega \cap I} f_i v_i \, \mathrm{d}x \quad \forall \bar{\boldsymbol{v}} \in \mathbf{X},$$

hence, the variational inequality (8.40) becomes

$$b(\bar{\boldsymbol{u}}, \bar{\boldsymbol{v}} - \bar{\boldsymbol{u}}) + J(\bar{\boldsymbol{v}}) - J(\bar{\boldsymbol{u}}) \ge (\boldsymbol{L}, \bar{\boldsymbol{v}} - \bar{\boldsymbol{u}}) \quad \forall \bar{\boldsymbol{v}} \in \mathbf{X}.$$
(8.41)

It is easy to verify that J, L, and \mathbf{X} , defined above, satisfy the hypotheses of Theorem 5.3 with Ω replaced by $\Omega \cap I$. Moreover, from Korn's inequality (8.29) it follows that b satisfies the relation (5.38) for any $\bar{\mathbf{v}} \in (H^1(\Omega \cap I))^d$ with supp $\bar{\mathbf{v}} \subset \overline{\Omega} \cap I$. Therefore, $\mathbf{u} \in (H^2(\Omega \cap I'_x))^d$, $\forall I'_x \ni \mathbf{x}$ with $\overline{I}'_x \subset I$.

Arguing as in the proof of Theorem 5.3, we conclude that $u \in (H^2(U))^d$. \Box

8.5 Dual Formulations for the Frictional Contact Problem (𝒫)

The variational formulation (**P**) (see p. 141) of the Signorini problem with nonlocal Coulomb friction is called the primal formulation of the mechanical problem (\mathscr{P}) (see p. 140), and has as unknown the field of displacements. In this formulation,

the compatibility equations are verified in a strong manner while the equilibrium equations are verified in a weakly sense.

In what follows we will consider dual formulations of (\mathcal{P}) where the unknown will be the field of stresses defined on Ω or only on a part of Γ . The first dual formulation (\mathbf{P}_1^*) is obtained from problem (\mathcal{P}) in a similar way as in the case of the formulation in terms of the displacement, and it is dual in the sense that the unknown, instead of the field of displacements, is the field of stresses. In contrast with the primal formulation (\mathbf{P}), the dual formulation (\mathbf{P}_1^*) verifies the compatibility equations in a weakly sense and the equilibrium equations in a strong one.

The second dual formulation (\mathbf{P}_2^*) is obtained from the primal formulation (\mathbf{P}) by applying the M–CD–M duality theory (see Sect. 6.2, p. 110), and it involves as unknown the stress field on the contact surface Γ_2 only. This is why it is called the dual condensed formulation.

We will suppose that the assumptions (8.9) are satisfied and that meas (Γ_0) > 0. Then, from Korn's inequality (8.29), it results that there exists a constant $C = C(\Omega, \Gamma_0)$ such that

$$\|\boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{v})\|_{H} \ge C \,\|\boldsymbol{v}\|_{1} \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V} \,, \tag{8.42}$$

where **H** is the Hilbert space

$$H = \{ \tau = (\tau_{ij}) ; \ \tau_{ij} = \tau_{ji} \in L^2(\Omega), \ 1 \le i, j \le d \},\$$

endowed with the inner product

$$(\boldsymbol{\sigma},\boldsymbol{\tau})_{\boldsymbol{H}} = \int_{\Omega} \sigma_{ij}(\boldsymbol{x}) \tau_{ij}(\boldsymbol{x}) \,\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\sigma}, \boldsymbol{\tau} \in \boldsymbol{H},$$

and the corresponding norm $\|\cdot\|_{H}$. Thus, the space V endowed with the inner product $(\cdot, \cdot)_{V}$ defined by

$$(u, v)_V = (\epsilon(u), \epsilon(v))_H \quad \forall u, v \in V,$$

is a Hilbert space, and

 $\|v\|_1$ is equivalent with $\|v\|_V \quad \forall v \in V$.

Also, we consider the following Hilbert space

$$\mathscr{H} = \{ \boldsymbol{\tau} \in \boldsymbol{H} ; \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{\tau} \in (L^2(\Omega))^d \},\$$

equipped with the inner product

$$(\boldsymbol{\sigma},\boldsymbol{\tau})_{\mathscr{H}} = (\boldsymbol{\sigma},\boldsymbol{\tau})_{\boldsymbol{H}} + (\operatorname{div}\boldsymbol{\sigma},\operatorname{div}\boldsymbol{\tau})_0,$$

and the corresponding norm $\|\cdot\|_{\mathscr{H}}$. Here, $(\cdot, \cdot)_0$ denotes the inner product on $(L^2(\Omega))^d$.

Now, we define the set of statically admissible stress fields by

$$\Sigma(s) = \{ \tau \in H ; (\tau, \epsilon(v))_H + \overline{j}(s, v) \ge (F, v) \quad \forall v \in K \},\$$

where

$$\overline{j}(s, \mathbf{v}) = \int_{\Gamma_2} \mu |\mathscr{R}(s_v)| |\mathbf{v}_\tau| \,\mathrm{d}s \quad \forall (s, \mathbf{v}) \in \mathscr{H} \times V.$$

This definition implies that, for every $s \in \mathcal{H}$, the set $\Sigma(s)$ is nonempty. Indeed, since

$$(\boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{F}),\boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{v}))_{\boldsymbol{H}} = (\boldsymbol{F},\boldsymbol{v})_{\boldsymbol{V}} \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V},$$

and

$$\overline{j}(s, \mathbf{v}) \geq 0 \quad \forall (s, \mathbf{v}) \in \mathscr{H} \times V$$
,

it follows that $\epsilon(F) \in \Sigma(s), \forall s \in \mathcal{H}$.

We consider the following variational formulation in terms of the stress **Problem** (\mathbf{P}_1^*): Find a stress field $\boldsymbol{\sigma} : \Omega \longrightarrow S_d$ such that

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{\sigma} \in \boldsymbol{\Sigma}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}) \\ b(\boldsymbol{\sigma}, \boldsymbol{\tau} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}) \ge 0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\tau} \in \boldsymbol{\Sigma}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}) \end{cases}$$
(8.43)

where S_d is the space of second order symmetric tensors on \mathbb{R}^d and

$$b(\boldsymbol{\sigma},\boldsymbol{\tau}) = \int_{\Omega} \mathscr{G}\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau} \, \mathrm{d}x \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\sigma}, \boldsymbol{\epsilon} \in \boldsymbol{W} \,,$$

 $\mathscr{G} = \mathscr{A}^{-1}$ being the compliance fourth order tensor.

Remark 8.9. If the condition u = 0 on Γ_0 is replaced by $u = u_0$ with u_0 given, then the dual formulation becomes

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{\sigma} \in \boldsymbol{\Sigma}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}) \\ b(\boldsymbol{\sigma}, \boldsymbol{\tau} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}) \geq L(\boldsymbol{\tau} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}) \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\tau} \in \boldsymbol{\Sigma}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}) \end{cases}$$

where

$$L(\boldsymbol{\tau}) = \int_{\Gamma_0} \boldsymbol{u}_0 \, \boldsymbol{\tau} \cdot \boldsymbol{v} \, \mathrm{d}s.$$

Following a similar approach as in [21], one obtains the following relation between the primal formulation (\mathbf{P}) and the dual formulation (\mathbf{P}_1^*).

- **Theorem 8.5.** (*i*) If u is a solution of the primal problem (**P**), then σ defined by $\sigma = \mathscr{A} \epsilon(u)$ is a solution of the dual problem (**P**^{*}₁).
- (ii) Conversely, let σ^* be a solution of the problem (\mathbf{P}_1^*) . Then, there exists a unique function $u \in V$ such that $\sigma^* = \mathscr{A}\epsilon(u) = \sigma(u)$. Moreover, u is a solution of the problem (\mathbf{P}) .
- *Proof.* (i) If **u** is a solution of (**P**), then, by taking $\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{u} \pm \boldsymbol{\varphi}$ with $\boldsymbol{\varphi} \in (\mathcal{D}(\Omega))^d$, we deduce that $-\sigma_{ij,j} = f_i$ a.e. on Ω , i.e. $\boldsymbol{\sigma} \in \mathcal{H}$.

In addition, putting v = 0 and v = 2u in (**P**), we obtain the equivalence between the problem (**P**) and the following one

$$\begin{cases} (\sigma, \epsilon(v))_H + \bar{j}(\sigma, v) \ge (F, v)_V & \forall v \in V, \\ (\sigma, \epsilon(u))_H + \bar{j}(\sigma, u) = (F, u)_V, \end{cases}$$

$$(8.44)$$

thus, $\sigma \in \Sigma(\sigma)$.

We now prove that σ verifies (**P**^{*}₁). From (8.44)₂ and the definition of the set $\Sigma(\sigma)$, we have

$$b(\boldsymbol{\sigma},\boldsymbol{\tau}-\boldsymbol{\sigma}) = (\boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{u}),\boldsymbol{\tau}-\boldsymbol{\sigma})_{H} = (\boldsymbol{\tau},\boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{u}))_{H} - (\boldsymbol{\sigma},\boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{u}))_{H}$$

$$\geq (\boldsymbol{F},\boldsymbol{u})_{V} - \bar{j}(\boldsymbol{\sigma},\boldsymbol{u}) - (\boldsymbol{\sigma},\boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{u}))_{H} = 0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\tau} \in \boldsymbol{\Sigma}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}),$$

which concludes the proof of the assertion.

(ii) Let σ^* be a solution of the dual problem (**P**^{*}₁) and **p** = $\mathscr{G}\sigma^*$. Then, one has

$$(\mathbf{p}, \boldsymbol{\tau} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}^*)_H \ge 0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\tau} \in \boldsymbol{\Sigma}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}^*).$$
 (8.45)

We denote by $(\epsilon(V))^{\perp}$ the orthogonal complement in H of the closed subspace $\epsilon(V) = \{\epsilon(v); v \in V\}$. Let $\bar{\mathbf{p}} \in (\epsilon(V))^{\perp}$, i.e.

$$(\bar{\mathbf{p}}, \boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{v}))_H = 0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V}.$$

Then, from the definition of $\Sigma(\sigma^*)$, we have

$$(\sigma^* \pm \bar{\mathbf{p}}, \epsilon(\mathbf{v}))_H + \bar{j}(\sigma^*, \mathbf{v}) = (\sigma^*, \epsilon(\mathbf{v}))_H + \bar{j}(\sigma^*, \mathbf{v}) \ge (\mathbf{F}, \mathbf{v})_V \quad \forall \mathbf{v} \in K,$$

and, hence $\sigma^* \pm \bar{\mathbf{p}} \in \Sigma(\sigma^*)$. By taking $\tau = \sigma^* \pm \bar{\mathbf{p}}$ in (8.45), we obtain $(\mathbf{p}, \bar{\mathbf{p}})_H = 0$, and thus $\mathbf{p} \in ((\epsilon(V))^{\perp})^{\perp} = \epsilon(V)$. This implies that there exists an element $u \in V$ such that $\mathbf{p} = \epsilon(u)$, and, from the consequence (8.42) of the Korn inequality, we deduce the uniqueness of u. Therefore,

$$\sigma^* = \mathscr{A}\epsilon(u) = \sigma(u), \qquad (8.46)$$

and the relation (8.45) can be written as

$$(\boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{u}), \boldsymbol{\tau} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}^*)_H \ge 0, \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\tau} \in \boldsymbol{\Sigma}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}^*).$$
 (8.47)

Now, arguing by contradiction, we prove that $u \in K$. For this reason we consider the following inner product on V

$$(w, v)_A = a(w, v) = (\sigma(w), \epsilon(v))_H = (\mathscr{A}\epsilon(w), \epsilon(v))_H \quad \forall w, v \in V, \qquad (8.48)$$

and we denote by $\|\cdot\|_A$ the corresponding norm which is equivalent, thanks to the properties of $a(\cdot, \cdot)$, with the norm $\|\cdot\|_V$. Hence, $(V, \|\cdot\|_A)$ is a Hilbert space.

Let us suppose that $u \notin K$. If $P_K : V \longrightarrow K$ denotes the projection operator of $(V, \|\cdot\|_A)$ onto the nonempty closed convex subset K of V, then we have

$$(P_{\mathbf{K}}\mathbf{u}-\mathbf{u},\mathbf{v})_{A} \geq (P_{\mathbf{K}}\mathbf{u}-\mathbf{u},P_{\mathbf{K}}\mathbf{u})_{A} > (P_{\mathbf{K}}\mathbf{u}-\mathbf{u},\mathbf{u})_{A} \quad \forall \mathbf{v} \in \mathbf{K} ,$$

and so, there exists $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$(P_{\mathbf{K}}\mathbf{u}-\mathbf{u},\mathbf{v})_A > \alpha > (P_{\mathbf{K}}\mathbf{u}-\mathbf{u},\mathbf{u})_A \quad \forall \mathbf{v} \in \mathbf{K}.$$

Putting $\tilde{\sigma} = \sigma(P_K u - u) = \mathscr{A} \epsilon(P_K u - u) \in H$, we get

$$\begin{aligned} &(\tilde{\sigma}, \epsilon(v))_H = (\sigma(P_K u - u), \epsilon(v))_H \\ &= (P_K u - u, v)_A > \alpha > (P_K u - u, u)_A = (\tilde{\sigma}, \epsilon(u))_H \quad \forall v \in K , \end{aligned}$$
(8.49)

and, by taking v = 0, we deduce

$$(\tilde{\boldsymbol{\sigma}}, \boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{u}))_{\boldsymbol{H}} < \alpha < 0. \tag{8.50}$$

On the other hand, we will prove that

$$(\tilde{\sigma}, \epsilon(\mathbf{v}))_H \ge 0 \quad \forall \mathbf{v} \in \mathbf{K}.$$
 (8.51)

Indeed, let us suppose that there exists $v_0 \in K$ such that

$$(\tilde{\boldsymbol{\sigma}}, \boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{v}_0))_{\boldsymbol{H}} < 0. \tag{8.52}$$

Since $\lambda v_0 \in \mathbf{K}$, $\forall \lambda \ge 0$, then, from (8.49), we obtain

$$\lambda(\tilde{\boldsymbol{\sigma}},\boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{v}_0))_{\boldsymbol{H}} > \alpha, \quad \forall \lambda \geq 0.$$

By passing to the limit with $\lambda \to +\infty$, together with (8.52), we deduce that $\alpha \leq -\infty$ which contradicts the hypothesis $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$. Thus, the relation (8.51) is proved, and, since $\sigma^* \in \Sigma(\sigma^*)$, one has

$$(\sigma^* + \tilde{\sigma}, \epsilon(v))_H + \bar{j}(\sigma^*, v) = (\sigma^*, \epsilon(v))_H + \bar{j}(\sigma^*, v) + (\tilde{\sigma}, \epsilon(v))_H \ge (F, v)_V \quad \forall v \in K,$$

hence $\sigma^* + \tilde{\sigma} \in \Sigma(\sigma^*)$. Therefore, by choosing $\tau = \sigma^* + \tilde{\sigma}$ in (8.47), we obtain

$$(\tilde{\boldsymbol{\sigma}}, \boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{u}))_{\boldsymbol{H}} \ge 0,$$
 (8.53)

which is in contradiction with the relation (8.50). We conclude that $u \in K$.

Next, we will see that u verifies (**P**). First, from $\sigma^* \in \Sigma(\sigma^*)$, one has

$$(\boldsymbol{\sigma}^*, \boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{v}))_H + \bar{j}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}^*, \boldsymbol{v}) \ge (F, \boldsymbol{v})_V \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{K},$$
(8.54)

and hence, also

$$(\boldsymbol{\sigma}^*, \boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{u}))_H + \bar{j}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}^*, \boldsymbol{u}) \ge (F, \boldsymbol{u})_V.$$
(8.55)

Putting

$$J_{\sigma^*}(\mathbf{v}) = \begin{cases} \bar{j}(\sigma^*, \mathbf{v}) \text{ if } \mathbf{v} \in \mathbf{K}, \\ +\infty & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

we deduce that the function $J_{\sigma^*}: V \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ is subdifferentiable on V, and hence there exists $\sigma_1 \in H$ such that

$$(\sigma_1, \epsilon(\nu-u))_H + \overline{j}(\sigma^*, \nu) - \overline{j}(\sigma^*, u) \ge (F, \nu-u)_V \quad \forall \nu \in K.$$

By taking v = 2u and v = 0, we deduce

$$(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_1, \boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{u}))_H + j(\boldsymbol{\sigma}^*, \boldsymbol{u}) = (\boldsymbol{F}, \boldsymbol{u})_V, \qquad (8.56)$$

$$(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_1, \boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{\nu}))_H + \bar{j}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}^*, \boldsymbol{\nu}) \ge (\boldsymbol{F}, \boldsymbol{\nu})_V \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\nu} \in \boldsymbol{K}.$$
(8.57)

The second relation involves $\sigma_1 \in \Sigma(\sigma^*)$. Therefore, we can take $\tau = \sigma_1$ in (8.47), and so

$$(\sigma_1, \epsilon(u))_H \ge (\sigma^*, \epsilon(u))_H.$$
 (8.58)

From (8.56) and (8.58), we have

$$(\boldsymbol{F},\boldsymbol{u})_V - \bar{j}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}^*,\boldsymbol{u}) \geq (\boldsymbol{\sigma}^*,\boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{u}))_H,$$

which, thanks to (8.55), gives

$$(\boldsymbol{\sigma}^*, \boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{u}))_H + \bar{j}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}^*, \boldsymbol{u}) = (\boldsymbol{F}, \boldsymbol{u})_V.$$
(8.59)

Keeping in mind the relations (8.46), (8.54), (8.59), and (8.48), we conclude the proof.

In the following we give an existence and uniqueness result for the solutions of the dual problem (\mathbf{P}_1^*) .

Theorem 8.6. Suppose that meas $(\Gamma_0) > 0$. Then, under the hypothesis (8.9), there exists a constant $\mu_1 > 0$, depending only on Ω , such that, for every μ with $\|\mu\|_{L^{\infty}(\Gamma_2)} \leq \mu_1$, the dual problem (\mathbf{P}_1^*) has a unique solution σ . Moreover, this solution is $\sigma(\mathbf{u})$ where \mathbf{u} is the unique solution of the primal problem (\mathbf{P}) .

Proof. Following Theorems 8.3 and 8.5, the result is immediate. Nevertheless, we give here a proof which puts into evidence two useful mappings for the study of the problems (**P**) and (\mathbf{P}_1^*).

Let the mappings $T : \mathcal{H} \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}$ and $U : \mathcal{H} \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}$ be defined, for any $s \in \mathcal{H}$, by $T(s) = \sigma(u_s) = \mathscr{A}\epsilon(u_s)$ and $U(s) = \sigma_s$ where u_s is the unique solution of the problem $(\mathbf{P}_1^{\mathrm{ax}})_s$ defined below by

Problem $(\mathbf{P}_1^{\mathrm{ax}})_s$: Find $u_s \in K$ such that

$$a(\boldsymbol{u}_s, \boldsymbol{v} - \boldsymbol{u}_s) + \bar{j}(\boldsymbol{s}, \boldsymbol{v}) - \bar{j}(\boldsymbol{s}, \boldsymbol{u}_s) \ge (\boldsymbol{F}, \boldsymbol{v} - \boldsymbol{u}_s)_{\boldsymbol{V}} \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{K}$$
(8.60)

and, respectively, σ_s is the unique solution of the following problem

Problem $(\mathbf{P}_2^{\mathrm{ax}})_s$: Find $\sigma_s \in \Sigma(s)$ such that

$$b(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_s, \boldsymbol{\tau} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}_s) \ge 0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\tau} \in \boldsymbol{\Sigma}(s).$$
(8.61)

We note that the auxiliary problems $(\mathbf{P}_1^{ax})_s$ and $(\mathbf{P}_2^{ax})_s$ are the variational formulations of contact problems with given friction. The existence and the uniqueness of u_s , and respectively σ_s , follows from Theorem 4.12.

First, because $\sigma_s \in \Sigma(s)$, we have

$$(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{s}, \boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{v}))_{H} + j(s, \boldsymbol{v}) \geq (\boldsymbol{F}, \boldsymbol{v}) \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{K}$$

hence, by taking $v = \pm \varphi \in (\mathscr{D}(\Omega))^p$, we obtain that $-\operatorname{div} \sigma_s = \mathbf{f}$ a.e. on Ω , i.e. $\sigma_s \in \mathscr{H}$, and thus the mappings U is well defined.

On the other hand, by taking $v = 2u_s$ and v = 0 in $(\mathbf{P}_1^{ax})_s$ we get

$$\begin{cases} (\sigma(u_s), \epsilon(u_s))_H + j(s, u_s) = (F, u_s)_V, \\ (\sigma(u_s), \epsilon(v))_H + \bar{j}(s, v) \ge (F, v)_V \quad \forall v \in K, \end{cases}$$

$$(8.62)$$

hence $\sigma(u_s) \in \Sigma(s)$, and so $\sigma(u_s) \in \mathcal{H}$, i.e. the mapping *T* is well defined.

We will prove that U(s) = T(s), $\forall s \in \mathcal{H}$. Let $s \in \mathcal{H}$ and $\tau \in \Sigma(s)$, i.e.

$$(\boldsymbol{\tau},\boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{v}))_{\boldsymbol{H}}+j(\boldsymbol{s},\boldsymbol{v})\geq(\boldsymbol{F},\boldsymbol{v})_{\boldsymbol{V}}\quad\forall\boldsymbol{v}\in\boldsymbol{K}$$

Choosing $v = u_s$, we obtain

$$(\boldsymbol{\tau},\boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{u}_s))_H + j(\boldsymbol{s},\boldsymbol{u}_s) \geq (\boldsymbol{F},\boldsymbol{u}_s)_V,$$

which, together with the first relation of (8.62), gives

$$(\boldsymbol{\tau} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}_s), \boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{u}_s))_H \geq 0$$
,

or

$$b(\boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}_s), \boldsymbol{\tau} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}_s)) \ge 0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\tau} \in \boldsymbol{\Sigma}(s).$$
(8.63)

Since $\sigma(u_s) \in \Sigma(s)$, from (8.63) we deduce that $\sigma(u_s)$ is a solution of the problem $(\mathbf{P}_2^{\mathrm{ax}})_s$. Hence, taking into account that the problem $(\mathbf{P}_2^{\mathrm{ax}})_s$ has a unique solution, we conclude that $\sigma(u_s) = \sigma_s$, i.e. U(s) = T(s).

The mapping T is a contraction on \mathcal{H} . Indeed, if $s_1, s_2 \in \mathcal{H}$, then, from $(\mathbf{P}_1^{ax})_{s_i}$, $i \in \{1, 2\}$, we have

$$-\operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}_{s_1}) = -\operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}_{s_2}) = \boldsymbol{f} \text{ a.e. on } \boldsymbol{\Omega}$$

and so,

$$\|T(\mathbf{s}_{1}) - T(\mathbf{s}_{2})\|_{\mathscr{H}} = \|\sigma(\boldsymbol{u}_{\mathbf{s}_{1}}) - \sigma(\boldsymbol{u}_{\mathbf{s}_{2}})\|_{\mathscr{H}} = \|\sigma(\boldsymbol{u}_{\mathbf{s}_{1}} - \boldsymbol{u}_{\mathbf{s}_{2}})\|_{H}$$

$$\leq C_{1}\|\boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{u}_{\mathbf{s}_{1}} - \boldsymbol{u}_{\mathbf{s}_{2}})\|_{H} = C_{1}\|\boldsymbol{u}_{\mathbf{s}_{1}} - \boldsymbol{u}_{\mathbf{s}_{2}}\|_{V} \leq C\|\boldsymbol{u}_{\mathbf{s}_{1}} - \boldsymbol{u}_{\mathbf{s}_{2}}\|_{1}.$$
(8.64)

Now, by adding the inequalities $(\mathbf{P}_1^{ax})_{s_i}$, $i \in \{1, 2\}$, for $v = u_{s_{3-i}}$, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha \| \boldsymbol{u}_{s_1} - \boldsymbol{u}_{s_2} \|_1^2 &\leq a(\boldsymbol{u}_{s_1} - \boldsymbol{u}_{s_2}, \boldsymbol{u}_{s_1} - \boldsymbol{u}_{s_2}) \leq |\bar{j}(s_1, \boldsymbol{u}_{s_2}) - \bar{j}(s_1, \boldsymbol{u}_{s_1}) + \bar{j}(s_2, \boldsymbol{u}_{s_1}) \\ -\bar{j}(s_2, \boldsymbol{u}_{s_2})| &\leq \left| \int\limits_{\Gamma_2} \mu |\mathscr{R}((s_1)_\nu - (s_2)_\nu)| \, |(\boldsymbol{u}_{s_1})_\tau - (\boldsymbol{u}_{s_2})_\tau| \, ds \right| \\ &\leq C \| \mu \|_{L^{\infty}(\Gamma_2)} \| \boldsymbol{s}_1 - \boldsymbol{s}_2 \|_{\mathscr{H}} \| \boldsymbol{u}_{s_1} - \boldsymbol{u}_{s_2} \|_1 \end{aligned}$$

thus

$$||T(s_1) - T(s_2)||_{\mathscr{H}} \leq C ||\mu||_{L^{\infty}(\Gamma_2)} ||s_1 - s_2||_{\mathscr{H}}.$$

Therefore, for μ sufficiently small, it follows the mapping *T* is a contraction, which, together Banach's fixed point Theorem 4.7, implies the existence of a unique element s^* such that $T(s^*) = s^*$. Taking in mind that the set of all fixed points of the mappings *T* and *U* is the same with the set of all solutions of the problem (**P**), and, respectively, (**P**₁^{*}), we proved the existence and the uniqueness of the solution u^* of (**P**), and respectively σ^* of (**P**₁) with $\sigma^* = \sigma(u^*)$.

In the sequel, by applying the Mosco–Capuzzo-Dolcetta–Matzeu (M–CD–M) duality theory, described in Sect. 6.2, we obtain, following [14] (see, also [56, 57]), the so-called dual condensed formulation of the problem (\mathbf{P}).

Let u be a solution of the problem (**P**). According to Remark 8.5 we have

$$j_f(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}) = j(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}) = \int_{\Gamma_2} \mu |\mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\boldsymbol{v}}(\boldsymbol{u}))| \, |\boldsymbol{v}_{\tau}| \, \mathrm{d}s \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V} \,,$$

and hence, \boldsymbol{u} is a solution of the following problem

$$\begin{cases} \text{Find } \boldsymbol{u} \in \boldsymbol{V} \text{ such that} \\ \varphi(L\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{u}) + \psi(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{u}) \leq \varphi(L\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}) + \psi(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}) \ \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V} \end{cases}$$

where

$$\begin{split} \psi(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}) &= a(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}-\boldsymbol{u}) - (\boldsymbol{F},\boldsymbol{v}-\boldsymbol{u})_{V} \quad \forall \boldsymbol{u}, \ \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V}, \\ L: \boldsymbol{V} \longrightarrow \boldsymbol{Y} &= L^{2}(\Gamma_{2}), \quad L\boldsymbol{v} = \mathscr{R}(\sigma_{v}(\boldsymbol{v})) \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V}, \\ \mathscr{J}(\theta,\boldsymbol{v}) &= \int_{\Gamma_{2}} \mu |\theta| \, |\boldsymbol{v}_{\tau}| \, \mathrm{d}s \quad \forall \theta \in \boldsymbol{Y}, \ \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V}, \\ \varphi(L\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}) &= \mathscr{J}(L\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}) + I_{K}(\boldsymbol{v}) = j(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}) + I_{K}(\boldsymbol{v}) \quad \forall \boldsymbol{u}, \ \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V}. \end{split}$$

It is easy to verify that ψ , L and φ , defined above, satisfy the hypotheses (6.10)–(6.12) from p. 111.

In order to derive the dual formulation, we take

$$C(\theta) = \{ \boldsymbol{\tau}^* \in (H^{-1/2}(\Gamma_2))^d ; \langle \boldsymbol{\tau}^*, \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tau} \rangle_{1/2, \Gamma_2} \leq \mathscr{J}(\theta, \boldsymbol{\nu}), \forall \boldsymbol{\nu} \in \boldsymbol{V} \} \quad \forall \theta \in \boldsymbol{Y} \\ K_{\boldsymbol{\nu}} = \{ z \in H^{1/2}(\Gamma_2) ; z = \gamma \bar{z} / \Gamma_2 \text{ with } \bar{z} \in H^1(\Omega), \bar{z} = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_0, z \leq 0 \},$$

$$(8.65)$$

where $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{1/2,\Gamma_2}$ denotes the inner product between $(H^{-1/2}(\Gamma_2))^d$ and $(H^{1/2}(\Gamma_2))^d$, or between $H^{-1/2}(\Gamma_2)$ and $H^{1/2}(\Gamma_2)$, and I_K denotes the indicator function of the set *K*.

An easy computation gives the following form for the Fenchel conjugate of φ with respect to the second variable

$$\begin{split} \varphi^{*}(L\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}^{*}) &= \sup_{\boldsymbol{v}\in (H^{1/2}(\Gamma_{2}))^{d}} \left\{ \langle \boldsymbol{v}^{*},\boldsymbol{v} \rangle_{1/2,\Gamma_{2}} - \mathscr{J}(L\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}) - I_{K}(\boldsymbol{v}) \right\} \\ &= \sup_{\boldsymbol{v}\in (H^{1/2}(\Gamma_{2}))^{d}} \left\{ (\langle \boldsymbol{v}^{*}_{\boldsymbol{v}},\boldsymbol{v}_{\boldsymbol{v}} \rangle_{1/2,\Gamma_{2}} - I_{K_{\boldsymbol{v}}}(\boldsymbol{v}_{\boldsymbol{v}})) + (\langle \boldsymbol{v}^{*}_{\boldsymbol{\tau}},\boldsymbol{v}_{\boldsymbol{\tau}} \rangle_{1/2,\Gamma_{2}} - \mathscr{J}(L\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v})) \right\} \\ &= I^{*}_{K_{\boldsymbol{v}}}(\boldsymbol{v}^{*}_{\boldsymbol{v}}) + I_{C(L\boldsymbol{u})}(\boldsymbol{v}^{*}_{\boldsymbol{\tau}}) = I_{K_{\boldsymbol{v}}^{*}}(\boldsymbol{v}^{*}_{\boldsymbol{v}}) + I_{C(\mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\boldsymbol{v}}(\boldsymbol{u})))}(\boldsymbol{v}^{*}_{\boldsymbol{\tau}}) \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v}^{*} \in (H^{-1/2}(\Gamma_{2}))^{d} \,, \end{split}$$

where K_{ν}^{*} denotes the polar cone of the set K_{ν} in $H^{1/2}(\Gamma_{2})$, i.e.

$$K_{\nu}^{*} = \{ z^{*} \in H^{-1/2}(\Gamma_{2}) ; \ \langle z^{*}, z \rangle_{1/2, \Gamma_{2}} \leq 0 , \ \forall z \in K_{\nu} \}.$$

From the definition of the set $C(\theta)$, and taking into consideration that $\mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u})) \in L^{2}(\Gamma_{2})$, we obtain

$$\varphi^*(L\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}^*) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } v_{\boldsymbol{v}}^* \in K_{\boldsymbol{v}}^*, \ \boldsymbol{v}_{\tau}^* \in C(L(\boldsymbol{u})), \\ +\infty & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(8.66)

We now compute the Fenchel conjugate of ψ with respect to the second variable:

$$\begin{split} \psi^{*}(u, v^{*}) &= \sup_{v \in V} \{ \langle v^{*}, v \rangle - a(u, v - u) + (F, v - u)_{V} \} \\ &= a(u, u) - (F, u)_{V} + \sup_{v \in V} \{ \langle v^{*}, v \rangle - a(u, v) + (F, v)_{V} \} \\ &= a(u, u) - (F, u)_{V} + \sup_{v \in V} \langle v^{*} - Au + F, v \rangle \\ &= a(u, u) - (F, u)_{V} + \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } v^{*} = Au - F, \\ +\infty & \text{other,} \end{cases} \quad \forall v^{*} \in V^{*} \end{split}$$
(8.67)

where $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ denotes the duality pairing between V^* and V and $A \in \mathscr{L}(V, V^*)$ is the operator defined by

$$\langle A\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}\rangle = a(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}) \quad \forall \boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V}.$$

It is easy to verify that, for every $u \in V$, the function $v \mapsto \psi(u, v)$ is Gâteaux differentiable at u and

$$D_2\psi(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{u})=A\boldsymbol{u}-\boldsymbol{F}$$
.

Since $A \in \mathscr{L}(V, V^*)$, we can define the Green's operator $G = A^{-1}$ for the boundary value problem in linear elasticity, and $G \in \mathscr{L}(V^*, V)$. Thus, $u = G(F) + G(D_2\psi(u, u))$, and, if we put $u^* = -D_2\psi(u, u)$, it follows that $u = (D_2\psi)^{-1}(-u^*) = G(F) + G(-u^*)$.

If we suppose that the solution \boldsymbol{u} of the problem (**P**) is smooth enough such that $\sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u}) \in L^2(\Gamma_2)$, then, by Theorem 6.8, the dual abstract formulation (6.19) applied to the problem (**P**) takes the form

$$\langle \boldsymbol{v}^* - \boldsymbol{u}^*, \boldsymbol{u} \rangle_{1/2, \Gamma_2} \leq 0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v}^* = (\boldsymbol{v}^*_{\nu}, \boldsymbol{v}^*_{\tau}) \in K^*_{\nu} \times C(\sigma_{\nu}).$$

By putting $\sigma^* = -u^*$ and $\tau^* = -v^*$, it follows that the dual condensed formulation of the problem (**P**) can be written as the following quasi-variational inequality

Problem (**P**^{*}₂): Find $\sigma^* = (\sigma_{\nu}, \sigma_{\tau}) \in (-K^*_{\nu}) \times C(\sigma_{\nu})$ such that

$$\langle \boldsymbol{\tau}^* - \boldsymbol{\sigma}^*, G(\boldsymbol{\sigma}^*) + G(\boldsymbol{F}) \rangle_{1/2, \Gamma_2} \ge 0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\tau}^* = (\tau_{\nu}, \boldsymbol{\tau}_{\tau}) \in (-K_{\nu}^*) \times C(\sigma_{\nu}).$$
(8.68)

The extremality conditions (6.16) become

$$a(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{u}) - (\boldsymbol{F},\boldsymbol{u})_{V} = \langle \sigma_{\nu}, u_{\nu} \rangle_{1/2,\Gamma_{2}} + \langle \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}, \boldsymbol{u}_{\tau} \rangle_{1/2,\Gamma_{2}},$$

$$j(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{u}) = -\langle \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}, \boldsymbol{u}_{\tau} \rangle_{1/2,\Gamma_{2}},$$

$$\langle \sigma_{\nu}, u_{\nu} \rangle_{1/2,\Gamma_{2}} = 0.$$
(8.69)

Concluding, by Theorem 6.8, we have the following result.

Theorem 8.7. If meas $(\Gamma_0) > 0$ and the hypotheses (8.9) hold, then there exists a constant $\mu_1 > 0$, depending only on Ω , such that, for every $\mu \in L^{\infty}(\Gamma_2)$ with $\mu \ge 0$ a.e. on Γ_2 and $\|\mu\|_{L^{\infty}(\Gamma_2)} \le \mu_1$, the dual problem (\mathbf{P}_2^*) has a unique solution σ^* . Moreover, $\mathbf{u} = G(\sigma^*) + G(\mathbf{F})$ is the unique solution of the primal problem (\mathbf{P}).

Since (\mathbf{P}_2^*) is a problem for the stresses on the contact surface Γ_2 only, it is called the condensed dual formulation of the problem (**P**).

We remark that the problem (\mathbf{P}_2^*) cannot be separated into two inequalities in order to determine the contact normal stress σ_{ν} and the contact tangential stress σ_{τ} on Γ_2 independently, their coupling being imposed by the appurtenance of σ_{τ} to the set $C(\sigma_{\nu})$. However, if we suppose that the Green's operator is known, the problem (\mathbf{P}_2^*) is very useful for the numerical determination of contact normal and tangential stresses (see [9, 10]). The same happens in particular cases, as we shall see in Sect. 8.7. Finally, let us note that the M–CD–M duality theory can be applied to many other unilateral or bilateral contact problems as quasistatic or dynamic frictional problems for elastic materials or frictional problems involving contact normal compliance conditions for viscoelastic materials.

8.6 Approximation of the Problem in Displacements

In this section we consider (see, also [48]) the finite element approximation of the primal problem (**P**), p. 141. In order to derive some error estimates of this approximation, we limit our study to the case where the solution is unique. Therefore, we suppose that the regularity hypotheses (8.9) are satisfied and, in addition, we assume that

$$\Omega \text{ is a bounded Lipschitzian domain in } \mathbb{R}^d,$$

meas (Γ_0) > 0, $\Gamma_2 \neq \emptyset$, (8.70)
 $\|\mu\|_{L^{\infty}(\Gamma_2)} \leq \mu_1,$

with μ_1 satisfying the relation (8.34) from the proof of Theorem 8.3.

Let u denote the unique solution of the problem (**P**). Then, by Remark 8.5, we have $j_f(u, v) = j(u, v), \forall v \in V$, with j defined by (8.13).

Let *h* be a given parameter converging to 0. We consider a family $\{V_h\}_{h>0}$ of closed subspaces of *V* and a family $\{K_h\}_{h>0}$ of nonempty convex closed subsets of V_h which approximates *K* in the sense of the internal approximation defined in Sect. 7.1, i.e. the conditions (7.8), from p. 116, are satisfied. Also we can approximate the functional *j* by a family $\{j^h\}_h$ which satisfies (7.9)–(7.13).

Proposition 7.1 and Theorem 7.1 lead to the following existence and uniqueness result.

Proposition 8.1. The discrete quasi-variational inequality

$$a(\boldsymbol{u}_h, \boldsymbol{v}_h - \boldsymbol{u}_h) + j^h(\boldsymbol{u}_h, \boldsymbol{v}_h) - j^h(\boldsymbol{u}_h, \boldsymbol{u}_h) \ge (\boldsymbol{F}, \boldsymbol{v}_h - \boldsymbol{u}_h) \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v}_h \in \boldsymbol{K}_h$$

has a unique solution $u_h \in K_h$. Moreover, we have

$$u_h \rightarrow u$$
 strongly in V ,

u being the unique solution of the problem (**P**).

Now, we suppose that there exists an operator $\Pi_h: V \longrightarrow V_h$ such that

$$\|\Pi_h \boldsymbol{v} - \boldsymbol{v}\|_1 \le Ch \|\boldsymbol{v}\|_2 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in (H^2(\Omega))^d \cap \boldsymbol{V},$$
(8.71)

$$\|\Pi_{h} \mathbf{v} - \mathbf{v}\|_{0,\Gamma_{2}} \le C h^{3/2} \|\mathbf{v}\|_{2} \quad \forall \mathbf{v} \in (H^{2}(\Omega))^{d} \cap V,$$
(8.72)

where $\|\cdot\|_{0,\Gamma_2}$ and $\|\cdot\|_2$ denote the norms on $(L^2(\Omega))^d$, and, respectively, on $(H^2(\Omega))^d$.

Remark 8.10. Let Π_h be, as usual, the interpolation operator $\Pi_h : V \to V_h$. Then, it is known that the conditions (8.71) and (8.72) are satisfied (see, e.g., [5, 16]), if, for instance, Ω is a polygonal domain of \mathbb{R}^d , and V_h is defined by

$$\boldsymbol{V}_h = \{ \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V} \cap (\boldsymbol{C}^0(\overline{\Omega}))^d ; \, \boldsymbol{v}/T \in (P_k)^d \,, \, \forall T \in \mathscr{T}_h \},\$$

where P_k is the space of all polynomials of degree less than k in the variables x_1, \dots, x_d with $k \ge 1$. Here, we assume that \mathscr{T}_h is a regular triangulation of the domain Ω such that

$$\overline{\Omega} = \bigcup_{T \in \mathscr{T}_h} T \, .$$

We say that a triangulation \mathscr{T}_h is regular if all the angles of any element $T \in \mathscr{T}_h$ are bounded below from a positive constant, and there exists a positive constant δ such that the length of any side of any $T \in \mathscr{T}_h$ is at least δh .

We make the following additional assumptions about K_h :

$$\boldsymbol{K}_h \subset \boldsymbol{K} \,, \tag{8.73}$$

$$\Pi_h \boldsymbol{u} \in \boldsymbol{K}_h \tag{8.74}$$

where u is the unique solution of the problem (**P**).

Remark 8.11. The conditions (8.73), (8.74) are satisfied if, for instance, we take d = 2, k = 1, and

 $K_{h} = \{v_{h} \in V_{h}; v_{h\nu}(a_{i}) \le 0 \text{ if } a_{i} \ne A_{j}, \forall j = 1, \dots, N_{\Omega} \text{ and} \\ (v_{h1}v_{1}^{-} + v_{h2}v_{2}^{-})(a_{i}) \ge 0, (v_{h1}v_{1}^{+} + v_{h2}v_{2}^{+})(a_{i}) \ge 0 \text{ if there exists } j = 1, \dots, N_{\Omega} \\ \text{such that } a_{i} = A_{j}, i = 1, \dots, N_{2}\}$

where a_1, \dots, a_{N_2} are the nodes of the triangulation \mathcal{T}_h lying on $\Gamma_2, A_1, \dots, A_{N_{\Omega}}$ are the vertices of Ω and $\mathbf{v}^- = (v_1^-, v_2^-), \ \mathbf{v}^+ = (v_1^+, v_2^+)$ are the outward unit normal vectors on two adjacent edges (see [29]).

In the following, for simplicity, we shall consider that $j^h(\mathbf{v}_h^1, \mathbf{v}_h^2) = j(\mathbf{v}_h^1, \mathbf{v}_h^2) \quad \forall \mathbf{v}_h^1, \mathbf{v}_h^2 \in \mathbf{V}_h$. It is easy to verify that the conditions (7.9)–(7.13) are fulfilled in this case. Hence, we will consider the following finite element approximation of the problem (**P**).

Problem $(\mathbf{P})_h$: Find $\boldsymbol{u}_h \in \boldsymbol{K}_h$ such that

$$a(\boldsymbol{u}_h, \boldsymbol{v}_h - \boldsymbol{u}_h) + j(\boldsymbol{u}_h, \boldsymbol{v}_h) - j(\boldsymbol{u}_h, \boldsymbol{u}_h) \ge (\boldsymbol{F}, \boldsymbol{v}_h - \boldsymbol{u}_h)_V \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v}_h \in \boldsymbol{K}_h.$$
(8.75)

Theorem 8.8. Suppose that the conditions (8.9), (8.70)–(8.74), and (7.8) hold. Then, if the unique solution \boldsymbol{u} of the problem (**P**) belongs to $(H^2(\Omega))^d \cap \boldsymbol{K}$, one has the error estimate

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}_h - \boldsymbol{u}\|_1 \le C h^{3/4} \|\boldsymbol{u}\|_2 \tag{8.76}$$

where \mathbf{u}_h is the unique solution of the problem $(\mathbf{P})_h$, and C is a positive constant independent of h.

Proof. Taking $\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{u}_h$ in (**P**) and $\mathbf{v}_h = \Pi_h \mathbf{u}$ in (**P**)_h, by addition we get

$$\alpha \| \boldsymbol{u}_{u} - \boldsymbol{u} \|_{1}^{2} \leq a(\boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u}_{h}, \boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u}_{h}) \leq a(\boldsymbol{u}_{h} - \boldsymbol{u}, \Pi_{h}\boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u}) + (a(\boldsymbol{u}, \Pi_{h}\boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u}) - (\boldsymbol{F}, \Pi_{h}\boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u})_{V}) + (j(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{u}_{h}) + j(\boldsymbol{u}_{h}, \Pi_{h}\boldsymbol{u}) - j(\boldsymbol{u}_{h}, \boldsymbol{u}_{h}) - j(\boldsymbol{u}, \Pi_{h}\boldsymbol{u})) + (j(\boldsymbol{u}, \Pi_{h}\boldsymbol{u}) - j(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{u})) .$$

$$(8.77)$$

Since $\mathbf{u} \in (H^2(\Omega))^d$, from the Green's formula, and the trace theorem, we deduce

$$a(\boldsymbol{u}, \Pi_{h}\boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u}) - (\boldsymbol{F}, \Pi_{h}\boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u})_{V} = \int_{\Gamma_{2}} \sigma_{ij}(\boldsymbol{u}) \nu_{j} (\Pi_{h}\boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u})_{i} \, \mathrm{d}s$$

$$\leq \|\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}\|_{0,\Gamma} \|\Pi_{h}\boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u}\|_{0,\Gamma_{2}} \leq C_{1} \|\boldsymbol{u}\|_{2} \|\Pi_{h}\boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u}\|_{0,\Gamma_{2}}.$$
(8.78)

We also have

$$j(\boldsymbol{u}, \Pi_{h}\boldsymbol{u}) - j(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{u}) \leq C_{2}' \|\mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u}))\|_{0, \Gamma_{2}} \|\Pi_{h}\boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u}\|_{0, \Gamma_{2}}$$

$$\leq C_{2}'' \|\sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u})\|_{H^{-1/2}(\Gamma)} \|\Pi_{h}\boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u}\|_{0, \Gamma_{2}} \leq C_{2} \|\boldsymbol{u}\|_{2} \|\Pi_{h}\boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u}\|_{0, \Gamma_{2}}.$$
(8.79)

Now, combining (8.78)–(8.79), (8.33), (8.77), and using the continuity of the form $a(\cdot, \cdot)$, we get

$$(\alpha - k) \|\boldsymbol{u}_h - \boldsymbol{u}\|_1^2 \le (M + k) \|\boldsymbol{u}_h - \boldsymbol{u}\|_1 \|\Pi_h \boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u}\|_1 + C_3 \|\boldsymbol{u}\|_2 \|\Pi_h \boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u}\|_{0, \Gamma_2}.$$
(8.80)

Hence, by using the Young's inequality

$$ab \leq rac{\epsilon a^2}{2} + rac{b^2}{2\epsilon} \qquad orall \epsilon > 0, \ orall a, b \in \mathbb{R}$$

for $\epsilon < \frac{2(\alpha - k)}{M + k}$, we deduce

$$\left(\alpha - k - \frac{M+k}{2}\epsilon\right) \|\boldsymbol{u}_{h} - \boldsymbol{u}\|_{1}^{2} \leq \frac{M+k}{2\epsilon} \|\boldsymbol{\Pi}_{h}\boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u}\|_{1}^{2} + C_{3}\|\boldsymbol{u}\|_{2} \|\boldsymbol{\Pi}_{h}\boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u}\|_{0,\Gamma_{2}}.$$
(8.81)

Therefore, from (8.71), (8.72), and (8.81), the estimate (8.76) follows.

Remark 8.12. The estimate (8.76) can be also obtained from Theorem 7.3. Indeed, by taking $U = (L^2(\Omega))^d$, and proceeding as in (8.78) and (8.79), we have

$$(A\boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{F}, \boldsymbol{v}) \leq C_1 \|\boldsymbol{u}\|_2 \|\boldsymbol{v}\|_{0,\Gamma_2} \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V},$$

 $|j^{h}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}_{h})-j(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v})|=|j(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}_{h})-j(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v})|\leq C_{2}\|\boldsymbol{u}\|_{2}\|\boldsymbol{v}_{h}-\boldsymbol{v}\|_{0,\Gamma_{2}} \,\,\forall\boldsymbol{v}_{h}\in\boldsymbol{K}_{h}\,,\,\forall\boldsymbol{v}\in\boldsymbol{V}\,,$

and so, the hypotheses (7.42) and (7.34) are satisfied.

Therefore, by applying Theorem 7.3 for $v_h = \prod_h u$ and putting $v = u_h$ in (7.43), we obtain (8.76).

Now, we shall show that a higher order of approximation can be obtained for a suitable choice of the regularization operator \mathcal{R} , namely, we consider the mapping \mathcal{R} given by the convolution

$$\mathscr{R}(\varphi) = \omega * \varphi \qquad \forall \varphi \in H^{-1/2}(\Gamma)$$
 (8.82)

where $\omega \in \mathscr{D}(-\delta, \delta)$, with $\delta \in \mathbb{R}$, $\delta > 0$, is such that $\int_{-\delta}^{\delta} \omega(t) dt = 1$ (see,

e.g., [46]).

Theorem 8.9. Let the assumptions (8.9), (8.70)–(8.74), and (7.8) hold. We suppose in addition that the mapping \mathcal{R} is given by (8.82), and that the interpolation operator satisfies

$$\| |\Pi_{h} \boldsymbol{\nu} - \boldsymbol{\nu}| \|_{H^{-1/2}(\Gamma)} \le C h^{2} \| \boldsymbol{\nu} \|_{2} \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\nu} \in (H^{2}(\Omega))^{d} \cap \boldsymbol{V} .$$
(8.83)

Then, if $\mathbf{u} \in (H^2(\Omega))^d \cap \mathbf{K}$, we have the estimate

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}_h - \boldsymbol{u}\|_1 \le Ch \|\boldsymbol{u}\|_2.$$
(8.84)

Proof. If the solution \boldsymbol{u} of (\mathbf{P}) belongs to $H^2(\Omega))^d$, then it follows that $\mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u})) \in H^{1/2}(\Gamma)$, and so

$$j(\boldsymbol{u}, \Pi_{h}\boldsymbol{u}) - j(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{u}) \leq C_{4} \|\mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u}))\|_{1/2, \Gamma} \| |\Pi_{h}\boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u}| \|_{-1/2, \Gamma}.$$
(8.85)

From the definition of the norm in $H^{1/2}(\Gamma)$:

$$\|\psi\|_{H^{1/2}(\Gamma)} = \inf\{\|v\|_1; v \in H^1(\Omega), \psi = \gamma v\},\$$

where $\gamma: H^1(\Omega) \longrightarrow H^{1/2}(\Gamma)$ is the trace operator, we deduce

$$\|\mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u}))\|_{H^{1/2}(\Gamma)}^{2} \leq \|\boldsymbol{\omega} \ast \sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u})\|_{1}^{2} = \int_{\Omega} \left(\int_{\Gamma} \boldsymbol{\omega}(|\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{y}|)(\sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u}))(\boldsymbol{y}) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{y} \right)^{2} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}$$
$$+ \sum_{i=1}^{d} \int_{\Omega} \left(\int_{\Gamma} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} \boldsymbol{\omega}(|\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{y}|)(\sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u}))(\boldsymbol{y}) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{y} \right)^{2} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \leq C_{5} \|\sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u})\|_{0,\Gamma}^{2} \, .$$
(8.86)

We also have

$$a(\boldsymbol{u}, \Pi_{h}\boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u}) - (\boldsymbol{F}, \Pi_{h}\boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u}) = \int_{\Gamma} \sigma_{ij}(\boldsymbol{u}) v_{j} (\Pi_{h}\boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u})_{i} \, \mathrm{d}s$$

$$- \int_{\Gamma_{1}} g_{i} (\Pi_{h}\boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u})_{i} \, \mathrm{d}s \leq C_{6}^{\prime} \left(\|\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}\|_{(H^{1/2}(\Gamma))^{d}} + \|\boldsymbol{g}\|_{(H^{1/2}(\Gamma))^{d}} \right) \|\Pi_{h}\boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u}\|_{(H^{-1/2}(\Gamma))^{d}}$$

$$\leq C_{6} \|\boldsymbol{u}\|_{2} \|\Pi_{h}\boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u}\|_{(H^{-1/2}(\Gamma))^{d}}$$
(8.87)

where we have used the relation

$$\|g\|_{(H^{1/2}(\Gamma))^d} \le \|\sigma \cdot v\|_{(H^{1/2}(\Gamma))^d}.$$

It is easy to verify that

$$|| |z| ||_{H^{1/2}(\Gamma)} \le ||z||_{H^{1/2}(\Gamma)} \quad \forall z \in H^{1/2}(\Gamma),$$

and thus

$$\| |\mathbf{v}| \|_{H^{-1/2}(\Gamma)} = \sup_{z \in H^{1/2}(\Gamma)} \frac{|(|\mathbf{v}|, z)_{0,\Gamma}|}{\|z\|_{H^{1/2}(\Gamma)}} \le \sup_{z \in H^{1/2}(\Gamma)} \frac{(|\mathbf{v}|, |z|)_{0,\Gamma}}{\| |z| \|_{H^{1/2}(\Gamma)}} \ \forall \mathbf{v} \in (H^{1/2}(\Gamma))^d.$$
(8.88)

On the other hand, we have

$$\| |\mathbf{v}| \|_{H^{-1/2}(\Gamma)} \ge \sup_{\substack{z \in H^{1/2}(\Gamma) \\ z \ge 0}} \frac{|(|\mathbf{v}|, z)_{0,\Gamma}|}{\|z\|_{H^{1/2}(\Gamma)}} = \sup_{z \in H^{1/2}(\Gamma)} \frac{(|\mathbf{v}|, |z|)_{0,\Gamma}}{\| |z| \|_{H^{1/2}(\Gamma)}} \ \forall \mathbf{v} \in (H^{1/2}(\Gamma))^d.$$
(8.89)

From the last two relations, we get

$$\| |\mathbf{v}| \|_{H^{-1/2}(\Gamma)} = \sup_{z \in H^{1/2}(\Gamma)} \frac{(|\mathbf{v}|, |z|)_{0,\Gamma}}{\| |z| \|_{H^{1/2}(\Gamma)}} \quad \forall \mathbf{v} \in (H^{1/2}(\Gamma))^d ,$$
(8.90)

and, thus

$$\|\mathbf{v}\|_{(H^{-1/2}(\Gamma))^d} \le d \,\|\, |\mathbf{v}|\,\|_{H^{-1/2}(\Gamma)} \quad \forall \mathbf{v} \in (H^{1/2}(\Gamma))^d \,.$$
(8.91)

Finally, from (8.33), with (8.77), (8.85)–(8.87), and (8.91), the assertion follows. \Box

8.7 Approximation of Dual Problems by Equilibrium Finite Element Method

This section is concerned with the discrete approximations of the dual problem (P_1^*), given by (8.43), and of the dual condensed problem (P_2^*), given by (8.68). In our approach we use the equilibrium finite element method introduced in [25].

We suppose that hypotheses (8.9) and (8.70) hold.

We first recall the space

$$\mathscr{H} = \boldsymbol{H}(\operatorname{div}; \Omega) = \{ \boldsymbol{\tau} \in \boldsymbol{H} ; \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{\tau} \in (L^2(\Omega))^d \},\$$

where

$$H = \{ \tau = (\tau_{ij}); \ \tau_{ij} = \tau_{ji} \in L^2(\Omega), \ 1 \le i, j \le d \}.$$

In the equilibrium methods, the finite dimensional spaces V_h and \mathcal{H}_h are chosen such that the following condition is satisfied.

$$\left. \begin{array}{l} \forall \boldsymbol{\tau} \in \mathscr{H}_h \text{ such that} \\ \int (\operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{\tau}) \boldsymbol{v}_h \, \mathrm{d}x = 0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v}_h \in \boldsymbol{V}_h \end{array} \right\} \Longrightarrow \quad \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{\tau} = 0 \text{ in } \Omega \,.$$
 (8.92)

Moreover, we need to be able to construct a suitable interpolation operator Π_h : $\mathscr{H} \longrightarrow \mathscr{H}_h$ such that

$$\int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div} \left(\Pi_{h} \boldsymbol{\tau} \right) \boldsymbol{v}_{h} \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\Omega} \left(\operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{\tau} \right) \boldsymbol{v}_{h} \, \mathrm{d}x \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v}_{h} \in \boldsymbol{V}_{h} \,, \; \forall \boldsymbol{\tau} \in \mathscr{H}.$$
(8.93)

For the sake of simplicity, we shall assume that the open bounded set $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ is a convex polygonal. Let \mathscr{T}_h be a regular family of triangulations of Ω , as in Sect. 8.6, such that

$$\overline{\Omega} = \bigcup_{T \in \mathscr{T}_h} T$$

Johnson and Mercier [31] have proposed two different choices of the spaces \mathcal{H}_h and V_h using low degree polynomials which meet the requirements (8.92) and (8.93). In both cases, they used composite piecewise linear finite elements, called macro elements (see Fig. 8.2), for the stresses, one triangular and one quadrilateral, together with piecewise linear discontinuous displacements.

We briefly recall one of these choices. We consider a composite triangle T, i.e. T is divided into three subtriangles T_1 , T_2 , T_3 .

For each $T \in \mathscr{T}_h$, we define the finite dimensional space of piecewise linear stress tensors by



Fig. 8.2 Composite triangle *T*

 $\mathscr{H}_T = \{ \boldsymbol{\tau} \in \hat{\mathscr{H}}_T ; \ \boldsymbol{\tau} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu} \text{ is continuous across the subtriangle boundaries} \\ 1-4, 2-4, 3-4 \} \subset \boldsymbol{H}(\operatorname{div}; T),$

where

$$\hat{\mathscr{H}}_T = \{ \boldsymbol{\tau} = (\tau_{ij}); \ \tau_{ij} = \tau_{ji} \in L^2(T), \ i, j = 1, 2, \ \boldsymbol{\tau}/T_k \in (P_1(T_k))^4, \ k = 1, 2, 3 \},\$$

 P_1 denoting the space of all polynomials of degree less than 1 in the variables x_1, x_2 . The stress space \mathcal{H} is then approximated by

$$\mathscr{H}_h = \{ \boldsymbol{\tau} \in \hat{\mathscr{H}}_h ; \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{\tau} \in (L^2(\Omega))^2 \} \subset \mathscr{H},$$

with

$$\mathscr{H}_h = \{ \boldsymbol{\tau} \in \boldsymbol{H} ; \ \boldsymbol{\tau} / T \in \mathscr{H}_T, \ \forall T \in \mathscr{T}_h \},$$

and the displacement space V is approximated by

$$\boldsymbol{V}_h = \{ \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V} ; \ \boldsymbol{v}/T \in (P_1(T))^2, \ \forall T \in \mathscr{T}_h \}$$

The interpolation operator $\Pi_h : \mathscr{H} \longrightarrow \mathscr{H}_h$ is uniquely defined by the following two requirements:

$$\int_{S} \boldsymbol{\nu} \cdot ((\boldsymbol{\tau} - \boldsymbol{\Pi}_h \boldsymbol{\tau}) \boldsymbol{\nu}) \, \mathrm{d}s = 0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\nu} \in (P_1(S))^2, \; \forall \boldsymbol{\tau} \in (H^1(\Omega))^4, \tag{8.94}$$

for any side S of \mathcal{T}_h , v being the outward normal to S, and

$$\int_{T} (\boldsymbol{\tau} - \boldsymbol{\Pi}_{h} \boldsymbol{\tau}) \, \mathrm{d}x = 0 \quad \forall T \in \mathscr{T}_{h}.$$
(8.95)

We shall use $\|\cdot\|_m$ and $|\cdot|_m$ to denote the usual norm and, respectively, seminorm on $(H^m(\Omega))^q$ with *m* and *q* integers.

By Green's formula, it follows that this interpolation operator satisfies the condition (8.93), and, in addition, we have the estimates

$$\begin{aligned} \|\operatorname{div} \Pi_h \boldsymbol{\tau}\|_0 &\leq C \|\operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{\tau}\|_0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\tau} \in \mathscr{H} \cap (H^1(\Omega))^4 \\ \|\boldsymbol{\tau} - \Pi_h \boldsymbol{\tau}\|_0 &\leq C h^2 |\boldsymbol{\tau}|_2 \quad \boldsymbol{\tau} \in \mathscr{H} \cap (H^2(\Omega))^4. \end{aligned}$$

Proceeding as in [31] or [16], we obtain

$$\|\boldsymbol{\tau} - \boldsymbol{\Pi}_h \boldsymbol{\tau}\|_{\mathscr{H}} \le Ch |\boldsymbol{\tau}|_2 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\tau} \in \mathscr{H} \cap (H^2(\Omega))^4.$$
(8.96)

In the sequel we shall give two error estimates for the equilibrium finite element approximations \mathscr{H}_h and V_h of the dual problems (\mathbf{P}_1^*) and (\mathbf{P}_2^*). First, let us consider the following abstract variational inequality of the first kind:

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{\sigma} \in \boldsymbol{\Sigma} \subset \mathcal{H} \\ b(\boldsymbol{\sigma}, \boldsymbol{\tau} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}) \geq L(\boldsymbol{\tau} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}), \ \forall \boldsymbol{\tau} \in \boldsymbol{\Sigma}, \end{cases}$$
(8.97)

where Σ is the set of the constraints of this problem. Then, for any internal approximation of this problem, we have the a priori error estimate (see Remark 7.2, p. 123 or [16, p. 292]):

$$\|\boldsymbol{\sigma} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}_h\|_{\mathscr{H}} \leq C \left(\inf_{\boldsymbol{\tau}_h \in \boldsymbol{\Sigma}_h} (\|\boldsymbol{\sigma} - \boldsymbol{\tau}_h\|_{\mathscr{H}}^2 + \alpha \|\boldsymbol{\sigma} - \boldsymbol{\tau}_h\|_{\mathscr{H}}) + \alpha \inf_{\boldsymbol{\tau} \in \boldsymbol{\Sigma}} \|\boldsymbol{\sigma}_h - \boldsymbol{\tau}\|_{\mathscr{H}} \right)^{1/2}$$
(8.98)

where *C* is a constant independent of *h*, Σ_h is the discrete set corresponding to Σ and $\alpha = ||B\sigma - L||_{\mathscr{W}}$ with \mathscr{W} a Banach space such that $\mathscr{H} \subset \mathscr{W}$ and $B\sigma - L \in \mathscr{W}$, *B* being the continuous linear operator associated with the form *b*.

The difficulty in deriving an error estimate, obviously by using the properties of the interpolation operator Π_h , is to construct an approximation Σ_h of the set Σ such that $\Pi_h \sigma \in \Sigma_h$. We note also that the third term from the a priori estimate (8.98), which is presumed to have the greatest weight, vanishes if $\Sigma_h \subset \Sigma$ (a condition satisfied if, for instance, $\Sigma_h = \Sigma \cap \mathcal{H}_h$).

We shall consider two particular cases (see [14]):

- (a) the problem without contact and without friction, i.e. the classic problem of linear elasticity;
- (b) the problem with given friction.

For the general case, we only prove the convergence of the approximation.

As usual, for deriving error estimates, we will suppose that the solution σ of the problem (\mathbf{P}_1^*) is sufficiently smooth.

(a) Linear elasticity

In this case, the problem (\mathbf{P}_1^*) can be written under the form (8.97) with

$$\Sigma = \{ \tau \in \mathcal{H} ; -\operatorname{div} \tau = f \text{ a.e. in } \Omega, \ \tau \cdot \nu = g \text{ a.e. on } \Gamma_1 \}.$$
(8.99)

By applying the estimate (8.98), as $\alpha = 0$, one obtains

$$\|\boldsymbol{\sigma} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}_h\|_{\mathscr{H}} \le C \inf_{\boldsymbol{\tau}_h \in \boldsymbol{\Sigma}_h} \|\boldsymbol{\sigma} - \boldsymbol{\tau}_h\|_{\mathscr{H}}.$$
(8.100)

A natural choice of the discrete set Σ_h is to take the functions of \mathcal{H}_h which satisfy the conditions of Σ only in the nodes of the triangulation, i.e.

$$\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_{h} = \{ \boldsymbol{\tau}_{h} \in \mathscr{H}_{h}; -\operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{\tau}_{h}(x_{i}) = \boldsymbol{f}(x_{i}), \ \forall x_{i} \in \mathscr{N}(\Omega) \text{ and} \\ (\boldsymbol{\tau} \cdot \mathbf{n})(y_{i}) = \boldsymbol{g}(y_{i}), \ \forall y_{i} \in \mathscr{N}(\Gamma_{1}) \}$$
(8.101)

where $\mathcal{N}(\Omega)$ and $\mathcal{N}(\Gamma_1)$ denote the set of the nodes of \mathcal{T}_h lying on Ω , and, respectively, on Γ_1 .

Then, we have the following result.

Theorem 8.10. Under the above hypotheses, there exists a constant C, independent of h, such that

$$\|\boldsymbol{\sigma} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}_h\|_{\mathscr{H}} \le Ch |\boldsymbol{\sigma}|_2. \tag{8.102}$$

Proof. From (8.100) and (8.96), it follows that we must only prove that $\Pi_h \sigma \in \Sigma_h$. In fact, we have even much more

$$\Pi_h \boldsymbol{\tau} \in \boldsymbol{\Sigma}_h \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\tau} \in \boldsymbol{\Sigma}_h$$

Indeed, if $\tau \in \Sigma$, then, from the definition (8.99), using (8.93) and (8.94) for a suitable choice of v_h , we obtain, from the definition (8.101), that $\Pi_h \tau \in \Sigma_h$. \Box

Proposition 8.2. If the volume force f is constant (weight) and the surface traction g is linear (linear distribution of forces), then $\Sigma_h = \Sigma \cap \mathcal{H}_h$.

Proof. The assertion is immediate taking into account that the approximation \mathcal{H}_h of the stress space \mathcal{H} is constructed with piecewise linear finite elements, and so, if a such stress satisfies the condition of Σ in the nodes of the triangulation, then it satisfies these conditions in Ω , and, respectively, on Γ_1 .

(b) Signorini problem with given friction

As in the above case, the problem (\mathbf{P}_1^*) can be written under the form (8.97) with

$$\boldsymbol{\Sigma} = \{ \boldsymbol{\tau} \in \mathscr{H} ; \ \langle \boldsymbol{\tau}, \boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{v}) \rangle_{H} + J_{\theta}(\boldsymbol{v}) \ge (\boldsymbol{F}, \boldsymbol{v})_{V}, \ \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{K} \},$$
(8.103)

where θ is a given friction (the problem of Tresca) and

$$J_{\theta}(\mathbf{v}) = -\int_{\Gamma_2} \mu \,\theta \,|\mathbf{v}_{\tau}| \,\mathrm{d}s \,.$$

We consider the approximation of Σ defined by

$$\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_{h} = \{\boldsymbol{\tau}_{h} \in \mathscr{H}_{h}; \langle \boldsymbol{\tau}_{h}, \boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{v}_{h}) \rangle_{\boldsymbol{H}} + J_{\theta}(\boldsymbol{v}_{h}) \ge (\boldsymbol{F}, \boldsymbol{v}_{h})_{\boldsymbol{V}}, \forall \boldsymbol{v}_{h} \in \boldsymbol{K}_{h} \}.$$
(8.104)

Then, we have the following estimate results.

Theorem 8.11. We assume that f is constant, g is linear, and θ is concave or piecewise linear. Then, there exist the constants C, which are independent of h, such that

$$\|\boldsymbol{\sigma} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}_h\|_{\mathscr{H}} \le C h^{1/2} |\boldsymbol{\sigma}|_2, \qquad (8.105)$$

$$\|\sigma_{\nu} - (\sigma_{\nu})_{h}\|_{H^{-1/2}(\Gamma)} \le C h^{1/2} |\sigma_{\nu}|_{2}, \qquad (8.106)$$

$$\|\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau} - (\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau})_{h}\|_{(H^{-1/2}(\Gamma))^{d}} \le C h^{1/2} |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}|_{2}, \qquad (8.107)$$

where $\boldsymbol{\sigma}$ is the unique solution of the dual problem (\mathbf{P}_1^*) and $\boldsymbol{\sigma}^* = (\sigma_v, \boldsymbol{\sigma}_\tau)$ is the unique solution of the dual condensed problem (\mathbf{P}_2^*) .

Proof. By using the same arguments as in the proof of Proposition 8.2, we obtain $\Sigma_h = \Sigma \cap \mathcal{H}_h$. Taking now in (8.98), $\tau = \sigma_h$ and $\tau_h = \Pi_h \sigma$, we deduce the estimate (8.105).

Finally, in the dual condensed problem (**P**^{*}₂), the unknown $\sigma^* = (\sigma_{\nu}, \sigma_{\tau})$ is searched in the set $(-K_{\nu}^*) \times C_{\theta}$ where

$$C_{\theta} = \{ \boldsymbol{\tau}^* \in (H^{-1/2}(\Gamma_2))^d ; \langle \boldsymbol{\tau}^*, \boldsymbol{v}_{\tau} \rangle_{\Gamma_2} \leq J_{\theta}(\boldsymbol{v}), \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in V \}.$$

Hence, in this case with given friction, we can decompose the inequality (\mathbf{P}_2^*) into two inequalities for obtaining independently σ_{ν} and σ_{τ} . Therefore, from (8.100), and the trace theorem, the assertion follows.

(c) Signorini problem with nonlocal Coulomb friction

We remark that, in the general case, in order to derive an error estimate for the equilibrium finite element approximation of the problem (\mathbf{P}_1^*), we must construct the approximation of $\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_h(\boldsymbol{\tau}_h)$ such that the following conditions are satisfied:

$$\left. \begin{array}{c} \Pi_h \boldsymbol{\sigma} \in \boldsymbol{\Sigma}_h(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_h) , \\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}_h \in \boldsymbol{\Sigma}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}) . \end{array} \right\}$$

$$(8.108)$$

It is the case, for instance, if the solution σ is concave, but this condition cannot be imposed or controlled. The same conclusion we obtain for the dual condensed formulation (P_2^*). Hence, the obtaining of an optimal error estimate, for the general case, is an open problem as long as we are not able to construct an approximation which ensures the above conditions. However, in the general case, we shall obtain a convergence result of the approximation.

Before detailing the approaches we made for this convergence, it must be mentioned that we can approximate the dual condensed problem (\mathbf{P}_2^*) in two different ways:

- (i) We can consider an internal approximation $(\mathbf{P})_h$ of the primal problem (\mathbf{P}) (as, for instance, in [48]), and then we apply the M–CD–M duality theory to obtain the discretized dual formulation $(\mathbf{P})_h^*$;
- (ii) We obtain, by the M–CD–M duality theory, the dual condensed formulation (\mathbf{P}_2^*) of the primal problem (\mathbf{P}), and then, by using the equilibrium finite element method on plane surface, we deduce the discretized dual formulation (\mathbf{P}_2^*)_h.

We now consider the following approximation by the equilibrium finite elements of the problem (\mathbf{P}_1^*) .

Problem $(\mathbf{P}_1^*)_{\mathbf{h}}$: Find $\boldsymbol{\sigma}_h \in \boldsymbol{\Sigma}_h(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_h)$ such that

$$b(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_h, \boldsymbol{\tau}_h - \boldsymbol{\sigma}_h) \geq 0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\tau}_h \in \boldsymbol{\Sigma}_h(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_h)$$

where

$$\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_{h}(\boldsymbol{s}) = \{\boldsymbol{\tau}_{h} \in \mathscr{H}_{h}; \ \langle \boldsymbol{\tau}_{h}, \boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{v}_{h}) \rangle_{H} + \bar{j}(\boldsymbol{s}, \boldsymbol{v}_{h}) \ge (\boldsymbol{F}, \boldsymbol{v}_{h})_{V}, \ \forall \boldsymbol{v}_{h} \in \boldsymbol{K}_{h} \}.$$
(8.109)

Our goal is to study the behavior of the discrete solution σ_h when $h \rightarrow 0$. The proof of Theorem 8.6 suggests the approach that we are going to do next.

For $u^0 \in K$ and $\sigma^0 \in \mathcal{H}$ given, we consider the sequences $\{u^n\}_n$ and $\{\sigma^n\}_n$ defined by:

Problem $(\mathbf{P})_{\mathbf{n}}$: Find $u^n \in K$ such that

$$a(\boldsymbol{u}^n,\boldsymbol{v}-\boldsymbol{u}^n)+j_f(\boldsymbol{u}^{n-1},\boldsymbol{v})-j_f(\boldsymbol{u}^{n-1},\boldsymbol{u}^n)\geq (\boldsymbol{F},\boldsymbol{v}-\boldsymbol{u}^n)_V\quad\forall\boldsymbol{v}\in\boldsymbol{K}\,,$$

Problem $(\mathbf{P}_1^*)_n$: Find $\sigma^n \in \Sigma(\sigma^{n-1})$ such that

$$b(\boldsymbol{\sigma}^n, \boldsymbol{\tau} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}^n) \geq 0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\tau} \in \boldsymbol{\Sigma}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{n-1})$$

i.e. u^n and, respectively, σ^n is the unique solution, no matter the coefficient of friction is, of the problem with given friction (**P**)_n and, respectively, (**P**^{*}₁)_n.

We may suppose that $u^0 \in C_f$. Hence, we have $j_f(u^n, v) = j(u^n, v)$, $\forall v \in V$, $\forall n \ge 0$. Also, as u is the unique solution of the problem (**P**), we have $j_f(u, v) = j(u, v)$, $\forall v \in V$.

Taking v = u in $(\mathbf{P})_n$ and $v = u^n$ in (\mathbf{P}) , by adding the two inequalities and by using (8.33), we obtain:

$$\alpha \| \boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u}^n \|_1^2 \le a(\boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u}^n, \boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u}^n) \le j(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{u}^n) + j(\boldsymbol{u}^{n-1}, \boldsymbol{u}) - j(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{u}) -j(\boldsymbol{u}^{n-1}, \boldsymbol{u}^n) \le C_2 \| \boldsymbol{\mu} \|_{L^{\infty}(\Gamma_2)} \| \boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u}^{n-1} \|_1 \| \boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u}^n \|_1$$

hence

$$\|\boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u}^n\|_1 \le k \|\boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u}^{n-1}\|_1$$

with k < 1 for μ chosen as in (8.70) and (8.34). It follows

$$\|\boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u}^n\|_1 \le k^n \|\boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u}^0\|_1.$$
(8.110)

The relationship between the two problems $(P)_n$ and $(P_1^*)_n$ is given by the proposition below.

Proposition 8.3. Let $u^0 \in C_f$ and $\sigma^0 = \sigma(u^0) \in \mathcal{H}$ be given. Then, we have

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}^n = \boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}^n), \ \forall n \in \mathbb{N}$$
(8.111)

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \|\boldsymbol{\sigma}^n - \boldsymbol{\sigma}\|_{\mathscr{H}} = 0 \tag{8.112}$$

Proof. First, let us remark that the condition $\sigma(u^0) \in \mathscr{H}$ is not too restrictive. Indeed, a natural choice is to take $u^0 \in K$ as the unique solution of

$$a(\boldsymbol{u}^0, \boldsymbol{v} - \boldsymbol{u}^0) \geq (\boldsymbol{F}, \boldsymbol{v} - \boldsymbol{u}^0)_{\boldsymbol{V}} \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{K}$$

which implies that div $\sigma(u^0) = -f$ a.e. in Ω , and so, $\sigma(u^0) \in \mathcal{H}$.

We shall prove by recurrence the relation (8.111). If we suppose that $\sigma^{n-1} = \sigma(u^{n-1})$ holds, then, taking $v = 2u^n$ and v = 0 in (**P**)_n, we obtain

$$\langle \boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}^n), \boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{u}^n) \rangle_{\boldsymbol{H}} + \bar{j}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{n-1}, \boldsymbol{u}^n) = (\boldsymbol{F}, \boldsymbol{u}^n)_{\boldsymbol{V}},$$
 (8.113)

$$\langle \boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}^n), \boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{v}) \rangle_H + \bar{j}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{n-1}, \boldsymbol{v}) \ge (\boldsymbol{F}, \boldsymbol{v})_V \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{K} .$$
 (8.114)

The last relation gives

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}^n) \in \boldsymbol{\Sigma}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{n-1}). \tag{8.115}$$

On the other hand, for every $\tau \in \Sigma(\sigma^{n-1})$, one has

$$\langle \boldsymbol{\tau}, \boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{u}^n) \rangle_H + \bar{j} (\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{n-1}, \boldsymbol{u}^n) \ge (\boldsymbol{F}, \boldsymbol{u}^n)_V.$$
 (8.116)

From (8.113) and (8.116), we get

$$b(\boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}^n), \boldsymbol{\tau} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}^n)) \ge 0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\tau} \in \boldsymbol{\Sigma}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{n-1}).$$
(8.117)

Since the solution of the problem $(\mathbf{P}_1^*)_n$ is unique, the relations (8.115) and (8.117) imply the assertion (8.111).

Finally, taking into account that $\operatorname{div} \sigma^n = \operatorname{div} \sigma = -\mathbf{f}$ a.e. in Ω , and using the relations (8.64) and (8.110), we obtain

$$\|\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{n} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}\|_{\mathscr{H}} = \|\boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}^{n} - \boldsymbol{u})\|_{H} \le C \|\boldsymbol{u}^{n} - \boldsymbol{u}\|_{1} \le C k^{n}, \qquad (8.118)$$

with C a constant independent of n, and k < 1. Then, the relation (8.112) follows.

In the same way, we approach the discrete problems $(\mathbf{P})_h$ and $(\mathbf{P}_1^*)_h$ by the following sequences of problems $\{(\mathbf{P})_{h,n}\}_n$ and $\{(\mathbf{P}_1^*)_{h,n}\}_n$.

Problem $(\mathbf{P})_{\mathbf{h},\mathbf{n}}$: Find $\boldsymbol{u}_h^n \in \boldsymbol{K}_h$ such that

$$a(\boldsymbol{u}_h^n,\boldsymbol{v}_h-\boldsymbol{u}_h^n)+j(\boldsymbol{u}_h^{n-1},\boldsymbol{v}_h)-j(\boldsymbol{u}_h^{n-1},\boldsymbol{u}_h^n)\geq (\boldsymbol{F},\boldsymbol{v}_h-\boldsymbol{u}_h^n)_V\quad\forall\boldsymbol{v}_h\in\boldsymbol{K}_h,$$

Problem $(\mathbf{P}_1^*)_{\mathbf{h},\mathbf{n}}$: Find $\sigma_h^n \in \Sigma(\sigma_h^{n-1})$ such that

$$b(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_h^n, \boldsymbol{\tau}_h - \boldsymbol{\sigma}_h^n) \geq 0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\tau}_h \in \boldsymbol{\Sigma}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_h^{n-1}).$$

with $\boldsymbol{u}_h^0 \in \boldsymbol{K}_h$ and $\boldsymbol{\sigma}_h^0 \in \mathscr{H}_h$ given.

We remark that, for any $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$, the problem $(\mathbf{P})_{\mathbf{h},\mathbf{n}}$, and respectively, $(\mathbf{P}_1^*)_{\mathbf{h},\mathbf{n}}$ has a unique solution. Arguing as in the continuous case, we find that the sequence $\{(\mathbf{P}_1^*)_{\mathbf{h},\mathbf{n}}\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}^*}$ approximates the problem $(\mathbf{P}_1^*)_{\mathbf{h}}$ in the following sense.

Proposition 8.4. We suppose that f is linear and $\sigma_h^0 = \sigma(u_h^0)$. Then, we have

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{h}^{n} = \boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}_{h}^{n}) \quad \forall n \in \mathbb{N},$$
(8.119)

and

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \|\boldsymbol{\sigma}_h^n - \boldsymbol{\sigma}_h\|_{\mathscr{H}} = 0.$$
(8.120)

Proof. The hypothesis on f and the definition of the spaces V_h and \mathcal{H}_h imply that div $\sigma_h = \text{div } \sigma(u_h^n) = -f$ a.e. in Ω . Therefore, by a similar proof as for Proposition 8.3, the assertion follows.

We are now prepared to prove the main convergence result of this section.

Theorem 8.12. If we suppose that f is linear, then

$$\sigma_h \longrightarrow \sigma$$
 strongly in \mathcal{H} . (8.121)

Proof. In order to obtain the convergence, we write

$$\|\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{h}-\boldsymbol{\sigma}\|_{\mathscr{H}} \leq \|\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{h}-\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{h}^{n}\|_{\mathscr{H}}+\|\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{h}^{n}-\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{n}\|_{\mathscr{H}}+\|\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{n}-\boldsymbol{\sigma}\|_{\mathscr{H}} \quad \forall n \geq 0.$$
(8.122)

From Propositions 8.3 and 8.4, it follows that, for any $\epsilon > 0$, there exists $N_{\epsilon} > 0$ such that

$$\|\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{h} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{h}^{n}\|_{\mathscr{H}} + \|\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{n} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}\|_{\mathscr{H}} \leq \frac{\epsilon}{2} \quad \forall n \geq N_{\epsilon} .$$

$$(8.123)$$

In order to estimate the second term in the right-hand side of (8.122), we recall that the construction of the spaces V_h and \mathcal{H}_h was obtained with polynomials of degree one, f is linear, and so

$$\|\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{h}^{n} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{n}\|_{\mathscr{H}} = \|\boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}_{h}^{n}) - \boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}^{n})\|_{\mathscr{H}} = \|\boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}_{h}^{n}) - \boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}^{n})\|_{H}$$

$$\leq C \|\boldsymbol{u}_{h}^{n} - \boldsymbol{u}^{n}\|_{1} \leq C \sum_{i=0}^{n} \|\boldsymbol{w}_{h}^{i} - \boldsymbol{u}^{i}\|_{1} \quad \forall n \geq 0.$$
(8.124)

In the last inequality we used the relation (7.30), \mathbf{w}_h^i being the unique solution of the problem (\mathbf{P}^a)_{i,h} defined by (7.24).
Finally, from (8.123), (8.124) and Proposition 7.2, by taking $n = N_{\epsilon}$ in (8.122), we deduce that, for $\epsilon > 0$ given, there exists $H_{\epsilon} > 0$ such that

$$\|\boldsymbol{\sigma}_h - \boldsymbol{\sigma}\|_{\mathscr{H}} \le \epsilon \quad \forall h \le H_\epsilon \,, \tag{8.125}$$

and so, the convergence (8.121).

8.8 An Optimal Control Problem

In the optimal control theory, the problems which are of interest concern the existence and, when possible, the uniqueness of an optimal control, and also the derivation of the necessary conditions of optimality or, better, the necessary and sufficient optimality conditions. This means to find an equation or an inequality that characterizes the optimal control. We remark that, if the relation control-state is linear, then the cost functional is convex differentiable, and so, the optimality conditions are easy to obtain.

For a better understanding of the problem we shall study in this section, we briefly recall the main ideas of the optimal control theory (see, for instance, [34,35]), in the simplest case of a system governed by a continuous linear operator.

We consider two Hilbert spaces: the space V of states and the space \mathscr{U} of controls. Let $A \in \mathscr{L}(V, V^*)$ and $B \in \mathscr{L}(\mathscr{U}, V^*)$ be two operators, and $f \in V^*$ be a given element. Then, if $v \in \mathscr{U}$ is a given control, the state is defined as the solution $u \in V$, which, obviously, depends on v, of the following system (mechanical, physical, etc.) governed by the operator A:

$$Au = f + Bv$$

We also suppose that there exists another Hilbert space W where one can obtain some observations of the state u = u(v), i.e. one has w(v) = C(u(v)) where $C \in \mathcal{L}(V, W)$. It is natural to call W the space of observations.

Therefore, to any control v, we associate the cost functional defined by

$$J(v) = \|C(u(v)) - w_d\|_W^2 + J_0(v)$$

where $w_d \in W$ is a given observation. The additional term $J_0(v)$ is usually introduced to enrich the properties of the functional J. For instance, if the functional J_0 is coercive, then so is the functional J.

The control problem is the following constrained minimization problem

$$\inf_{v \in \mathscr{U}_{ad}} J(v)$$

where the set \mathcal{U}_{ad} , called the set of admissible controls, is convex closed in \mathcal{U} .

We say that v^* is an optimal control iff v^* achieves the minimum, i.e.

$$J(v^*) = \inf_{v \in \mathscr{U}_{ad}} J(v)$$

From the above example, it is obvious that an infinity of problems can be considered by taking into account the complexity of the involved systems, the diversity of the boundary conditions, the nature of the controls or observations (distributed or boundary).

The work of Lions [34] on the optimal control of systems governed by partial differential equations represents the foundation of the optimal control theory. The subject was developed by the contributions of Sprekels and Tiba [54] and Neittaanmaki and Tiba [43]. For the optimal control of variational inequalities, we refer to Friedman [26], Mignot [38], Barbu [6], Mignot and Puel [39], Barbu and Tiba [7], or Neittaanmaki et al. [42].

Despite the fact that there are many applications of the optimal control theory in mechanics (see, for instance, Abergel and Temam [2], Abergel and Casas [1], Capatina and Stavre [15]), the optimal control of contact problems is not very often addressed in the literature. We mention here the results obtained by Bermudez and Saguez [8], Capatina [13], Sofonea and Tiba [53], Matei and Micu [37] for static contact friction problems.

In this section we study, following the work [13], an optimal control problem governed by the problem (**P**), p. 141. From the physical point of view, it is of great interest to determine the coefficient of friction, which depends on the nature of the materials in contact, such that one obtains certain displacements on the part of the contact boundary. The mathematical formulation of this mechanical model is an optimal control problem governed by the quasi-variational inequality (8.15). In such an approach one encounters considerable mathematical impediments, and the standard methods (see, for instance, [6, 35, 38]) cannot be applied for deriving the necessary optimality conditions. The difficulties in our problem are involved by: the state is the solution of a quasi-variational inequality, the control is a coefficient defined only on a part of the boundary, and the relationship between the control and the state is nonsmooth and nonconvex. In order to surpass these difficulties, we will approximate the given problem by a family of penalized control problems governed by a family of regularized problems governed by an equation.

We assume that the following hypotheses hold:

where $W = \{ w \in V ; \text{ div } \sigma(w) \in (L^2(\Omega))^d \}.$

Then, it is easy to see that Theorem 8.2 is still valid. In addition, instead of relations (8.32) and (8.33), used in the proof of Theorem 8.3, we have

$$\begin{aligned} &|j_f(u_1, v_2) + j_f(u_2, v_1) - j_f(u_1, v_1) - j_f(u_2, v_2)| \\ &\leq \|\mu\|_{L^2(\Gamma_2)} \|\mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu}(P_f u_1 - P_f u_2))\|_{C(\overline{\Gamma}_2)} \|v_1 - v_2\|_{(L^2(\Gamma_2))^d} \\ &\leq C \|\mu\|_{L^2(\Gamma_2)} \|u_1 - u_2\|_1 \|v_1 - v_2\|_1 \quad \forall u_1, u_2, v_1, v_2 \in V \end{aligned}$$

and so, by choosing $\mu_1 < \frac{C}{\alpha}$ and by applying Theorem 4.16, it follows that for any $\mu \in L^2(\Gamma_2)$ with $\mu \ge 0$ a.e. on Γ_2 and $\|\mu\|_{L^2(\Gamma_2)} \le \mu_1$, the problem (**P**) has a unique solution, denoted by u^{μ} .

The mathematical formulation of our optimal control problem is the following. **Problem** (**CP**): Find $\mu^* \in M$ such that

$$J(\mu^*) = \min_{\mu \in M} J(\mu)$$
 (8.127)

where

$$M = \{ \mu \in L^2(\Gamma_2) ; \ \|\mu\|_{L^2(\Gamma_2)} \le \mu_1 \},$$
(8.128)

and

$$J(\mu) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Gamma_2} (\boldsymbol{u}^{\mu} - \boldsymbol{u}_d)^2 \,\mathrm{d}s\,, \qquad (8.129)$$

with $u_d \in L^2(\Omega)$ given, representing a desired profile for displacements on Γ_2 .

Also, to better highlight the dependence of the solution u^{μ} of the coefficient of friction μ , we put

$$\varphi(\mu, \boldsymbol{w}, \boldsymbol{v}) = -\int_{\Gamma_2} \mu \mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{w})) |\boldsymbol{v}_{\tau}| \, \mathrm{d}s \quad \forall \boldsymbol{w} \in \boldsymbol{W} \,, \, \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V} \,, \tag{8.130}$$

and thus, the problem satisfied by u_{μ} will be written under the following form.

Problem $(\mathbf{P})^{\mu}$: Find $u^{\mu} \in K$ such that

$$a(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}-\boldsymbol{u}) + \varphi(\boldsymbol{\mu},\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}) - \varphi(\boldsymbol{\mu},\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{u}) \ge (\boldsymbol{F},\boldsymbol{v}-\boldsymbol{u})_{\boldsymbol{V}} \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{K}.$$
(8.131)

The first result to prove is the existence of an optimal control.

Theorem 8.13. The optimal control problem (CP) has at least one solution.

Proof. The set M is bounded convex closed in the reflexive Banach space $L^2(\Gamma_2)$, and so it is weakly closed. Then, taking into account that the functional J is weakly lower semicontinuous on M, the assertion of the theorem follows by applying Weierstrass Theorem 4.2.

8.8 An Optimal Control Problem

Since the state u^{μ} is the solution of a quasi-variational inequality and the control μ is a boundary coefficient which occurs only in the term defined on Γ_2 , we have less informations about the relationship control-state. Hence, we cannot used the differentiability of J for deriving a characterization of an optimal control. For this reason, we will approximate the problem (8.127) by a family of penalized problems governed by a variational inequality.

More precisely, let us fix a solution μ^0 of the problem (**CP**). Then, for any $\epsilon > 0$, we define the functional

$$J_{\epsilon}(\mu, \mathbf{w}) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Gamma_2} (\mathbf{u}^{\mu, \mathbf{w}} - \mathbf{u}_d)^2 \, ds + \frac{1}{2\epsilon} \|\mathbf{u}^{\mu, \mathbf{w}} - \mathbf{w}\|_W^2 + \frac{1}{2} \|\mu - \mu^0\|_{L^2(\Gamma_2)}^2 \quad \forall \mu \in M , \ \forall \mathbf{w} \in W$$
(8.132)

where the state $u^{\mu,w}$ is, this time, the unique solution of the following variational inequality of the second kind:

Problem (**P**)^{μ ,w}: Find $u \in K$ such that

$$a(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}-\boldsymbol{u}) + \varphi(\boldsymbol{\mu},\boldsymbol{w},\boldsymbol{v}) - \varphi(\boldsymbol{\mu},\boldsymbol{w},\boldsymbol{u}) \ge (\boldsymbol{F},\boldsymbol{v}-\boldsymbol{u})_{\boldsymbol{V}} \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{K} .$$
(8.133)

Now, we consider the following family of penalized problems

Problem $(\mathbf{CP})_{\epsilon}$: Find $(\mu_{\epsilon}^*, w_{\epsilon}^*) \in M \times W$ such that

$$J_{\epsilon}(\mu_{\epsilon}^*, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^*) = \min_{(\mu, \boldsymbol{w}) \in M \times W} J_{\epsilon}(\mu, \boldsymbol{w}).$$
(8.134)

From the definition of the functional J_{ϵ} , it follows that, if $(\mu_{\epsilon}^*, w_{\epsilon}^*)$ is an optimal control for the problem $(\mathbf{CP})_{\epsilon}$, then the corresponding solution $u_{\epsilon}^* = u^{\mu_{\epsilon}^*, w_{\epsilon}^*}$ is forced to be very closed to w_{ϵ}^* , and also, the control μ_{ϵ}^* will be not far from the chosen optimal control μ^0 of the initial problem (**CP**).

Remark 8.13. In our approach it is enough to consider only the constraint $w \in W$ instead of $w \in K \cap W$. In addition, this constraint is convenient since it leads, as one see below, to an equation in the optimality system (obviously, the appurtenance to K would generate an inequality).

The first result for the family $(\mathbf{CP})_{\epsilon}$ is an existence one.

Proposition 8.5. For any $\epsilon > 0$ there exists at least one solution $(\mu_{\epsilon}, \mathbf{w}_{\epsilon})$ of the optimization problem $(\mathbf{CP})_{\epsilon}$.

Proof. Every minimizing sequence for the functional J_{ϵ} is bounded. Indeed, let $\{(\mu_{\epsilon}^n, w_{\epsilon}^n)\}_n$ be a minimizing sequence for J_{ϵ} on $M \times W$, i.e.

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} J_{\epsilon}(\mu_{\epsilon}^{n}, w_{\epsilon}^{n}) = \inf_{(\mu, w)\in M\times W} J_{\epsilon}(\mu, w).$$

If $\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n} = \boldsymbol{u}^{\mu_{\epsilon}^{n}, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{n}}$, then, by taking $\boldsymbol{v} = \boldsymbol{0}$ and $\boldsymbol{v} = 2\boldsymbol{u}$ in the problem $(\mathbf{P})^{\mu_{\epsilon}^{n}, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{n}}$, and using the positivity of φ , we get the estimate

$$a(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n},\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}) \leq a(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n},\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}) + \varphi(\mu_{\epsilon}^{n},\boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{n},\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}) = (\boldsymbol{F},\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n})_{\boldsymbol{V}}.$$

$$(8.135)$$

It follows, by using the coerciveness of a, that the sequence $\{\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}\}_{n}$ is bounded in V. Taking into account that div $\sigma(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}) = -f$, a.e. on Ω , we deduce that $\{\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}\}_{n}$ is also bounded in W. As the sequence $\{\boldsymbol{\mu}_{\epsilon}^{n}\}_{n}$ is bounded in $L^{2}(\Gamma_{2})$, the boundedness of the sequence $\{\boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{n}\}_{n}$ in W is a consequence of the fact that the functional J_{ϵ} is proper.

Now we prove that the functional J_{ϵ} is weakly lower semicontinuous. Let $\{(\mu_{\epsilon}^{n}, w_{\epsilon}^{n})\}_{n} \subset M \times W$ be a weakly convergent sequence to an element $(\mu_{\epsilon}, w_{\epsilon}) \in M \times W$. From (8.135), it follows that the sequence $\{u_{\epsilon}^{n}\}_{n}$ is bounded in V where $u_{\epsilon}^{n} = u_{\epsilon}^{\mu_{\epsilon}^{n}, w_{\epsilon}^{n}}$. Thus, we can extract a subsequence, denoted in the same way, such that $u_{\epsilon}^{n} \rightarrow u_{\epsilon}$ weakly in V, with $u_{\epsilon} \in K$.

By passing to the limit in $(\mathbf{P})^{\mu_{\epsilon}^{n}, w_{\epsilon}^{n}}$, from the uniqueness of the solution of $(\mathbf{P})^{\mu_{\epsilon}, w_{\epsilon}}$, it follows that $u_{\epsilon} = u^{\mu_{\epsilon}, w_{\epsilon}}$. This implies that $u_{\epsilon}^{n} \rightharpoonup u_{\epsilon}$ weakly in W. Thus, from the lower weakly semicontinuity of the norm, we get

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \|\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n} - \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{n}\|_{\boldsymbol{W}}^{2} \ge \|\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon} - \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}\|_{\boldsymbol{W}}^{2}, \qquad (8.136)$$

which, together the strong convergence $u_{\epsilon}^n \to u_{\epsilon}$ in $(L^2(\Gamma))^d$, gives

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} J_{\epsilon}(\mu_{\epsilon}^{n}, \mathbf{w}_{\epsilon}^{n}) \ge J_{\epsilon}(\mu_{\epsilon}, \mathbf{w}_{\epsilon}).$$
(8.137)

Finally, since the set $M \times K$ is weakly closed, by applying Weierstrass Theorem 4.2, the assertion follows.

The following result establishes the relationship between the family of penalized problems $(CP)_{\epsilon}$ and the control problem (CP).

Proposition 8.6. For any $\epsilon > 0$, let $(\mu_{\epsilon}^*, w_{\epsilon}^*) \in M \times W$ be a solution of the problem $(\mathbf{CP})_{\epsilon}$. Then, we have

$$\begin{cases} \mu_{\epsilon}^{*} \to \mu^{0} & \text{strongly in } L^{2}(\Gamma_{2}) ,\\ \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{*} \to \boldsymbol{u}^{0} & \text{strongly in } \boldsymbol{W} ,\\ \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{*} \to \boldsymbol{u}^{0} & \text{strongly in } \boldsymbol{W} , \end{cases}$$
(8.138)

when $\epsilon \to 0$, where $\mathbf{u}^0 = \mathbf{u}^{\mu^0}$ and $\mathbf{u}^*_{\epsilon} = \mathbf{u}^{\mu^*_{\epsilon}, \mathbf{w}^*_{\epsilon}}$. Moreover, we get

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{\epsilon} \| \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^* - \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^* \|_{\boldsymbol{W}} = 0 , \qquad (8.139)$$

and

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} J_{\epsilon}(\mu_{\epsilon}^*, \mathbf{w}_{\epsilon}^*) = J(\mu^0) = \min_{\mu \in M} J(\mu) \,. \tag{8.140}$$

Proof. Let $\epsilon > 0$, and let $(\mu_{\epsilon}^*, w_{\epsilon}^*) \in M \times W$ be a solution of the problem $(\mathbb{CP})_{\epsilon}$ and $u_{\epsilon}^* = u^{\mu_{\epsilon}^*, w_{\epsilon}^*}$. Since $\{\mu_{\epsilon}^*\}_{\epsilon} \subset M$, and u_{ϵ}^* is a solution of $(\mathbb{P})^{\mu_{\epsilon}^*, w_{\epsilon}^*}$, it follows that the sequences $\{\mu_{\epsilon}^*\}_{\epsilon}$ and $\{u_{\epsilon}^*\}_{\epsilon}$ are bounded in $L^2(\Gamma_2)$, and, respectively, in *V*. Hence, there exist the subsequences $\{\mu_{\epsilon_p}^*\}_p$ and $\{u_{\epsilon_p}^*\}_p$, and the elements $\mu^* \in M$ and $u \in K$ such that

$$\begin{cases} \mu_{\epsilon_p}^* \rightharpoonup \mu^* & \text{weakly in } L^2(\Gamma_2) ,\\ \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon_p}^* \rightharpoonup \boldsymbol{u} & \text{weakly in } V \end{cases}$$
(8.141)

when $p \to \infty$. Since u_{ϵ}^* is a solution of $(\mathbf{P})^{\mu_{\epsilon}^*, w_{\epsilon}^*}$, one deduces that there exists $u_1 \in W$ such that

$$\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon_p}^* \rightharpoonup \boldsymbol{u}_1$$
 weakly in \boldsymbol{W} . (8.142)

The sequence $\{w_{\epsilon}^*\}_{\epsilon}$ is also bounded in W. Indeed, since u^0 is also a solution of $(\mathbf{P})^{\mu^0, u^0}$, i.e. $u^0 = u^{\mu^0, u^0}$, we have

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{*} - \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{*}\|_{\boldsymbol{W}}^{2} \leq 2\epsilon J_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{\mu}_{\epsilon}^{*}, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{*}) \leq 2\epsilon J_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{\mu}^{0}, \boldsymbol{u}^{0}) = 2\epsilon J(\boldsymbol{\mu}^{0}) .$$

$$(8.143)$$

From (8.142) and (8.143), we conclude that

$$\boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon_p}^* \rightharpoonup \boldsymbol{u}_1$$
 weakly in \boldsymbol{W} . (8.144)

Now, by passing to the limit in $(\mathbf{P})^{\mu_{\epsilon_p}^*, w_{\epsilon_p}^*}$, we obtain that \boldsymbol{u} satisfies

$$a(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}-\boldsymbol{u})+\varphi(\boldsymbol{\mu}^*,\boldsymbol{u}_1,\boldsymbol{v})-\varphi(\boldsymbol{\mu}^*,\boldsymbol{u}_1,\boldsymbol{u})\geq (\boldsymbol{F},\boldsymbol{v}-\boldsymbol{u})_V\quad\forall\boldsymbol{v}\in\boldsymbol{K}\,,$$

and hence, $u \in W$. Therefore, from (8.141) and (8.142), we get $u_1 = u$ and then, u is the unique solution of $(\mathbf{P})^{\mu^*}$, i.e. $u = u^{\mu^*}$.

In addition, since μ^0 is a solution of (**CP**), we get

$$J(\mu^{*}) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Gamma_{2}} (\boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u}_{d})^{2} \, \mathrm{d}s \leq \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Gamma_{2}} (\boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u}_{d})^{2} \, \mathrm{d}s + \frac{1}{2} \|\mu^{*} - \mu^{0}\|_{L^{2}(\Gamma_{2})}^{2}$$

$$\leq \liminf_{\epsilon_{p} \to 0} J_{\epsilon_{p}}(\mu^{*}_{\epsilon_{p}}, \boldsymbol{w}^{*}_{\epsilon_{p}}) \leq \liminf_{\epsilon_{p} \to 0} J_{\epsilon_{p}}(\mu^{0}, \boldsymbol{u}^{0}) = J(\mu^{0}) \leq J(\mu^{*})$$
(8.145)

which implies $\mu^* = \mu^0$, $\boldsymbol{u} = \boldsymbol{u}^0$. Therefore, the whole sequence $\{(\mu_{\epsilon}^*, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^*, \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^*)\}_{\epsilon}$ converges to $(\mu^0, \boldsymbol{u}^0, \boldsymbol{u}^0)$ weakly in $L^2(\Gamma_2) \times \boldsymbol{W} \times \boldsymbol{W}$.

On the other hand, from (8.143), we have

$$\frac{1}{2\epsilon_{l}} \|\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{*} - \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{*}\|_{W}^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \|\boldsymbol{\mu}_{\epsilon}^{*} - \boldsymbol{\mu}^{0}\|_{L^{2}(\Gamma_{2})}^{2} = J_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{\mu}_{\epsilon}^{*}, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{*}) -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\Gamma_{2}} (\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{*} - \boldsymbol{u}_{d})^{2} \, \mathrm{d}s \leq J(\boldsymbol{\mu}^{0}) - \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Gamma_{2}} (\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{*} - \boldsymbol{u}_{d})^{2} \, \mathrm{d}s$$
(8.146)

hence

$$\limsup_{\epsilon \to 0} \left(\frac{1}{2\epsilon} \| \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^* - \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^* \|_{W}^2 + \frac{1}{2} \| \mu_{\epsilon}^* - \mu^0 \|_{L^2(\Gamma_2)}^2 \right) \le J(\mu^0) - \frac{1}{2} \liminf_{\epsilon \to 0} \int_{\Gamma_2} (\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^* - \boldsymbol{u}_d)^2 \, \mathrm{d}s \le 0 \, \mathrm{d}s$$

and, so

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{\epsilon} \| \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^* - \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^* \|_{\boldsymbol{W}} = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \| \mu_{\epsilon}^* - \mu^0 \|_{L^2(\Gamma_2)} = 0 , \qquad (8.147)$$

i.e. the relations $(8.138)_1$ and (8.139) hold.

Next, by choosing $v = u_{\epsilon}^*$ in $(\mathbf{P})^{\mu^0}$ and $v = u^0$ in $(\mathbf{P})^{\mu_{\epsilon}^*, w_{\epsilon}^*}$, by adding them, we obtain

$$\alpha \limsup_{\epsilon \to 0} \|\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{*} - \boldsymbol{u}^{0}\|_{\boldsymbol{V}}^{2} \leq \limsup_{\epsilon \to 0} \alpha(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{*} - \boldsymbol{u}^{0}, \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{*} - \boldsymbol{u}^{0})$$

$$\leq \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \left(\varphi(\boldsymbol{\mu}_{\epsilon}^{*}, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{*}, \boldsymbol{u}^{0}) - \varphi(\boldsymbol{\mu}_{\epsilon}^{*}, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{*}, \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{*}) + \varphi(\boldsymbol{\mu}^{0}, \boldsymbol{u}^{0}, \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{0}) - \varphi(\boldsymbol{\mu}^{0}, \boldsymbol{u}^{0}, \boldsymbol{u}^{0})\right) = 0$$
(8.148)

thus (8.138)₃, which, together with (8.143), leads to (8.138)₂. We remark that we have always used the fact that $u_{\epsilon}^* = u^{\mu_{\epsilon}^*, w_{\epsilon}^*}$ and $u^0 = u^{\mu^0}$, hence $||u_{\epsilon}^* - u^0||_W = ||u_{\epsilon}^* - u^0||_V$.

Finally, from the definitions (8.132) and (8.129) of J_{ϵ} , and respectively of J, by using $(8.138)_{1,3}$ and (8.147), we obtain (8.140).

Until now we have reduced the constraints of our control problem to a variational inequality of the second kind. Unfortunately, even if the problem $(\mathbf{CP})_{\epsilon}$ is more simple than the original problem (\mathbf{CP}) , it does not enable us to obtain the optimality conditions for an optimal control since the functional J_{ϵ} is not differentiable. In order to avoid this difficulty, for every $\epsilon > 0$, we consider a family $\{(\mathbf{CP})_{\epsilon\rho}\}_{\rho>0}$ of regularized problems.

Problem (**CP**)_{ϵ_{ρ}}: Find $(\mu_{\epsilon_{\rho}}^*, w_{\epsilon_{\rho}}^*) \in M \times W$ such that

$$J_{\epsilon\rho}(\mu_{\epsilon\rho}^*, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^*) = \min_{(\mu, \boldsymbol{w}) \in M \times W} J_{\epsilon\rho}(\mu, \boldsymbol{w})$$
(8.149)

where $\{J_{\epsilon\rho}\}_{\rho}$ is the family of functionals defined by

$$J_{\epsilon\rho}(\mu, \mathbf{w}) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Gamma_2} (\mathbf{u}_{\rho}^{\mu, \mathbf{w}} - \mathbf{u}_d)^2 \, \mathrm{d}s + \frac{1}{2\epsilon} \|\mathbf{u}_{\rho}^{\mu, \mathbf{w}} - \mathbf{w}\|_W^2 + \frac{1}{2} \|\mu - \mu^0\|_{L^2(\Gamma_2)}^2 \quad \forall \mu \in M \,, \, \forall \mathbf{w} \in W$$
(8.150)

 $u_{\rho}^{\mu,w}$ being the unique solution of the variational equation defined below.

Problem (**P**) $_{\rho}^{\mu,w}$: Find $u \in V$ such that

$$a(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}) + \langle \nabla \varphi_{\mu,\boldsymbol{w}}^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u}),\boldsymbol{v} \rangle + \langle \beta_{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u}),\boldsymbol{v} \rangle = (\boldsymbol{F},\boldsymbol{v})_{\boldsymbol{V}} \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V} .$$
(8.151)

We have denoted by $\beta_{\rho} : V \to V^*$ the Yosida approximation of the subdifferential $\partial I_K : V \to 2^{V^*}$ of the indicator function I_K of K, i.e. $\beta_{\rho}(\mathbf{v}) = \frac{1}{\rho}(I - R_{\rho})(\mathbf{v}), \forall \mathbf{v} \in V, `$ where I denotes the identity operator on V and $R_{\rho} : V \to V$ is the resolvent of the maximal monotone operator ∂I_K defined by $R_{\rho}(\mathbf{v}) = (I + \rho \partial I_K)^{-1}(\mathbf{v}), \forall \mathbf{v} \in V$ (for more details, see [50, 58]). Also, we denoted by $\{\varphi_{\mu,w}^{\rho}\}_{\rho}$ a family of convex functionals $\varphi_{\mu,w}^{\rho} : V \to \mathbb{R}$ which are of class C^2 weakly, i.e. $\nabla \varphi_{\mu,w}^{\rho} : V \to V^*$ and $\nabla^2 \varphi_{\mu,w}^{\rho} : V \to \mathcal{L}(V, V^*)$ are weakly continuous, and, in addition, satisfy the following conditions

$$(\mu, \mathbf{w}) \longmapsto \varphi^{\rho}_{\mu, \mathbf{w}}$$
 is linear, (8.152)

$$\begin{cases} \lim_{\rho \to 0} \varphi^{\rho}_{\mu_{\rho}, w_{\rho}}(\boldsymbol{\nu}) = \varphi(\mu, \boldsymbol{w}, \boldsymbol{\nu}) \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\nu} \in \boldsymbol{V} \\ \forall (\mu_{\rho}, \boldsymbol{w}_{\rho}) \rightharpoonup (\mu, \boldsymbol{w}) \text{ weakly in } L^{2}(\Gamma_{2}) \times \boldsymbol{W}, \end{cases}$$
(8.153)

$$\begin{cases} \liminf_{\rho \to 0} \varphi^{\rho}_{\mu_{\rho}, \mathbf{w}_{\rho}}(\mathbf{v}_{\rho}) \ge \varphi(\mu, \mathbf{w}, \mathbf{v}) \\ \forall (\mu_{\rho}, \mathbf{w}_{\rho}, \mathbf{v}_{\rho}) \rightharpoonup (\mu, \mathbf{w}, \mathbf{v}) \text{ weakly in } L^{2}(\Gamma_{2}) \times W \times V , \end{cases}$$

$$(8.154)$$

$$\begin{cases} \lim_{n \to \infty} \varphi^{\rho}_{\mu_n, w_n}(\mathbf{v}_n) = \varphi^{\rho}_{\mu, w}(\mathbf{v}) \\ \forall (\mu_n, w_n, \mathbf{v}_n) \rightharpoonup (\mu, w, \mathbf{v}) \text{ weakly in } L^2(\Gamma_2) \times W \times V , \end{cases}$$
(8.155)

Remark 8.14. We may choose

$$\varphi_{\mu,\mathbf{w}}^{\rho}(\mathbf{v}) = \varphi(\mu,\mathbf{w},\theta_{\rho}(\mathbf{v}_{\tau})) = -\int_{\Gamma_2} \mu \mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu}(\mathbf{w}))\theta_{\rho}(\mathbf{v}_{\tau}) \,\mathrm{d}s \;,$$

where the function $\theta_{\rho} : (L^2(\Gamma_2))^d \to L^2(\Gamma_2)$ is an approximation (see, e.g., [45]) of the function $|\cdot| : (L^2(\Gamma_2))^d \to L^2(\Gamma_2)$ which is defined, for $\rho > 0, \nu \in (L^2(\Gamma_2))^d$ and almost everywhere $x \in \Gamma_2$, according to

$$\theta_{\rho}(\mathbf{v}(x)) = \begin{cases} \frac{|\mathbf{v}(x)|^2}{\rho} \left(1 - \frac{|\mathbf{v}(x)|}{3\rho}\right) \text{ if } |\mathbf{v}(x)| \le \rho ,\\ \rho \left(\frac{|\mathbf{v}(x)|}{\rho} - \frac{1}{3}\right) & \text{ if } |\mathbf{v}(x)| \ge \rho . \end{cases}$$

In this case, it is easy to verify that

$$\nabla \varphi^{\rho}_{\mu, w}(\boldsymbol{v}) \cdot \boldsymbol{p} = -\int_{\Gamma_2} \mu \mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{w})) \ \theta'_{\rho}(\boldsymbol{v}_{\tau}) \cdot \boldsymbol{p}_{\tau} \, \mathrm{d}s \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v}, \, \boldsymbol{p} \in \boldsymbol{V} \,,$$

where $\theta'_{\rho} : (L^2(\Gamma_2))^d \to (L^2(\Gamma_2))^d$, for a.e. $x \in \Gamma_2$, is given by

$$\theta_{\rho}'(\mathbf{v})(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\rho} \left(2 - \frac{|\mathbf{v}(x)|}{\rho} \right) \mathbf{v}(x) \text{ if } |\mathbf{v}(x)| \le \rho ,\\ \frac{\mathbf{v}(x)}{|\mathbf{v}(x)|} & \text{ if } |\mathbf{v}(x)| \ge \rho . \end{cases}$$
(8.156)

In addition, for every v, $p \in (L^2(\Gamma_2))^d$ and for a.e. $x \in \Gamma_2$, one obtains

$$\theta_{\rho}^{\prime\prime}(\mathbf{v}) \cdot \mathbf{p}(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\rho} \left(\left(2 - \frac{|\mathbf{v}(x)|}{\rho} \right) \mathbf{p} - \frac{1}{\rho} \frac{\mathbf{v}(x) \cdot \mathbf{p}}{|\mathbf{v}(x)|} \mathbf{v}(x) \right) \text{ if } |\mathbf{v}(x)| \le \rho ,\\ \frac{1}{|\mathbf{v}(x)|} \left(\mathbf{p} - \frac{\mathbf{v}(x) \cdot \mathbf{p}}{|\mathbf{v}(x)|^2} \mathbf{v}(x) \right) & \text{ if } |\mathbf{v}(x)| \ge \rho . \end{cases}$$
(8.157)

and

$$\langle \nabla^2 \varphi^{\rho}_{\mu, \mathbf{w}}(\mathbf{v}) \cdot \mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q} \rangle = -\int_{\Gamma_2} \mu \mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu}(\mathbf{w})) \ \theta^{\prime\prime}_{\rho}(\mathbf{v}_{\tau})(\mathbf{p}_{\tau} \cdot \mathbf{q}_{\tau}) \, \mathrm{d}s \quad \forall \mathbf{v}, \mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q} \in \mathbf{V} \, .$$

Now we prove that each problem $(\mathbf{CP})_{\epsilon\rho}$ has at least one solution and the family $(\mathbf{CP})_{\epsilon\rho}$ approximates $(\mathbf{CP})_{\epsilon}$ in a sense that we shall precise.

Proposition 8.7. For every $\rho > 0$, there exists at least one solution $(\mu_{\epsilon\rho}^*, w_{\epsilon\rho}^*) \in M \times W$ of the problem $(\mathbf{CP})_{\epsilon\rho}$. Moreover, there exist the elements $(\mu_{\epsilon}^*, w_{\epsilon}^*, u_{\epsilon}^*) \in M \times W \times K$ such that

$$\begin{cases} \mu_{\epsilon\rho}^* \rightharpoonup \mu_{\epsilon}^* & \text{weakly in } L^2(\Gamma_2) ,\\ \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^* \rightharpoonup \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^* & \text{weakly in } \boldsymbol{W} ,\\ \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^* \rightarrow \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^* & \text{strongly in } \boldsymbol{V} , \end{cases}$$
(8.158)

when $\rho \to 0$, where $\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^* = \boldsymbol{u}_{\rho}^{\mu_{\epsilon\rho}^*, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^*}$. In addition, we have

$$\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{*} = \boldsymbol{u}^{\mu_{\epsilon}^{*}, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{*}} \tag{8.159}$$

and

$$\lim_{\rho \to 0} J_{\epsilon\rho}(\mu_{\epsilon\rho}^*, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^*) = J_{\epsilon}(\mu_{\epsilon}^*, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^*) = \min_{(\mu, \boldsymbol{w}) \in M \times \boldsymbol{W}} J_{\epsilon}(\mu, \boldsymbol{w}).$$
(8.160)

Proof. The functional $J_{\epsilon\rho}$ has the same form as J_{ϵ} with u satisfying a more simple and regularized constrain. So, arguing as in the proof of Proposition 8.5, one obtains the existence of an optimal control for $(\mathbf{CP})_{\epsilon\rho}$. We remark that the existence and the uniqueness of the solution $u_{\rho}^{\mu,w}$ of $(\mathbf{P})_{\rho}^{\mu,w}$ is easy obtained by applying the Browder's surjectivity theorem (see, for instance, [11, 12, 28]) the operator $A + \nabla \varphi_{\mu,w}^{\rho} + \beta^{\rho}$: $V \to V^*$ being strongly monotone, hemicontinuous, and coercive on V, and so, it is bijective. Let us prove the second part of the proposition. Let $(\mu_{\epsilon\rho}^*, w_{\epsilon\rho}^*) \in M \times W$ be a solution of $(\mathbf{CP})_{\epsilon\rho}$. Since $u_{\epsilon\rho}^* = u_{\rho}^{\mu_{\epsilon\rho}^*, w_{\epsilon\rho}^*} \in W$ and $\{\mu_{\epsilon\rho}^*\}_{\rho} \subset M$, it follows that the sequences $\{u_{\epsilon\rho}^*\}_{\rho}$ and $\{\mu_{\epsilon\rho}^*\}_{\rho}$ are bounded, and so, there exist the elements $\mu_{\epsilon}^* \in M$ and $u_{\epsilon} \in W$ such that, on the subsequences, we have

$$\begin{cases} \mu_{\epsilon\rho_p}^* \rightharpoonup \mu_{\epsilon}^* & \text{weakly in } L^2(\Gamma_2) ,\\ \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho_p}^* \rightharpoonup \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon} & \text{weakly in } \boldsymbol{W} \end{cases}$$
(8.161)

when $p \to +\infty$.

For the sake of simplicity we shall omit the subscript *p* in what follows.

On the other hand, since $\varphi(\mu, \mathbf{0}, \mathbf{v}) = 0$, $\forall (\mu, \mathbf{v}) \in L^2(\Gamma_2) \times V$, it follows $u_{\rho}^{\mu_{\epsilon}^*, \mathbf{0}} = u^{\mu_{\epsilon}^*, \mathbf{0}}$, and thus, we have

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^* - \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^*\|_{W}^2 \leq 2\epsilon J_{\epsilon}^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{\mu}_{\epsilon\rho}^*, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^*) \leq 2\epsilon J_{\epsilon}^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{\mu}_{\epsilon}^*, \boldsymbol{0}) = 2\epsilon J_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{\mu}_{\epsilon}^*, \boldsymbol{0})$$

which implies that the sequence $\{w_{\epsilon\rho}^*\}_{\rho}$ is bounded. Hence there exists $w_{\epsilon}^* \in W$ such that, on a subsequence, still denoted by $w_{\epsilon\rho}^*$, one has

$$w_{\epsilon\rho}^* \rightharpoonup w_{\epsilon}^*$$
 weakly in W

when $\rho \rightarrow 0$.

Now, by passing to the limit in $(\mathbf{P})_{\rho}^{\mu_{\epsilon\rho}^*, w_{\epsilon\rho}^*}$ with $\rho \to 0$, we obtain that $u_{\epsilon} = u_{\epsilon}^* \in K$ where $u_{\epsilon}^* = u_{\epsilon}^{\mu_{\epsilon}^*, w_{\epsilon}^*}$.

Further, from $(\mathbf{P})^{\mu_{\epsilon}^*, w_{\epsilon}^*}$, $(\mathbf{P})^{\mu_{\epsilon\rho}^*, w_{\epsilon\rho}^*}$, (8.153), (8.154), and taking into account that $\varphi(\mu, w, \cdot)$ is weakly continuous, we get

$$\alpha \limsup_{\rho \to 0} \|\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^* - \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^*\|_1^2 \leq \lim_{\rho \to 0} \varphi_{\mu_{\epsilon\rho}^*, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^*}^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^*) - \varphi(\mu_{\epsilon}^*, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^*, \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^*) - \liminf_{\rho \to 0} \varphi_{\mu_{\epsilon\rho}^*, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^*}^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^*) + \lim_{\rho \to 0} \varphi(\mu_{\epsilon}^*, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^*, \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^*) \leq 0,$$

i.e. the relation $(8.158)_3$.

In order to prove (8.160), let $(\mu_{\epsilon}^{0}, w_{\epsilon}^{0}) \in M \times W$ be a solution of $(\mathbf{CP})_{\epsilon}$, $u_{\epsilon}^{0} = u^{\mu_{\epsilon}^{0}, w_{\epsilon}^{0}}$ and $u_{\epsilon\rho}^{0} = u_{\rho}^{\mu_{\epsilon}^{0}, w_{\epsilon}^{0}}$. The sequence $\{u_{\epsilon\rho}^{0}\}_{\rho}$ being bounded in W, from the uniqueness of the solution of $(\mathbf{P})^{\mu_{\epsilon}^{0}, w_{\epsilon}^{0}}$ and the properties (8.153)–(8.155) of $\varphi_{\mu, w}^{\rho}$, we deduce that $u_{\epsilon\rho}^{0} \to u_{\epsilon}^{0}$ strongly in W when $\rho \to 0$. Hence

$$\lim_{\rho\to 0} \|\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^0 - \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^0\|_{W} = \|\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^0 - \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^0\|_{W}.$$

Therefore

$$\begin{aligned} J_{\epsilon}(\mu_{\epsilon}^{*}, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{*}) &\leq \liminf_{\rho \to 0} J_{\epsilon}^{\rho}(\mu_{\epsilon\rho}^{*}, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*}) \leq \limsup_{\rho \to 0} J_{\epsilon}^{\rho}(\mu_{\epsilon\rho}^{*}, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*}) \\ &\leq \limsup_{\rho \to 0} J_{\epsilon}^{\rho}(\mu_{\epsilon}^{0}, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{0}) \leq \frac{1}{2} \lim_{\rho \to 0} \int_{\Gamma_{2}} (\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^{0} - \boldsymbol{u}_{d})^{2} \, \mathrm{d}s + \frac{1}{2\epsilon} \lim_{\rho \to 0} \|\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^{0} - \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{0}\|_{W}^{2} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \|\mu_{\epsilon}^{0} - \mu^{0}\|_{L^{2}(\Gamma_{2})}^{2} = J_{\epsilon}(\mu_{\epsilon}^{0}, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{0}) \leq J_{\epsilon}(\mu_{\epsilon}^{*}, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{*}) \end{aligned}$$

and, by (8.160), the proof is completed.

Finally, by using all the previous convergences, we obtain that $\mu_{\epsilon\rho}^*$ is a suboptimal for the problem (**CP**).

Proposition 8.8. Let $(\mu_{\epsilon\rho}^*, w_{\epsilon\rho}^*) \in M \times W$ be a solution of the optimal control problem $(\mathbf{CP})_{\epsilon\rho}$. Then, we have

$$\lim_{\epsilon,\,\rho\to 0} J(\mu_{\epsilon\rho}^*) = J(\mu^0) \,. \tag{8.162}$$

Proof. Let $\tilde{u}_{\epsilon\rho} = u^{\mu_{\epsilon\rho}^*}$ and $u^0 = u^{\mu^0}$. By taking $v = u^0$ in $(\mathbf{P})^{\mu_{\epsilon\rho}^*}$ and $v = \tilde{u}_{\epsilon\rho}$ in $(\mathbf{P})^{\mu^0}$, by adding them and by using the properties of *a* and φ , it follows

$$\begin{aligned} &\alpha \|\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon\rho} - \boldsymbol{u}^{0}\|_{V}^{2} \leq a(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon\rho} - \boldsymbol{u}^{0}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon\rho} - \boldsymbol{u}^{0}) \leq |\varphi(\boldsymbol{\mu}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon\rho}, \boldsymbol{u}^{0}) - \varphi(\boldsymbol{\mu}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon\rho}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon\rho}) \\ &+ \varphi(\boldsymbol{\mu}^{0}, \boldsymbol{u}^{0}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon\rho}) - \varphi(\boldsymbol{\mu}^{0}, \boldsymbol{u}^{0}, \boldsymbol{u}^{0})| \leq |(\varphi(\boldsymbol{\mu}^{0}, \boldsymbol{u}^{0}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon\rho}) - \varphi(\boldsymbol{\mu}^{0}, \boldsymbol{u}^{0}, \boldsymbol{u}^{0}) \\ &+ \varphi(\boldsymbol{\mu}^{0}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon\rho}, \boldsymbol{u}^{0}) - \varphi(\boldsymbol{\mu}^{0}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon\rho}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon\rho}))| + |(\varphi(\boldsymbol{\mu}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon\rho}, \boldsymbol{u}^{0}) - \varphi(\boldsymbol{\mu}^{0}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon\rho}, \boldsymbol{u}^{0})) \\ &- (\varphi(\boldsymbol{\mu}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon\rho}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon\rho}) - \varphi(\boldsymbol{\mu}^{0}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon\rho}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon\rho}))| \leq k \|\boldsymbol{\mu}^{0}\|_{L^{2}(\Gamma_{2})} \|\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon\rho} - \boldsymbol{u}^{0}\|_{V}^{2} \\ &+ k \|\boldsymbol{\mu}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*} - \boldsymbol{\mu}^{0}\|_{L^{2}(\Gamma_{2})} \|\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon\rho} \|_{V} \|\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon\rho} - \boldsymbol{u}^{0}\|_{V}. \end{aligned}$$

Now, by using the boundedness of the sequence $\{\tilde{u}_{\epsilon\rho}\}_{\rho}$, and by taking $\mu_1 < \frac{\alpha}{k}$ (the same condition as in Sect. 8.3, Theorem 8.3, p. 148, for the uniqueness of the solution of the problem (**P**)^{μ}), it follows

$$\|\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon\rho} - \boldsymbol{u}^0\|_V \leq C \|\boldsymbol{\mu}_{\epsilon\rho}^* - \boldsymbol{\mu}^0\|_{L^2(\Gamma_2)}$$

with C a constant independent of ϵ and ρ .

Hence, the convergences (8.158) and (8.138) allow us to obtain (8.162).

In order to obtain the necessary conditions of optimality for a solution of the problem $(\mathbf{CP})_{\epsilon\rho}$, we shall use the G-differentiability of the functional $J_{\epsilon\rho}$.

Lemma 8.1. The functional $J_{\epsilon\rho}$ is *G*-differentiable and, for any $(\mu^*, w^*) \in M \times W$, we have

$$\frac{\partial J_{\epsilon\rho}}{\partial \mu}(\mu^*, \mathbf{w}^*) \cdot (\mu - \mu^*) = \int_{\Gamma_2} z_{\mu}^* (\mathbf{u}^* - \mathbf{u}_d) \,\mathrm{d}s + \frac{1}{\epsilon} (z_{\mu}^*, \mathbf{u}^* - \mathbf{w}^*)_W + (\mu - \mu^*, \mu^* - \mu^0)_{L^2(\Gamma_2)} \quad \forall \mu \in M$$
(8.163)

and

$$\frac{\partial J_{\epsilon\rho}}{\partial w}(\mu^*, w^*) \cdot w = \int_{\Gamma_2} h_w^*(u^* - u_d) \,\mathrm{d}s + \frac{1}{\epsilon} (h_w^* - w, u^* - w^*)_W \quad \forall w \in W$$
(8.164)

where $\boldsymbol{u}^* = \boldsymbol{u}_{\rho}^{\mu^*, w^*}$ is the unique solution of $(\mathbf{P})_{\rho}^{\mu^*, w^*}$ and $\boldsymbol{z}_{\mu}^*, \ \boldsymbol{h}_{w}^* \in W$ are the unique solutions of the problems

$$a(\boldsymbol{z}_{\mu}^{*},\boldsymbol{v}) + \langle \nabla^{2}\varphi_{\mu^{*},\boldsymbol{w}^{*}}^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u}^{*}) \cdot \boldsymbol{z}_{\mu}^{*},\boldsymbol{v} \rangle + \langle \nabla\beta_{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u}^{*}) \cdot \boldsymbol{z}_{\mu}^{*},\boldsymbol{v} \rangle$$

= $\langle \nabla\varphi_{\mu^{*}-\mu,\boldsymbol{w}^{*}}^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u}^{*}),\boldsymbol{v} \rangle \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V},$ (8.165)

and, respectively,

$$a(\boldsymbol{h}_{\boldsymbol{w}}^{*},\boldsymbol{v}) + \langle \nabla^{2}\varphi_{\mu^{*},\boldsymbol{w}^{*}}^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u}^{*}) \cdot \boldsymbol{h}_{\boldsymbol{w}}^{*},\boldsymbol{v} \rangle + \langle \nabla\beta_{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u}^{*}) \cdot \boldsymbol{h}_{\boldsymbol{w}}^{*},\boldsymbol{v} \rangle$$

$$= -\langle \nabla\varphi_{\mu^{*},\boldsymbol{w}}^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u}^{*}),\boldsymbol{v} \rangle \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in V$$
(8.166)

Proof. Let $(\mu^*, w^*) \in M \times W$.

For every $t \in (0, 1)$ and $\mu \in M$, let us denote $\mu_t = \mu^* + t(\mu - \mu^*)$ and $\boldsymbol{u}_{t} = \boldsymbol{u}_{\rho}^{\mu_{t},\boldsymbol{w}^{*}}$. From $(\mathbf{P})_{\rho}^{\mu_{t},\boldsymbol{w}^{*}}$, and using the positivity of $\nabla \varphi_{\mu_{t},\boldsymbol{w}^{*}}^{\rho}$ and β_{ρ} , we get

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}_t\|_V \le C \tag{8.167}$$

with C a constant independent of t.

Putting $z_t = \frac{u_t - u^*}{t}$ with $u^* = u_{\rho}^{\mu^*, w^*}$, we obviously have $z_t \in W$, and, from $(\mathbf{P})_{\rho}^{\mu^*,w^*}$ and $(\mathbf{P})_{\rho}^{\mu_t,w^*}$, it follows that z_t satisfies

$$a(z_t, \mathbf{v}) + \frac{\langle \nabla \varphi_{\mu^*, \mathbf{w}^*}^{\rho}(\mathbf{u}^* + tz_t) - \nabla \varphi_{\mu^*, \mathbf{w}^*}^{\rho}(\mathbf{u}^*), \mathbf{v} \rangle}{t} + \frac{\langle \beta_{\rho}(\mathbf{u}^* + tz_t) - \beta_{\rho}(\mathbf{u}^*), \mathbf{v} \rangle}{t} = \langle \nabla \varphi_{\mu^* - \mu, \mathbf{w}^*}^{\rho}(\mathbf{u}^* + tz_t), \mathbf{v} \rangle \quad \forall \mathbf{v} \in V.$$

$$(8.168)$$

Taking $v = u_t - u^*$ in (8.168), and thanks to the monotony of $\nabla \varphi^{\rho}_{\mu^*, w^*}$ and β_{ρ} , we get

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha \| \boldsymbol{u}_{t} - \boldsymbol{u}^{*} \|_{V}^{2} &\leq a(\boldsymbol{u}_{t} - \boldsymbol{u}^{*}, \boldsymbol{u}_{t} - \boldsymbol{u}^{*}) \leq a(\boldsymbol{u}_{t} - \boldsymbol{u}^{*}, \boldsymbol{u}_{t} - \boldsymbol{u}^{*}) \\ + \langle \nabla \varphi_{\mu^{*}, \boldsymbol{w}^{*}}^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u}_{t}) - \nabla \varphi_{\mu^{*}, \boldsymbol{w}^{*}}^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u}^{*}), \boldsymbol{u}_{t} - \boldsymbol{u}^{*} \rangle + \langle \beta_{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u}_{t}) - \beta_{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u}^{*}), \boldsymbol{u}_{t} - \boldsymbol{u}^{*} \rangle \\ &= t \langle \nabla \varphi_{\mu^{*} - \mu, \boldsymbol{w}^{*}}^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u}_{t}), \boldsymbol{u}_{t} - \boldsymbol{u}^{*} \rangle \leq C t \| \boldsymbol{u}_{t} - \boldsymbol{u}^{*} \|_{V} \| \boldsymbol{u}_{t} \|_{V} \end{aligned}$$

$$(8.169)$$

which, together with (8.167), gives

$$\|z_t\|_V \le C . (8.170)$$

Then, we can extract a subsequence $\{z_{t_k}\}_k$ such that $z_{t_k} \rightarrow z_{\mu}^*$ weakly in V, and, thus, $u_{t_k} \rightarrow u^*$ weakly in V. By passing to the limit in (8.168) with $t \rightarrow 0$, and taking into account that the operator $\nabla \varphi_{\mu^*-\mu,w^*}^{\rho}$ is hemicontinuous, it follows that z_{μ}^* satisfies (8.165).

The uniqueness of the solution of (8.165) is immediate. Indeed, from the properties of $\nabla^2 \varphi^{\rho}_{\mu,w}$ and $\nabla \beta_{\rho}$, we have

$$a(z_1 - z_2, z_1 - z_2) = -\langle \nabla^2 \varphi^{\rho}_{\mu^*, w^*}(u^*) \cdot (z_1 - z_2), z_1 - z_2 \rangle -\langle \nabla \beta_{\rho}(u^*) \cdot (z_1 - z_2), z_1 - z_2 \rangle \le 0 \quad \forall z_1, z_2 \in W.$$

Now, we shall compute the Gâteaux differential of $J_{\epsilon\rho}$ at point (μ^*, w^*) in the direction μ . We have

$$\begin{split} &\frac{\partial J_{\epsilon\rho}}{\partial \mu}(\mu^*, \mathbf{w}^*) \cdot (\mu - \mu^*) = \frac{1}{2} \lim_{t \to 0} \left(\int_{\Gamma_2} \frac{(\mathbf{u}_t - \mathbf{u}_d)^2 - (\mathbf{u}^* - \mathbf{u}_d)^2}{t} \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \frac{1}{\epsilon} \frac{\|\mathbf{u}_t - \mathbf{w}^*\|_W^2 - \|\mathbf{u}^* - \mathbf{w}^*\|_W^2}{t} + \frac{\|\mu_t - \mu^0\|_{L^2(\Gamma_2)}^2 - \|\mu^* - \mu^0\|_{L^2(\Gamma_2)}^2}{t} \right) \\ &= \lim_{t \to 0} \left(\int_{\Gamma_2} (\mathbf{u}^* - \mathbf{u}_d) z_t \, \mathrm{d}s + \frac{t}{2} \int_{\Gamma_2} z_t^2 \, \mathrm{d}s + \frac{1}{\epsilon} (\mathbf{u}^* - \mathbf{w}^*, z_t)_W + \frac{t}{2\epsilon} \|z_t\|_W^2 \right) \\ &+ (\mu^* - \mu^0, \mu - \mu^*)_{L^2(\Gamma_2)} + \frac{t}{2} \|\mu - \mu^*\|_{L^2(\Gamma_2)}^2 \right) = \int_{\Gamma_2} z_{\mu}^* (\mathbf{u}^* - \mathbf{u}_d) \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \frac{1}{\epsilon} (z_{\mu}^*, \mathbf{u}^* - \mathbf{w}^*)_W + (\mu - \mu^*, \mu^* - \mu^0)_{L^2(\Gamma_2)} \quad \forall \mu \in M \,, \end{split}$$

i.e. (8.163).

Next, for every $t \in (0, 1)$ and $w \in W$, we met $w_t = w^* + tw$ and $h_t = \frac{\tilde{u}_t - u^*}{t}$ with $\tilde{u}_t = u_{\rho}^{\mu^*, w_t}$. It is easy to prove that h_t satisfies

$$a(\boldsymbol{h}_{t},\boldsymbol{v}) + \frac{\langle \nabla \varphi_{\mu^{*},\boldsymbol{w}^{*}}^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u}^{*} + t\boldsymbol{h}_{t}) - \nabla \varphi_{\mu^{*},\boldsymbol{w}^{*}}^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u}^{*}),\boldsymbol{v} \rangle}{t} + \frac{\langle \beta_{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u}^{*} + t\boldsymbol{h}_{t}) - \beta_{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u}^{*}),\boldsymbol{v} \rangle}{t} = -\langle \nabla \varphi_{\mu^{*},\boldsymbol{w}}^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u}^{*} + t\boldsymbol{h}_{t}),\boldsymbol{v} \rangle \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in V.$$

Hence, by proceeding as in the first part of this proof, we deduce (8.164) where the weak limit h_w^* of the sequence $\{h_t\}_t$ in W satisfies (8.166).

The main result of this section gives the necessary optimality conditions for each problem $(\mathbf{CP})_{\epsilon_0}$.

Theorem 8.14. Let $(\mu_{\epsilon\rho}^*, w_{\epsilon\rho}^*) \in M \times W$ be a solution of the control problem $(\mathbf{CP})_{\epsilon\rho}$. Then, there exist the unique elements $(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^*, \boldsymbol{p}_{\epsilon\rho}^*) \in W \times W$ such that

$$a(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*},\boldsymbol{v}) + \langle \nabla \varphi_{\mu_{\epsilon\rho}^{*},\boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*}}^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*}),\boldsymbol{v} \rangle + \langle \beta_{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*}),\boldsymbol{v} \rangle = (\boldsymbol{F},\boldsymbol{v}) \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V} , \qquad (8.171)$$

$$a(\boldsymbol{p}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*},\boldsymbol{v}) + \langle \nabla^{2} \varphi_{\mu_{\epsilon\rho},\boldsymbol{v}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*}}^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*}) \cdot \boldsymbol{p}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*},\boldsymbol{v} \rangle + \langle \nabla \varphi_{\mu_{\epsilon\rho},\boldsymbol{v}}^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*}) \cdot \boldsymbol{p}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*},\boldsymbol{v} \rangle + \langle \nabla \beta_{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*}) \cdot \boldsymbol{p}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*},\boldsymbol{v} \rangle = -\int_{\Gamma_{2}} (\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*} - \boldsymbol{u}_{d}) \boldsymbol{v} \, ds \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{W} ,$$

$$(8.172)$$

$$\langle \nabla \varphi^{\rho}_{\mu-\mu^{*}_{\epsilon\rho},\boldsymbol{w}^{*}_{\epsilon\rho}}(\boldsymbol{u}^{*}_{\epsilon\rho}), \boldsymbol{p}^{*}_{\epsilon\rho} \rangle + (\mu-\mu^{*}_{\epsilon\rho},\mu^{*}_{\epsilon\rho}-\mu^{0})_{L^{2}(\Gamma_{2})} \geq 0 \quad \forall \mu \in M.$$
(8.173)

Proof. Let $u_{\epsilon\rho}^*$ be the unique solution of (8.171), i.e. $u_{\epsilon\rho}^* = u_{\rho}^{\mu_{\epsilon\rho}^*, w_{\epsilon\rho}^*}$. We denote by $p_{\epsilon\rho}^*$ the unique solution (we remark that $\nabla^2 \varphi_{\mu,w}^{\rho}(u) + \nabla \beta_{\rho}(u) \in \mathscr{L}(W, W^*)$ is a positive operator) of the following problem

$$a(\boldsymbol{p}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*},\boldsymbol{v}) + \langle \nabla^{2} \varphi_{\mu_{\epsilon\rho}^{*},\boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*}}^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*}) \cdot \boldsymbol{p}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*},\boldsymbol{v} \rangle + \langle \nabla \beta_{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*}) \cdot \boldsymbol{p}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*},\boldsymbol{v} \rangle$$

$$= -\int_{\Gamma_{2}} (\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*} - \boldsymbol{u}_{d}) \boldsymbol{v} \, \mathrm{ds} - \frac{1}{\epsilon} (\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*} - \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*},\boldsymbol{v})_{W} \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{W} .$$
(8.174)

Since $(\mu_{\epsilon\rho}^*, \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^*)$ is a solution of $(\mathbf{CP})_{\epsilon\rho}$, it follows

$$\begin{aligned} & \frac{\partial J_{\epsilon\rho}}{\partial \mu} (\mu_{\epsilon\rho}^*, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^*) \cdot (\mu - \mu_{\epsilon\rho}^*) \geq 0 \quad \forall \mu \in M \\ & \frac{\partial J_{\epsilon\rho}}{\partial \boldsymbol{w}} (\mu_{\epsilon\rho}^*, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^*) \cdot \boldsymbol{w} = 0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{w} \in W . \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, from (8.163), by using the relation (8.174) with $v = z_{\mu}$ and the relation (8.165) with $v = p_{\epsilon\rho}^*$, we get

$$\frac{\partial J_{\epsilon\rho}}{\partial \mu} (\mu_{\epsilon\rho}^*, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^*) \cdot (\mu - \mu_{\epsilon\rho}^*) = \int_{\Gamma_2} \boldsymbol{z}_{\mu}^* (\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^* - \boldsymbol{u}_d) \, \mathrm{ds} + \frac{1}{\epsilon} (\boldsymbol{z}_{\mu}^*, \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^* - \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^*)_W \\
+ (\mu - \mu_{\epsilon\rho}^*, \mu_{\epsilon\rho}^* - \mu^0)_{L^2(\Gamma_2)} = -a(\boldsymbol{p}_{\epsilon\rho}^*, \boldsymbol{z}_{\mu}^*) \\
- \langle \nabla^2 \varphi_{\mu_{\epsilon\rho}^*, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^*}^\rho (\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^*) \cdot \boldsymbol{p}_{\epsilon\rho}^*, \boldsymbol{z}_{\mu} \rangle - \langle \nabla \beta_{\rho} (\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^*) \cdot \boldsymbol{p}_{\epsilon\rho}^*, \boldsymbol{z}_{\mu} \rangle \\
+ (\mu - \mu_{\epsilon\rho}^*, \mu_{\epsilon\rho}^* - \mu^0)_{L^2(\Gamma_2)} = \langle \nabla \varphi_{\mu - \mu_{\epsilon\rho}^*, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^*}^\rho (\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^*), \boldsymbol{p}_{\epsilon\rho}^* \rangle \\
+ (\mu - \mu_{\epsilon\rho}^*, \mu_{\epsilon\rho}^* - \mu^0)_{L^2(\Gamma_2)} \ge 0 \quad \forall \mu \in M,$$
(8.175)

i.e. (8.173).

Finally, taking $v = h_w$ in (8.174) and $v = p_{\epsilon\rho}^*$ in (8.166), from (8.164), we obtain

$$\frac{\partial J_{\epsilon\rho}}{\partial \boldsymbol{w}}(\mu_{\epsilon\rho}^{*},\boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*})\cdot\boldsymbol{w} = \int_{\Gamma_{2}}\boldsymbol{h}_{w}^{*}(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*}-\boldsymbol{u}_{d})\,\mathrm{d}s + \frac{1}{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{h}_{w}^{*}-\boldsymbol{w},\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*}-\boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*})_{W}
= -a(\boldsymbol{p}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*},\boldsymbol{h}_{w}^{*}) - \langle\nabla^{2}\varphi_{\mu_{\epsilon\rho}^{*},\boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*}}^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*})\cdot\boldsymbol{p}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*},\boldsymbol{h}_{w}\rangle
-\langle\nabla\beta_{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*})\cdot\boldsymbol{p}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*},\boldsymbol{h}_{w}\rangle - \frac{1}{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{w},\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*}-\boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*})_{W}
= \langle\nabla\varphi_{\mu_{\epsilon\rho}^{*},\boldsymbol{w}}^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*}),\boldsymbol{p}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*}\rangle - \frac{1}{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{w},\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*}-\boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*})_{W} = 0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{w} \in \boldsymbol{W},$$
(8.176)

which, together with (8.174), leads to (8.172).

187

We finally remark that, taking into account the convergences given by Propositions 8.6 and 8.7, Theorem 8.14 gives an approximating process for computing the optimal control μ^0 of the problem (**CP**).

References

- 1. Abergel, F., Casas, E.: Some optimal control problems of multistate equations appearing in fluid mechanics. Math. Model. Numer. Anal. **27**, 223–247 (1993)
- Abergel, F., Temam, R.: On some control problems in fluid mechanics. Theor. Comput. Fluid Dyn. 1, 303–325 (1990)
- 3. Amontons, G.: De la résistence causée dans les machines, tant par les frottements des parties qui les composent que par la raideur des cordes qu'on emploie et la manière de calculer l'un et l'autre. Mémoires de l'Académie Royale des Sciences, Paris (1699)
- 4. Andersson, L.E.: A quasistatic frictional problem with normal compliance. Nonlinear Anal. Theory Methods Appl. **16**, 347–369 (1991)
- 5. Babuska, I., Azis, A.K.: The Mathematical Foundations of the Finite-element Methods with Applications to Partial Differential Equations. Academic, New York (1972)
- Barbu, V.: Optimal Control of Variational Inequalities. Research Notes in Mathematics, vol. 100, Pitman, London-Boston (1984)
- 7. Barbu, V., Tiba, D.: In: Amouroux, M., Jai, A.E. (eds.) Optimal Control of Abstract Variational Inequalities. Pergamon Press, Oxford (1990)
- Bermudez, A., Saguez, C.: Optimal control of a Signorini problem. SIAM J. Control Optim. 25, 576–582 (1987)
- Bisegna, P., Lebon, F., Maceri, F.: D-PANA: A convergent block-relaxation solution method for the discretized dual formulation of the Signorini-Coulomb contact problem. C.R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris 333, 1053–1058 (2001)
- Bisegna, P., Lebon, F., Maceri, F.: Relaxation procedures for solving Signorini-Coulomb contact problems. Adv. Eng. Softw. 35, 595–600 (2004)
- Brézis, H.: Équations et inéquations non linéaires dans les espaces vectoriels en dualité. Ann. Inst. Fourier Grenoble 18, 115–175 (1968)
- 12. Browder, F.: Problème Non Linéaires. Université de Montréal (1964)
- Capatina, A.: Optimal control of Signorini contact problem. Numer. Funct. Anal. Optim. 21, 817–828 (2000)
- Capatina, A., Lebon, F.: Remarks on the equilibrium finite element method for frictional contact problems. In: Mihailescu-Suliciu, M. (ed.) New Trends in Continuum Mechanics, The Theta Foundation, Conference Proceedings, Constanta, 2003, pp. 25–33 (2005)
- Capatina, A., Stavre, R.: Optimal control of a non-isothermal Navier-Stokes flow. Int. J. Eng. Sci. 34, 59–66 (1996)
- 16. Ciarlet, P.G.: The Finite Element Method for Elliptic Problems. North-Holland, New York (1976)
- 17. Cocu, M.: Existence of solutions of Signorini problems with friction. Int. J. Eng. Sci. 22, 567–575 (1984)
- Cocu, M., Radoslovescu (Capatina), A.: Regularity properties for the solutions of a class of variational inequalities. J. Nonlinear Anal. 11, 221–230 (1987)
- Coulomb, C.A.: Théorie des machines simples, en ayant égard au frottement de leurs parties et á la raideur des cordages. Mémoires de mathématique et de physique de l'Académie Royale, Paris, pp. 161–342 (1785)
- Demkowicz, L., Oden, J.T.: On some existence and uniqueness results in contact problems with nonlocal friction. Nonlinear Anal. Theory Methods Appl. 6, 1075–1093 (1982)

- Drabla, S., Sofonea, M.: Analysis of a Signorini problem with friction. IMA J. Appl. Math. 63, 113–130 (1999)
- Duvaut, G.: Equilibre d'un solide élastique avec contact unilatéral et frottement de Coulomb. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 290, 263–265 (1980)
- 23. Duvaut, G., Lions, J.L.: Les Inéquations en Mécanique et Physique. Dunod, Paris (1972)
- Fichera, G.: Boundary value problems of elasticity with unilateral constraints. In: Flugge, S. (ed.) Encyclopedia of Physics, vol. VI, pp. 391–424. Springer, Berlin (1972)
- Veubeke, B.F.: Displacement and equilibrium models in the finite element method. In: Zienkiewicz, O.C., Holister, G.S. (eds.) Stress Analysis, pp. 145–197. Wiley, New York (1965)
- Friedman, A.: Optimal control for variational inequalities. SIAM J. Control Optim. 24, 439– 451 (1986)
- 27. Friedrichs, K.: On the boundary-value problem of the theory of elasticity and Korn's inequality. Ann. Math. **48**, 441–471 (1947)
- Hartman, P., Stampacchia, G.: On some nonlinear elliptic differential equations. Acta. Math. 115, 271–310 (1966)
- 29. Haslinger, J., Tvrdy, M.: Approximation and numerical solution of contact problems with friction. Appl. Math. 28, 55–71 (1983)
- 30. Jarusěk, J.: Contact problems with bounded friction coercive case. Czechoslov. Math. J. 33, 237–261 (1983)
- Johnson, C., Mercier, B.: Some equilibrium finite element methods for two-dimensional elasticity problems. Numer. Math. 30, 103–116 (1978)
- Klarbring, A., Mikelič, A., Shillor, M.: Frictional contact problems with normal compliance. Int. J. Eng. Sci. 26, 811–832 (1988)
- Klarbring, A., Mikelič, A., Shillor, M.: On friction problems with normal compliance. Nonlinear Anal. Theory Methods Appl. 13, 935–955 (1989)
- 34. Lions, J.L.: Contrôle Optimal de Systèmes Gouvernés par des Équations aux Dérivées Partielles. Dunod, Gauthiers-Villars, Paris (1968)
- 35. Lions, J.L.: Contrôle des Systèmes Distribués Singulières. Dunod, Paris (1983)
- Martins, J.A.C., Oden, J.T.: Existence and uniqueness results for dynamic contact problems with nonlinear normal friction and interface laws. Nonlinear Anal. Theory Methods Appl. 11, 407–428 (1987)
- Matei, A., Micu, S.: Boundary optimal control for nonlinear antiplane problems. Nonlinear Anal. Theory Methods Appl. 74, 1641–1652 (2011)
- Mignot, F.: Contrôle dans les inéquations variationnelles elliptiques. J. Funct. Anal. 22, 130–185 (1976)
- Mignot, F., Puel, J.P.: Optimal control in some variational inequalities. SIAM J. Control Optim. 22, 466–476 (1984)
- Mosco, U.: Implicit variational problems and quasi-variational inequalities. Lect. Notes Math. 543, 83–156 (1975)
- 41. Nečas, J., Jarusěk, J., Haslinger, J.: On the solution of the variational inequality to Signorini problem with small friction. Boll. Un. Mat. Ital. B **17**, 796–811 (1980)
- 42. Neittaanmaki, P., Sprekels, J., Tiba, D.: Optimization of Elliptic Systems: Theory and Applications. Springer Monographs in Mathematics. Springer, New York (2006)
- Neittaanmaki, P., Tiba, D.: Optimal Control of Nonlinear Parabolic Systems: Theory, Algorithms and Applications, vol. 179, Marcel Dekker, New York (1994)
- Oden, J.T., Kikuchi, N.: Theory of variational inequalities with applications to problems of flow through porous media. Int. J. Eng. Sci. 18, 1171–1284 (1980)
- Oden, J.T., Martins, A.C.: Models and computational methods for dynamic friction phenomena. Comput. Methods Appl. Mech. Eng. 50, 527–634 (1985)
- 46. Oden, J.T., Pires, E.: Contact problems in elastostatic with non-local friction laws. TICOM Report 81–82, Austin, TX (1981)
- Oden, J.T., Pires, E.: Contact problems in elastostatics with non-local friction law. J. Appl. Mech. 50, 67–76 (1983)

- Radoslovescu Capatina, A., Cocu, M.: Internal approximation of quasi-variational inequalities. Numer. Math. 59, 385–398 (1991)
- 49. Raous, M., Sage, M.: Numerical simulation of the behaviour of surface asperities for metal forming. In: Chenot, J.L., Wood, R.D., Zienkiewicz, O.C. (eds.) Numerical Methods in Industries Forming Processes. Balkema, Rotterdam (1992)
- 50. Rockafellar, R.T.: Monotone operators and the proximal point algorithm. SIAM J. Control Optim. 14, 877–898 (1976)
- Signorini, A.: Sopra alcune questioni di statica dei sistemi nontinui. Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa 2, 231–251 (1933)
- Signorini, A.: Questioni di elasticita non linearizzata e semi-linearizzata. Rend. Mat. Appl. 18, 95–139 (1959)
- Sofonea, M., Tiba, D.: The control variational method for elastic contact problems. Ann. AOSR Ser. Math. Appl. 2, 99–122 (2010)
- Sprekels, J., Tiba, D.: The control variational approach for differential systems. SIAM J. Control Optim. 47, 3220–3236 (2008)
- 55. Stampacchia, G.: Variational inequalities: theory and application of monotone operators. In: Proceedings of a NATO Advanced Study Institute Venice (1968)
- Telega, J.J.: Topics on unilateral contact problems of elasticity and inelasticity. In: Moreau, J.J., Panagiotopoulos, P.D. (eds.) Nonsmooth Mechanics and Applications. CSIM Lecture Notes, vol. 302, pp. 341–462. Springer, Wien/New York (1988)
- Telega, J.J.: Quasi-static Signorini's contact problem with friction and duality. Int. Ser. Numer. Math. 101, 199–214 (1991)
- 58. Tiba, D.: Lectures on the optimal control of elliptic equations. In: The 5th International Summer School Jyvaskyla (1995)

Chapter 9 Quasistatic Problems

This chapter deals with the study of quasistatic contact problems with a nonlocal Coulomb friction law. We first consider that the unilateral contact is modeled by the Signorini conditions. In this case, a variational formulation (see [7]) involves two inequalities with the simultaneous presence of the displacement field and of the velocity field. More precisely, the friction law generates an inequality with the velocity field as test function while the Signorini conditions lead to an inequality with the displacement field as test function. Applying Theorem 4.19 (p. 77), a known existence result (see [7]) is provided. We then prove, following the work [5], convergence results for a space finite element approximation and an implicit time discretization scheme of this problem. The last section is devoted, as in the work [6], to the study of a boundary control problem related to a quasistatic bilateral contact problem with nonlocal Coulomb friction.

Concerning the study of quasistatic contact problems in elasticity, we mention the existence and/or uniqueness results obtained, in the case of a normal compliance law, by Andersson [3] and Klarbring et al. [9], and, in the case of a local or nonlocal Coulomb law with unilateral contact, by Cocu et al. [7], Andersson [4], Cocou and Roca [8], Rocca [14]. For the study of quasistatic bilateral contact problems involving viscoelastic or viscoplastic materials, we refer to Shillor and Sofonea [15], Shillor et al. [16] and Amassad [1].

9.1 Classical and Variational Formulations

The quasistatic evolutionary of an elastic body in unilateral contact with a rigid foundation is considered. We suppose that the volume forces f = f(x, t) and the surface tractions g = g(x, t) are applied so slowly that the inertial forces may be neglected.

With the notation adopted in Sect. 8.1, the classical formulation of the quasistatic problem is obtained, as in the static case, by considering the equilibrium equations, the constitutive equation, the kinematic relation, the boundary conditions, and the initial condition.

Problem (*Q*): Find a displacement field $\boldsymbol{u} = \boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{x}, t) : \Omega \times [0, T] \to \mathbb{R}^d$ such that

$$-\operatorname{div}\boldsymbol{\sigma} = \boldsymbol{f} \quad \operatorname{in}\,\Omega\times(0,T)\,,\tag{9.1}$$

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma} = \boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}) = \mathscr{A}\boldsymbol{\epsilon}, \qquad \boldsymbol{\epsilon} = \frac{1}{2}(\nabla \boldsymbol{u} + \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^T) \quad \text{in } \Omega \times (0, T), \qquad (9.2)$$

$$\boldsymbol{u} = \boldsymbol{0} \quad \text{on } \Gamma_0 \times (0, T) \,, \tag{9.3}$$

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu} = \boldsymbol{g} \quad \text{on } \Gamma_1 \times (0, T) \,, \tag{9.4}$$

$$u_{\nu} \leq 0, \quad \sigma_{\nu} \leq 0, \quad u_{\nu}\sigma_{\nu} = 0 \quad \text{on } \Gamma_2 \times (0,T),$$

$$(9.5)$$

$$|\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}| \leq \mu |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\nu}| \text{ and } \begin{cases} |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}| < \mu |\mathscr{R}\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\nu}| \Rightarrow \boldsymbol{\dot{u}}_{\tau} = 0\\ |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}| = \mu |\mathscr{R}\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\nu}| \Rightarrow \exists \lambda \geq 0, \ \boldsymbol{\dot{u}}_{\tau} = -\lambda \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau} \end{cases} \text{ on } \Gamma_{2} \times (0, T),$$

$$(9.6)$$

$$\boldsymbol{u}(0) = \boldsymbol{u}_0 \quad \text{in } \Omega \,. \tag{9.7}$$

where $\mathscr{A} = (a_{ijkh})$ is the fourth order tensor of elasticity with the elasticity coefficients satisfying the symmetry and ellipticity conditions:

$$a_{ijkh} = a_{jihk} = a_{khij}, \ \forall 1 \le i, j, k, h \le d,$$

$$\exists \alpha > 0 \text{ tel que } a_{ijkh} \xi_{ij} \xi_{kh} \ge \alpha |\boldsymbol{\xi}|^2, \ \forall \boldsymbol{\xi} = (\xi_{ij}) \in \mathbb{R}^{d^2}.$$
(9.8)

In order to derive a variational formulation of the problem (9.1)–(9.7), we suppose that

$$f \in W^{1,2}(0, T; (L^{2}(\Omega))^{d}),$$

$$g \in W^{1,2}(0, T; (L^{2}(\Gamma_{1}))^{d}),$$

$$a_{ijkl} \in L^{\infty}(\Omega), i, j, k, l = 1, \dots, d,$$

$$\mu \in L^{\infty}(\Gamma_{2}), \mu \ge 0 \text{ a.e. on } \Gamma_{2}$$

$$\mathscr{R}: H^{-1/2}(\Gamma_{2}) \to L^{2}(\Gamma_{2}) \text{ is a linear continuous operator.}$$
(9.9)

We shall use the notation

$$V = \{ \boldsymbol{v} \in (H^{1}(\Omega))^{d} ; \boldsymbol{v} = \boldsymbol{0} \text{ a.e. on } \Gamma_{0} \},$$

$$\boldsymbol{K} = \{ \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V} ; \boldsymbol{v}_{v} \leq \boldsymbol{0} \text{ a.e. on } \Gamma_{2} \},$$

$$\boldsymbol{a}(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}) = \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u})\boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{v}) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \quad \forall \boldsymbol{u}, \, \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V} .$$
(9.10)

Let $F \in W^{1,2}(0,T;V)$ where, for all $t \in [0,T]$, F(t) is the element of V defined by

$$(\boldsymbol{F}(t),\boldsymbol{v}) = \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f}(t) \cdot \boldsymbol{v} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} + \int_{\Gamma_1} \boldsymbol{g}(t) \cdot \boldsymbol{v} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{s} \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V}, \qquad (9.11)$$

where we have denoted by (\cdot, \cdot) the inner product over the space V.

We also put

$$W = \{ w \in V; \operatorname{div} \sigma(w) \in (L^2(\Omega))^d \}.$$
(9.12)

For simplicity, we denote by $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ the duality pairing between $(H^{-1/2}(\Gamma_2))^d$ and $(H^{1/2}(\Gamma_2))^d$ or between $H^{-1/2}(\Gamma_2)$ and $H^{1/2}(\Gamma_2)$. Then, as we have precise in Sect. 8.1, we have

$$\langle \boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{w}) \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}, \boldsymbol{\nu} \rangle = \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{w}) \boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\bar{\boldsymbol{\nu}}) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{w}) \bar{\boldsymbol{\nu}} \, \mathrm{d}x \quad \forall \boldsymbol{w} \in \boldsymbol{W} \,, \; \forall \boldsymbol{\nu} \in (H^{1/2}(\Gamma_2))^d$$

where $\bar{v} \in (H^1(\Omega))^d$ satisfies $\bar{v} = v$ almost everywhere on Γ_2 .

Therefore, we define the normal component of the stress tensor $\sigma_{\nu}(w) \in H^{-1/2}(\Gamma_2)$ by

$$\langle \sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{w}), \nu \rangle = \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{w}) \boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\bar{\boldsymbol{\nu}}) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{w}) \bar{\boldsymbol{\nu}} \, \mathrm{d}x \quad \forall \boldsymbol{w} \in \boldsymbol{W}, \quad \forall \nu \in H^{1/2}(\Gamma_2)$$

where $\bar{\mathbf{v}} \in (H^1(\Omega))^d$ satisfies $\bar{\mathbf{v}}_\tau = \mathbf{0}$ and $\bar{\mathbf{v}}_v = v$ a.e. on Γ_2 .

It is easy to verify that, for any $w \in W$, the above definitions of $\sigma(w) \cdot v$ and $\sigma_{v}(w)$ are independent on the choice of \bar{v} .

For all $\Theta \in V$, we introduce the functional $\tilde{j}_{\Theta} : K(\Theta) \times V \to \mathbb{R}$ defined by

$$\tilde{j}_{\Theta}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}) = \int_{\Gamma_2} \mu |\mathscr{R}\sigma_{\boldsymbol{v}}(\boldsymbol{u})| \, |\boldsymbol{v}_t| \, \mathrm{d}s \quad \forall \boldsymbol{u} \in \boldsymbol{K}(\Theta) \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V} \,, \tag{9.13}$$

where

$$\boldsymbol{K}(\boldsymbol{\Theta}) = \{ \boldsymbol{w} \in \boldsymbol{K} ; a(\boldsymbol{w}, \boldsymbol{\psi}) = (\boldsymbol{\Theta}, \boldsymbol{\psi}), \forall \boldsymbol{\psi} \in \boldsymbol{V} \text{ such that } \boldsymbol{\psi} = 0 \text{ a.e. on } \Gamma_2 \}.$$

A variational formulation of this problem (see [7]) involves two inequalities and the simultaneous presence of the displacement field and of the velocity field. More precisely, the friction law generates an inequality with the velocity field as test function while the Signorini conditions lead to an inequality with the displacement field as test function. So, we shall consider the following weak formulation of Problem (\mathcal{Q}). **Problem** (**Q**): Find $u \in W^{1,2}(0, T; V)$ such that

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{u}(0) = \boldsymbol{u}_{0}, \quad \boldsymbol{u}(t) \in \boldsymbol{K} \quad \forall t \in [0, T] \\ \boldsymbol{a}(\boldsymbol{u}(t), \boldsymbol{v} - \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}(t)) + \tilde{j}_{\boldsymbol{F}(t)}(\boldsymbol{u}(t), \boldsymbol{v}) - \tilde{j}_{\boldsymbol{F}(t)}(\boldsymbol{u}(t), \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}(t)) \\ \geq (\boldsymbol{F}(t), \boldsymbol{v} - \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}(t)) + \langle \sigma_{v}(\boldsymbol{u}(t)), v_{v} - \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{v}(t) \rangle \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V} \quad \text{a.e. } t \in (0, T) \\ \langle \sigma_{v}(\boldsymbol{u}(t)), z_{v} - \boldsymbol{u}_{v}(t) \rangle \geq 0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{z} \in \boldsymbol{K}, \; \forall t \in (0, T) . \end{cases}$$

$$(9.14)$$

Remark 9.1. If *u* verifies the first inequality of Problem (**Q**), then $u(t) \in K(F(t))$, $\forall t \in [0, T]$.

We suppose that the initial displacement $u_0 \in K$ satisfies the following compatibility condition

$$a(u_0, v) + j_{F(0)}(u_0, v) \ge (F(0), v) \quad \forall v \in K.$$
 (9.15)

In order to show that the classical formulation (\mathcal{Q}) and the variational formulation (\mathbf{Q}) are equivalent, we first prove the following result.

Lemma 9.1. Let $\tilde{u} \in K \cap W$ be a regular function. Then, the following two conditions are equivalent:

$$\tilde{u}_{\nu} \leq 0, \ \sigma_{\nu}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}) \leq 0, \ \tilde{u}_{\nu} \sigma_{\nu}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}) = 0 \quad on \ \Gamma_2$$

$$(9.16)$$

$$\langle \sigma_{\nu}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}), z_{\nu} - \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\nu} \rangle \ge 0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{z} \in \boldsymbol{K} .$$
 (9.17)

Proof. If the unilateral contact conditions (9.16) hold, then we have

$$\langle \sigma_{\nu}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}), z_{\nu} - \tilde{u}_{\nu} \rangle = \langle \sigma_{\nu}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}), z_{\nu} \rangle - \langle \sigma_{\nu}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}), \tilde{u}_{\nu} \rangle = \langle \sigma_{\nu}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}), z_{\nu} \rangle \ge 0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{z} \in \boldsymbol{K} .$$

Conversely, if (9.17) is satisfied, then, by taking z = 0 and z = 2u, we obtain

$$\langle \sigma_{\nu}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}), \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\nu} \rangle = 0, \qquad (9.18)$$

and hence, by the inequality (9.17), we get

$$\langle \sigma_{\nu}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}), z_{\nu} \rangle \ge 0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{z} \in \boldsymbol{K} .$$
 (9.19)

Finally, from the relations (9.18), (9.19) and the definition of K, we conclude the proof.

Following the standard procedure, we derive the next result.

Theorem 9.1. The mechanical problem (\mathcal{Q}) is formally equivalent to the weak formulation (**Q**) in the following sense:

(i) If u is a sufficiently smooth function which verifies the mechanical problem (9.1)–(9.7), then u is a solution of the variational problem (9.14).

(ii) If u is a regular solution of the variational problem (9.14), then u verifies (9.1)–(9.7) in the distributional sense.

Proof. For simplicity, we shall omit the variable *t*.

(i) Multiplying Eq. (9.1) by $v - \dot{u}$ with $v \in V$ and integrating by parts over Ω , we obtain

$$a(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}-\dot{\boldsymbol{u}})-\int_{\Gamma}\boldsymbol{\sigma}\cdot\boldsymbol{v}(\boldsymbol{v}-\dot{\boldsymbol{u}})\,\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{s}=\int_{\Omega}\boldsymbol{f}(\boldsymbol{v}-\dot{\boldsymbol{u}})\,\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}\quad\forall\boldsymbol{v}\in\boldsymbol{V}\,,$$

and so, by using (9.3) and (9.4), we get

$$a(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}-\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}) - \int_{\Gamma_2} (\sigma_{\boldsymbol{v}}(\boldsymbol{v}_{\boldsymbol{v}}-\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\boldsymbol{v}}) + \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}(\boldsymbol{v}_{\tau}-\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau})) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{s} = (\boldsymbol{F},\boldsymbol{v}-\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}) \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V} \,. \tag{9.20}$$

Hence, for $v = \psi + \dot{u}$ with $\psi \in V$ such that $\psi = 0$ a.e. on Γ_2 , we deduce that $u \in K(F)$.

On the other hand, the Coulomb friction law (9.6) implies

$$\tilde{j}_F(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}) - \tilde{j}_F(\boldsymbol{u},\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}) + \int_{\Gamma_2} \boldsymbol{\sigma}_\tau(\boldsymbol{v}_\tau - \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_\tau) \,\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{s} \ge 0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \text{ smooth function} \,. \tag{9.21}$$

Indeed, let us denote $E = \mu |\mathscr{R}\sigma_{\nu}|(|\boldsymbol{v}_{\tau}| - |\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau}|) + \sigma_{\tau}(\boldsymbol{v}_{\tau} - \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau}).$ If $|\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}| < \mu |\mathscr{R}\sigma_{\nu}|$, then $\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau} = \boldsymbol{0}$, and hence

$$E \geq -|\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}| |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tau}| + \mu |\mathscr{R} \sigma_{\nu}| |\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tau}| \geq 0.$$

If $|\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}| = \mu |\mathscr{R} \sigma_{\nu}|$, then we have $\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau} = -\lambda \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}$, and so

$$E = \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau} \boldsymbol{v}_{\tau} + |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}| |\boldsymbol{v}_{\tau}| \geq 0.$$

Combining (9.20) and (9.21), we deduce that u verifies the first inequality of (9.14).

The second inequality of (9.14) is obtained from (9.5) and Lemma 9.1 for $\tilde{u} = u$.

(ii) If we take $v = \dot{u} \pm \varphi$ in the first inequality of Problem (**Q**), with $\varphi \in (\mathscr{D}(\Omega))^d$ and we apply Green's formula (8.7), then we obtain (9.1) in the distributional sense.

It is immediate, from Lemma 9.1 and the second inequality of (9.14), that the Signorini contact conditions (9.5) are satisfied.

In order to obtain (9.4), we multiply the relation (9.1) by $v - \dot{u}$ with $v \in V$, and so, by integrating by parts and using the first inequality of (9.14), we obtain

$$\tilde{j}_{F}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}) - \tilde{j}_{F}(\boldsymbol{u},\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}) + \int_{\Gamma} (\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{v})(\boldsymbol{v} - \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{s} - \int_{\Gamma_{1}} \boldsymbol{g}(\boldsymbol{v} - \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{s}$$

$$\geq \langle \sigma_{\boldsymbol{v}}(\boldsymbol{u}), \boldsymbol{v}_{\boldsymbol{v}} - \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\boldsymbol{v}} \rangle \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V} \, .$$
(9.22)

By choosing $\mathbf{v} = \dot{\mathbf{u}} \pm \boldsymbol{\varphi}$ with $\boldsymbol{\varphi} \in (C^{\infty}(\Omega))^d$ and supp $\boldsymbol{\varphi} \subset \Gamma_1$, we deduce

$$\int_{\Gamma_1} \left((\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}) - \boldsymbol{g} \right) \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi} \, \mathrm{d} \boldsymbol{s} = 0,$$

that is the relation (9.4). Thus, the relation (9.22) becomes

$$\tilde{j}_F(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}) - \tilde{j}_F(\boldsymbol{u},\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}) + \int_{\Gamma_2} \boldsymbol{\sigma}_\tau(\boldsymbol{v}_\tau - \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_\tau) \,\mathrm{d}s \ge 0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V} \,. \tag{9.23}$$

We now take $\boldsymbol{v} \in V$ such that $\boldsymbol{v}_{\tau} = \pm \delta \boldsymbol{\varphi}$ with $\delta \in \mathbb{R}_+, \boldsymbol{\varphi} \in (C^{\infty}(\Omega))^d$ and supp $\boldsymbol{\varphi} \subset \Gamma_2$. As $\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau} \boldsymbol{v}_{\tau} = \pm \delta \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau} \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{\tau} = \pm \delta \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau} \boldsymbol{\varphi}$, we obtain

$$\delta \int_{\Gamma_2} (\mu | \mathscr{R} \sigma_{\nu} | | \boldsymbol{\varphi} | \pm \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau} \boldsymbol{\varphi}) \, \mathrm{d}s - \int_{\Gamma_2} (\mu | \mathscr{R} \sigma_{\nu} | | \boldsymbol{\dot{u}}_{\tau} | + \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau} \boldsymbol{\dot{u}}_{\tau}) \, \mathrm{d}s \ge 0 \quad \forall \delta \ge 0$$

which gives

$$\begin{cases} \int\limits_{\Gamma_2} (\pm \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau} \boldsymbol{\varphi} + \mu | \mathscr{R} \sigma_{\nu} | | \boldsymbol{\varphi} |) \, \mathrm{d}s \geq 0 \\ \int\limits_{\Gamma_2} \int\limits_{\Gamma_2} (\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau} \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau} + \mu | \mathscr{R} \sigma_{\nu} | | \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau} |) \, \mathrm{d}s \leq 0 \end{cases}$$

or, equivalently to

$$|\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}| \le \mu |\mathscr{R} \sigma_{\nu}| \tag{9.24}$$

and

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau} \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau} + \mu |\mathscr{R} \sigma_{\nu}| \left| \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau} \right| \le 0.$$
(9.25)

It is easy to see that the relations (9.25) and (9.24) give

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau} \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau} + \mu |\mathscr{R} \sigma_{\nu}| \left| \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau} \right| = 0.$$
(9.26)

Indeed, if $|\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}| < \mu |\mathscr{R} \sigma_{\nu}|$, then, supposing that $\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau} \neq 0$, it follows that $0 > \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau} \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau} + |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}| |\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau}| \geq 0$, which is a contradiction. It follows that $\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau} = \boldsymbol{0}$.

If $|\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}| = \mu |\mathscr{R} \sigma_{\nu}|$, then it follows that $0 = \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau} \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau} + |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}| |\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau}|$, and so, there exists $\lambda > 0$ such that $\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau} = -\lambda \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}$. Therefore, the friction conditions (9.6) are satisfied and, by taking into account that $\boldsymbol{u}(0) = \boldsymbol{u}_0$ et $\boldsymbol{u}(t) \in \boldsymbol{K}$ for all $t \in [0, T]$, we conclude the proof.

Using an implicit time discretization scheme (as in Sect. 4.3, p. 69), we obtain the following sequence $\{(\mathbf{Q})_{\mathbf{n}}^{\mathbf{i}}\}_{i=0,1,\dots,n-1}$ of incremental formulations.

Problem $(\mathbf{Q})_{\mathbf{n}}^{\mathbf{i}}$: Find $\mathbf{u}^{i+1} \in \mathbf{K}^{i+1}$ such that

$$\begin{cases} a(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}, \boldsymbol{v} - \partial \boldsymbol{u}^{i}) + \tilde{j}_{F^{i+1}}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}, \boldsymbol{v}) - \tilde{j}_{F^{i+1}}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}, \partial \boldsymbol{u}^{i}) \\ \geq (F^{i+1}, \boldsymbol{v} - \partial \boldsymbol{u}^{i}) + \langle \sigma_{\boldsymbol{v}}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}), \boldsymbol{v}_{\boldsymbol{v}} - \partial \boldsymbol{u}^{i}_{\boldsymbol{v}} \rangle \quad \forall \, \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V}, \\ \langle \sigma_{\boldsymbol{v}}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}), \boldsymbol{z}_{\boldsymbol{v}} - \boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}_{\boldsymbol{v}} \rangle \geq 0 \quad \forall \, \boldsymbol{z} \in \boldsymbol{K} \end{cases}$$

$$(9.27)$$

where $K^{i+1} = K(F^{i+1})$ and $u^0 = u_0$. By setting $w = v\Delta t + u^i$, we deduce that the problem $(\mathbf{Q})^{\mathbf{i}}_{\mathbf{n}}$ is equivalent to the following problem $(\tilde{\mathbf{Q}})^{\mathbf{i}}_{\mathbf{n}}$.

Problem $(\tilde{\mathbf{Q}})_{\mathbf{n}}^{\mathbf{i}}$: Find $\mathbf{u}^{i+1} \in \mathbf{K}^{i+1}$ such that

$$\begin{cases} a(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}, \boldsymbol{w} - \boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}) + \tilde{j}_{\boldsymbol{F}^{i+1}}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}, \boldsymbol{w} - \boldsymbol{u}^{i}) - \tilde{j}_{\boldsymbol{F}^{i+1}}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}, \boldsymbol{u}^{i+1} - \boldsymbol{u}^{i}) \\ \geq (\boldsymbol{F}^{i+1}, \boldsymbol{w} - \boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}) + \langle \sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}), w_{\nu} - \boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}_{\nu} \rangle \quad \forall \, \boldsymbol{w} \in \boldsymbol{V}, \qquad (9.28) \\ \langle \sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}), z_{\nu} - \boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}_{\nu} \rangle \geq 0 \quad \forall \, \boldsymbol{z} \in \boldsymbol{K}. \end{cases}$$

In order to obtain an existence result for the problem (\mathbf{Q}) (by applying Theorem 4.19), we first prove the following equivalence result which states that the hypothesis (4.105) of Theorem 4.19 is satisfied.

Theorem 9.2. For all $i \in \{0, ..., n-1\}$, the problem $(\tilde{\mathbf{Q}})_{\mathbf{n}}^{\mathbf{i}}$ is equivalent to the problem $(\tilde{\mathbf{R}})_{\mathbf{n}}^{\mathbf{i}}$ defined below.

Problem $(\tilde{\mathbf{R}})_{\mathbf{n}}^{\mathbf{i}}$: Find $u^{i+1} \in \mathbf{K}^{i+1}$ such that

$$a(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}, \boldsymbol{w} - \boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}) + \tilde{j}_{F^{i+1}}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}, \boldsymbol{w} - \boldsymbol{u}^{i}) - \tilde{j}_{F^{i+1}}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}, \boldsymbol{u}^{i+1} - \boldsymbol{u}^{i})$$

$$\geq (F^{i+1}, \boldsymbol{w} - \boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}) \quad \forall \, \boldsymbol{w} \in \boldsymbol{K} \,.$$
(9.29)

To help the reader acquire a better understanding of the proof of Theorem 9.2, we divide it into two steps, Propositions 9.1 and 9.2 below. For this reason we introduce the following mechanical problem.

Problem $(\mathscr{Q})_n^i$: Find a displacement field $u^{i+1}: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^d$ such that

$$-\operatorname{div}\boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}) = \boldsymbol{f}^{i+1} \quad \text{in } \Omega, \qquad (9.30)$$

$$\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1} = \boldsymbol{0} \quad \text{on } \Gamma_0 \,, \tag{9.31}$$

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}) \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu} = \boldsymbol{g}^{i+1} \quad \text{on } \Gamma_1, \qquad (9.32)$$

$$u_{\nu}^{i+1} \le 0, \quad \sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}) \le 0, \quad u_{\nu}\sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}) = 0 \quad \text{on } \Gamma_2,$$
(9.33)

$$\begin{cases} |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1})| \leq \mu | \mathscr{R} \sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1})| \text{ and} \\ |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1})| < \mu | \mathscr{R} \sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1})| \Rightarrow \boldsymbol{u}_{\tau}^{i+1} = \boldsymbol{u}_{\tau}^{i} & \text{on } \Gamma_{2} . \\ |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1})| = \mu | \mathscr{R} \sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1})| \Rightarrow \exists \lambda \geq 0 , \ \boldsymbol{u}_{\tau}^{i+1} - \boldsymbol{u}_{\tau}^{i} = -\lambda \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}) \end{cases}$$

$$(9.34)$$

Lemma 9.2. Let $\Theta \in V$ and $d \in K$ be given and let $\tilde{u} \in K(\Theta)$ be a regular function such that

$$\tilde{j}_{\Theta}(\tilde{u}, w - \mathbf{d}) - \tilde{j}_{\Theta}(\tilde{u}, \tilde{u} - d) + \int_{\Gamma_2} \sigma_{\tau}(\tilde{u})(w_{\tau} - \tilde{u}_{\tau}) \,\mathrm{d}s \ge 0 \quad \forall w \in K .$$
(9.35)

Then \tilde{u} verifies (in the distributional sense)

$$\begin{aligned} |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})| &\leq \mu |\mathscr{R}\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\nu}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})| \text{ and} \\ |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})| &< \mu |\mathscr{R}\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\nu}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})| \Rightarrow \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau} = \boldsymbol{d}_{\tau} \qquad on \ \Gamma_{2} \,. \end{aligned}$$

$$|\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})| &= \mu |\mathscr{R}\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\nu}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})| \Rightarrow \exists \lambda \geq 0 \,, \ \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau} - \boldsymbol{d}_{\tau} = -\lambda \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}) \end{aligned}$$

$$(9.36)$$

Proof. If we take $w = d + \delta \varphi_{\tau}$ in (9.35), with $\varphi \in (C^{\infty}(\Omega))^d$, supp $\varphi \subset \Gamma_2$ and $\delta > 0$, we obtain

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\Gamma_2} \mu |\mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu}(\tilde{u}))| (|\boldsymbol{w}_{\tau} - \boldsymbol{d}_{\tau}| - |\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau} - \boldsymbol{d}_{\tau}|) + \sigma_{\tau}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})(\boldsymbol{w}_{\tau} - \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau}) \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \delta \int_{\Gamma_2} (\mu |\mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}))| \, |\boldsymbol{\varphi}_{\tau}| + \sigma_{\tau}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})\boldsymbol{\varphi}) \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &- \int_{\Gamma_2}^{\Gamma_2} (\mu |\mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}))| \, |\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau} - \boldsymbol{d}_{\tau}| + \sigma_{\tau}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau} - \boldsymbol{d}_{\tau})) \, \mathrm{d}s \geq 0 \quad \forall \delta > 0 \,, \end{split}$$

which gives, as $|\boldsymbol{\varphi}| \geq |\boldsymbol{\varphi}_{\tau}|$,

$$\int_{\Gamma_2} (\mu | \mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})) | | \boldsymbol{\varphi} | + \sigma_{\tau}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}) \boldsymbol{\varphi}) \, \mathrm{d}s \ge 0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\varphi} \in (C^{\infty}(\Omega))^d \,, \text{ supp } \boldsymbol{\varphi} \subset \Gamma_2 \,,$$
(9.37)

and

$$\int_{\Gamma_2} (\mu |\mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}))| |\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau} - \boldsymbol{d}_{\tau}| + \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau} - \boldsymbol{d}_{\tau})) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{s} \le 0.$$
(9.38)

Putting $\varphi = \pm \varphi$ in (9.37), it results

$$\int_{\Gamma_2} |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})| |\boldsymbol{\varphi}| \, \mathrm{d}s \leq \int_{\Gamma_2} \mu |\mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}))| |\boldsymbol{\varphi}| \, \mathrm{d}s \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\varphi} \in (C^{\infty}(\Omega))^d \,, \text{ supp } \boldsymbol{\varphi} \subset \Gamma_2 \,,$$

i.e.

$$|\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})| \leq \mu |\mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}))|.$$
(9.39)

Therefore, (9.38) implies

$$0 \ge \mu |\mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}))| |\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau} - \boldsymbol{d}_{\tau}| + \sigma_{\tau}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau} - \boldsymbol{d}_{\tau}) \ge (\mu |\mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}))| - |\sigma_{\tau}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})|) |\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau} - \boldsymbol{d}_{\tau}| \ge 0$$

that is

$$\mu|\mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}))| |\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau} - \boldsymbol{d}_{\tau}| + \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau} - \boldsymbol{d}_{\tau}) = 0.$$
(9.40)

If $|\sigma_{\tau}(\tilde{u})| < \mu |\mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu}(\tilde{u}))|$, then, supposing $\tilde{u}_{\tau} \neq d_{\tau}$, (9.40) gives

 $0 = \mu |\mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}))| |\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau} - \boldsymbol{d}_{\tau}| + \sigma_{\tau}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau} - \boldsymbol{d}_{\tau}) > |\sigma_{\tau}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})| |\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau} - \boldsymbol{d}_{\tau}| + \sigma_{\tau}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau} - \boldsymbol{d}_{\tau}) \geq 0,$

and so, we must have $\tilde{u}_{\tau} = d_{\tau}$

If $|\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})| = \mu |\mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}))|$, then (9.40) implies

$$|\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})| \, |\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau} - \boldsymbol{d}_{\tau}| + \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau} - \boldsymbol{d}_{\tau}) = 0$$

and thus, there exists $\lambda \geq 0$ such that $\tilde{u}_{\tau} - d_{\tau} = -\lambda \sigma_{\tau}(\tilde{u})$.

Lemma 9.3. Let $\Theta \in V$ and $d \in K$ be given. Let $\tilde{u} \in K(\Theta)$ be a sufficiently smooth function which verifies (9.36). Then

$$\tilde{j}_{\Theta}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}, \boldsymbol{w} - \mathbf{d}) - \tilde{j}_{\Theta}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}} - \boldsymbol{d}) + \int_{\Gamma_2} \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})(\boldsymbol{w}_{\tau} - \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau}) \, \mathrm{d}s \ge 0 \,\,\forall \boldsymbol{w} \,\, smooth \,\, function \,.$$

$$(9.41)$$

Proof. Let *w* be a smooth function.

If $|\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})| < \mu |\mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}))|$ and $\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau} = \boldsymbol{d}_{\tau}$, then one has

$$\begin{split} \tilde{j}_{\Theta}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}, \boldsymbol{w} - \boldsymbol{d}) &- \tilde{j}_{\Theta}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}} - \boldsymbol{d}) + \int_{\Gamma_2} \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})(\boldsymbol{w}_{\tau} - \boldsymbol{d}_{\tau}) \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \int_{\Gamma_2} (\mu |\mathscr{R}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\nu}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}))| \, |\boldsymbol{w}_{\tau} - \boldsymbol{d}_{\tau}| + \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})(\boldsymbol{w}_{\tau} - \boldsymbol{d}_{\tau})) \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &\geq \int_{\Gamma_2} (\mu |\mathscr{R}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\nu}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}))| - |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})|) \, |\boldsymbol{w}_{\tau} - \boldsymbol{d}_{\tau}| \, \mathrm{d}s \geq 0 \end{split}$$

If $|\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})| = \mu |\mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}))|$ and $\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau} - \boldsymbol{d}_{\tau} = -\lambda \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})$, then one gets

$$\tilde{j}_{\Theta}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}, \boldsymbol{w} - \mathbf{d}) - \tilde{j}_{\Theta}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}} - \boldsymbol{d}) + \int_{\Gamma_2} \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})(\boldsymbol{w}_{\tau} - \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau}) \, \mathrm{d}s$$
$$= \int_{\Gamma_2} |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})| |\boldsymbol{w}_{\tau} - \boldsymbol{d}_{\tau}| + \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})(\boldsymbol{w}_{\tau} - \boldsymbol{d}_{\tau}) \, \mathrm{d}s \ge 0,$$

which completes the proof of Lemma.

Proposition 9.1. The problem $(\tilde{\mathbf{Q}})_{\mathbf{n}}^{\mathbf{i}}$ is formally equivalent (in the sense considered in Theorem 9.1) to the mechanical problem $(\mathcal{Q})_{n}^{i}$.

Proof. Let u^{i+1} be a regular solution of $(\tilde{\mathbf{Q}})_{\mathbf{n}}^{\mathbf{i}}$. If we chose, in the first inequality of (9.28), $w = u^{i+1} \pm \varphi$ with $\varphi \in (\mathscr{D}(\Omega))^d$ and we apply the Green's formula, then we obtain (9.30).

From the second inequality of (9.28) and Lemma 9.1 for $\tilde{u} = u^{i+1}$, we deduce (9.33).

Multiplying (9.30) by $w - u^{i+1}$ for $w \in V$, integrating by parts and using against the Green's formula and the first inequality of (9.28), we get

$$\tilde{j}_{F^{i+1}}(u^{i+1}, w - u^{i}) - \tilde{j}_{F^{i+1}}(u^{i+1}, u^{i+1} - u^{i}) + \int_{\Gamma_{2}} \sigma_{\tau}(u^{i+1})(w_{\tau} - u^{i+1}_{\tau}) ds
+ \int_{\Gamma_{1}} (\sigma(u^{i+1}) \cdot v - g^{i+1})(w - u^{i+1}) ds \ge 0 \quad \forall w \in V ,$$
(9.42)

and thus, by taking $w = u^{i+1} \pm \varphi$ with $\varphi \in (C^{\infty}(\Omega))^d$ and supp $\varphi \subset \Gamma_1$, one obtains (9.32). Therefore, the relation (9.42) implies

$$\tilde{j}_{F^{i+1}}(u^{i+1}, w - u^{i}) - \tilde{j}_{F^{i+1}}(u^{i+1}, u^{i+1} - u^{i})
+ \int_{\Gamma_{2}} \sigma_{\tau}(u^{i+1})(w_{\tau} - u^{i+1}_{\tau}) \, ds \ge 0 \quad \forall w \in V.$$
(9.43)

Therefore, by Lemma 9.2 for $\Theta = F^{i+1}$, $d = u^i$ and $\tilde{u} = u^{i+1} \in K(F^{i+1})$, it follows that the conditions (9.34) are satisfied. As $u^{i+1} \in K \subset V$, it yields the condition (9.31) holds which completes the proof.

Conversely, let u^{i+1} be a sufficiently smooth solution of the mechanical problem $(\mathcal{D})_n^i$. Then, by applying Lemma 9.1 for $\tilde{u} = u^{i+1}$, it follows that u^{i+1} satisfies the second inequality of (9.28).

Next, from (9.34), by Lemma 9.3 for $\Theta = F^{i+1}$, $d = u^i$ and $\tilde{u} = u^{i+1}$, we obtain

$$\tilde{j}_{F^{i+1}}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}, \boldsymbol{w} - \boldsymbol{u}^{i}) - \tilde{j}_{F^{i+1}}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}, \boldsymbol{u}^{i+1} - \boldsymbol{u}^{i}) \\
+ \int_{\Gamma_{2}} \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1})(\boldsymbol{w}_{\tau} - \boldsymbol{u}_{\tau}^{i+1}) \, \mathrm{d}s \ge 0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{w} \in \boldsymbol{V} \,.$$
(9.44)

On the other hand, multiplying (9.30) by $w - u^{i+1}$ with $w \in V$, integrating by parts and using (9.32), we deduce

$$a(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}, \boldsymbol{w} - \boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}) = (\boldsymbol{F}^{i+1}, \boldsymbol{w} - \boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}) + \int_{\Gamma_2} \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1})(\boldsymbol{w}_{\tau} - \boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}_{\tau}) \,\mathrm{d}s + \langle \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}), \boldsymbol{w}_{\nu} - \boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}_{\nu} \rangle \quad \forall \, \boldsymbol{w} \in \boldsymbol{V}.$$
(9.45)

Combining (9.44) and (9.45), we obtain the first inequality of (9.28) which completes the proof. $\hfill \Box$

Proposition 9.2. The problem $(\tilde{\mathbf{R}})^{i}_{\mathbf{n}}$ is formally equivalent to the mechanical problem $(\mathcal{Q})^{i}_{n}$.

Proof. If u^{i+1} is a regular solution of $(\tilde{\mathbf{R}})^{i}_{\mathbf{n}}$, then, with a similar proof as for Proposition 9.1, one obtains (9.30). Therefore, from (9.30) and (9.29), one gets

$$\tilde{j}_{F^{i+1}}(u^{i+1}, w - u^{i}) - \tilde{j}_{F^{i+1}}(u^{i+1}, u^{i+1} - u^{i}) + \int_{\Gamma_{2}} \sigma(u^{i+1}) \cdot v(w - u^{i+1}) \, ds + \int_{\Gamma_{1}} (\sigma(u^{i+1}) \cdot v - g^{i+1})(w - u^{i+1}) \, ds \ge 0 \quad \forall w \in K,$$
(9.46)

from which, by taking $w = u^{i+1} \pm \varphi$ with $\varphi \in (C^{\infty}(\Omega))^d$ and supp $\varphi \subset \Gamma_1$, one deduces (9.32). Thus, the relation (9.46) becomes

$$\tilde{j}_{F^{i+1}}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}, \boldsymbol{w} - \boldsymbol{u}^{i}) - \tilde{j}_{F^{i+1}}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}, \boldsymbol{u}^{i+1} - \boldsymbol{u}^{i})
+ \int_{\Gamma_{2}} (\sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1})(w_{\nu} - \boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}_{\nu}) + \sigma_{\tau}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1})(w_{\tau} - \boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}_{\tau})) \, \mathrm{d}s \ge 0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{w} \in \boldsymbol{K}. \quad (9.47)$$

By choosing $\boldsymbol{w} = \delta \varphi_{\boldsymbol{\nu}} \boldsymbol{\nu} + \boldsymbol{u}_{\tau}^{i+1}$ with $\boldsymbol{\varphi} \in (C^{\infty}(\Omega))^d$, $\varphi_{\boldsymbol{\nu}} \leq 0$ on Γ_2 and $\delta > 0$, it follows

$$\delta \int_{\Gamma_2} \sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}) \varphi_{\nu} \, \mathrm{d}s \geq \int_{\Gamma_2} \sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}) \, \boldsymbol{u}_{\nu}^{i+1} \, \mathrm{d}s \quad \forall \delta > 0$$

which gives

$$\begin{cases} \int\limits_{\Gamma_2} \sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}) \, \varphi_{\nu} \, \mathrm{d}s \ge 0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\varphi} \in \boldsymbol{V} \,, \, \varphi_{\nu} \le 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_2 \,, \\ \int\limits_{\Gamma_2} \sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}) \, \boldsymbol{u}_{\nu}^{i+1} \, \mathrm{d}s \le 0 \,, \end{cases}$$

$$(9.48)$$

and, as $u^{i+1} \in K$, we obtain (9.33).

Now, if we choose in (9.47), $w = u_n^{i+1}v + v$ with $v \in K$ arbitrary, we obtain

$$\tilde{j}_{F^{i+1}}(u^{i+1}, v-u^{i}) - \tilde{j}_{F^{i+1}}(u^{i+1}, u^{i+1}-u^{i}) + \int_{\Gamma_2} \sigma_{\tau}(u^{i+1})(v_{\tau}-u^{i+1}_{\tau}) \, \mathrm{d}s \ge 0 \quad \forall v \in K$$

which gives, together with Lemma 9.2, for $\Theta = F^{i+1}$, $d = u^i$ and $\tilde{u} = u^{i+1}$, the conditions (9.34).

Conversely, if u^{i+1} is a sufficiently smooth function which verifies $(\mathcal{Q})_n^i$, then, from Lemmas 9.3 and 9.1, we obtain

$$\tilde{j}_{F^{i+1}}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}, \boldsymbol{w} - \boldsymbol{u}^{i}) - \tilde{j}_{F^{i+1}}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}, \boldsymbol{u}^{i+1} - \boldsymbol{u}^{i}) + \int_{\Gamma_{2}} \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1})(\boldsymbol{w}_{\tau} - \boldsymbol{u}_{\tau}^{i+1}) \, \mathrm{d}s \ge 0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{w} \in \boldsymbol{K}$$
(9.49)

and

$$\int_{\Gamma_2} \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1})(\boldsymbol{w}_{\nu}-\boldsymbol{u}_{\nu}^{i+1}) \,\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{s} \ge 0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{w} \in \boldsymbol{K} \,. \tag{9.50}$$

Next, by arguing as in the proof of Proposition 9.1, we conclude that u^{i+1} is a solution of $(\tilde{\mathbf{R}})^{i}_{\mathbf{n}}$ which completes the proof.

Proof of Theorem 9.2. Using Propositions 9.1 and 9.2, the assertion follows. However, we remark that if u^{i+1} is a solution of $(\tilde{\mathbf{Q}})^{\mathbf{i}}_{\mathbf{n}}$, then, obviously, u^{i+1} is a solution of $(\tilde{\mathbf{R}})^{\mathbf{i}}_{\mathbf{n}}$. Hence, in order to prove the condition (4.105), it would have been enough to prove that $(\tilde{\mathbf{R}})^{\mathbf{i}}_{\mathbf{n}} \Rightarrow (\mathcal{Q})^{\mathbf{i}}_{\mathbf{n}} \Rightarrow (\tilde{\mathbf{Q}})^{\mathbf{i}}_{\mathbf{n}}$.

In the sequel we shall use the similar definitions to (4.118) (p. 72), i.e.

$$\begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{u}_{n}(0) = \hat{\boldsymbol{u}}_{n}(0) = \boldsymbol{u}^{0}, \\ \boldsymbol{F}_{n}(0) = \boldsymbol{F}(0) = \boldsymbol{F}^{0}, \\ \boldsymbol{u}_{n}(t) = \boldsymbol{u}^{i+1} \\ \hat{\boldsymbol{u}}_{n}(t) = \boldsymbol{u}^{i} + (t-t_{i})\partial\boldsymbol{u}^{i} \\ \boldsymbol{F}_{n}(t) = \boldsymbol{F}^{i+1} \end{cases} \forall i \in \{0, 1, \dots, n-1\} \quad \forall t \in (t_{i}, t_{i+1}],$$

$$(9.51)$$

Therefore, $u_n \in L^2(0, T; V)$ and $\hat{u}_n \in W^{1,2}(0, T; V)$ satisfy, for all $t \in [0, T]$, the following incremental problem.

Problem $(\mathbf{Q})_{\mathbf{n}}$: Find $u_n \in K(F_n(t))$ such that

$$\begin{cases} a\left(\boldsymbol{u}_{n}(t),\boldsymbol{v}-\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\hat{\boldsymbol{u}}_{n}(t)\right)+\tilde{j}_{\boldsymbol{F}_{n}(t)}(\boldsymbol{u}_{n}(t),\boldsymbol{v})\\ -\tilde{j}_{\boldsymbol{F}_{n}(t)}\left(\boldsymbol{u}_{n}(t),\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\hat{\boldsymbol{u}}_{n}(t)\right)\geq\left(\boldsymbol{F}_{n}(t),\boldsymbol{v}-\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\hat{\boldsymbol{u}}_{n}(t)\right)\\ +\left\langle\sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u}_{n}(t)),\boldsymbol{v}_{\nu}-\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\hat{\boldsymbol{u}}_{n\nu}(t)\right\rangle\quad\forall\,\boldsymbol{v}\in\mathbf{V},\\ \left\langle\sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{u}_{n}(t)),\boldsymbol{z}_{\nu}-\boldsymbol{u}_{n\nu}(t)\right\rangle\geq0\quad\forall\,\boldsymbol{z}\in\boldsymbol{K}.\end{cases}$$

$$(9.52)$$

We have the following convergence and existence result.

Theorem 9.3. Suppose the hypotheses (9.8) and (9.9) hold and that meas $\Gamma_0 > 0$. Then, there exists a constant $\mu_1 > 0$ such that for any $\mu \in L^{\infty}(\Gamma_2)$ with $\mu \ge 0$ a.e. on Γ_2 and $\|\mu\|_{L^{\infty}(\Gamma_2)} < \mu_1$, the problem (**Q**) has at least one solution. More precisely, there exists a subsequence $\{(\mathbf{u}_{n_k}, \bar{\mathbf{u}}_{n_k})\}_k$ such that

$$\begin{aligned} \boldsymbol{u}_{n_k}(t) &\to \boldsymbol{u}(t) \text{ strongly in } \boldsymbol{V} \quad \forall t \in [0, T], \\ \hat{\boldsymbol{u}}_{n_k} &\to \boldsymbol{u} \text{ strongly in } L^2(0, T; \boldsymbol{V}), \\ \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \hat{\boldsymbol{u}}_{n_k} &\to \dot{\boldsymbol{u}} \text{ weakly in } L^2(0, T; \boldsymbol{V}) \end{aligned}$$

as $k \to \infty$, where **u** is a solution of the problem (**Q**). Proof. By putting

$$j(\mathbf{\Theta}, \mathbf{v}, \mathbf{w}) = \tilde{j}_{\mathbf{\Theta}}(\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{w}) - (\mathbf{\Theta}, \mathbf{w}) \quad \forall \mathbf{\Theta} \in V, \ \forall \mathbf{v} \in K(\mathbf{\Theta}), \ \forall \mathbf{w} \in V,$$
(9.53)

it follows that

$$\begin{aligned} |j(\Theta_{1}, \mathbf{v}_{1}, \mathbf{w}_{2}) + j(\Theta_{2}, \mathbf{v}_{2}, \mathbf{w}_{1}) - j(\Theta_{1}, \mathbf{v}_{1}, \mathbf{w}_{1}) - j(\Theta_{2}, \mathbf{v}_{2}, \mathbf{w}_{2})| \\ &= \left| \int_{\Gamma_{2}} \mu(|\mathscr{R}\sigma_{\nu}(\mathbf{v}_{1})| - |\mathscr{R}\sigma_{\nu}(\mathbf{v}_{2})|)(|\mathbf{w}_{1\tau}| - |\mathbf{w}_{2\tau}|) \, \mathrm{d}s + (\Theta_{1} - \Theta_{2}, \mathbf{w}_{1} - \mathbf{w}_{2}) \right| \\ &\leq C_{1} \|\mu\|_{L^{\infty}(\Gamma_{2})} \int_{\Gamma_{2}} |\mathscr{R}\sigma_{\nu}(\mathbf{v}_{1}) - \mathscr{R}\sigma_{\nu}(\mathbf{v}_{2})| \, |\mathbf{w}_{1} - \mathbf{w}_{2}| \, \mathrm{d}s + \|\Theta_{1} - \Theta_{2}\| \, \|\mathbf{w}_{1} - \mathbf{w}_{2}\| \\ &\leq C_{2} \|\mu\|_{L^{\infty}(\Gamma_{2})} (\|\Theta_{1} - \Theta_{2}\| + \|\mathbf{v}_{1} - \mathbf{v}_{2}\|) \|\mathbf{w}_{1} - \mathbf{w}_{2}\| \\ &\quad \forall \mathbf{w}_{i} \in \mathbf{V} , \, \forall \mathbf{v}_{i} \in \mathbf{K}(\Theta_{i}) , \, \forall \mathbf{w}_{i} \in \mathbf{V} , \, i = 1, 2 , \end{aligned}$$

$$(9.54)$$

where C_1 , C_2 are positive constants and $\|\cdot\|$ denotes the norm over V.

In order to apply Theorem 4.19, we put

$$b(\boldsymbol{\Theta}, \boldsymbol{\nu}, \boldsymbol{w}) = \langle \sigma_{\boldsymbol{\nu}}(\boldsymbol{\nu}), \boldsymbol{w}_{\boldsymbol{\nu}} \rangle \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\Theta} \in \boldsymbol{V} , \ \forall \boldsymbol{\nu} \in \boldsymbol{K}(\boldsymbol{\Theta}) , \ \forall \boldsymbol{w} \in \boldsymbol{V} ,$$

$$H = L^{2}(\Gamma_{2}) ,$$

$$\beta(\boldsymbol{\Theta}, \boldsymbol{\nu}) = \mu |\mathscr{R}\sigma_{\boldsymbol{\nu}}(\boldsymbol{\nu})| \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\Theta} \in \boldsymbol{V} , \ \forall \boldsymbol{\nu} \in \boldsymbol{K}(\boldsymbol{\Theta}) .$$
(9.55)

Therefore, the problem (**Q**) can be written under the form (4.107) (p. 68) and the problem $(\tilde{\mathbf{Q}})_{\mathbf{n}}^{\mathbf{i}}$ can be written under the form (4.103) (p. 68), i.e.

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{u}^{i+1} \in \boldsymbol{K}(\boldsymbol{F}^{i+1}) \\ a(\boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}, \boldsymbol{w} - \boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}) + j(\boldsymbol{F}^{i+1}, \boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}, \boldsymbol{w} - \boldsymbol{u}^{i}) - j(\boldsymbol{F}^{i+1}, \boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}, \boldsymbol{u}^{i+1} - \boldsymbol{u}^{i}) \\ \geq b(\boldsymbol{F}^{i+1}, \boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}, \boldsymbol{w} - \boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}) \quad \forall \boldsymbol{w} \in \boldsymbol{V}, \\ b(\boldsymbol{F}^{i+1}, \boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}, \boldsymbol{z} - \boldsymbol{u}^{i+1}) \geq 0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{z} \in \boldsymbol{K}. \end{cases}$$

$$(9.56)$$

The hypothesis (4.105) is satisfied due to Theorem 9.2. The other hypotheses (4.83)–(4.90), (4.96)–(4.98), (4.100), and (4.101) of Theorem 4.19 are easy to prove, and so, the assertion follows.

9.2 Discrete Approximation

This section deals with the discretization of the problem (Q) written under the form

$$\begin{cases} u(0) = u_0, u(t) \in K(F(t)) \quad \forall t \in [0, T], \\ a(u(t), v - \dot{u}(t)) + j(F(t), u(t), v) - j(F(t), u(t), \dot{u}(t)) \\ \geq b(f(t), u(t), v - \dot{u}(t)) \quad \forall v \in V \text{ a.e. in } (0, T), \\ b(F(t), u(t), z - u(t)) \geq 0 \quad \forall z \in K, \forall t \in [0, T], \end{cases}$$
(9.57)

with j and b defined by (9.53), respectively, (9.55).

We shall prove a convergence result for a method based on an internal approximation in space and a backward difference scheme in time.

Let $\mathscr{T}_h = (T_i)_{i \in \mathscr{I}_h}$ be a family of regular triangulations of Ω such that

$$\begin{split} \overline{\Omega} &= \bigcup_{j \in \mathscr{J}_h} \overline{T}_j ,\\ T_i \cap T_j &= \emptyset \quad \forall i, j \in \mathscr{J}_h, \ i \neq j . \end{split}$$

We define the following sets

$$V_h = \{ \mathbf{v}_h \in (C^0(\Omega))^d ; \mathbf{v}_h / T_j \in (P_1(T_j))^d , \forall j \in \mathcal{J}_h, \mathbf{v}_h = \mathbf{0} \text{ on } \Gamma_0 \}, \\ \mathbf{K}_h = \{ \mathbf{v}_h \in \mathbf{V}_h ; \mathbf{v}_{h\nu} \le 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_2 \} \\ S_h = \{ \tau_h \in L^2(\Gamma_2) ; \tau_h / \Gamma_{2,j} \in P_0(\Gamma_{2,j}) \quad \forall j \in \mathcal{J}_h \text{ such that } \Gamma_{2,j} \neq \emptyset \}$$

where $P_k(\omega)$ denotes the space of polynomials of degree lower or equal to k on ω and $\Gamma_{2,i} = \Gamma_2 \cap \overline{T}_i$.

As in Sect. 7.3, p. 128, we consider the following semi-discrete problem.

Problem ($\mathbf{Q}_{\mathbf{h}}$): Find $\boldsymbol{u}_h \in W^{1,2}(0, T; \boldsymbol{V}_h)$ such that

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{u}_{h}(0) = \boldsymbol{u}_{0h}, \, \boldsymbol{u}_{h}(t) \in \boldsymbol{K}_{h}(\boldsymbol{F}(t)) \quad \forall t \in [0, T], \\ a(\boldsymbol{u}_{h}(t), \boldsymbol{v}_{h} - \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{h}(t)) + j(\boldsymbol{F}(t), \boldsymbol{u}_{h}(t), \boldsymbol{v}_{h}) - j(\boldsymbol{F}(t), \boldsymbol{u}_{h}(t), \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{h}(t)) \\ \geq b(\boldsymbol{F}(t), \boldsymbol{u}_{h}(t), \boldsymbol{v}_{h} - \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{h}(t)) \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v}_{h} \in \boldsymbol{V}_{h}, \text{ a.e. } t \in (0, T), \\ b(\boldsymbol{F}(t), \boldsymbol{u}_{h}(t), \boldsymbol{z}_{h} - \boldsymbol{u}_{h}(t)) \geq 0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{z}_{h} \in \boldsymbol{K}_{h}, \quad \forall t \in [0, T]. \end{cases}$$
(9.58)

and, for $i \in \{0, 1, \dots, n-1\}$, the following full discretization of Problem (**Q**). **Problem** $(\mathbf{R}_h)_{\mathbf{n}}^{\mathbf{i}}$: Find $\boldsymbol{u}_h^{i+1} \in \boldsymbol{K}_h^{i+1}$ such that

$$\begin{cases} a(\boldsymbol{u}_{h}^{i+1}, \boldsymbol{w}_{h} - \boldsymbol{u}_{h}^{i+1}) + j(\boldsymbol{F}^{i+1}, \boldsymbol{u}_{h}^{i+1}, \boldsymbol{w}_{h} - \boldsymbol{u}_{h}^{i}) \\ -j(\boldsymbol{F}^{i+1}, \boldsymbol{u}_{h}^{i+1}, \boldsymbol{u}_{h}^{i+1} - \boldsymbol{u}_{h}^{i}) \ge 0 \quad \forall \, \boldsymbol{w}_{h} \in \boldsymbol{K}_{h}. \end{cases}$$
(9.59)

We also suppose that $\boldsymbol{u}_h^0 = \boldsymbol{u}_{0h}$ satisfies the compatibility condition

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{u}_{0h} \in \boldsymbol{K}_{h}(\boldsymbol{F}(0)), \\ \boldsymbol{a}(\boldsymbol{u}_{0h}, \boldsymbol{v}) + j(\boldsymbol{F}(0), \boldsymbol{u}_{0h}, \boldsymbol{v}) \geq 0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{K}_{h}, \end{cases}$$

Theorems 7.5 (p. 128) and 7.6 (p. 131) give convergence and existence results for these problems.

In order to solve the problem $(\mathbf{R}_h)_n^i$, we suppose that μ is constant and we choose as a regularization mapping \mathcal{R} , the projection on the finite dimensional space S_{h_0} for a given h_0 (see [10]). Thus within finite element approximation, the regularization can be considered as a natural consequence of the discretization.

In the sequel, for simplicity, we shall omit the index *h*. We shall denote the solution \mathbf{u}^{i+1} of $(\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{h}})_{\mathbf{n}}^{\mathbf{i}}$ by \mathbf{u}_{n}^{i+1} , for $i \in \{0, 1, \cdot, n-1\}$. We also remark that, from the definition of the set \mathbf{K}^{i+1} and Remark 9.1, it follows that for the solution \mathbf{u}^{i+1} we have

$$j(\boldsymbol{F}^{i+1},\boldsymbol{u}_n^{i+1},\boldsymbol{v}) = -\int_{\Gamma_2} \mu \mathscr{R} \sigma_{\boldsymbol{v}}(\boldsymbol{u}_n^{i+1}) |\boldsymbol{v}_t| \,\mathrm{d}s \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V}$$

Let us denote

$$j(\boldsymbol{u}_n^{i+1},\boldsymbol{v}) = -\int_{\Gamma_2} \mu \mathscr{R} \sigma_{\boldsymbol{v}}(\boldsymbol{u}_n^{i+1}) |\boldsymbol{v}_t| \, \mathrm{d}s \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V} \; .$$

Therefore, the problem to solve can be written as

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{u}_{n}^{i+1} \in \boldsymbol{K}^{i+1}, \\ a(\boldsymbol{u}_{n}^{i+1}, \boldsymbol{w} - \boldsymbol{u}_{n}^{i+1}) + j(\boldsymbol{u}_{n}^{i+1}, \boldsymbol{w} - \boldsymbol{u}_{n}^{i}) - j(\boldsymbol{u}_{n}^{i+1}, \boldsymbol{u}_{n}^{i+1} - \boldsymbol{u}_{n}^{i}) \\ \geq (\boldsymbol{F}^{i+1}, \boldsymbol{w} - \boldsymbol{u}_{n}^{i}) \ \forall \ \boldsymbol{w} \in \boldsymbol{K}. \end{cases}$$
(9.60)

It is easy to see that the solution $u_n^{i+1} \in K^{i+1}$ of (9.60) is the fixed point of the mapping $\mathscr{T} : S \to S$ defined by $\mathscr{T}(r) = u_n^{i+1}(r)$, for all $r \in S$, where $u_n^{i+1}(r)$ is the unique solution of the following variational inequality:

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{u}_{n}^{i+1}(r) \in \boldsymbol{K}^{i+1}, \\ a(\boldsymbol{u}_{n}^{i+1}(r), \boldsymbol{w} - \boldsymbol{u}_{n}^{i+1}(r)) + \varphi(r, \boldsymbol{w} - \boldsymbol{u}_{n}^{i}(r)) - \varphi(r, \boldsymbol{u}_{n}^{i+1}(r) - \boldsymbol{u}_{n}^{i}) \\ \geq (\boldsymbol{F}^{i+1}, \boldsymbol{w} - \boldsymbol{u}_{n}^{i+1}(r)) \ \forall \ \boldsymbol{w} \in \boldsymbol{K}. \end{cases}$$
(9.61)

where

$$\varphi(r, w) = -\int_{\Gamma_2} \mu \mathscr{R} \sigma_{\nu}(r) |w_{\tau}| \, \mathrm{d}s \quad \forall w \in V.$$

This problem is equivalent, for $r \in S$ given, to the following minimization problem under constraints:

$$\mathscr{F}(\boldsymbol{u}_n^{i+1}(r)) = \min_{\boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{K}} \mathscr{F}(\boldsymbol{v})$$

where

$$\mathscr{F}(\mathbf{v}) = \frac{1}{2}a(\mathbf{v},\mathbf{v}) + \varphi(r,\mathbf{v}-\boldsymbol{u}_n^i(r)) - (\boldsymbol{F}^{i+1},\mathbf{v}) \quad \forall \mathbf{v} \in \boldsymbol{V}$$

This problem is very similar to a static problem except from the fact that the known solution u_n^i of the previous step appears in the friction term. The influence of the loading history, due to the velocity formulation of the friction, is characterized by this extra term. The convex *K* remains unchanged from one step to the next. This minimization problem can be solved by a Gauss–Seidel method with projection. This method is robust and very easy to implement on this kind of problem when dealing with the non-differentiable part relating to the friction term. Details on the convergence of the algorithm by using an Aitken acceleration procedure can be found in [5] or [13].

9.3 Optimal Control of a Frictional Bilateral Contact Problem

We consider a mathematical model describing the quasistatic process of bilateral contact with friction between an elastic body and a rigid foundation. Our goal is to study a related optimal control problem which allows us to obtain a given profile of displacements on the contact boundary, by acting with a control on another part of the boundary of the body. Using penalization and regularization techniques, we derive the necessary conditions of optimality.

As far as we know, there are few results concerning the optimal control of quasistatic frictional contact problems. We mention here the work of Amassad et al. [2] which treats a quasistatic bilateral contact problem with given friction, and so, an optimal control problem governed by a variational inequality which has, in addition, a unique solution.

9.3.1 Setting of the Problem

Let us consider a linearly elastic body occupying a bounded domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, d = 2, 3, with a Lipschitz boundary $\Gamma = \overline{\Gamma}_0 \cup \overline{\Gamma}_1 \cup \overline{\Gamma}_2$, where Γ_0 , Γ_1 , Γ_2 are open and disjoint parts of Γ , with meas $(\Gamma_0) > 0$.

The body is subjected to the action of volume forces of density f given in $\Omega \times (0, T)$ and surface tractions of density g applied on $\Gamma_1 \times (0, T)$, where (0, T) is the time interval of interest. The body is clamped on $\Gamma_0 \times (0, T)$ and, so, the displacement vector u vanishes here. On $\Gamma_2 \times (0, T)$, the body is in bilateral contact with a rigid foundation, i.e. there is no loss of contact between the body and the foundation. We suppose that the contact on Γ_2 is with friction modeled by a nonlocal variant of Coulomb's law. We suppose that f and g are acting slow enough to allow us to neglect the inertial terms.

The classical formulation of this mechanical problem, with the notation of Sect. 8.1, is:

Problem (\mathscr{S}): Find a displacement vector $\boldsymbol{u} = \boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{x}, t) : \Omega \times [0, T] \to \mathbb{R}^d$ such that

$$\begin{aligned} & -\operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{\sigma} = \boldsymbol{f} \quad \text{in } \Omega \times (0, T) ,\\ & \boldsymbol{\sigma} = \boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}) = \mathscr{A}\boldsymbol{\epsilon} ,\\ & \boldsymbol{u} = \boldsymbol{0} \quad \text{on } \Gamma_0 \times (0, T) ,\\ & \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{v} = \boldsymbol{g} \quad \text{on } \Gamma_1 \times (0, T) ,\\ & \left\{ \begin{array}{l} u_{\boldsymbol{v}} = \boldsymbol{0} ,\\ & |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}| \leq \mu | \mathscr{R} \sigma_{\boldsymbol{v}}| \\ & |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}| < \mu | \mathscr{R} \sigma_{\boldsymbol{v}}| \end{cases} \Rightarrow \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau} = \boldsymbol{0} \\ & |\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau}| = \mu | \mathscr{R} \sigma_{\boldsymbol{v}}| \Rightarrow \exists \lambda \geq 0 , \ \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\tau} = -\lambda \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\tau} \end{aligned} \right. \end{aligned} \tag{9.62}$$

with $\mathscr{A} = (a_{ijkh})$ satisfying the conditions (9.8).

In order to write a variational formulation for the problem (\mathscr{S}), we define the following Hilbert spaces:

$$V = \{ \mathbf{v} \in [H^1(\Omega)]^d ; \mathbf{v} = \mathbf{0} \text{ a.e. on } \Gamma_0 ; v_\nu = 0 \text{ a.e. on } \Gamma_2 \}, W = \{ \mathbf{v} \in V ; \text{ div } \boldsymbol{\sigma}(\mathbf{v}) \in (L^2(\Omega))^d \},$$

endowed with the inner products

$$(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v})_{\boldsymbol{V}} = \int_{\Omega} \epsilon_{ij}(\boldsymbol{u}) \epsilon_{ij}(\boldsymbol{v}) \, \mathrm{d}x \quad \forall \boldsymbol{u}, \, \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V},$$

$$(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v})_{\boldsymbol{W}} = (\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v})_{\boldsymbol{V}} + (\operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}), \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{v}))_{(L^{2}(\Omega))^{d}} \quad \forall \boldsymbol{u}, \, \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{W}.$$

We make the following regularity assumptions on the data

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{f} \in W^{1,2}(0,T;(L^{2}(\Omega))^{d}), \\ \boldsymbol{g} \in W^{1,2}(0,T;(L^{2}(\Gamma_{1}))^{d}), \\ a_{ijkl} \in L^{\infty}(\Omega), \ i, j, k, l = 1, \dots, d, \\ \mu \in L^{\infty}(\Gamma_{2}), \ \mu \geq 0 \text{ a.e. on } \Gamma_{2}, \\ \mathscr{R} : H^{-1/2}(\Gamma_{2}) \to L^{2}(\Gamma_{2}) \text{ is a linear compact operator }, \\ \boldsymbol{u}_{0} \in \boldsymbol{V}, \end{cases}$$
(9.63)

where $H^{-1/2}(\Gamma_2)$ is the dual space of $H^{1/2}(\Gamma_2) = \{v \in H^{1/2}(\Gamma); v = 0 \text{ a.e. on } \Gamma \setminus \Gamma_2 \}.$

Let $F \in W^{1,2}(0,T;V)$, where, for all $t \in [0,T]$, F(t) is the element of V defined by (9.11) and let the symmetric, V-elliptic, continuous bilinear form $a : V \times V \to \mathbb{R}$ defined by (9.10)₃. We also denote by $j : W \times V \to \mathbb{R}$ the functional defined by

$$j(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}) = \int_{\Gamma_2} \mu |\mathscr{R}\sigma_{\boldsymbol{v}}(\boldsymbol{u})| \, |\boldsymbol{v}_{\tau}| \, \mathrm{d}s \quad \forall \boldsymbol{u} \in \boldsymbol{W} \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V}.$$
(9.64)

The weak formulation of problem (\mathcal{S}) , in terms of displacements, is the following quasi-variational inequality.

Problem (S): Find $u \in W^{1,2}(0, T; V)$ such that

$$\begin{cases} a(u(t), v - \dot{u}(t)) + j(u(t), v) - j(u(t), \dot{u}(t)) \ge (F(t), v - \dot{u}(t))_V \\ \forall v \in V, \text{ a.e. } t \in (0, T), \\ u(0) = u_0. \end{cases}$$

We suppose that the initial displacement $u_0 \in V$ satisfies the following compatibility condition

$$a(\boldsymbol{u}_0, \boldsymbol{v}) + j(\boldsymbol{u}_0, \boldsymbol{v}) \ge (\boldsymbol{F}(0), \boldsymbol{v})_{\boldsymbol{V}} \quad \forall \, \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V} \,. \tag{9.65}$$

We have the following existence result.

Theorem 9.4. There exists $\mu_1 > 0$ such that for all $\mu \in L^{\infty}(\Gamma_2)$ with $\mu \ge 0$ a.e. on Γ_2 and $\|\mu\|_{L^{\infty}(\Gamma_2)} \le \mu_1$, the problem (**S**) has at least one solution $u \in W^{1,2}(0,T;V)$.

Proof. In order to apply Theorem 4.19, we put

$$\begin{split} K &= K(\boldsymbol{\Theta}) = W \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\Theta} \in V , \\ D_K &= W \times V , \\ H &= L^2(\Gamma_2) , \quad \beta(\boldsymbol{\Theta}, \boldsymbol{v}) = \mu | \mathscr{R} \sigma_{\boldsymbol{v}}(\boldsymbol{v}) | \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\Theta} \in V , \, \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in W , \\ j(\boldsymbol{\Theta}, \boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{w}) &= j(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{w}) - (\boldsymbol{\Theta}, \boldsymbol{w})_V \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\Theta}, \, \boldsymbol{w} \in V , \, \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in W , \\ b(\boldsymbol{\Theta}, \boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{w}) &= 0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\Theta}, \, \boldsymbol{w} \in V , \, \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in W . \end{split}$$

It is easy to verify that the hypotheses (4.83)–(4.90), (4.96)–(4.98), and (4.100) are satisfied. In addition, both the problems ($\tilde{\mathbf{Q}}^a$) and ($\tilde{\mathbf{R}}^a$), p. 68, become the following problem

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{u} \in \boldsymbol{W} \\ \boldsymbol{a}(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}-\boldsymbol{u}) + j(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}-\boldsymbol{d}) - j(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{u}-\boldsymbol{d}) \geq (\boldsymbol{F},\boldsymbol{v}-\boldsymbol{u}) \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V} , \end{cases}$$

and so, the hypothesis (4.105) is satisfied. As for μ_1 sufficiently small the hypothesis (4.101) is verified, the existence of a solution of the problem (**S**) follows from Theorem 4.19.

In the sequel we shall suppose that $\|\mu\|_{L^{\infty}(\Gamma_2)} \leq \mu_1$ with $\mu_1 > 0$ sufficiently small such that the problem (S) has at least one solution.

The following results will be frequently used.

Lemma 9.4. The functional *j*, defined by (9.64), has the properties:

$$j(\boldsymbol{w},\boldsymbol{v}) \ge 0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{w} \in \boldsymbol{W}, \ \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V},$$
(9.66)

$$j(\boldsymbol{w},\boldsymbol{v}_1) - j(\boldsymbol{w},\boldsymbol{v}_2) \le j(\boldsymbol{w},\boldsymbol{v}_1 - \boldsymbol{v}_2) \quad \forall \boldsymbol{w} \in \boldsymbol{W} , \, \forall \boldsymbol{v}_1, \boldsymbol{v}_2 \in \boldsymbol{V}$$
(9.67)

$$j(\boldsymbol{w}, \boldsymbol{0}) = 0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{w} \in \boldsymbol{W} . \tag{9.68}$$

Moreover, for all $s \in [0, T]$ *, we have*

$$\begin{cases} \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{s} j(\boldsymbol{w}_{n}(t), \boldsymbol{v}_{n}(t)) \, \mathrm{d}t \geq \int_{0}^{s} j(\boldsymbol{w}(t), \boldsymbol{v}(t)) \, \mathrm{d}t ,\\ \forall \boldsymbol{w}_{n} \rightharpoonup \boldsymbol{w} \text{ weakly in } L^{2}(0, T; \boldsymbol{W}) , \ \forall \boldsymbol{v}_{n} \rightharpoonup \boldsymbol{v} \text{ weakly in } L^{2}(0, T; \boldsymbol{V}) , \end{cases}$$
(9.69)

and

$$\begin{cases}
\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{s} j(\boldsymbol{w}_{n}(t), \boldsymbol{v}_{n}) \, \mathrm{d}t = \int_{0}^{s} j(\boldsymbol{w}(t), \boldsymbol{v}) \, \mathrm{d}t , \\
\forall \boldsymbol{w}_{n} \rightharpoonup \boldsymbol{w} \text{ weakly in } L^{2}(0, T; \boldsymbol{W}) , \forall \boldsymbol{v}_{n} \rightharpoonup \boldsymbol{v} \text{ weakly in } \boldsymbol{V}.
\end{cases}$$
(9.70)

Proof. The properties (9.66), (9.67), and (9.68) are obvious.

In order to prove (9.69), we write

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \int_{0}^{s} \left(j(\boldsymbol{w}_{n}(t), \boldsymbol{v}_{n}(t)) - j(\boldsymbol{w}(t), \boldsymbol{v}_{n}(t)) \right) \, \mathrm{d}t \right| \\ &= \left| \int_{0}^{s} \int_{\Gamma_{2}} \mu \left(\left| \mathscr{R} \sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{w}_{n}(t)) \right| - \left| \mathscr{R} \sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{w}(t)) \right| \right) \right| (\boldsymbol{v}_{n})_{\tau}(t) \left| \, \mathrm{d}s \, \mathrm{d}t \right| \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{s} \int_{\Gamma_{2}} \mu \left| \mathscr{R} \sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{w}_{n}(t) - \boldsymbol{w}(t)) \right| \, \left| (\boldsymbol{v}_{n})_{\tau}(t) \right| \, \mathrm{d}s \, \mathrm{d}t \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{s} \left\| \mu \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\Gamma_{2})} \left\| \mathscr{R} \sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{w}_{n}(t) - \boldsymbol{w}(t)) \right\|_{L^{2}(\Gamma_{2})} \left\| (\boldsymbol{v}_{n})_{\tau}(t) \right\|_{(L^{2}(\Gamma_{2}))^{d}} \, \mathrm{d}t \\ &\leq C \mu_{1} \left\| \mathscr{R} \sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{w}_{n} - \boldsymbol{w}) \right\|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Gamma_{2}))} \left\| \boldsymbol{v}_{n} \right\|_{L^{2}(0,T;V)} \leq C_{1} \left\| \mathscr{R} \sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{w}_{n} - \boldsymbol{w}) \right\|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Gamma_{2}))} , \end{aligned}$$

and hence, as the operator $\mathcal R$ is compact, it follows that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{s} \left(j(\mathbf{w}_{n}(t), \mathbf{v}_{n}(t)) - j(\mathbf{w}(t), \mathbf{v}_{n}(t)) \right) \, \mathrm{d}t = 0 \quad \forall s \in [0, T] \,. \tag{9.71}$$
On the other hand, for any $w \in L^2(0, T; W)$, the mapping $v \mapsto \int_0^s j(w(t), v(t)) dt$ is convex l.s.c. on $L^2(0, T; V)$, thus

$$\liminf_{n\to\infty}\int_0^s j(\boldsymbol{w}(t),\boldsymbol{v}_n(t))\,\mathrm{d}t \ge \int_0^s j(\boldsymbol{w}(t),\boldsymbol{v}(t))\,\mathrm{d}t\,.$$
(9.72)

By combining the relations (9.71) and (9.72), we get:

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{s} j(\boldsymbol{w}_{n}(t), \boldsymbol{v}_{n}(t)) dt \ge \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{s} (j(\boldsymbol{w}_{n}(t), \boldsymbol{v}_{n}(t)) - j(\boldsymbol{w}(t), \boldsymbol{v}_{n}(t))) dt$$
$$+\liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{s} j(\boldsymbol{w}(t), \boldsymbol{v}_{n}(t)) dt \ge \int_{0}^{s} j(\boldsymbol{w}(t), \boldsymbol{v}(t)) dt .$$

Next, we have

$$\begin{aligned} & \left| \int_{0}^{s} j(\boldsymbol{w}_{n}(t), \boldsymbol{v}_{n}) \, \mathrm{d}t - \int_{0}^{s} j(\boldsymbol{w}(t), \boldsymbol{v}) \, \mathrm{d}t \right| \\ & \leq \left| \int_{0}^{s} j(\boldsymbol{w}_{n}(t), \boldsymbol{v}_{n}) \, \mathrm{d}t - \int_{0}^{s} j(\boldsymbol{w}_{n}(t), \boldsymbol{v}) \, \mathrm{d}t \right| + \left| \int_{0}^{s} j(\boldsymbol{w}_{n}(t), \boldsymbol{v}) \, \mathrm{d}t - \int_{0}^{s} j(\boldsymbol{w}(t), \boldsymbol{v}) \, \mathrm{d}t \right| \\ & \leq C_{1} \| \boldsymbol{v}_{n} - \boldsymbol{v} \|_{(L^{2}(\Gamma_{2}))^{d}} + C_{2} \| \mathscr{R} \sigma \boldsymbol{v}(\boldsymbol{w}_{v} - \boldsymbol{w}) \|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Gamma_{2}))} \end{aligned}$$

and hence, from the compactness of the trace map from V into $(L^2(\Gamma_2))^d$, the proof is completed.

Now, we are interested in finding the surface tractions g acting on Γ_1 so that the resulting displacement on the contact boundary Γ_2 is as close as possible to a given profile u_d , while the norm of these surface forces remains small enough. The mathematical formulation of this problem is a state-control boundary optimal control problem where the state is solution of the implicit evolutionary quasivariational inequality (S).

We introduce the following control and, respectively, observation spaces:

and we define, for $\beta > 0$ and $u_d \in \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{u}}$ given, the cost functional $J : \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{g}} \times W^{1,2}(0, T; \mathbf{V}) \to \mathbb{R}_+$ by:

$$J(\boldsymbol{g}, \boldsymbol{u}) = \frac{1}{2} \|\boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{u}_d\|_{\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{u}}}^2 + \frac{\beta}{2} \|\boldsymbol{g}\|_{\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{g}}}^2.$$
(9.74)

Due to the lack of uniqueness of solution for the quasi-variational inequality (S), the cost functional J, instead of depending, as usual, only on the "real" control g, depends also on the state u. For this reason, it is convenient to rewrite the variational problem (S), for $g \in \mathbf{H}_{g}$, in the following form.

Problem $(\mathbf{S})^{g}$: Find $\boldsymbol{u} \in W^{1,2}(0, T; \mathbf{V})$ such that

$$\begin{cases} a(u(t), v - \dot{u}(t)) + j(u(t), v) - j(u(t), \dot{u}(t)) \ge (F^{g}(t), v - \dot{u}(t))_{V} \\ \forall v \in V, \text{ a.e. } t \in (0, T) \\ u(0) = u_{0}, \end{cases}$$

where

$$(\boldsymbol{F}^{g}(t),\boldsymbol{v})_{V} = \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f}(t) \cdot \boldsymbol{v} \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Gamma_{1}} \boldsymbol{g}(t) \cdot \boldsymbol{v} \, \mathrm{d}s \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V}.$$

We formulate now the control problem as follows:

Problem (CS): Find $(g^*, u^*) \in \mathscr{V}_{ad}$ such that

$$J(\boldsymbol{g}^*,\boldsymbol{u}^*) = \min_{(\boldsymbol{g},\boldsymbol{u})\in\mathscr{V}_{ad}} J(\boldsymbol{g},\boldsymbol{u}),$$

where

 $\mathscr{V}_{ad} = \{ (\boldsymbol{g}, \boldsymbol{u}) \in \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{g}} \times W^{1,2}(0, T; \mathbf{V}) ; \boldsymbol{u} \text{ is a solution of } (\mathbf{S})^{\boldsymbol{g}} \}.$

Remark 9.2. Let us assume that there exist $(g^*, u^*) \in \mathcal{V}_{ad}$ such that $J(g^*, u^*) = \min_{(g,u)\in\mathcal{V}_{ad}} J(g, u)$ and a function $g_d \in \mathbf{H}_g$ such that $(g_d, u_d) \in \mathcal{V}_{ad}$. Then,

$$J(\boldsymbol{g}^{*}, \boldsymbol{u}^{*}) = \frac{1}{2} \|\boldsymbol{u}^{*} - \boldsymbol{u}_{d}\|_{\mathbf{H}_{u}}^{2} + \frac{\beta}{2} \|\boldsymbol{g}^{*}\|_{\mathbf{H}_{g}}^{2} \leq J(\boldsymbol{g}_{d}, \boldsymbol{u}_{d}) = \frac{\beta}{2} \|\boldsymbol{g}_{d}\|_{\mathbf{H}_{g}}^{2}$$

and, hence,

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}^* - \boldsymbol{u}_d\|_{\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{u}}}^2 \leq \beta(\|\boldsymbol{g}_d\|_{\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{g}}}^2 - \|\boldsymbol{g}^*\|_{\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{g}}}^2).$$

Therefore, for β arbitrarily small, we may hope to obtain, on the contact boundary, a displacement field u as closed as we want to the desired value u_d .

As one can see, although the functional J has good properties on $\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{g}} \times W^{1,2}(0, T; \mathbf{V})$, the existence of a solution of the control problem (**CS**) cannot be obtained directly, since the correspondence control \mapsto state is a multivalued mapping. In order to overcome this difficulty, we approximate the optimal control problem (**CS**) by a family of penalized optimal control problems, governed by a variational inequality.

212

We start by introducing a new control space:

$$\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}} = L^2(0, T; \boldsymbol{W}) \,.$$

Now, for $(g, w) \in \mathbf{H}_g \times \mathbf{H}_w$, we consider the variational inequality which models the problem (\mathscr{S}) in the case of Tresca friction.

Problem (S)^{*g*,*w*}: Find $u \in W^{1,2}(0, T; \mathbf{V})$ such that

$$\begin{cases} a(u(t), v - \dot{u}(t)) + j(w(t), v) - j(w(t), \dot{u}(t)) \ge (F^g(t), v - \dot{u}(t))_V \\ \forall v \in V, \text{ a.e. } t \in (0, T) \\ u(0) = u_0. \end{cases}$$

Using the same techniques as in [7] or Sect. 4.3 and taking into account the positivity of j, one can prove the following existence result.

Proposition 9.3. For $(g, w) \in H_g \times H_w$ given, there exists a unique solution $u^{g,w}$ of Problem $(\mathbf{S})^{g,w}$. Moreover, we have

$$\|\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}^{g,\boldsymbol{w}}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;V)} \leq C(\|\dot{\boldsymbol{F}}^{g}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;V)} + \|\boldsymbol{w}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;V)})$$

with C a positive constant.

In the sequel, for $(g, w) \in \mathbf{H}_{g} \times \mathbf{H}_{w}$ given, we will denote by $u^{g,w}$ the unique solution of Problem $(\mathbf{S})^{g,w}$.

Let us fix $\epsilon > 0$. We introduce the penalized functional $J_{\epsilon} : \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{g}} \times \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}} \to \mathbb{R}_{+}$ by

$$J_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{g}, \boldsymbol{w}) = J(\boldsymbol{g}, \boldsymbol{u}^{\boldsymbol{g}, \boldsymbol{w}}) + \frac{1}{2\epsilon} \|\boldsymbol{u}^{\boldsymbol{g}, \boldsymbol{w}} - \boldsymbol{w}\|_{\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}}^{2}$$
(9.75)

and we consider the control problem

Problem (CS)_{ϵ}: Find $(g^*_{\epsilon}, w^*_{\epsilon}) \in \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{g}} \times \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}$ such that

$$J_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon}^{*}, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{*}) = \min\{J_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{g}, \boldsymbol{w}); (\boldsymbol{g}, \boldsymbol{w}) \in \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{g}} \times \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}\}.$$

The following result establishes the existence of an optimal solution for this penalized control problem.

Proposition 9.4. Let (9.63) and (9.65) hold. Then, for all $\epsilon > 0$, there exists a solution $(\mathbf{g}_{\epsilon}^*, \mathbf{w}_{\epsilon}^*)$ of problem $(\mathbf{CS})_{\epsilon}$.

Proof. Let $\{(\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon}^{n}, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{n})\}_{n} \subset \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{g}} \times \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}$ be a minimizing sequence for the functional J_{ϵ} . Then, from the definition (9.75) of J_{ϵ} , we deduce

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} J_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon}^{n}, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{n}) = \inf\{J_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{g}, \boldsymbol{w}), \ (\boldsymbol{g}, \boldsymbol{w}) \in \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{g}} \times \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}\} \in [0, +\infty),$$
(9.76)

which implies that the sequence $\{g_{\epsilon}^n\}_n$ is bounded in $\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{g}}$. Obviously, the sequence $\{F_{\epsilon}^n\}_n$ defined by

$$(\boldsymbol{F}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t),\boldsymbol{v})_{\boldsymbol{V}} = \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f}(t) \cdot \boldsymbol{v} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} + \int_{\Gamma_{1}} \boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t) \cdot \boldsymbol{v} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{s}$$
(9.77)

is also bounded in $W^{1,2}(0, T; \mathbf{V})$.

Thus, there exists $(\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon}^*, \boldsymbol{F}_{\epsilon}^*) \in \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{g}} \times W^{1,2}(0, T; \mathbf{V})$ such that, passing to a subsequence still denoted in the same way, we have

$$\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon}^{n} \rightharpoonup \boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon}^{*}$$
 weakly in $\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{g}}$, (9.78)

$$\boldsymbol{F}_{\epsilon}^{n} \rightharpoonup \boldsymbol{F}_{\epsilon}^{*}$$
 weakly in $W^{1,2}(0,T;\mathbf{V})$, (9.79)

where

$$(\boldsymbol{F}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t),\boldsymbol{v})_{\boldsymbol{V}} = \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f}(t) \cdot \boldsymbol{v} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} + \int_{\Gamma_{1}} \boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t) \cdot \boldsymbol{v} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{s} \, .$$

Let $\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n} = \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon}^{n}, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{n}}$. Taking $\boldsymbol{v} = \boldsymbol{0}$ in (S) $^{\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon}^{n}, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{n}}$, integrating by parts on [0, s] with $s \in [0, T]$ and taking into account the properties (9.66), (9.68) of the functional j, we have

$$\int_{0}^{s} a(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t), \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t)) \, \mathrm{d}t \leq \int_{0}^{s} (\boldsymbol{F}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t), \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t))_{V} \, \mathrm{d}t \,.$$
(9.80)

By using the V-ellipticity of $a(\cdot, \cdot)$, we obviously obtain

$$\int_{0}^{s} a(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t), \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t)) dt = \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{s} \frac{d}{dt} a(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t), \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t)) dt$$

$$= \frac{a(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}(s), \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}(s)) - a(\boldsymbol{u}_{0}, \boldsymbol{u}_{0})}{2} \ge \frac{\alpha \|\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}(s)\|_{V}^{2} - a(\boldsymbol{u}_{0}, \boldsymbol{u}_{0})}{2}.$$
(9.81)

On the other hand, we have

$$\begin{split} \left| \int_{0}^{s} (\boldsymbol{F}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t), \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t))_{V} \, \mathrm{d}t \right| &= \left| \int_{0}^{s} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} (\boldsymbol{F}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t), \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t))_{V} \, \mathrm{d}t - \int_{0}^{s} (\dot{\boldsymbol{F}}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t), \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t))_{V} \, \mathrm{d}t \right| \\ &\leq C \left(|(\boldsymbol{F}_{\epsilon}^{n}(s), \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}(s))_{V} - (\boldsymbol{F}_{\epsilon}^{n}(0), \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}(0))_{V}| + \int_{0}^{s} ||\dot{\boldsymbol{F}}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t)||_{V}^{2} \, \mathrm{d}t + \int_{0}^{s} ||\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t)||_{V}^{2} \, \mathrm{d}t \right) \\ &\leq C \left(\frac{||\boldsymbol{F}_{\epsilon}^{n}(s)||_{V}^{2}}{2\delta} + \frac{\delta ||\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}(s)||_{V}^{2}}{2} + \frac{||\boldsymbol{F}_{\epsilon}^{n}(0)||_{V}^{2}}{2} + \frac{||\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}(0)||_{V}^{2}}{2} \\ &+ \int_{0}^{s} ||\dot{\boldsymbol{F}}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t)||_{V}^{2} \, \mathrm{d}t + \int_{0}^{s} ||\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t)||_{V}^{2} \, \mathrm{d}t \right). \end{split}$$

By choosing $0 < \delta < \frac{\alpha}{C}$ in the last relation, from (9.80), (9.81) and Young's inequality, we get

$$\begin{aligned} \|\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}(s)\|_{V}^{2} &\leq C \left(\|\boldsymbol{u}_{0}\|_{V}^{2} + \|\boldsymbol{F}_{\epsilon}^{n}(s)\|_{V}^{2} + \|\boldsymbol{F}_{\epsilon}^{n}(0)\|_{V}^{2} + \int_{0}^{s} \|\dot{\boldsymbol{F}}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t)\|_{V}^{2} dt \\ &+ \int_{0}^{s} \|\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t)\|_{V}^{2} dt \right), \end{aligned}$$

and hence, by using Gronwall's inequality and the boundedness of $\{F_{\epsilon}^n\}_n$, it follows that

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}(s)\|_{V}^{2} \leq C\left(1 + \|\boldsymbol{F}_{\epsilon}^{n}(0)\|_{V}^{2} + \|\dot{\boldsymbol{F}}_{\epsilon}^{n}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;V)}\right) \leq C \quad \forall s \in [0,T].$$
(9.82)

Therefore, the sequence $\{u_{\epsilon}^n\}_n$ is bounded in $L^{\infty}(0, T; V)$. In addition, from $(\mathbf{S})^{g_{\epsilon}^n, w_{\epsilon}^n}$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}\|_{\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}}^{2} &= \|\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;V)}^{2} + \|\operatorname{div}\boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n})\|_{L^{2}(0,T;(L^{2}(\Omega))^{d})}^{2} \\ &= \|\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;V)}^{2} + \|\boldsymbol{f}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;(L^{2}(\Omega))^{d})}^{2} \leq C , \end{aligned}$$

which, from the definition of J_{ϵ} and the boundedness (9.76) of J_{ϵ} , implies that the sequence $\{w_{\epsilon}^{n}\}_{n}$ is bounded in **H**_w.

Now, from Proposition 9.3, we obtain

$$\|\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon}^{n}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;V)} \leq C.$$
(9.83)

Thus, we deduce that there exist the elements $\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^* \in W^{1,2}(0, T; V)$ and $\boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^* \in \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}$ and the subsequences, still denoted by $\{\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^n\}_n$ and $\{\boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^n\}_n$, such that

$$\boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{n} \rightharpoonup \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{*}$$
 weakly in $\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}$, (9.84)

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n} \rightharpoonup \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{*} \text{ weakly }^{*} \text{ in } L^{\infty}(0, T; V), \\ \boldsymbol{\dot{u}}_{\epsilon}^{n} \rightharpoonup \boldsymbol{\dot{u}}_{\epsilon}^{*} \text{ weakly in } L^{2}(0, T; V). \end{cases}$$

$$(9.85)$$

Using the embedding $W^{1,2}(0,T;V) \hookrightarrow C([0,T];V)$, we also have

$$\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t) \rightarrow \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t)$$
 weakly in $V \quad \forall t \in [0, T]$. (9.86)

Now, we shall prove the strong convergence of u_{ϵ}^{n} to u in $L^{2}(0, T; V)$. Putting v = 0 and $v = 2\dot{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t)$ in (S) $g_{\epsilon}^{n}, w_{\epsilon}^{n}$, one obtains:

$$a(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t),\boldsymbol{v}) + j(\boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t),\boldsymbol{v}) \geq (\boldsymbol{F}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t),\boldsymbol{v})_{\boldsymbol{V}} \quad \forall \, \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V} \,, \, \text{a.e.} \, t \in (0,T) \,,$$

Taking v = -v, it follows that

$$a(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t),\boldsymbol{v}) - j(\boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t),\boldsymbol{v}) \leq (\boldsymbol{F}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t),\boldsymbol{v})_{\boldsymbol{V}} \quad \forall \, \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V} \,, \, \text{a.e.} \, t \in (0,T) \,.$$
(9.87)

Passing to the limit with $n \to \infty$ in this inequality and taking into account the convergences (9.85), (9.84), and (9.79), we obtain

$$a(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t),\boldsymbol{v}) - j(\boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t),\boldsymbol{v}) \leq (\boldsymbol{F}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t),\boldsymbol{v})_{\boldsymbol{V}} \quad \forall \, \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V} \,, \, \text{a.e.} \, t \in (0,T) \,.$$
(9.88)

Setting $\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t) - \mathbf{u}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t)$ in (9.87) and $\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{u}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t) - \mathbf{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t)$ in (9.88), we get

 $\begin{aligned} &\alpha \|\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t) - \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t)\|_{V}^{2} \leq a(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t) - \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t), \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t) - \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t)) \\ &\leq C \|\boldsymbol{\mu}\|_{L^{\infty}(\Gamma_{2})} \left(\|\mathscr{R}\sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t))\|_{L^{2}(\Gamma_{2})} + \|\mathscr{R}\sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t))\|_{L^{2}(\Gamma_{2})} \right) \|\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t) - \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t)\|_{(L^{2}(\Gamma_{2}))^{d}} \\ &+ \|\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t) - \boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t)\|_{(L^{2}(\Gamma_{1}))^{d}} \|\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t) - \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t)\|_{(L^{2}(\Gamma_{1}))^{d}} \leq C \|\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t) - \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t)\|_{(L^{2}(\Gamma))^{d}} \,, \end{aligned}$

which, with (9.86) and the compactness of the trace map from V to $(L^2(\Gamma))^d$, implies

$$\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t) \to \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t) \text{ strongly in } V \quad \forall t \in [0, T].$$
 (9.89)

Hence, by Lebesgue's Theorem 3.4, we obtain the strong convergence:

$$\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n} \to \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{*}$$
 strongly in $L^{2}(0,T;V)$. (9.90)

We shall prove that $u_{\epsilon}^* = u_{\epsilon}^{g_{\epsilon}^*, w_{\epsilon}^*}$ and, from the uniqueness of the solution, we shall conclude that the convergences (9.78), (9.84), (9.85), and (9.89) hold true for the whole sequences.

For $s \in [0, T]$, from the convergences (9.85), (9.90), (9.84), (9.79) and the properties (9.69), (9.70), we have

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{s} a(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t), \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t)) \, \mathrm{d}t = \int_{0}^{s} a(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t), \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t)) \, \mathrm{d}t \,, \tag{9.91}$$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{s} a(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t), \boldsymbol{v}(t)) \, \mathrm{d}t = \int_{0}^{s} a(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t), \boldsymbol{v}(t)) \, \mathrm{d}t \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in L^{2}(0, T; V) \,, \qquad (9.92)$$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{s} (\boldsymbol{F}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t), \boldsymbol{v}(t))_{\boldsymbol{V}} \, \mathrm{d}t = \int_{0}^{s} (\boldsymbol{F}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t), \boldsymbol{v}(t))_{\boldsymbol{V}} \, \mathrm{d}t \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in L^{2}(0, T; \boldsymbol{V}), \qquad (9.93)$$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{s} j(\boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t), \boldsymbol{v}(t)) \, \mathrm{d}t = \int_{0}^{s} j(\boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t), \boldsymbol{v}(t)) \, \mathrm{d}t \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in L^{2}(0, T; V) \,, \tag{9.94}$$

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{s} j(\boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t), \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t)) \, \mathrm{d}t \geq \int_{0}^{s} j(\boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t), \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t)) \, \mathrm{d}t \,.$$
(9.95)

Next, since we can write

$$\int_{0}^{s} (\boldsymbol{F}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t), \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t))_{V} \, \mathrm{d}t = (\boldsymbol{F}_{\epsilon}^{n}(s), \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}(s))_{V} - (\boldsymbol{F}_{\epsilon}^{n}(0), \boldsymbol{u}_{0})_{V} \, \mathrm{d}t - \int_{0}^{s} (\dot{\boldsymbol{F}}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t), \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t))_{V} \, \mathrm{d}t \,,$$

it follows that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{s} (\boldsymbol{F}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t), \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon}^{n}(t))_{V} dt = \int_{0}^{s} (\boldsymbol{F}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t), \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t))_{V} dt.$$
(9.96)

Now, by passing to the limit in $(\mathbf{S})^{g^n_{\epsilon}, w^n_{\epsilon}}$ with $n \to \infty$, one obtains

$$\int_{0}^{s} a(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t), \boldsymbol{v}(t) - \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t)) dt + \int_{0}^{s} j(\boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t), \boldsymbol{v}(t)) dt - \int_{0}^{s} j(\boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t), \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t)) dt$$

$$\geq \int_{0}^{s} (\boldsymbol{F}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t), \boldsymbol{v}(t) - \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t))_{V} dt \quad \forall \, \boldsymbol{v} \in L^{2}(0, T; V), \, \forall s \in [0, T].$$
(9.97)

Then, as usually, taking $v \in L^2(0, T; V)$ defined by

$$\mathbf{v}(t) = \begin{cases} z & \text{for } t \in [s, s+h], \\ \dot{\mathbf{u}}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t) & \text{otherwise}, \end{cases}$$

with an arbitrary $z \in V$ and h > 0 such that $s + h \leq T$, one obtains

$$\int_{s}^{s+h} a(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t), \boldsymbol{z} - \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t)) dt + \int_{s}^{s+h} j(\boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t), \boldsymbol{z}) dt - \int_{s}^{s+h} j(\boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t), \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t)) dt$$

$$\geq \int_{s}^{s+h} (\boldsymbol{F}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t), \boldsymbol{z} - \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t))_{V} dt \quad \forall \boldsymbol{z} \in \boldsymbol{V}, \ \forall \boldsymbol{s} \in [0, T),$$
(9.98)

which leads us, by passing to the limit with $h \rightarrow 0$, to the following inequality

$$a(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t), \boldsymbol{z} - \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t)) + j(\boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t), \boldsymbol{z}) - j(\boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t), \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t))$$

$$\geq (\boldsymbol{F}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t), \boldsymbol{z} - \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t))_{V} \quad \forall \boldsymbol{z} \in V \text{ a.e. } t \in (0, T) .$$

$$(9.99)$$

Moreover, the pointwise convergence (9.89) and the initial condition $u_{\epsilon}^{n}(0) = u_{0}$ give us $u_{\epsilon}^{*}(0) = u_{0}$ and, so, $u_{\epsilon}^{*} = u^{g_{\epsilon}^{*},w_{\epsilon}^{*}}$, i.e. u_{ϵ}^{*} is the unique solution of problem (**S**) $_{\epsilon}^{g_{\epsilon}^{*},w_{\epsilon}^{n}}$.

In order to end the proof of our existence result, let us notice that, from (S) $g_{\epsilon}^{n}, w_{\epsilon}^{n}$ and (9.99), it follows that

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}-\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{*}\|_{\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}}=\|\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n}-\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{*}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;V)},$$

which obviously, from (9.90), gives

$$u_{\epsilon}^{n} \rightarrow u_{\epsilon}^{*}$$
 strongly in **H**_w

Therefore, since the norm is weakly lower semicontinuous, from the convergence (9.84), we get

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{2\epsilon} \| \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{n} - \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{n} \|_{\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}}^{2} \geq \frac{1}{2\epsilon} \| \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{*} - \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{*} \|_{\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}}^{2}.$$
(9.100)

Finally, by using the convergences (9.90), (9.78) and the relation (9.100), we have

$$\inf\{J_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{g}, \boldsymbol{w}) ; (\boldsymbol{g}, \boldsymbol{w}) \in \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{g}} \times \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}\} \\= \lim_{n \to \infty} J_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon}^{n}, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{n}) \geq \liminf_{n \to \infty} J_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon}^{n}, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{n}) \geq J_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon}^{*}, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{*})$$

and hence, we conclude

$$J_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon}^{*},\boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{*}) = \min\{J_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{g},\boldsymbol{w}); (\boldsymbol{g},\boldsymbol{w}) \in \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{g}} \times \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}\}.$$

Lemma 9.5. If $(g_{\epsilon}^*, w_{\epsilon}^*)$ is an optimal control for $(CS)_{\epsilon}$ and $u_{\epsilon}^* = u_{\epsilon}^{g_{\epsilon}^*, w_{\epsilon}^*}$, then

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \|\boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^* - \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^*\|_{\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}} = 0.$$
(9.101)

Proof. Indeed, if $(\tilde{g}, \tilde{u}) \in \mathscr{V}_{ad}$, then $\tilde{u} \in \mathbf{H}_{w}, \tilde{u} = u^{\tilde{g}, \tilde{u}}$ and, hence,

$$J_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon}^{*}, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{*}) \leq J_{\epsilon}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{g}}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}) = J(\tilde{\boldsymbol{g}}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}).$$
(9.102)

Consequently, from the definition of J_{ϵ} , we get

$$\|\boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^* - \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^*\|_{\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}}^2 \leq 2\epsilon J_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon}^*, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^*) \leq 2\epsilon J(\tilde{\boldsymbol{g}}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}),$$

which implies (9.101).

We are now in the position to prove the main result of this section, the existence of a solution to the optimal control problem (**CS**).

Theorem 9.5. For $\epsilon > 0$, let $(\mathbf{g}_{\epsilon}^*, \mathbf{w}_{\epsilon}^*) \in \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{g}} \times \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}$ be an optimal control of $(\mathbf{CS})_{\epsilon}$ and $\mathbf{u}_{\epsilon}^* = \mathbf{u}^{\mathbf{g}_{\epsilon}^*, \mathbf{w}_{\epsilon}^*}$. Then, there exist the elements $\mathbf{u}^* \in W^{1,2}(0, T; \mathbf{V})$ and $\mathbf{g}^* \in \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{g}}$ such that

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{g}_{\epsilon}^{*} &\to \mathbf{g}^{*} \text{ weakly in } \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{g}} , \\ \mathbf{w}_{\epsilon}^{*} &\to \mathbf{u}^{*} \text{ strongly in } \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}} , \\ \mathbf{u}_{\epsilon}^{*} &\to \mathbf{u}^{*} \text{ weakly in } W^{1,2}(0,T;\mathbf{V}) , \\ \mathbf{u}_{\epsilon}^{*} &\to \mathbf{u}^{*} \text{ strongly in } L^{2}(0,T;\mathbf{V}) . \end{aligned}$$

$$\end{aligned}$$

$$(9.103)$$

Moreover, $(\boldsymbol{g}^*, \boldsymbol{u}^*) \in \mathscr{V}_{ad}$ and

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} J_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon}^{*}, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{*}) = J(\boldsymbol{g}^{*}, \boldsymbol{u}^{*}) = \min_{(\boldsymbol{g}, \boldsymbol{u}) \in \mathscr{V}_{ad}} J(\boldsymbol{g}, \boldsymbol{u}).$$
(9.104)

Proof. From the definition and the boundedness (9.102) of $J_{\epsilon}(g_{\epsilon}^*, w_{\epsilon}^*)$, it follows that the sequence $\{g_{\epsilon}^*\}_{\epsilon}$ is bounded in \mathbf{H}_{g} . Therefore, there exists $g^* \in \mathbf{H}_{g}$ such that, up to a subsequence, we have

$$\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon}^* \rightharpoonup \boldsymbol{g}^*$$
 weakly in $\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{g}}$. (9.105)

So,

$$F_{\epsilon}^* \rightarrow F^*$$
 weakly in $W^{1,2}(0,T,V)$, (9.106)

where

$$(\boldsymbol{F}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t),\boldsymbol{v})_{\boldsymbol{V}} = \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f}(t) \cdot \boldsymbol{v} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} + \int_{\Gamma_{1}} \boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon}^{*}(t) \cdot \boldsymbol{v} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{s}$$
(9.107)

and

$$(\boldsymbol{F}^*(t),\boldsymbol{v})_{\boldsymbol{V}} = \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f}(t) \cdot \boldsymbol{v} \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Gamma_1} \boldsymbol{g}^*(t) \cdot \boldsymbol{v} \, \mathrm{d}s \, .$$

Using the same arguments as in the proof of Proposition 9.4, we deduce

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{*} \rightarrow \boldsymbol{u}^{*} \text{ weakly }^{*} \text{ in } L^{\infty}(0, T; \boldsymbol{V}), \\ \boldsymbol{\dot{u}}_{\epsilon}^{*} \rightarrow \boldsymbol{\dot{u}}^{*} \text{ weakly in } L^{2}(0, T; \boldsymbol{V}), \\ \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{*} \rightarrow \boldsymbol{u}^{*} \text{ strongly in } L^{2}(0, T; \boldsymbol{V}), \\ \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{*} \rightarrow \boldsymbol{w}^{*} \text{ weakly in } \mathbf{H}_{w}, \end{cases}$$
(9.108)

with $\boldsymbol{u}^* \in W^{1,2}(0,T;\mathbf{V})$ and $\boldsymbol{w}^* \in \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}$.

Passing to the limit with $\epsilon \to 0$ in the integral form of $(\mathbf{S})^{g_{\epsilon}^*, w_{\epsilon}^n}$, we deduce that $u^* = u^{g^*, w^*}$. As

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{*}-\boldsymbol{u}^{*}\|_{\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}}=\|\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{*}-\boldsymbol{u}^{*}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;V)},$$

we have

$$u_{\epsilon}^* \rightarrow u^*$$
 strongly in $\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}$

and thus, from (9.101), we get (9.103)₂, $w^* = u^*$ and $(g^*, u^*) \in \mathscr{V}_{ad}$. Next, from the definition of J_{ϵ} , we have

$$\frac{1}{2\epsilon} \|\boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{*} - \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{*}\|_{\mathbf{H}_{w}}^{2} = J_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon}^{*}, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{*}) - J(\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon}^{*}, \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{*})$$

$$\leq J_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{g}^{*}, \boldsymbol{u}^{*}) - J(\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon}^{*}, \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{*}) = J(\boldsymbol{g}^{*}, \boldsymbol{u}^{*}) - J(\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon}^{*}, \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{*}),$$

so,

$$0 \leq \limsup_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{2\epsilon} \| \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^* - \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^* \|_{\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}}^2 \leq J(\boldsymbol{g}^*, \boldsymbol{u}^*) - \liminf_{\epsilon \to 0} J(\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon}^*, \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^*) \leq 0,$$

i.e.

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{\epsilon} \| \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^* - \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^* \|_{\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}}^2 = 0.$$
(9.109)

Finally, it is easy to see that

1

$$J(\boldsymbol{g}^*, \boldsymbol{u}^*) \leq \liminf_{\epsilon \to 0} J_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{g}^*_{\epsilon}, \boldsymbol{w}^*_{\epsilon}) \leq \limsup_{\epsilon \to 0} J_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{g}^*_{\epsilon}, \boldsymbol{w}^*_{\epsilon}) \leq \limsup_{\epsilon \to 0} J_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{g}^*, \boldsymbol{u}^*)$$
$$= J(\boldsymbol{g}^*, \boldsymbol{u}^*)$$

and

$$J_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon}^{*}, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{*}) \leq J_{\epsilon}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{g}}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}) = J(\tilde{\boldsymbol{g}}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}) \quad \forall (\tilde{\boldsymbol{g}}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}) \in \mathscr{V}_{ad} ,$$

which give us

$$J(\boldsymbol{g}^*, \boldsymbol{u}^*) = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} J_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{g}^*_{\epsilon}, \boldsymbol{w}^*_{\epsilon}) \leq J(\tilde{\boldsymbol{g}}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}) \quad \forall (\tilde{\boldsymbol{g}}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}) \in \mathscr{V}_{ad} .$$

So, (g^*, u^*) is an optimal control for the cost functional J and the minimal value of J_{ϵ} converges to the minimal value of J.

9.3.2 Regularized Problems and Optimality Conditions

Until now, we have reduced our optimal control problem to one governed by a variational inequality of the second kind. Unfortunately, the problem $(\mathbf{CS})_{\epsilon}$, despite the fact that it is simpler than the initial one, still involves a non-differentiable functional J_{ϵ} . Therefore, to attain our main goal, the obtaining of the optimality conditions, we shall consider a family of regularized problems associated with $(\mathbf{S})^{g,w}$, defined, for $\rho > 0$, by

Problem (S)^{*g*,*w*}_{ρ}: Find $u \in W^{1,2}(0, T; \mathbf{V})$ such that

$$\begin{cases} \rho(\dot{u}(t), \mathbf{v} - \dot{u}(t))_{V} + a(\mathbf{u}(t), \mathbf{v} - \dot{u}(t)) + j^{\rho}(\mathbf{w}(t), \mathbf{v}) - j^{\rho}(\mathbf{w}(t), \dot{u}(t)) \\ \geq (F^{g}(t), \mathbf{v} - \dot{u}(t))_{V} \quad \forall \mathbf{v} \in V, \text{ a.e. } t \in (0, T), \\ \mathbf{u}(0) = \mathbf{u}_{0}, \end{cases}$$

where, for $w \in W$, $\{j^{\rho}(w, \cdot)\}_{\rho}$ is a family of convex functionals $j^{\rho}(w, \cdot) : V \to \mathbb{R}_+$, of class C^2 , i.e. the gradients with respect to the second variable, $\nabla_2 j^{\rho}(w, \cdot) : V \to V^*$ and $\nabla_2^2 j^{\rho}(w, \cdot) : V \to \mathcal{L}(V, V^*)$, are continuous. In addition, we suppose that the following conditions hold true:

$$j^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{w}, \boldsymbol{0}) = 0 \quad \forall \boldsymbol{w} \in \boldsymbol{W} , \qquad (9.110)$$

$$|j^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{w},\boldsymbol{v}) - j(\boldsymbol{w},\boldsymbol{v})| \le C\rho \|\boldsymbol{w}\|_{V} \quad \forall \boldsymbol{w} \in \boldsymbol{W}, \ \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V}$$
(9.11)

$$\begin{cases} \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{T} \langle \nabla_2 j^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{w}_n(t), \boldsymbol{u}_n(t)), \boldsymbol{v} \rangle \, dt = \int_{0}^{T} \langle \nabla_2 j^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{w}(t), \boldsymbol{u}(t)), \boldsymbol{v} \rangle \, dt \\ \forall (\boldsymbol{w}_n, \boldsymbol{u}_n) \to (\boldsymbol{w}, \boldsymbol{u}) \text{ weakly in } \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}} \times L^2(0, T; V) , \ \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in V , \end{cases}$$
(9.112)

where C is a constant independent of v and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ denotes the duality pair between V^* and V.

Remark 9.3. We can choose

$$j^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{w},\boldsymbol{v}) = \int_{\Gamma_2} \mu |\mathscr{R}\sigma_{\boldsymbol{v}}(\boldsymbol{w})| \,\theta_{\rho}(\boldsymbol{v}_{\tau}) \,\mathrm{d}s \quad \forall (\boldsymbol{w},\boldsymbol{v}) \in \boldsymbol{W} \times \boldsymbol{V} \,, \tag{9.113}$$

where the function $\theta_{\rho} : \mathbb{R}^p \to \mathbb{R}$ is an approximation (see [12] or [1]) of the function $|\cdot| : \mathbb{R}^p \to \mathbb{R}$, satisfying the following properties:

$$\begin{cases} \theta_{\rho} \text{ is a convex, nonnegative function of class } C^{2}, \\ \theta_{\rho}(\mathbf{0}) = 0, \\ |\theta_{\rho}(\mathbf{u}) - |\mathbf{u}|| \leq C_{0}\rho, \\ |\theta_{\rho}'(\mathbf{u}) \cdot \mathbf{v}| \leq C_{1}|\mathbf{v}|, \\ |\theta_{\rho}''(\mathbf{u})(\mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{q})| \leq C_{2}(\rho)|\mathbf{v}| |\mathbf{q}|, \end{cases}$$

$$(9.114)$$

with C_0 , C_1 , and $C_2(\rho)$ positive constants.

Then, after some computations, it follows that

$$\langle \nabla_2 j^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{w}, \boldsymbol{u}), \boldsymbol{v} \rangle = \int_{\Gamma_2} \mu |\mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{w}))| \theta_{\rho}'(\boldsymbol{u}_{\tau}) \cdot \boldsymbol{v}_{\tau} \, \mathrm{d}s , \langle \nabla_2^2 j^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{w}, \boldsymbol{u}) \boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{q} \rangle = \int_{\Gamma_2} \mu |\mathscr{R}(\sigma_{\nu}(\boldsymbol{w}))| \theta_{\rho}''(\boldsymbol{u}_{\tau})(\boldsymbol{v}_{\tau} \cdot \boldsymbol{q}_{\tau}) \, \mathrm{d}s .$$

For instance, if we take

$$\theta_{\rho}(\mathbf{v}) = \begin{cases} \frac{|\mathbf{v}|^2}{\rho} \left(1 - \frac{|\mathbf{v}|}{3\rho}\right) \text{ if } |\mathbf{v}| \le \rho ,\\ \rho \left(\frac{|\mathbf{v}|}{\rho} - \frac{1}{3}\right) \text{ if } |\mathbf{v}| \ge \rho , \end{cases}$$
(9.115)

then θ'_{ρ} and θ''_{ρ} are defined by (8.156) and (8.157) (p. 182), and if we choose

$$\theta_{\rho}(\mathbf{v}) = \sqrt{\rho^2 + |\mathbf{v}|^2} - \rho,$$
(9.116)

then one has:

$$\theta_{\rho}'(\boldsymbol{u}) = \frac{\boldsymbol{u}}{\sqrt{\rho^2 + |\boldsymbol{u}(x)|^2}},$$

and

$$\theta_{\rho}^{\prime\prime}(\boldsymbol{u})(\boldsymbol{v}) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\rho^2 + |\boldsymbol{u}(x)|^2}} \left(\boldsymbol{v} - \frac{(\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{v})\boldsymbol{u}}{\rho^2 + |\boldsymbol{u}(x)|^2} \right).$$

It is easy to see that, in both cases, the functional j_{ρ} , defined by (9.113), satisfies the properties (9.110)–(9.112) and, in addition, we have

$$\begin{cases} |\nabla_2 j^{\rho}(\mathbf{w}, \mathbf{u}) \cdot \mathbf{v}| \leq C_1 \|\mathbf{v}\| \quad \forall \mathbf{u}, \mathbf{v} \in V, \\ |\langle \nabla_2^2 j^{\rho}(\mathbf{w}, \mathbf{u}) \cdot \mathbf{v}, \mathbf{q} \rangle| \leq C_2 \|\mathbf{v}\| \|\mathbf{q}\| \quad \forall \mathbf{u}, \mathbf{v}, \mathbf{q} \in V, \end{cases}$$

with $C_1 = C_1(w) > 0$ and $C_2 = C_2(w, \rho) > 0$.

Obviously, the regularized problem $(\mathbf{S})^{g,w}_{\rho}$ can be equivalently written as the following variational equality.

Problem $(\mathscr{S})^{g,w}_{\rho}$: Find $u \in W^{1,2}(0,T;V)$ such that

$$\begin{cases} \rho(\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}(t), \boldsymbol{v})_V + a(\boldsymbol{u}(t), \boldsymbol{v}) + \langle \nabla_2 j^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{w}(t), \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}(t)), \boldsymbol{v} \rangle \\ = (\boldsymbol{F}^g(t), \boldsymbol{v})_V, \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V}, \text{ a.e. } t \in (0, T), \\ \boldsymbol{u}(0) = \boldsymbol{u}_0. \end{cases}$$

We have the following existence and uniqueness result.

Proposition 9.5. Let $(g, w) \in \mathbf{H}_{g} \times \mathbf{H}_{w}$ and $\rho > 0$. Then, there exists a unique solution $u_{\rho}^{g,w} \in W^{1,2}(0,T; \mathbf{V})$ of Problem $(\mathscr{S})_{\rho}^{g,w}$.

Proof. Arguing as in [2], one can prove the following main steps of the proof.

(1) For any $\boldsymbol{\alpha} \in W^{1,2}(0,T; V)$, the problem

has a unique solution $v_{\rho\alpha}^{g,w} \in W^{1,2}(0,T;V)$.

(2) Let $u_{\rho\alpha}^{g,w}:[0,T] \to V$ be the function defined by

$$\boldsymbol{u}_{\rho\alpha}^{g,w}(t) = \int_{0}^{t} \boldsymbol{v}_{\rho\alpha}^{g,w}(s) \,\mathrm{d}s + \boldsymbol{u}_{0} \,. \tag{9.118}$$

Then $\boldsymbol{u}_{\rho\alpha}^{g,w} \in W^{2,2}(0,T;V)$ and $\boldsymbol{u}_{\rho\alpha}^{g,w}(0) = \boldsymbol{u}_0$. (3) We denote by $\Lambda_{\rho}: W^{1,2}(0,T;V) \to W^{1,2}(0,T;V)$ the mapping defined by

$$\Lambda_{\rho}(\boldsymbol{\alpha})(t) = \boldsymbol{u}_{\rho\boldsymbol{\alpha}}^{\boldsymbol{g},\boldsymbol{w}}(t) \qquad \forall \boldsymbol{\alpha} \in W^{1,2}(0,T;V), \ \forall t \in [0,T].$$
(9.119)

One can prove that the map Λ_{ρ} has a unique fixed point $\boldsymbol{\alpha}^*$. Therefore, the function $\boldsymbol{u}_{\rho\boldsymbol{\alpha}^*}^{g,w}$ defined by (9.118), is a solution of Problem $(\mathscr{S})_{\rho}^{g,w}$. Finally, by using Gronwall' inequality and the properties (9.110)–(9.112) of the function j_{ρ} , from the formulation $(\mathscr{S})_{\rho}^{g,w}$, the uniqueness follows.

The regularized problem $(\mathbf{S})_{o}^{g,w}$ approximates the penalized problem $(\mathbf{S})^{g,w}$ in the following sense.

Proposition 9.6. Let $(g, w) \in \mathbf{H}_{g} \times \mathbf{H}_{w}$. For $\rho > 0$, let $u_{\rho}^{g,w}$ be the unique solution of problem $(\mathbf{S})^{g,w}_{\rho}$. Then

$$\begin{aligned} \boldsymbol{u}_{\rho}^{\boldsymbol{g},\boldsymbol{w}} &\to \boldsymbol{u}^{\boldsymbol{g},\boldsymbol{w}} \quad strongly \text{ in } L^{\infty}(0,T;V) ,\\ \boldsymbol{\dot{u}}_{\rho}^{\boldsymbol{g},\boldsymbol{w}} &\to \boldsymbol{\dot{u}}^{\boldsymbol{g},\boldsymbol{w}} \quad weakly \text{ in } L^{2}(0,T;V) , \end{aligned}$$
(9.120)

 $u^{g,w}$ being the unique solution of $(\mathbf{S})^{g,w}$. Moreover, there exists a constant C > 0, independent of ρ , such that

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}_{\rho}^{\boldsymbol{g},\boldsymbol{w}} - \boldsymbol{u}^{\boldsymbol{g},\boldsymbol{w}}\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;V)} \le C\sqrt{\rho} \left(1 + \|\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}^{\boldsymbol{g},\boldsymbol{w}}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;V)}^{2}\right).$$
(9.121)

Proof. Using the property (9.111) of j^{ρ} and taking $v = \dot{u}_{\rho}^{g,w}$ in (S)^{g,w} and $v = \dot{u}^{g,w}$ in $(\mathbf{S})_{0}^{g,w}$, we get

$$\begin{split} \rho \int_{0}^{s} \|\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\rho}^{g,\boldsymbol{w}}(t)\|_{V}^{2} dt &+ \frac{\alpha}{2} \|\boldsymbol{u}^{g,\boldsymbol{w}}(s) - \boldsymbol{u}_{\rho}^{g,\boldsymbol{w}}(s)\|_{V}^{2} \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{s} |j^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{w}(t), \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}^{g,\boldsymbol{w}}(t)) - j(\boldsymbol{w}(t), \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}^{g,\boldsymbol{w}}(t))| dt \\ &+ \int_{0}^{s} |j(\boldsymbol{w}(t), \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\rho}^{g,\boldsymbol{w}}(t)) - j^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{w}(t), \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\rho}^{g,\boldsymbol{w}}(t))| dt + \rho \int_{0}^{s} (\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\rho}^{g,\boldsymbol{w}}(t), \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}^{g,\boldsymbol{w}}(t))_{V} dt \\ &\leq C\rho \int_{0}^{s} \|\boldsymbol{w}(t)\|_{V} dt + \rho \int_{0}^{s} \|\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\rho}^{g,\boldsymbol{w}}(t)\|_{V} \|\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}^{g,\boldsymbol{w}}(t)\|_{V} dt \\ &\leq \rho \left(C_{0} + \frac{\nu}{2} \int_{0}^{s} \|\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\rho}^{g,\boldsymbol{w}}(t)\|_{V}^{2} dt + \frac{1}{2\nu} \int_{0}^{s} \|\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}^{g,\boldsymbol{w}}(t)\|_{V}^{2} dt \right), \; \forall s \in [0,T], \end{split}$$

which implies, for $\nu > 0$ conveniently chosen, that

$$\|\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\rho}^{\boldsymbol{g},\boldsymbol{w}}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;V)}^{2} \leq C(1+\|\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}^{\boldsymbol{g},\boldsymbol{w}}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;V)}^{2})$$
(9.122)

and

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}^{\boldsymbol{g},\boldsymbol{w}}(s) - \boldsymbol{u}^{\boldsymbol{g},\boldsymbol{w}}_{\rho}(s)\|_{V}^{2} \leq C\rho(1 + \|\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}^{\boldsymbol{g},\boldsymbol{w}}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;V)}^{2}) \quad \forall s \in [0,T].$$

Now, we formulate an optimal control problem, governed by the regularized problem $(\mathbf{S})_{\rho}^{g,w}$, in which the cost functional is defined similarly to J_{ϵ} , the only difference being that the state is, in this case, the solution of an equation. More precisely, we introduce the regularized functional:

$$J_{\epsilon\rho}(\boldsymbol{g}, \boldsymbol{w}) = J(\boldsymbol{g}, \boldsymbol{u}_{\rho}^{\boldsymbol{g}, \boldsymbol{w}}) + \frac{1}{2\epsilon} \|\boldsymbol{w} - \boldsymbol{u}_{\rho}^{\boldsymbol{g}, \boldsymbol{w}}\|_{\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}}^{2}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \|\boldsymbol{u}_{\rho}^{\boldsymbol{g}, \boldsymbol{w}} - \boldsymbol{u}_{d}\|_{\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{u}}}^{2} + \frac{\beta}{2} \|\boldsymbol{g}\|_{\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{g}}}^{2} + \frac{1}{2\epsilon} \|\boldsymbol{w} - \boldsymbol{u}_{\rho}^{\boldsymbol{g}, \boldsymbol{w}}\|_{\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}}^{2}, \qquad (9.123)$$

 $u_{\rho}^{g,w}$ being the unique solution of the regularized problem $(\mathbf{S})_{\rho}^{g,w}$ or, equivalently, of the variational equation $(\mathscr{S})_{\rho}^{g,w}$.

For any $\rho > 0$, we consider the corresponding regularized optimal control problem.

Problem $(\mathbf{CS})_{\epsilon\rho}$: Find $(g_{\epsilon\rho}^*, w_{\epsilon\rho}^*) \in \mathbf{H}_g \times \mathbf{H}_w$ such that

$$J_{\epsilon\rho}(\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon\rho}^*, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^*) = \min\{J_{\epsilon\rho}(\boldsymbol{g}, \boldsymbol{w}); (\boldsymbol{g}, \boldsymbol{w}) \in \mathbf{H}_{\boldsymbol{g}} \times \mathbf{H}_{\boldsymbol{w}}\}.$$

Theorem 9.6. For $\rho > 0$, there exists a solution $(g_{\epsilon\rho}^*, w_{\epsilon\rho}^*)$ of Problem $(CS)_{\epsilon\rho}$.

Proof. Let $\{(\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon\rho}^n, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^n)\}_n$ be a minimizing sequence for the functional $J_{\epsilon\rho}$. From the definition of $J_{\epsilon\rho}$, it follows that there exists $\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon\rho}^* \in \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{g}}$ such that, up to a subsequence, we have

$$\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon\rho}^n \rightharpoonup \boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon\rho}^*$$
 weakly in $\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{g}}$. (9.124)

Let $\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^n = u_{\epsilon\rho}^{\boldsymbol{g}_{\rho}^n, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^n}$. Putting $\boldsymbol{v} = \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon\rho}^n(t)$ in $(\mathscr{S})_{\rho}^{\boldsymbol{g}_{\rho\rho}^n, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^n}$ and taking into account that (9.110) implies

$$\langle \nabla_2 j^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{w}, \boldsymbol{u}), \boldsymbol{u} \rangle \ge 0, \ \forall (\boldsymbol{w}, \boldsymbol{u}) \in \boldsymbol{W} \times \boldsymbol{V},$$

$$(9.125)$$

we get

$$\begin{split} \rho & \int_{0}^{s} \|\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon\rho}^{n}(t)\|_{V}^{2} \, \mathrm{d}t + \frac{\alpha}{2} \|\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^{n}(s)\|_{V}^{2} \leq \frac{1}{2} a(\boldsymbol{u}_{0}, \boldsymbol{u}_{0}) + \int_{0}^{s} (\boldsymbol{F}_{\epsilon\rho}^{n}(t), \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon\rho}^{n}(t))_{V} \, \mathrm{d}t \\ \leq C + \frac{\nu}{2} \int_{0}^{s} \|\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon\rho}^{n}(t)\|_{V}^{2} \, \mathrm{d}t + \frac{1}{2\nu} \int_{0}^{s} \|\boldsymbol{F}_{\epsilon\rho}^{n}(t)\|_{V}^{2} \, \mathrm{d}t \,, \end{split}$$

where

$$(\boldsymbol{F}_{\epsilon\rho}^{n}(t),\boldsymbol{\nu})_{\boldsymbol{V}} = \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f}(t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} + \int_{\Gamma_{1}} \boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon\rho}^{n}(t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{s} \,.$$
(9.126)

Thus, with (9.124), it follows that

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^{n}(s)\|_{V}^{2} \leq C \quad \forall s \in [0, T],$$

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^{n}\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;V)}^{2} \leq C, \qquad (9.127)$$

$$\|\boldsymbol{\dot{u}}_{\epsilon\rho}^{n}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;V)}^{2} \leq C_{\rho},$$

with C and C_{ρ} positive constants. So, up to a subsequence, we have

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^{n} \rightarrow \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*} \text{ weakly }^{*} \text{ in } L^{\infty}(0, T; \boldsymbol{V}), \\ \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^{n}(t) \rightarrow \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*}(t) \text{ weakly in } \boldsymbol{V} \quad \forall t \in [0, T], \\ \boldsymbol{\dot{u}}_{\epsilon\rho}^{n} \rightarrow \boldsymbol{\dot{u}}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*} \text{ weakly in } L^{2}(0, T; \boldsymbol{V}). \end{cases}$$
(9.128)

Therefore, since

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^{n}\|_{\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}}^{2} = \|\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^{n}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;V)}^{2} + \|\rho\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon\rho}^{n} - \boldsymbol{f}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;(L^{2}(\Omega))^{d})}^{2}$$

we conclude that the sequence $\{u_{\epsilon\rho}^n\}_n$ is also bounded in $\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}$ and, from the definition and the boundedness of $\{J_{\epsilon\rho}(\mathbf{g}_{\epsilon\rho}^n, \mathbf{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^n)\}_n$, it follows that the sequence $\{w_{\epsilon\rho}^n\}_n$ is bounded in $\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}$. So, up to a subsequence, we have

$$\boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^n \rightharpoonup \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^*$$
 weakly in $\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}$, (9.129)

with $w_{\epsilon\rho}^* \in \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}$.

Now, passing to the limit with $n \to \infty$ in $(\mathscr{S})_{\rho}^{g_{\epsilon\rho}^n, w_{\epsilon\rho}^n}$ and using the convergences (9.124), (9.129), (9.128), and (9.112), we obtain that $u_{\epsilon\rho}^* = u_{\epsilon\rho}^{g_{\epsilon\rho}^*, w_{\epsilon\rho}^*}$. From the uniqueness of the solution, we deduce that all the above convergences hold on the whole sequences.

Next, from (**S**) $g_{\epsilon\rho}^{n}, w_{\epsilon\rho}^{n}$ and (**S**) $g_{\epsilon\rho}^{*}, w_{\epsilon\rho}^{*}$, we obtain

$$(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^{n}-\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*},\varphi)_{\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}}=(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^{n}-\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*},\varphi)_{L^{2}(0,T;V)}+\rho(\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon\rho}^{n}-\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*},\varphi)_{L^{2}(0,T;(L^{2}(\Omega))^{d})}\;\forall\varphi\in\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}\,,$$

which, together with $(9.128)_{1,3}$, implies

$$\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^n \rightharpoonup \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^*$$
 weakly in $\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}$

Therefore, by using the convergence (9.129), one gets

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{2\epsilon} \| \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^n - \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^n \|_{\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}}^2 \ge \frac{1}{2\epsilon} \| \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^* - \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^* \|_{\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}}^2.$$
(9.130)

Finally, using the weakly lower semi-continuity of $J_{\epsilon\rho}$ and (9.130), one deduces

$$\inf\{J_{\epsilon\rho}(\boldsymbol{g},\boldsymbol{w}); (\boldsymbol{g},\boldsymbol{w}) \in \mathbf{H}_{\boldsymbol{g}} \times \mathbf{H}_{\boldsymbol{w}}\} \\ = \lim_{n \to \infty} J_{\epsilon\rho}(\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon\rho}^{n}, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^{n}) \ge \liminf_{n \to \infty} J_{\epsilon\rho}(\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon\rho}^{n}, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^{n}) \ge J_{\epsilon\rho}(\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*}, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*})$$

and so, we conclude

$$J_{\epsilon\rho}(\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon\rho}^*, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^*) = \min\{J_{\epsilon\rho}(\boldsymbol{g}, \boldsymbol{w}); (\boldsymbol{g}, \boldsymbol{w}) \in \boldsymbol{H}_{g} \times \boldsymbol{H}_{w}\}.$$

The following property of the solution of the regularized problem $(\mathbf{S})_{\rho}^{g,w}$ will allow us to prove an important result of this section, stated in Theorem 9.7, which gives the asymptotic behavior of the regularized optimal controls of problem $(\mathbf{CS})_{\epsilon\rho}$.

Proposition 9.7. Let $\{(g_n, w_n)\}_n \subset \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{g}} \times \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}$ be such that

$$(\boldsymbol{g}_n, \boldsymbol{w}_n) \rightarrow (\boldsymbol{g}, \boldsymbol{w})$$
 weakly in $\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{g}} \times \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}$.

Then,

$$u_{\rho}^{g_n,w_n}
ightarrow u_{
ho}^{g,w}$$
 weakly in $W^{1,2}(0,T;V)$,

 $u_{\rho}^{g_n,w_n}$ being the unique solution of $(\mathbf{S})_{\rho}^{g_n,w_n}$ and $u_{\rho}^{g,w}$ the unique solution of $(\mathbf{S})_{\rho}^{g,w}$. *Proof.* Let $u_n = u_{\rho}^{w_n,g_n}$. Taking $v = \dot{u}_n$ in $(\mathscr{S})_{\rho}^{g_n,w_n}$ and using the positivity (9.125), we deduce, for all $s \in [0, T]$, that

$$\rho \int_{0}^{s} \|\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{n}(t)\|_{V}^{2} dt + \frac{\alpha}{2} \|\boldsymbol{u}_{n}(s)\|_{V}^{2} \leq \frac{1}{2\nu} \int_{0}^{s} \|\boldsymbol{F}^{\boldsymbol{g}_{n}}(t)\|_{V}^{2} + \frac{\nu}{2} \int_{0}^{s} \|\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{n}(t)\|_{V}^{2} dt + C,$$

which, for $\nu > 0$ conveniently chosen, implies

$$\begin{aligned} \|\boldsymbol{u}_{n}(s)\|_{V}^{2} &\leq C(1 + \|\boldsymbol{F}^{g_{n}}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;V)}^{2}) \quad \forall s \in [0,T], \\ \|\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{n}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;V)}^{2} &\leq C_{\rho}(1 + \|\boldsymbol{F}^{g_{n}}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;V)}^{2}). \end{aligned}$$

Thus, there exists $u \in W^{1,2}(0,T; V)$ such that, up to a subsequence, we have

$$u_n \to u$$
 weakly * in $L^{\infty}(0, T; V)$,
 $u_n \to u$ weakly in $W^{1,2}(0, T; V)$. (9.131)

Finally, by passing to the limit in $(\mathscr{S})_{\rho}^{g_n,w_n}$, with $n \to \infty$, and using (9.131), (9.112) and the hypotheses on $\{g_n\}_n$ and $\{w_n\}_n$, we get $u = u_{\rho}^{g,w}$.

Now, we state the following convergence result.

Theorem 9.7. Let $(\mathbf{g}_{\epsilon\rho}^*, \mathbf{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^*)$ be a solution of problem $(\mathbf{CS})_{\epsilon\rho}$ and $\mathbf{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^* = \mathbf{u}_{\rho}^{\mathbf{g}_{\epsilon\rho}^*, \mathbf{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^*}$. *Then,*

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*} \rightarrow \boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon}^{*} \text{ weakly in } \boldsymbol{\mathrm{H}}_{\boldsymbol{\mathrm{g}}}, \\ \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*} \rightarrow \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{*} \text{ weakly in } \boldsymbol{\mathrm{H}}_{\boldsymbol{\mathrm{w}}}, \\ \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*} \rightarrow \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^{*} \text{ weakly in } W^{1,2}(0,T;V), \end{cases}$$

$$(9.132)$$

where $u_{\epsilon}^* = u_{\epsilon}^{g_{\epsilon}^*, w_{\epsilon}^*}$. Moreover, $(g_{\epsilon}^*, w_{\epsilon}^*)$ is an optimal control for J_{ϵ} and

$$\lim_{\rho \to 0} J_{\epsilon\rho}(\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon\rho}^*, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^*) = J_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon}^*, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^*) = \min_{(\boldsymbol{g}, \boldsymbol{w}) \in \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{g}} \times \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}} J_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{g}, \boldsymbol{w}).$$

Proof. Let $(\tilde{g}, \tilde{u}) \in \mathscr{V}_{ad}$. Obviously, $\tilde{u} = u^{\tilde{g},\tilde{u}}$ and, from Proposition 9.6, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \boldsymbol{u}_{\varrho}^{\tilde{\boldsymbol{g}},\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}} &\to \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}} \quad \text{strongly in } L^{\infty}(0,T;V) \,, \\ \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\varrho}^{\tilde{\boldsymbol{g}},\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}} &\to \dot{\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}} \quad \text{weakly in } L^{2}(0,T;V) \,. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, we obtain

$$\lim_{\rho \to 0} J_{\epsilon\rho}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{g}}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}) = \lim_{\rho \to 0} \left(\frac{1}{2} \| \boldsymbol{u}_{\rho}^{\tilde{\boldsymbol{g}}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}} - \boldsymbol{u}_{d} \|_{\mathbf{H}_{u}}^{2} + \frac{1}{2\epsilon} \| \boldsymbol{u}_{\rho}^{\tilde{\boldsymbol{g}}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}} - \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}} \|_{\mathbf{H}_{w}}^{2} + \frac{\beta}{2} \| \tilde{\boldsymbol{g}} \|_{\mathbf{H}_{g}}^{2} \right) = J(\tilde{\boldsymbol{g}}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})$$

Since

$$J_{\epsilon\rho}(\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon\rho}^*, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^*) \leq J_{\epsilon\rho}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{g}}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}})$$

it follows that the sequence $\{J_{\epsilon\rho}(\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon\rho}^*, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^*)\}_{\rho}$ is bounded. Hence, the sequence $\{\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon\rho}^*\}_{\rho}$ is bounded in \boldsymbol{H}_g .

Next, putting v = 0 in $(\mathbf{S})^{g_{\epsilon\rho}^*, w_{\epsilon\rho}^*}$, integrating by parts on [0, s] with $s \in [0, T]$ and taking into account the positivity and the property (9.110) of j_{ρ} , we get

$$\rho \int_{0}^{s} \|\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*}(t)\|^{2} dt + \int_{0}^{s} a(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*}(t), \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*}(t)) dt \leq \int_{0}^{s} (\boldsymbol{F}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*}(t), \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*}(t))_{V} dt, \qquad (9.133)$$

where

$$(\boldsymbol{F}_{\epsilon\rho}^*(t),\boldsymbol{v})_V = \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f}(t) \cdot \boldsymbol{v} \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Gamma_1} \boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon\rho}^*(t) \cdot \boldsymbol{v} \, \mathrm{d}s \, .$$

Proceeding like in the proof of Proposition 9.4, we deduce that the sequence $\{(\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^*, \rho \boldsymbol{\dot{u}}_{\epsilon\rho}^*)\}_{\rho}$ is bounded in $L^{\infty}(0, T; V) \times L^2(0, T; V)$.

Thus, since

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^*\|_{\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}}^2 = \|\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^*\|_{L^2(0,T;V)}^2 + \|\rho \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon\rho}^* - \boldsymbol{f}\|_{L^2(0,T;(L^2(\Omega))^d)}^2,$$

it follows that the sequence $\{u_{\epsilon\rho}^*\}_{\rho}$ is also bounded in $\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}$. From the definition of $J_{\epsilon\rho}$ and the boundedness of the sequence $\{J_{\epsilon\rho}(\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon\rho}^*, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^*)\}_{\rho}$, it follows that the sequence $\{w_{\epsilon\rho}^*\}_{\rho}$ is bounded in $\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}$. Thus, there exist the elements $\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon}^* \in \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{g}}$ and $\boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^* \in \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}$ and the subsequences, still denoted by $\{\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon\rho}^*\}_{\rho}$ and $\{w_{\epsilon\rho}^*\}_{\rho}$, such that

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{g}_{\epsilon\rho}^* &\rightharpoonup \mathbf{g}_{\epsilon}^* \text{ weakly in } \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{g}} \,, \\ \mathbf{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^* &\rightharpoonup \mathbf{w}_{\epsilon}^* \text{ weakly in } \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}} \,. \end{split}$$
(9.134)

Applying Propositions 9.6 and 9.7, we deduce

$$\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^* \rightharpoonup \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^*$$
 weakly in $W^{1,2}(0,T;\mathbf{V})$, (9.135)

where $u_{\epsilon}^* = u_{\epsilon}^{g_{\epsilon}^*, w_{\epsilon}^*}$. An easy computation gives

$$\boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^* \rightharpoonup \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon}^*$$
 weakly in $\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}$. (9.136)

Let $(\bar{g}_{\epsilon}, \bar{w}_{\epsilon})$ be a solution of problem $(CS)_{\epsilon}, \bar{u}_{\epsilon} = u^{\bar{g}_{\epsilon}, \bar{w}_{\epsilon}}$ and $\bar{u}_{\epsilon\rho} = u_{\rho}^{\bar{g}_{\epsilon}, \bar{w}_{\epsilon}}$. From Proposition 9.6, we get

$$\bar{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon\rho} \to \bar{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon}$$
 strongly in $L^{\infty}(0, T; \boldsymbol{V})$,
 $\dot{\bar{\boldsymbol{u}}}_{\epsilon\rho} \to \dot{\bar{\boldsymbol{u}}}_{\epsilon}$ weakly in $L^{2}(0, T; \boldsymbol{V})$, (9.137)

which, using $(\mathbf{S})_{\rho}^{\bar{\mathbf{g}}_{\epsilon},\bar{\mathbf{w}}_{\epsilon}}$ and $(\mathbf{S})^{\bar{\mathbf{g}}_{\epsilon},\bar{\mathbf{w}}_{\epsilon}}$, give

$$\bar{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon\rho} \rightharpoonup \bar{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\epsilon}$$
 strongly in $\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}$. (9.138)

Therefore, the convergences (9.134)–(9.138) lead us

$$J_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon}^{*}, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{*}) \leq \liminf_{\rho \to 0} J_{\epsilon\rho}(\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*}, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*}) \leq \limsup_{\rho \to 0} J_{\epsilon\rho}(\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*}, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^{*})$$

$$\leq \limsup_{\rho \to 0} J_{\epsilon\rho}(\bar{\boldsymbol{g}}_{\epsilon}, \bar{\boldsymbol{w}}_{\epsilon}) = \lim_{\rho \to 0} J_{\epsilon\rho}(\bar{\boldsymbol{g}}_{\epsilon}, \bar{\boldsymbol{w}}_{\epsilon}) = J_{\epsilon}(\bar{\boldsymbol{g}}_{\epsilon}, \bar{\boldsymbol{w}}_{\epsilon}) \leq J_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon}^{*}, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^{*}),$$

(9.139)

i.e.

$$\lim_{\rho \to 0} J_{\epsilon\rho}(\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon\rho}^*, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^*) = J_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon}^*, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon}^*) = \min\{J_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{g}, \boldsymbol{w}) ; (\boldsymbol{g}, \boldsymbol{w}) \in \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{g}} \times \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}\}.$$

Finally, coupling the results proven in Theorems 9.7 and 9.5, we conclude that the regularized optimal problems represent a good approximation for the initial control problem.

Corollary 9.1. Let ϵ , $\rho > 0$ and $\{\mathbf{g}_{\epsilon\rho}^*, \mathbf{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^*\}_{\epsilon\rho}$ be the sequence of solutions for problems $(\mathbf{CS})_{\epsilon\rho}$. Then, there exists $(\mathbf{g}^*, \mathbf{u}^*) \in \mathcal{V}_{ad}$, such that, up to a subsequence, for ϵ , $\rho \to 0$, we have

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon\rho}^* \rightarrow \boldsymbol{g}^* \text{ weakly in } \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{g}}, \\ \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^* \rightarrow \boldsymbol{u}^* \text{ weakly in } \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}, \\ \boldsymbol{u}_{\epsilon\rho}^* \rightarrow \boldsymbol{u}^* \text{ weakly in } W^{1,2}(0,T;V), \end{cases}$$
(9.140)

where $u_{\epsilon\rho}^* = u^{g_{\epsilon\rho}^*, w_{\epsilon\rho}^*}$. Moreover,

$$\lim_{\epsilon,\rho\to 0} J(\boldsymbol{g}_{\epsilon\rho}^*, \boldsymbol{w}_{\epsilon\rho}^*) = J(\boldsymbol{g}^*, \boldsymbol{u}^*) = \min_{(\boldsymbol{g}, \boldsymbol{u})\in\mathscr{V}_{ad}} J(\boldsymbol{g}, \boldsymbol{u}).$$
(9.141)

In the sequel, we are concerned with the obtaining of the optimality conditions for the problem $(CS)_{\epsilon\rho}$, which means to derive the equations characterizing an optimal control from the fact that the differential of $J_{\epsilon\rho}$ vanishes at an extremum. We shall use the following result due to Lions [11].

Theorem 9.8. Let \mathscr{B} be a Banach space and \mathbf{X} , \mathbf{Y} two reflexive Banach spaces. We consider two functions of class C^1 , $\mathscr{F} : \mathscr{B} \times \mathbf{X} \longrightarrow \mathbf{Y}$, and $\mathscr{J} : \mathscr{B} \times \mathbf{X} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$. We suppose that, for all $\mathbf{h} \in \mathscr{B}$,

(i) there exists a unique solution $\mathbf{u}^h \in \mathbf{X}$ of equation $\mathscr{F}(\mathbf{h}, \mathbf{u}^h) = 0$;

(ii) the operator $\frac{\partial \mathscr{F}}{\partial u}(\mathbf{h}, u^h) : \mathbf{X} \longrightarrow \mathbf{Y}$ is an isomorphism.

Then, the function $J : \mathscr{B} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$, defined by $J(\mathbf{h}) = \mathscr{J}(\mathbf{h}, \mathbf{u}^h)$, is differentiable and

$$\frac{dJ}{d\mathbf{h}}(\mathbf{h})(\delta\mathbf{h}) = \frac{\partial\mathscr{J}}{\partial\mathbf{h}}(\mathbf{h}, \boldsymbol{u}^{h})(\delta\mathbf{h}) - \left\langle \boldsymbol{q}^{h}, \frac{\partial\mathscr{F}}{\partial\mathbf{h}}(\mathbf{h}, \boldsymbol{u}^{h})(\delta\mathbf{h}) \right\rangle_{Y^{*}, Y} \quad \forall \ \delta\mathbf{h} \in \mathscr{B},$$
(9.142)

where the adjoint state $q^h \in \mathbf{Y}^*$ is the unique solution of

$$\left\langle \left[\frac{\partial \mathscr{F}}{\partial u}(\mathbf{h}, u^h) \right]^* \cdot q^h, v \right\rangle_{X^*, X} = \frac{\partial \mathscr{I}}{\partial u}(\mathbf{h}, u^h)(v) \quad \forall v \in \mathbf{X}.$$
(9.143)

First, let us remark that, for $(g, w) \in \mathbf{H}_{g} \times \mathbf{H}_{w}$, the regularized problem $(\mathbf{S})_{\rho}^{g,w}$ has a unique solution $u_{\rho}^{g,w} \in W^{1,2}(0, T; V)$ satisfying $u_{\rho}^{g,w}(0) = u_{0}$. Then, $u_{\rho}^{g,w} = u_{0} + \tilde{u}_{\rho}^{g,w}$, where $\tilde{u}_{\rho}^{g,w} \in W^{1,2}(0, T; V)$ satisfies

$$\begin{aligned} \rho(\dot{\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}}_{\rho}^{\boldsymbol{g},\boldsymbol{w}}(t),\boldsymbol{v})_{V} + a(\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\rho}^{\boldsymbol{g},\boldsymbol{w}}(t) + \boldsymbol{u}_{0},\boldsymbol{v}) + \langle \nabla_{2}j^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{w}(t),\dot{\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}}_{\rho}^{\boldsymbol{g},\boldsymbol{w}}(t)),\boldsymbol{v} \rangle \\ &= (\boldsymbol{F}(t),\boldsymbol{v})_{V} \quad \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in \boldsymbol{V} , \text{ a.e. } t \in (0,T) , \\ \tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}_{\rho}^{\boldsymbol{g},\boldsymbol{w}}(0) = \boldsymbol{0}. \end{aligned} \tag{9.144}$$

In order to apply Theorem 9.8, we take

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{B} &= \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{g}} \times \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}, \\ \mathbf{X} &= \{ \mathbf{v} \in W^{1,2}(0,T;V) \cap L^{2}(0,T;W) ; \mathbf{v}(0) = \mathbf{0} \}, \\ Y &= L^{2}(0,T;V^{*}), \\ \mathscr{F} : \mathscr{B} \times X \to Y, \\ \langle \mathscr{F}(\mathbf{g},\mathbf{w},\mathbf{u}),\mathbf{v} \rangle &= \int_{0}^{T} \rho(\dot{\mathbf{u}}(t),\mathbf{v}(t))_{V} dt + \int_{0}^{T} a(\mathbf{u}(t) + \mathbf{u}_{0},\mathbf{v}(t)) dt \\ &+ \langle \nabla_{2}j^{\rho}(\mathbf{w}(t),\dot{\mathbf{u}}(t)),\mathbf{v}(t) \rangle dt - \int_{0}^{T} (f(t),\mathbf{v}(t))_{(L^{2}(\Omega))^{d}} dt \\ &- \int_{0}^{T} (\mathbf{g}(t),\mathbf{v}(t))_{(L^{2}(\Gamma_{1}))^{d}} dt \ \forall \ \mathbf{v} \in L^{2}(0,T;V), \\ \mathscr{J} : \mathscr{B} \times X \to \mathbb{R}, \\ \mathscr{J}(\mathbf{g},\mathbf{w},\mathbf{u}) &= \frac{1}{2} \| \mathbf{u} + \mathbf{u}_{0} - \mathbf{u}_{d} \|_{\mathbf{H}_{u}}^{2} + \frac{\beta}{2} \| \mathbf{g} \|_{\mathbf{H}_{g}}^{2} + \frac{1}{2\epsilon} \| \mathbf{u} + \mathbf{u}_{0} - \mathbf{w} \|_{\mathbf{H}_{w}}^{2} \end{aligned}$$

We remark that

$$\mathscr{J}(\boldsymbol{g},\boldsymbol{w},\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}^{g,w}_{\rho})=J_{\epsilon\rho}(\boldsymbol{g},\boldsymbol{w})\quad \forall (\boldsymbol{g},\boldsymbol{w})\in \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{g}} imes \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}\,.$$

In the sequel, to simplify the notation, we shall omit to write explicitly the indices ϵ , ρ , g, and w.

We state now the main result of this section.

Theorem 9.9. Let $(g^*, w^*) \in \mathbf{H}_g \times \mathbf{H}_w$ be a solution of the optimal control problem $(\mathbf{CS})_{\epsilon\rho}$. Then, there exist the unique elements $u^* \in \mathbf{X}$ and $q^* \in \mathbf{Y}^*$ such that

$$\begin{cases} \rho \int_{0}^{T} (\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}^{*}(t), \boldsymbol{v}(t))_{V} dt + \int_{0}^{T} a(\boldsymbol{u}^{*}(t) + \boldsymbol{u}_{0}, \boldsymbol{v}(t)) dt \\ + \int_{0}^{T} \langle \nabla_{2} j(\boldsymbol{w}^{*}(t), \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}^{*}(t)), \boldsymbol{v}(t) \rangle dt = \int_{0}^{T} (\boldsymbol{f}(t), \boldsymbol{v}(t))_{(L^{2}(\Omega))^{d}} dt \qquad (9.145) \\ + \int_{0}^{T} (\boldsymbol{g}^{*}(t), \boldsymbol{v}(t))_{(L^{2}(\Gamma_{1}))^{d}} dt \quad \forall \, \boldsymbol{v} \in L^{2}(0, T; V) \,, \end{cases}$$

.

$$\int_{0}^{T} \rho(\dot{\mathbf{v}}(t), \mathbf{q}^{*}(t))_{V} dt + \int_{0}^{T} a(\mathbf{v}(t), \mathbf{q}^{*}(t)) dt + \int_{0}^{T} \langle \nabla_{2}^{2} j(\mathbf{w}^{*}(t), \dot{\mathbf{u}}^{*}(t)) \dot{\mathbf{v}}(t) - \nabla_{2} j(\mathbf{v}(t), \dot{\mathbf{u}}^{*}(t)), \mathbf{q}^{*}(t) \rangle dt$$
(9.146)
$$= \int_{0}^{T} (\mathbf{u}^{*}(t) + \mathbf{u}_{0} - \mathbf{u}_{d}, \mathbf{v}(t))_{(L^{2}(\Gamma_{2}))^{d}} dt \quad \forall \mathbf{v} \in \mathbf{X}$$

and

$$\beta(\boldsymbol{g}^*, \boldsymbol{g})_{\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{g}}} = (\boldsymbol{q}^*, \boldsymbol{g})_{L^2(0,T;(L^2(\Gamma_1))^p)} \quad \forall \boldsymbol{g} \in \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{g}}.$$
(9.147)

Proof. Let u^* be the unique solution of (9.144) corresponding to (g^*, w^*) . Some easy computations give:

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial \mathscr{I}}{\partial w}(\boldsymbol{g}^{*},\boldsymbol{w}^{*},\boldsymbol{u}^{*})(\boldsymbol{w}) &= \frac{1}{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{u}^{*}+\boldsymbol{u}_{0}-\boldsymbol{w}^{*},\boldsymbol{w})_{\mathbf{H}_{w}} \quad \forall \boldsymbol{w} \in \mathbf{H}_{w}, \\ \frac{\partial \mathscr{I}}{\partial \boldsymbol{g}}(\boldsymbol{g}^{*},\boldsymbol{w}^{*},\boldsymbol{u}^{*})(\boldsymbol{g}) &= \beta(\boldsymbol{g}^{*},\boldsymbol{g})_{\mathbf{H}_{g}} \; \forall \boldsymbol{g} \in \mathbf{H}_{g}, \\ \frac{\partial \mathscr{I}}{\partial \boldsymbol{u}}(\boldsymbol{g}^{*},\boldsymbol{w}^{*},\boldsymbol{u}^{*})(\boldsymbol{u}) &= (\boldsymbol{u}^{*}+\boldsymbol{u}_{0}-\boldsymbol{u}_{d},\boldsymbol{u})_{\mathbf{H}_{u}} + \frac{1}{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{u}^{*}+\boldsymbol{u}_{0}-\boldsymbol{w}^{*},\boldsymbol{u})_{\mathbf{H}_{w}} \quad \boldsymbol{u} \in \mathbf{X}, \\ \left(\frac{\partial \mathscr{F}}{\partial \boldsymbol{u}}(\boldsymbol{g}^{*},\boldsymbol{w}^{*},\boldsymbol{u}^{*})(\boldsymbol{w}),\boldsymbol{v}\right) &= \int_{0}^{T} \langle \nabla_{2}j(\boldsymbol{w}(t),\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}^{*}(t)),\boldsymbol{v}(t) \rangle \; \mathrm{d}t \; \forall(\boldsymbol{w},\boldsymbol{v}) \in \mathbf{H}_{w} \times L^{2}(0,T;V), \\ \left(\frac{\partial \mathscr{F}}{\partial \boldsymbol{g}}(\boldsymbol{g}^{*},\boldsymbol{w}^{*},\boldsymbol{u}^{*})(\boldsymbol{g}),\boldsymbol{v}\right) &= -\int_{0}^{T} (\boldsymbol{g}(t),\boldsymbol{v}(t))_{(L^{2}(\Gamma_{1})^{d}} \; \mathrm{d}t \; \forall \boldsymbol{g} \in \mathbf{H}_{g} \; \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in L^{2}(0,T;V), \\ \left(\frac{\partial \mathscr{F}}{\partial \boldsymbol{u}}(\boldsymbol{g}^{*},\boldsymbol{w}^{*},\boldsymbol{u}^{*})(\boldsymbol{u}),\boldsymbol{v}\right) &= \rho \int_{0}^{T} (\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}(t),\boldsymbol{v}(t))_{V} \; \mathrm{d}t + \int_{0}^{T} a(\boldsymbol{u}(t),\boldsymbol{v}(t)) \; \mathrm{d}t \\ + \int_{0}^{T} \langle \nabla_{2}^{2}j(\boldsymbol{w}(t),\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}^{*}(t))\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}(t),\boldsymbol{v}(t) \rangle \; \mathrm{d}t \quad \forall \boldsymbol{u} \in \mathbf{X}, \; \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in L^{2}(0,T;V). \end{aligned}$$

Thus, the operator $\frac{\partial \mathscr{F}}{\partial u}(g^*, w^*, u^*) : \mathbf{X} \to \mathbf{Y}$ is an isomorphism. Using Theorem 9.8, the adjoint state $q^* \in \mathbf{Y}^*$ is defined as being the unique

solution of the following equation:

$$\left\langle \left[\frac{\partial \mathscr{F}}{\partial u}(g^*,w^*,u^*)\right]^* \cdot q^*,v \right\rangle = \frac{\partial \mathscr{I}}{\partial u}(g^*,w^*,u^*)(v) \quad \forall v \in \mathbf{X}.$$

Therefore, we have

$$\int_{0}^{T} \left[\rho(\dot{\mathbf{v}}(t), \mathbf{q}^{*}(t)) + a(\mathbf{v}(t), \mathbf{q}^{*}(t)) + \langle \nabla_{2}^{2} j(\mathbf{w}^{*}(t), \dot{\mathbf{u}}^{*}(t))(\dot{\mathbf{v}}(t), \mathbf{q}^{*}(t)) \rangle \right] dt$$

=
$$\int_{0}^{T} \left[(\mathbf{u}^{*}(t) + \mathbf{u}_{0} - \mathbf{u}_{d}, \mathbf{v}(t))_{(L^{2}(\Gamma_{2}))^{d}} + \frac{1}{\epsilon} (\mathbf{u}_{\rho}^{h} + \mathbf{u}_{0} - \mathbf{w}(t), \mathbf{v}(t))_{W} \right] dt \quad \forall \mathbf{v} \in \mathbf{X}.$$

Next, since $\mathbf{h}^* = (g^*, w^*)$ is a solution of the optimal control problem $(\mathbf{CS})_{\epsilon\rho}$, using Theorem 9.8, we obtain

$$\frac{dJ}{d\mathbf{h}}(\mathbf{h}^*)(\mathbf{h}) = \frac{\partial \mathscr{J}}{\partial \mathbf{h}}(\mathbf{h}^*, u^*)(\mathbf{h}) - \left\langle q^*, \frac{\partial \mathscr{F}}{\partial \mathbf{h}}(\mathbf{h}^*, u^*)(\mathbf{h}) \right\rangle = 0 \quad \forall \mathbf{h} = (g, w) \in \mathbf{H}_g \times \mathbf{H}_w,$$

which gives

$$\int_{0}^{T} \frac{1}{\epsilon} (\boldsymbol{u}^{*}(t) + \boldsymbol{u}_{0} - \boldsymbol{w}^{*}(t), \boldsymbol{w}(t))_{\boldsymbol{W}} dt + \beta(\boldsymbol{g}^{*}, \boldsymbol{g})_{\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{g}}} = \int_{0}^{T} \langle \boldsymbol{q}^{*}(t), \nabla_{2} j(\boldsymbol{w}(t), \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}^{*}(t)) \rangle dt - (\boldsymbol{q}^{*}, \boldsymbol{g})_{L^{2}(0,T;(L^{2}(\Gamma_{1}))^{d})} \quad \forall (\boldsymbol{g}, \boldsymbol{w}) \in \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{g}} \times \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{w}}.$$

Taking g = 0, we deduce

$$\int_{0}^{T} \frac{1}{\epsilon} (\boldsymbol{u}^{*}(t) + \boldsymbol{u}_{0} - \boldsymbol{w}^{*}(t), \boldsymbol{v}(t))_{\boldsymbol{W}} dt = \int_{0}^{T} \langle \boldsymbol{q}^{*}(t), \nabla_{2} j(\boldsymbol{v}(t)(\dot{\boldsymbol{u}}^{*}(t))) \rangle dt \ \forall \boldsymbol{v} \in L^{2}(0, T; \boldsymbol{W})$$

and, so, we obtain (9.146) and (9.147).

The asymptotic analysis (Corollary 9.1) of smoother problems $(CS)_{\epsilon\rho}$ provides that the sequence of optimal regularized controls $\{g_{\epsilon\rho}^*, u_{\epsilon\rho}^*\}_{\epsilon\rho}$ converges to an optimal control (g^*, u^*) of the initial problem (CS). Therefore, the system (9.145)–(9.147) can be useful in the numerical analysis of an optimal control.

References

- 1. Amassad, A.: Problèmes elasto-visco-plastiques avec frottement. Thèse, Perpignan (1997)
- Amassad, A., Chenais, D., Fabre, C.: Optimal control of an elstic problem involving Tresca friction law. Nonlinear Anal. 48, 1107–1135 (2002)
- Andersson, L.E.: A quasistatic frictional problem with normal compliance. Nonlinear Anal. Theory Methods Appl. 16, 347–369 (1991)
- 4. Andersson, L.E.: Existence results for quasistatic contact problems with Coulomb friction. Appl. Math. Optim. **42**, 169–202 (2000)

- 5. Capatina, A., Cocou, M., Raous, M.: A class of implicit variational inequalities and applications to frictional contact. Math. Methods Appl. Sci. **32**, 1804–1827 (2009)
- Capatina, A., Timofte, C.: Boundary optimal control for quasistatic bilateral frictional contact problems. Nonlinear Anal. Theory Methods Appl. 94, 84–99 (2014)
- Cocu, M., Pratt, E., Raous, M.: Formulation and approximation of quasistatic frictional contact. Int. J. Eng. Sci. 34, 783–798 (1996)
- Cocu, M., Rocca, R.: Existence results for unilateral quasistatic contact problems with friction and adhesion. Math. Model. Numer. Anal. 34, 981–1001 (2000)
- Klarbring, A., Mikelić, A., Shillor, M.: A global existence result for the quasistatic frictional contact problem with normal compliance. In: del Piero, G., Maceri, F. (eds.) Unilateral Problems in Structural Analysis, vol. 4, pp. 85–111. Birkhäuser, Boston (1991)
- Licht, C., Pratt, E., Raous, M.: Remarks on a numerical method for unilateral contact including friction. Int. Series Num. Math. vol. 101, 129–144 (1991)
- 11. Lions, J.L.: Contrôle des Systèmes Distribués Singulières. Dunod, Paris (1983)
- Oden, J.T., Martins, A.C.: Models and computational methods for dynamic friction phenomena. Comput. Methods Appl. Mech. Eng. 50, 527–634 (1985)
- Raous, M.: Quasistatic Signorini problem with Coulomb friction and coupling to adhesion. In: Wriggers, P., Panagiotopoulos, P. (eds.) New Developments in Contact Problems. CISM Courses and Lectures, vol. 384, pp. 101–178. Springer, Wien (1999)
- Rocca, R.: Existence of a solution for a quasistatic problem of unilateral contact with local friction. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 328, 1253–1258 (1996)
- Shillor, M., Sofonea, M.: A quasistatic viscoelastic contact problem with friction. Int. J. Eng. Sci. 38, 1517–1533 (2001)
- Shillor, M., Sofonea, M., Telega, J.J.: Models and Analysis of Quasistatic Contact: Variational Methods. Lecture Notes in Physics, vol. 655. Springer, Berlin/Heidelberg (2004)

Index

B

Biconjugate function, 107 Bilateral contact, 2, 4, 64, 117, 145, 161, 206–231 Bilinear form, 32, 83, 84, 94, 147 coercive, 39, 40 continuous, 32, 39, 40, 85 convex, 32, 39, 147 positive, 32 strictly convex, 40 symmetric, 64, 207

С

Classical solution, 51–53, 55, 58, 61 Coefficient of friction, 4, 59, 137, 138, 145, 148, 171, 175, 176 Coerciveness condition, 43, 48–50, 98 Compact support, 10, 23 Concave conjugate function, 111 Cone, 15, 16, 64, 68, 69, 85, 105, 126, 141, 159 Conjugate function, 104, 105, 107 Coulomb friction, 1–4, 92, 115, 135, 137, 145, 146, 151, 170–174, 191, 195

D

Displacement vector, 135, 136, 161–165, 206, 207 Distribution, 12–15, 18, 23, 139, 195 Dual problem, 3, 103, 104, 113–115, 154, 156, 160, 165–174 dual condensed problem, 3–4, 104, 152, 165, 170

Е

Effective domain, 46, 104 Elasticity coefficients, 136, 140 Embedding, 9, 14 compact, 10 continuous, 10, 12 Epigraph, 104 Equilibrium finite element, 4, 165–174 Error estimate, 3–4, 115, 121–125, 161, 162, 168, 170 Extremality conditions, 114, 115, 160

F

Fourier transformation, 18 Function bounded, 10-11, 26, 34, 54, 87, 88 coercive, 34, 35, 39 continuous, 8, 10, 13, 23, 69, 88, 111, 148, 220 absolutely continuous, 27, 28, 70 Lipschitz continuous, 22, 28, 66, 90, 118 lower semicontinuous, 32, 41, 105, 130, 176, 178, 217, 225 uniformly continuous, 10, 21, 22 upper semicontinuous, 46 convex, 37, 41, 44, 49, 107, 109, 181, 220 differentiable Gâteaux differentiable, 52, 61, 113, 160, 186 weakly differentiable, 26 integrable, 10, 13, 14, 23, 24 measurable, 11, 23-25, 27 positively homogeneous, 65, 127

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2014 A. Capatina, *Variational Inequalities and Frictional Contact Problems*, Advances in Mechanics and Mathematics 31, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-10163-7 Function (*cont.*) proper, 34, 108, 109 simple, 23, 24 strictly convex, 34, 35, 40, 43, 44 sub-additive, 65, 127, 132 subdifferentiable, 108, 156 weakly continuous, 23, 147, 148, 183 weakly lower semicontinuous, 32, 130, 176, 178, 217 weakly upper semicontinuous, 46

G

Generalized solution, 2–3, 51–52, 55–59, 61 Green formula, 3, 139, 142, 143, 163, 167, 195, 200 Green operator, 160

I

Implicit time discretization, 2, 4, 64, 69, 126, 191, 196 Incremental formulation, 2, 3, 64, 69, 72, 137, 196 Indicator function, 23, 36, 39, 105, 159, 181 Inequality Cauchy–Schwarz, 12, 71 Hölder's, 12 Korn, 60, 146, 147, 151, 152, 154 Poincaré–Friedrichs, 85 Young, 105–110, 112, 124, 163, 214 Infimal convolution function, 109, 114 Internal approximation, 3, 117–121, 161, 170 Interpolation operator, 162, 166–168

L

Level set, 104, 105

M

Mapping contraction, 41, 50, 56, 68, 119, 127, 129, 158 multivalued, 46–48, 108, 211 closed, 47 Kakutani, 47 upper semicontinuous, 46 Maximum principle, 3, 83–91

0

Operator bounded, 10, 45

coercive, 40 compact, 207 differential, 9, 12 hemicontinuous, 2, 31, 41, 42, 44-51 monotone, 2, 31, 41, 42, 44, 45 pseudo-monotone, 45 strictly monotone, 43, 44 strongly monotone, 2, 44, 49, 53, 61, 63, 118, 146, 182 potential, 2, 31, 51-58 projection, 34, 36, 37, 39, 41, 131, 141, 142, 147, 155 proximity, 2, 34-36, 38, 39 trace, 18, 84, 148, 164 Optimality conditions, 174, 175, 186, 219-231 Orthogonal complement, 147, 154

P

Penalized problem, 175, 177, 222 Primal problem, 3, 103, 104, 114, 115, 154, 156, 160, 161, 170 Process of diagonalization, 74

Q

Quasistatic problem, 2, 4, 191-231

R

Regularity, 1, 3, 15, 71, 92–99, 140, 149–151 Regularized problem, 175, 180, 219–231 Rigid displacement, 146

S

Semi-discrete problem, 128, 204 Sequence minimizing, 34, 54-56, 177, 212, 223 strongly convergent, 32, 37 weakly convergent, 38, 75, 147, 178 Set bounded, 16-18, 45, 49, 59, 94, 166 closed, 48 weakly closed, 34, 38, 48, 49, 64, 75, 176, 178 weakly compact, 21, 37, 38, 43, 47-49, 146 compact, 38, 39 cone property, 15, 16 convex, 36, 38, 43, 110, 141 segment property, 16, 92 smooth, 135

Signorini conditions, 135-138, 145, 169-174, 191, 193 Space Sobolev $(W^{m,p}(\Omega)), 14$ $C^{m}(\Omega), 9, 10$ $C^{m}(\Omega), 9, 10, 17$ $C_0^m(\Omega), 10$ $C^{\infty}(\Omega), 10, 17$ $D(\Omega), 12-15$ $D'(\Omega), 13-15$ $L_{loc}^{p}(\Omega), 11$ $L^{p}(\Omega), 10-12, 14$ $L^{\infty}(\Omega), 11, 12, 14, 192$ $H^{m}(\Omega), 14-17, 19, 92, 93$ $W^{-m,p'}(\Omega), 15$ $H^{s}(\Omega), 17, 18$ $H^{-m}(\Omega), 15$ $L^{2}(\Gamma), 17$ $H^{m-j-1/2}(\Gamma), 18, 19$ C(I;X), 21 $C(\hat{I};X), 21, 22$ $C_b(R; X), 26$ $C^{m}(\hat{I};X), 22$ $C^{\infty}(I;X), 23$ $C^{\infty}(\hat{I};X), 28$ D'(I;X), 23, 25 $L^{1}_{loc}(I;X), 26$ $L^{p}(I;X), 25-28$ $W^{m,p}(I;X), 27$ Static problem, 3, 135-188 Strain tensor, 59, 135, 136, 138 Stress tensor, 59, 135, 136, 166, 193

Subgradient, 108 Supersolution, 86–87, 91

Т

Theorem Bochner, 24, 71 duality Fenchel, 111 Fenchel-Moreau, 107 M-CD-M. 3 Eberlein-Smulyan, 38 fixed point Banach, 2, 37, 41, 50, 158 Brouwer, 37 Kakutani, 2, 47-49 Schauder, 2, 37-39 Hartman-Stampacchia, 37, 38 Lax-Milgram, 2, 39-41 Lebesgue dominated convergence, 24-25 Projection, 36-37 Proximity, 35-36 Riesz, 31-34 Sobolev embedding, 16-17 trace, 17-19 Weierstrass, 34-94 Triangulation, 162, 166, 168, 169, 204

U

Unilateral contact, 2, 117, 135–138, 145–146, 161, 191, 194